STEROIDS AND SECOSTEROIDS IN THE MODULATION OF INFLAMMATION AND IMMUNITY

EDITED BY: Bidesh Mahata, Andrzej T. Slominski, Chander Raman and Oxana Bereshchenko PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-290-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-290-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

STEROIDS AND SECOSTEROIDS IN THE MODULATION OF INFLAMMATION AND IMMUNITY

Topic Editors:

Bidesh Mahata, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom **Andrzej T. Slominski**, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States **Chander Raman**, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States **Oxana Bereshchenko**, University of Perugia, Italy

Citation: Mahata, B., Slominski, A. T., Raman, C., Bereshchenko, O., eds. (2022). Steroids and Secosteroids in the Modulation of Inflammation and Immunity. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-290-5

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Steroids and Secosteroids in the Modulation of Inflammation and Immunity

Andrzej T. Slominski, Bidesh Mahata, Chander Raman and Oxana Bereshchenko

09 Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Promising Marker for Monitoring and Treating Sepsis

Ya-Jun He, Ji-Qian Xu, Miao-Miao Sun, Xiang-Zhi Fang, Zhe-Kang Peng, Shang-Wen Pan, Ting Zhou, Ya-Xin Wang and You Shang

19 Use of IFN_γ/IL10 Ratio for Stratification of Hydrocortisone Therapy in Patients With Septic Shock

Rainer König, Amol Kolte, Olaf Ahlers, Marcus Oswald, Veiko Krauss, Daniela Roell, Oliver Sommerfeld, George Dimopoulos, Iraklis Tsangaris, Eleni Antoniadou, Neeraja Jaishankar, Holger Bogatsch, Markus Löffler, Markus Rödel, Marina Garcia-Moreno, Lorena Tuchscherr, Charles L. Sprung, Mervyn Singer, Frank Brunkhorst, Michael Oppert, Herwig Gerlach, Ralf A. Claus, Sina M. Coldewey, Josef Briegel, Evangelos J. Giamarellos-Bourboulis, Didier Keh and Michael Bauer

- **30** Regulation of Tissue Immune Responses by Local Glucocorticoids at Epithelial Barriers and Their Impact on Interorgan Crosstalk Verena M. Merk, Truong San Phan and Thomas Brunner
- 42 Glucocorticoid-Induced Exacerbation of Mycobacterial Infection Is Associated With a Reduced Phagocytic Capacity of Macrophages Yufei Xie, Jiajun Xie, Annemarie H. Meijer and Marcel J. M. Schaaf
- 57 Gender May Influence the Immunosuppressive Actions of Prednisone in Young Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease
 Marianna Lucafò, Matteo Bramuzzo, Davide Selvestrel, Prisca Da Lozzo, Giuliana Decorti and Gabriele Stocco
- 66 Glucocorticoid Therapy in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Mechanisms and Clinical Practice

Stefano Bruscoli, Marta Febo, Carlo Riccardi and Graziella Migliorati

75 Bidirectional Crosstalk Between Hypoxia Inducible Factors and Glucocorticoid Signalling in Health and Disease

Tineke Vanderhaeghen, Rudi Beyaert and Claude Libert

94 Protection of Antigen-Primed Effector T Cells From Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis in Cell Culture and in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis

Jasmina Bier, Sebastian M. Steiger, Holger M. Reichardt and Fred Lühder

103 Regulation of the Immune System Development by Glucocorticoids and Sex Hormones

Linda Quatrini, Biancamaria Ricci, Cecilia Ciancaglini, Nicola Tumino and Lorenzo Moretta

111 20S-Hydroxyvitamin D3, a Secosteroid Produced in Humans, Is Anti-Inflammatory and Inhibits Murine Autoimmune Arthritis Arnold E. Postlethwaite, Robert C. Tuckey, Tae-Kang Kim, Wei Li,

Arnold E. Postlethwaite, Robert C. Tuckey, Tae-Kang Kim, Wei Li, Syamal K. Bhattacharya, Linda K. Myers, David D. Brand and Andrzej T. Slominski

121 Pleiotropic Effects of Glucocorticoids on the Immune System in Circadian Rhythm and Stress

Akihiro Shimba, Aki Ejima and Koichi Ikuta





Editorial: Steroids and Secosteroids in the Modulation of Inflammation and Immunity

Andrzej T. Slominski^{1,2*}, Bidesh Mahata^{3*}, Chander Raman^{1*} and Oxana Bereshchenko^{4*}

¹ Department of Dermatology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States, ² Pathology Laboratory Service, Veteran Administration Medical Center, Birmingham, AL, United States, ³ Department of Pathology, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Philosophy, Social Sciences and Education, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

Keywords: steroids, secosteroids, steroidogenesis, secosteroidogenesis, Inflammation, immunity, vitamin D, glucocorticoids

Editorial on the Research Topic

OPEN ACCESS Steroids and

Steroids and Secosteroids in the Modulation of Inflammation and Immunity

Edited and reviewed by:

Silvano Sozzani, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Andrzej T. Slominski aslominski@uabmc.edu Bidesh Mahata bm562@cam.ac.uk Chander Raman chanderraman@uabmc.edu Oxana Bereshchenko oxana.bereshchenko@unipg.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 November 2021 Accepted: 06 December 2021 Published: 20 December 2021

Citation:

Slominski AT, Mahata B, Raman C and Bereshchenko O (2021) Editorial: Steroids and Secosteroids in the Modulation of Inflammation and Immunity. Front. Immunol. 12:825577. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.825577 In this Research Topic of Frontiers in Immunology focused on the steroids and secosteroids in the modulation of inflammation and immunity 11 articles by experts in corresponding fields have been published (Bier et al.; Bruscoli et al.; He et al.; König et al.; Lucafò et al.; Merk et al.; Postlethwaite et al.; Quatrini et al.; Shimba et al.; Vanderhaeghen et al.; Xie et al.). These included research articles, reviews and mini-reviews papers on important aspects of steroid- and secosteroidogenesis and the role of the final or intermediate products of these pathways in regulation of inflammatory and immune activities. Mechanisms of action and of broad homeostatic activities in humans and experimental animal models have also been discussed in these expert written papers. Different aspects of biochemistry, molecular biology, cell biology, and the systems-level role of (seco) steroidogenesis in regulating physiology and pathology have been discussed.

The key role in steroidogenesis is played by an enzyme CYP11A1, a member of the cytochrome P450 family, which catalyzes the first and rate-limiting step in steroidogenesis, converting cholesterol to pregnenolone through sequential its hydroxylation at C22 and C20, with a final cleavage of the side chain (1-4). In addition to the adrenals, gonads and placenta (classical steroidogenic tissues), CYP11A1 is also expressed in the brain (6), gastrointestinal tract, immune systems (7–9), the skin (5) and other peripheral organs/tissues (10) including malignant tumors (9, 11). The roles of local steroidogenesis (i.e., extra-glandular steroidogenesis, including immune cell mediated steroidogenesis) are emerging and warrant a revisit to this important biosynthetic pathway and its functional involvement in tissue homeostasis (including immune homeostasis) and disease (7, 12, 13). Recent discoveries pointed out an important, and unexpected role for CYP11A1 in metabolism of 7-dehydrocholestrol (14), vitamin D3 (15), D2 (16), lumisterol (17, 18) and ergosterol (11) to several biologically active metabolites. Thus, CYP11A1 activity is opening several novel pathways generating Δ 7 steroids, full chain and short chain lumisterol derivatives, and secosteroids (vitamin D hydroxyderivatives) (5, 19). While the biological significance of these pathways is currently being evaluated, it must be noted that CYP11A1-derived hydroxyderivatives of vitamin D (20, 21) and of lumisterol (18) are circulating in human serum and

are detectable in the epidermis. Furthermore, recent data showing that 7-Dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR7, which catalyzes the reduction of the C7-C8 double bond of its B-ring that is necessary for the final formation of cholesterol) did not act on 7-dehydropregnenolone and lumisterol compounds (22), enhances the importance of pathways generating Δ 7 steroids and lumisterol derivatives (20, 23, 24).

As relates to secosteroids, in this Research Topic, a paper by Postlethwaite et al. reports that CYP11A1-derived 20Shydroxyvitamin D3 [20S(OH)D3] markedly suppresses clinical signs of arthritis and joint damage in a mouse model of rheumatoid arthritis (RA). 20S(OH)D3 also changes proportion of lymphocyte subsets in peripheral blood resulting in a significant reduction in the levels of inflammatory cytokines, and decrease in complement-fixing anti-CII antibodies. The authors propose further consideration for 20S(OH)D3 in treatment of RA and other autoimmune disorders (Postlethwaite et al.). Concerning extra-adrenal glucocorticoids synthesis, Merk et al. review a role of epithelial barriers as alternative routes for their synthesis at the local and perhaps systemic levels. Their role in the inter-organ communication through an interconnected crosstalk that counteract pro-inflammatory activities and prevent autoimmune activities are discussed (Merk et al.). These considerations are in line with similar concepts previously proposed (7, 13, 25, 26) and are consistent with communication between peripheral and central endocrine regulators (27) including hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis (**Figure 1**) (7, 28, 29). Therefore, regulation of local corticosteroidogenesis may serve as a viable therapeutic alternative to using synthetic corticosteroids in the therapy of inflammatory or autoimmune disorders (Merk et al.; 7; 13). Such regulation can be achieved by using specific wavelength of ultraviolet radiation (UVR) (30).

Of similar importance are three other mini-reviews and two reviews. One on regulation of the immune system development by





glucocorticoids and sex hormones (Quatrini et al.), which also include control of the hematopoietic stem cell differentiation and subsequent maturation of immune cell subsets. Second mini-review (Bruscoli et al.) discusses glucocorticoid therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases with consideration of new glucocorticoids mediators, such as glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper, which may have similar anti-inflammatory properties. The third mini-review (Shimba et al.) discusses pleiotropic effects of glucocorticoids on the Immune system in the context of circadian rhythm and stress. Among two reviews one (He et al.) analyses glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper as a promising marker for monitoring and treating sepsis. The second one (Vanderhaeghen et al.) discusses bidirectional crosstalk between hypoxia inducible factors and glucocorticoid signaling in health and disease, being in line with a fascinating subject of linking immune activity with immune cells energy yielding metabolism (31).

The four original research papers discuss important experimental evidences including use of IFN γ /IL10 ratio for stratification of hydrocortisone (a synthetic but identical molecule to endogenous cortisol) therapy in patients with septic shock (König et al.), glucocorticoid-induced exacerbation of mycobacterial infection through a reduced phagocytic capacity of macrophages (Xie et al.), protection of antigen-primed effector T cells from glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in cell culture and in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (Bier et al.), and that gender may influence the immunosuppressive actions of prednisone (a synthetic glucocorticoids with much higher potency than cortisol) in inflammatory bowel disease (Lucafò et al.).

Thus, this Research Topic discusses several important aspects of steroidogenesis, secosteroidogenesis, and their role in cell

REFERENCES

- Miller WL. Steroid Hormone Synthesis in Mitochondria. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2013) 379:62–73. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.04.014
- Strushkevich N, MacKenzie F, Cherkesova T, Grabovec I, Usanov S, Park HW. Structural Basis for Pregnenolone Biosynthesis by the Mitochondrial Monooxygenase System. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2011) 108:10139–43. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1019441108
- Goursaud C, Mallet D, Janin A, Menassa R, Tardy-Guidollet V, Russo G, et al. Aberrant Splicing Is the Pathogenicity Mechanism of the P.Glu314Lys Variant in CYP11A1 Gene. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2018) 9:491. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00491
- Tuckey RC. Progesterone Synthesis by the Human Placenta. *Placenta* (2005) 26:273–81. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2004.06.012
- Slominski RM, Raman C, Elmets C, Jetten AM, Slominski AT, Tuckey RC. The Significance of CYP11A1 Expression in Skin Physiology and Pathology. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2021) 530:111238. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2021.111238
- Lin YC, Papadopoulos V. Neurosteroidogenic Enzymes: CYP11A1 in the Central Nervous System. Front Neuroendocrinol (2021) 62:100925. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2021.100925
- Slominski RM, Tuckey RC, Manna PR, Jetten AM, Postlethwaite A, Raman C, et al. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Biosynthesis: Implications for Autoimmune and Inflammatory Disorders. *Genes Immun* (2020) 21:150– 68. doi: 10.1038/s41435-020-0096-6
- Mahata B, Zhang X, Kolodziejczyk AA, Proserpio V, Haim-Vilmovsky L, Taylor AE, et al. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reveals T Helper Cells Synthesizing Steroids *De Novo* to Contribute to Immune Homeostasis. *Cell Rep* (2014) 7:1130–42. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.04.011

signaling cascades in the context of physiology and pathology of inflammation and immunity. One important conclusion is that the deregulation of steroidogenic and secosteroidogenic signaling pathways may also lead to a variety of inflammatory disorders and autoimmune diseases in a gender- and contextdependent manner. Different therapeutic and preventive strategies can be deducted from the presented papers leading to practical and clinical solutions to many inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. In future, further analytical investigation is required to understand the physiological and pathological role of endogenous steroids and secosteroids.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS wrote the first-draft and others (BM, CR, OB) contributed to improve the writing and conceptual Figures. Correspondence can be made to anyone or all of these authors (AS, BM, CR, OB). All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Writing of this editorial was supported by NIH grants R01AR073004, R01AR071189, R21 AI149267, AR069010, AR064825, R21AR063242, VA merit grant 1I01BX004293-01A1. BM is supported by CRUK Career Development Fellowship (RCCFEL\100095), NSF-BIO/UKRI-BBSRC project grant (BB/ V006126/1) and MRC project grant (MR/V028995/1).

- Mahata B, Pramanik J, van der Weyden L, Polanski K, Kar G, Riedel A, et al. Tumors Induce *De Novo* Steroid Biosynthesis in T Cells to Evade Immunity. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3588. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17339-6
- Slominski AT, Li W, Kim TK, Semak I, Wang J, Zjawiony JK, et al. Novel Activities of CYP11A1 and Their Potential Physiological Significance. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2015) 151:25–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.11.010
- Slominski A, Semak I, Zjawiony J, Wortsman J, Gandy MN, Li J, et al. Enzymatic Metabolism of Ergosterol by Cytochrome P450scc to Biologically Active 17alpha,24-Dihydroxyergosterol. *Chem Biol* (2005) 12:931–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2005.06.010
- Chakraborty S, Pramanik J, Mahata B. Revisiting Steroidogenesis and its Role in Immune Regulation With the Advanced Tools and Technologies. *Genes Immun* (2021) 22:125–40. doi: 10.1038/s41435-021-00139-3
- Slominski A, Zbytek B, Nikolakis G, Manna PR, Skobowiat C, Zmijewski M, et al. Steroidogenesis in the Skin: Implications for Local Immune Functions. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2013) 137:107–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.02.006
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Chen J, Nguyen MN, Li W, Yates CR, et al. Cytochrome P450scc-Dependent Metabolism of 7-Dehydrocholesterol in Placenta and Epidermal Keratinocytes. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2012) 44:2003–18. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2012.07.027
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Shehabi HZ, Semak I, Tang EK, Nguyen MN, et al. *In Vivo* Evidence for a Novel Pathway of Vitamin D(3) Metabolism Initiated by P450scc and Modified by CYP27B1. *FASEB J* (2012) 26:3901–15. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-208975
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Shehabi HZ, Tang EK, Benson HA, Semak I, et al. *In Vivo* Production of Novel Vitamin D2 Hydroxy-Derivatives by Human Placentas, Epidermal Keratinocytes, Caco-2 Colon Cells and the Adrenal Gland. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2014) 383:181–92. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.12.012

- Tuckey RC, Slominski AT, Cheng CY, Chen J, Kim TK, Xiao M, et al. Lumisterol is Metabolized by CYP11A1: Discovery of a New Pathway. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2014) 55:24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.08.004
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Hobrath JV, Janjetovic Z, Oak ASW, Postlethwaite A, et al. Characterization of a New Pathway That Activates Lumisterol *In Vivo* to Biologically Active Hydroxylumisterols. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:11434. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-10202-7
- Slominski AT, Chaiprasongsuk A, Janjetovic Z, Kim TK, Stefan J, Slominski RM, et al. Photoprotective Properties of Vitamin D and Lumisterol Hydroxyderivatives. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2020) 78:165–80. doi: 10.1007/ s12013-020-00913-6
- Jenkinson C, Desai R, Slominski AT, Tuckey RC, Hewison M, Handelsman DJ. Simultaneous Measurement of 13 Circulating Vitamin D3 and D2 Mono and Dihydroxy Metabolites Using Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry. *Clin Chem Lab Med* (2021) 59(10):1642–52. doi: 10.1515/ cclm-2021-0441
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Li W, Postlethwaite A, Tieu EW, Tang EK, et al. Detection of Novel CYP11A1-Derived Secosteroids in the Human Epidermis and Serum and Pig Adrenal Gland. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:14875. doi: 10.1038/ srep14875
- Tuckey RC, Tang EKY, Chen YA, Slominski AT. Selective Ability of Rat 7-Dehydrocholesterol Reductase (DHCR7) to Act on Some 7-Dehydrocholesterol Metabolites But Not on Lumisterol Metabolites. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* (2021) 212:105929. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2021.105929
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Qayyum S, Song Y, Janjetovic Z, Oak ASW, et al. And Lumisterol Derivatives can Act on Liver X Receptors (LXRs). Sci Rep (2021) 11:8002. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87061-w
- Slominski A, Kim TK, Zmijewski MA, Janjetovic Z, Li W, Chen J, et al. Novel Vitamin D Photoproducts and Their Precursors in the Skin. Dermatoendocrinol (2013) 5:7–19. doi: 10.4161/derm.23938
- Phan TS, Schink L, Mann J, Merk VM, Zwicky P, Mundt S, et al. Keratinocytes Control Skin Immune Homeostasis Through *De Novo*-Synthesized Glucocorticoids. *Sci Adv* (2021) 7. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abe0337

- Slominski AT, Zmijewski MA, Zbytek B, Tobin DJ, Theoharides TC, Rivier J. Key Role of CRF in the Skin Stress Response System. *Endocr Rev* (2013) 34:827–84. doi: 10.1210/er.2012-1092
- Slominski A, Wortsman J. Neuroendocrinology of the Skin. Endocr Rev (2000) 21:457–87. doi: 10.1210/er.21.5.457
- Slominski A. A Nervous Breakdown in the Skin: Stress and the Epidermal Barrier. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:3166–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI33508
- Slominski A, Wortsman J, Tuckey RC, Paus R. Differential Expression of HPA Axis Homolog in the Skin. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2007) 265-266:143–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2006.12.012
- Slominski AT, Zmijewski MA, Plonka PM, Szaflarski JP, Paus R. How UV Light Touches the Brain and Endocrine System Through Skin, and Why. *Endocrinology* (2018) 159:1992–2007. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-03230
- Pearce EL. Metabolism as a Driver of Immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2021) 21:618–9. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00601-3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Slominski, Mahata, Raman and Bereshchenko. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Promising Marker for Monitoring and Treating Sepsis

Ya-Jun He^{1,2†}, Ji-Qian Xu^{1,2†}, Miao-Miao Sun^{1,2}, Xiang-Zhi Fang^{1,2}, Zhe-Kang Peng^{1,2}, Shang-Wen Pan^{1,2}, Ting Zhou^{1,2}, Ya-Xin Wang^{1,2} and You Shang^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Critical Care Medicine, Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, ² Institute of Anesthesiology and Critical Care Medicine, Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bidesh Mahata, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Peter A. Ward, University of Michigan, United States Carlo Riccardi, University of Perugia, Italy Claude Libert, Flanders Institute for Biotechnology, Belgium

*Correspondence:

You Shang you_shanghust@163.com

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 13 November 2020 Published: 16 December 2020

Citation:

He Y-J, Xu J-Q, Sun M-M, Fang X-Z, Peng Z-K, Pan S-W, Zhou T, Wang Y-X and Shang Y (2020) Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Promising Marker for Monitoring and Treating Sepsis. Front. Immunol. 11:606649. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.606649 Sepsis is a clinical syndrome that resulting from a dysregulated inflammatory response to infection that leads to organ dysfunction. The dysregulated inflammatory response transitions from a hyper-inflammatory phase to a hypo-inflammatory or immunosuppressive phase. Currently, no phase-specific molecular-based therapies are available for monitoring the complex immune response and treating sepsis due to individual variations in the timing and overlap of the dysregulated immune response in most patients. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ), is broadly present in multiple tissues and circumvent glucocorticoid resistance (GCR) or unwanted side effects. Recently, the characteristics of GILZ downregulation during acute hyperinflammatory diseases have been well documented, and the protective effects of GILZ have gained attention in the field of sepsis. However, whether GILZ could be a promising candidate biomarker for monitoring and treating septic patients remains unknown. Here, we discuss the effect of GILZ in sepsis and sepsis-induced immunosuppression.

Keywords: sepsis, glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper, glucocorticoids, sepsis-induced immunosuppression, anti-inflammatory

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is a complex disease that causes life-threatening organ dysfunction due to uncontrolled infection (1). The global burden of sepsis is estimated to be 30 million patient episodes, with a mortality rate approaching 30%–50% annually. Notably, most data are derived from the developed countries, and the true global burden of sepsis is much greater than suggested by these figures (2, 3). The World Health Organization (WHO) rendered sepsis a global health priority in 2017 to improve prevention, diagnosis, and management. Concomitant with early hemodynamic and respiratory support and appropriate antibiotic administration, corticosteroids have been widely used for the management of sepsis as adjuvant therapy to control the immune response to invading pathogens.

Glucocorticoids (GCs) constitute are a class of corticosteroids widely used clinically as antiinflammatory and anti-shock drugs. The therapeutic glucocorticoids include hydrocortisone, prednisolone and dexamethasone. Several studies and meta-analyses have indicated that

9

low-dose hydrocortisone reduced mortality in patients with septic shock in the intensive care unit (ICU). However, the recent adjunctive corticosteroid treatment in critically ill patients with septic shock (ADRENAL) trial did not show a significantly reduced risk of mortality (4). Mortality is likely associated with the timing of treatment and multiple side effects due to the wide spectrum of effects induced by glucocorticoids (GCs) in addition to the complicated immunopathology of sepsis (5). GCs bind the GC receptor (GR), which belongs to the nuclear receptor superfamily of transcription factors to exert their broad physiological and therapeutic effects.

Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ or TSC22D3), which is a GC-inducible molecule, has emerged as a GC mediator due to its anti-inflammatory effects and theoretically lacks the side effects of GCs (6). Recently, the potential effect of GILZ in sepsis has gained attention, and GILZ has been recognized as a more promising therapy for polymicrobial sepsis than GCs. Hence, notably, that GILZ may be a checkpoint or even a biomarker of innovative therapies for sepsis-mediated immune responses and is regarded as an actionable target. Here, we review the specific role of GILZ in sepsis.

IMMUNOPATHOLOGY OF SEPSIS

Sepsis induces a complex immune response and this excessive pro-inflammatory response easily elicits the dysregulation of signaling pathways, resulting in tissue damage and organ dysfunction, and induces an immunosuppressive environment, which could increase susceptibility to secondary infections associated with poor outcomes and subsequent mortality (7), although immunosuppressive responses occur simultaneously upon the initiation of innate immune response (8–10).

Increasing evidence suggests that immune cell apoptosis, autophagy, broad metabolic defects, endotoxin tolerance, T cell exhaustion and epigenetic regulation are all contributors, and aerobic glycolysis is crucial for maintaining the function of the immune system (11). For instance, immune cells, including monocytes and T cells, undergo metabolic reprogramming and shift from oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to aerobic glycolysis when the host is infected (11). Both glycolysis and oxidative metabolism are apparently defective in leukocytes during sepsis-induced immunosuppression. The phosphorylation of extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) promotes B-cell death in sepsis (12). The delayed state of neutrophil apoptosis is the most significant change in innate immunity and contributes to the deficits in of bacterial eradication and ongoing continuous dysfunction (13). In addition, a deficit in the capacity to activate nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) or deacetylation of p65 is closely related to the macrophage reprogramming (14, 15) and sepsisinduced immunosuppression (16).

Identifying treatment and diagnosis guidelines is essential for survival during sepsis. A rich profile of transcriptional shifts occurs in leukocytes within a few hours of exposure to endotoxins (17). Patients with multiple traumas exhibit an immunosuppressed state with large quantities of danger-associated molecular patterns shortly after trauma (18). Similarly, a reduction HLA-DR in monocytes occurs early and is thought to be a marker of an altered immune state (19). Multiple studies exploring sepsis-associated survival also focused on this immunopathology. For instance, studies have focused on antiapoptotic strategies that could reduce mortality in septic mice (20), and immunomodulation with thymosin α 1, IFN- γ , IL-7, GM-CSF, interferon-g and the immune checkpoint inhibitor PD-1 in the clinic (11). However, the timing of treatment and side effects associated with suppressing excessive inflammation or enhancing host immunity have not been fully elucidated. Consequently, more timely, suitable and precise therapy is necessary to reduce cell and tissue damage in sepsis.

SEPSIS AND GLUCOCORTICOIDS/ ENDOGENOUS GLUCOCORTICOIDS

In 1976, William Schumer's study showed that septic shock patients could benefit from glucocorticoid drugs, and thus, GCs have attracted much interest in the treatment of sepsis (21). Glucocorticoids represent a type of steroid hormones secreted by the renicapsule that play key roles in the regulation of reproduction, metabolism, and immunization by binding the GR. To date, more than 37 randomized clinical trials have investigated the treatment effect of steroids in sepsis. While steroid administration reverses shock in some sepsis patients, which patients could benefit from this treatment remains unclear (22, 23). The European Society of Intensive Care Medicine and the Society of Critical Care Medicine suggest that some benefit of using corticosteroids in sepsis occurs only if shock is present (24). Recently, the APPROCHSS trial involving 1241 patients evaluated the effect of hydrocortisone plus fludrocortisone therapy and revealed a lower all-cause 90-day mortality and higher vasopressor-free days in the hydrocortisone plus fludrocortisone group than the placebo group (25). However, the ADRENAL trial, which included 3800 patients, showed that septic patients who were treated with low-dose hydrocortisone did not exhibit reductions in 90-day mortality compared with the patients in the placebo group (4). Given the number of cases included, the difference of these two large-scale trials is likely associated with their broad physiological molecular mechanisms of GCs and sepsis.

Actually, sepsis also involves in neuroendocrine mechanisms (26). The neuroendocrine system is triggered once the body is infected or traumatized to restore dynamic balance and fight noxious stimulation, thus to promote tolerance (27). Cortisol, which is a product of neuroendocrine signaling and a glucocorticoid, is the executor of neuroendocrine responses. The high level of plasma cortisol concentrations may be associated with the severity of sepsis because cortisol is not only an essential response for survival but also mediates endotoxin tolerance (28, 29). Furthermore, the molecules that mediates cortisol clearance including the corticosteroid-binding globulin (CBG), cortisol carrier albumin, A-ring reductases, and 11b-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type $2(11\beta$ -HSD2), are

reduced during in early phase of sepsis (30–32). Notably, when was inhibited by cortisol generation with hypophysectomy, the mortality of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced septic shock was significant increased (27). Thus, functioning endogenous GCs are very important for the regulation of the immune mechanism of sepsis.

However, inadequate cellular corticosteroid activity has been described as critical illness-related corticosteroid insufficiency (CIRCI) and manifests as insufficient glucocorticoid receptor (GR)-mediated downregulation of proinflammatory transcription factors (33). The following three major pathophysiological theories associated with CIRCI: dysregulation of the hypothalamic– pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis, altered cortisol metabolism (33) and glucocorticoid resistance (GCR), which limits the activity of endogenous GCs' and GCs' therapeutic effects (34) (**Figure 1**).

The GR is encoded by a single genetic locus, but alternative splicing of the gene product generates the following four distinct messenger RNAs (mRNAs): GR α , GR β , GR γ , and GR-A. Each of these intracytoplasmic GR α subtypes can bind GCs and, when in the dimer form, can activate gene expression. The GR α protein normally resides in the cytoplasm, and GR α isoforms directly bind GC response elements (GREs) to induce the transcription of multiple genes, including IL-10, IL-1 receptor antagonists, and GILZ (35). GR α expression significantly decreases in patients suffering sepsis, while GR β is upregulated and cannot bind GCs in septic patients (36). GR β located in the nucleus could be



FIGURE 1 | Changes in glucocorticoid production, metabolism, and regulation in sepsis. (1) The HPA axis is activated by stress (both physically and mentally), tissue damage, and infection. The paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus secretes CRH, and the anterior pituitary gland secretes ACTH or corticotropin; then GC is secreted by the adrenal cortex. Cytokines such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 can be projected in the hypothalamus through neuroafferent projections. DAMPs and PAMPs can also directly stimulate adrenocortical cells with toll receptors (TLR), leading to the synthesis of ACTH dependent cortisol. Circulating inflammatory mediators break the brain barrier and act on the hypothalamus. GC exerts negative feedback on both CRH and ACTH production when GC exceeds the threshold. (2) Then 5% GC that is free and activated binds the GR and enters the nucleus to influence gene expression. The inactive GC could be reactivated by 11b-HSD1. GR binds promoters to promote metabolic genes and anti-inflammation genes. Additionally, GR binds negative GRE elements (nGRE) on DNA or some transcription factors (TF) to inhibit the expression of target genes. (2) So Co bound to CBG is transported to various tissue. During sepsis, the host production is reduced and the CBG in the inflammatory site is cleaved by neutrophil elastases. Cortisol is cleared mainly through A-ring reductases in the liver and through 11 β -HSD2 in the kidneys. These enzymes are limited in sepsis resulting in reduced clearance of GC. PAMPs: pathogen-associated molecular patterns; DAMPs: carnage-associated molecular patterns; HPA: hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis; CRH: corticotropin-releasing hormone; ACTH: adrenocorticotropic hormone; CBG: corticosteroid-binding globulin; 11 β -HSD2: 11b-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2; 11b-HSD1: 11b-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1.

induced by several proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-4, IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-23, and TNF- α (37, 38),and is thought to be a negative regulator of GC activity. The overexpression of GR β inhibits GR α -mediated gene transcription (39, 40). Thus, clearly, high GR β levels seem to be associated with GCR in sepsis.

There are other forms of GRs, leading to different variants of GR proteins in addition to GR α and GR β . GR isoforms and associated subtypes within organs may explain sepsis-induced alterations in GC responses, revealing different clinical responses in septic patients (41). Investigators have identified 27 splice variants of the GR gene and hundreds of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), insertions and deletions, which could lead to different variants of GR proteins (42). Recently, ANP32E has been shown to correlate with GCR. This protein has been linked to the exchange of H2A. z histone and promotes GR-induced transcription (43). The mechanisms of GC-mediated hypo-responsiveness are heterogeneous due to the various cell types and cytokines involved, and further studies of GR biology may be an important step in promoting GC-based therapies. Hence, supplementing active GCs and activating downstream target molecules are critical for this treatment. Consequently, the identification of a potential treatment that can replace GCs and mediate effective antiinflammatory effects and endotoxin tolerance without causing GC-associated adverse effects has become the main focus of current studies.

ANTI-INFLAMMATORY/ IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE EFFECTS OF GLUCOCORTICOIDS AND GILZ

Glucocorticoids function at physiological and pharmacological levels and are mediated by the GR. Following glucocorticoid exposure, the GC/GR complex translocates into the nucleus and directly binds to glucocorticoid response elements (GREs) to promote downstream transcription factors, including GILZ (44). In turn, GILZ binds NF- κ B and prevents its nuclear translocation to elicit anti-inflammatory effects. GILZ can also directly bind c-Jun and c-Fos, which are two constituents of AP-1, to inhibit their transcriptional activity and gene expression of proinflammatory molecules (**Figure 2**). Additionally, GILZ interacts directly with Ras and Raf, thereby inhibiting the downstream activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase 1 (MAPK1), to mediate antiproliferative effects (45, 46).

GILZ, which is widely expressed in various human and mouse organs and is most highly expressed in the lungs (47, 48), was



FIGURE 2 | Major signaling pathways of GILZ. GILZ can regulate cell activation, apoptosis, proliferation, and inflammation mainly through several signaling pathways. GILZ directly binds p65 and p52 to inhibit NF-κB signaling to reduce the production of proinflammatory factors and macrophage phagocytosis. GILZ can directly bind Ras and inhibit downstream pathways. (1) inhibits the PI3K–Akt pathway to regulate apoptosis and cell survival; GILZ inhibits FOXO3A-mediated transcription, such as the pro-apoptotic protein, Bim. (2) The direct binding of GILZ to Ras and Raf leads to reduced activation of MEK, ERK, and MAPK, which inhibits cell growth and proliferation. (3) GILZ can directly bind c-Fos and c-Jun to inhibit AP-1 signaling, which prevents cell growth, cell differentiation, and inflammation. NF-κB, nuclear factor κB; AP-1, activator protein 1; FoxO3, forkhead box protein O3; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; AKT: Protein kinase B (PKB), also known as Akt.

originally identified in 1997 (49). GILZ contains the following three main regions: an N-terminal domain (1–75 amino acids) with a tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) domain, a leucine zipper (76–97 amino acids) that largely mediates the homodimerization of GILZ, and a proline-rich C-terminal domain (98–137 amino acids) and at least three typical GREs (50) at transcriptional initiation site. GILZ mediates the endogenous and exogenous anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of GCs in various types of cells, including lymphoid cells, in which it may regulate the activation and apoptosis of cells, which is an important pathophysiological characteristic of the immunopathology of sepsis (6, 51).

GILZ inhibits T lymphocyte activation, apoptosis, and cell proliferation either directly or through antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (52, 53), and inhibit IL-2 withdrawal-induced apoptosis by inhibiting Forkhead Box O3 (FoxO3) transcriptional activity and the proapoptotic gene Bim (54). GILZ also preventsTh-1 and promotes Th-2 differentiation by inhibiting NF-KB activation and nuclear translocation. Transgenic GILZ-overexpressing (GILZ-Tg) mice are less susceptible to Th-1-mediated experimental dinitrobenzene sulfonic acid- (DNBS-) colitis and spinal cord injury. Regulatory T Cells (Tregs) constitute are a subpopulation of T cells that accumulates in the bone marrow and can modulate the immune system, maintain tolerance to self-antigens and control autoimmune disorders. GILZ expression in bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs) and DCs exerts anti-inflammatory effects depending on IL-10-producing Treg and activity. Additionally, GILZ promotes Treg differentiation by activating TGF-B signaling, which is a typical anti-inflammatory factor (55). However, GILZ-KO mice did not have worse collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) compared with WT mice, although the GILZ-KO mice displayed higher T cell proliferation. Furthermore, replenishing GILZ reduces inflammation but does not affect T cell proliferation. Consequently, as a key modulator of Tregs, GILZ plays an anti-inflammatory role in most experimental settings, but the actual role of GILZ in T cells is complex and requires more exploration.

GILZ exerts suppressive effects on B cells by inhibiting cell activation, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and IgG production (56). The accumulation of B cell precursors in the bone marrow and peripheral lymphoid organs with elevated Bcl-2 and NF-κB activity has been shown in GILZ-deficient mice (57). The deletion of GILZ increased IFN- γ and AP-1 activity in B cells in a colitis mouse model (58). Furthermore, the above effects were all reversed by the compensation of the GILZ protein, demonstrating the potential therapeutic role of GILZ in regulating B cell-dependent diseases (58).

GILZ not only plays an important role in adaptive immunity, but also inhibits the activity of the innate immune system. In DCs, GILZ and GCs are critical for balancing the anti-inflammatory response and tolerance phenotypes (59, 60), which are closely related to sepsis-induced immunosuppression. GILZ could mediate the downregulation of MHC class II molecules, costimulatory factors, and Treg cell generation (61). Some proinflammatory factors including IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-23, were strongly increased in GILZ-KO bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) following upon TLR4 and TLR7 stimulation (62, 63). GILZ prevents DCs from activating the antigen-specific T lymphocyte response. GILZ^{-/-} DCs increased IFN- γ and IL-17 secretion in CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells (64, 65). Moreover, GILZ could regulate antigen capture and cross-presentation by DCs and limits antigen internalization in DCs from GILZ^{-/-} mice (62, 66). Dexamethasone enhanced antigen capture by DCs (67, 68), which does not different from the roles of GILZ. Additionally, GILZ can inhibit DC maturation, which could increase the production of IL-10 and promote the development of tolerant DC phenotypes (65, 69).

The GILZ protein and mRNA levels were obviously decreased in alveolar macrophages (AMs) and THP-1 cells exposed to LPS (6, 46, 70). GILZ could decrease macrophage sensitivity to LPS and proinflammatory cytokines expression (71). GILZ deficiency enhances NF- κ B pathway-mediated macrophage phagocytosis. Consistent with this result, GILZ-KO macrophages were observed to have increased NO production (45). Interestingly, GC exerts the opposite effect to promote macrophage phagocytosis (72).

GILZ also inhibits neutrophil migration to inflammatory sites *via* annexin A1 (73) and alleviates the proinflammatory response by inhibiting reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation and the accumulation of leukocytes at the site of inflammation or inducing neutrophil apoptosis (57, 74). Neutrophils derived from GILZ-KO mice showed a stronger capacity to clear pathogens in a candida albicans intraperitoneal infection model. Although the role of GILZ is extensive, it has not been deeply studied in sepsis patients. Furthermore, few studies investigated about the immune response associated with GILZ in myeloid-derived suppressor cells, which perform potent immunosuppressive functions and act on both innate and adaptive immunity.

GILZ IN SEPSIS

GILZ has been studied in septic patients and CLP models (**Table 1**). During the hyperinflammatory stage of sepsis, GILZ regulation is contrary to inflammatory release. GILZ mRNA was reduced by 50% in peripheral polymorphonuclear cells from critically ill patients (75, 80). In an experimental model of CLP, the GILZ expression level was also downregulated in both blood cells and the liver after two hours of the CLP procedure (75). Human alveolar macrophages (AMs) were treated with LPS, upon TLR4 activation, both the mRNA and protein levels of GILZ rapidly decreased, while the TNF and IL-6 mRNA levels increased (70, 77).

The inbred mouse strain SPRET/Ei has been shown to exhibit marked resistance to LPS that depending at least partially on the GR levels and GILZ mRNA was higher than that in C57BL/6 mice (78, 81). In addition, the TAT-GILZ fusion protein, which is a synthetic fusion construct containing the TAT peptide followed by the GILZ cDNA sequence from C57BL/6 and SPRET/Ei, has been shown to reduce mortality [58]. The

Reference	Mouse Model of sepsis	GILZ-dependent Effects	Treatment
Ballegeer et al. (75)	C57BL/6 and GILZ-Tg mice; CLP induced septic peritonitis.	GILZ-Tg peritoneal leukocytes (CD45+) displayed a significantly higher phagocytic capacity than GILZ-WT cells	N/A
Ellouze et al. (76)	C57BL/6 and GILZ-Tg mice; CLP induced septic peritonitis.	Monocytes and macrophages from GILZ-Tg mice showed greater phagocytic capacity and faster bacterial clearance.	N/A
Hoppstadter et al. (77)	C57BL/6J and myeloid-specific GILZ knockout (KO) mice; LPS induced endotoxin tolerance.	GILZ-deficient macrophages displayed increased TNF-a and $IL-1\beta$ expression due to the activation of ERK signaling pathways.	N/A
Pinheiro et al. (78)	C57BL/6 and SPRET/Ei mice; LPS- induced lethal inflammation.	Macrophages transfected with TAT-GILZ, containing either the C57BL/6 or SPRET/Ei sequence, showed reduced cytokine production.	TAT-GILZ administration reduced mortality and IL6 serum concentrations
Hang et al. (79)	C57BL/6 mice; LPS-induced septic shock.	Suppression of NF-κB signaling pathways	Short-Chain Alcohols Protect Mice from LPS-induced Septic Shock

TABLE 1 | A Summary of Preclinical Evidence that revealing the Involvement of glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) in the pathogenesis of sepsis.

recombinant GILZ protein was first demonstrated to attenuate colon inflammation in DNBS-induced colitis in 2009 (82). The administration of the TAT-GILZ fusion protein could reduce tissue edema and increase perfusion of the ischemic/reperfused kidney in mice with acute kidney injury (AKI), and improve the disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and cell death in vitro (83, 84). GILZ-Tg mice had a lower mortality and blood bacterial load than GILZ-WT mice in a CLP model (75). Peritoneal leukocytes in GILZ-Tg mice are more likely have a higher phagocytic capacity, which may be mediated in inflammatory resolution due to neutrophils apoptosis or M2 -type macrophages polarization (74, 85, 86) In addition, mice with GILZ overexpress mononuclear macrophages (M/M) exhibited an increased survival rate and reduced levels of plasma inflammatory cytokines and blood bacterial load (76). It is likely that overexpression of GILZ elicits an increase in macrophages phagocytosis. A recent study found that the management of short-chain alcohols protects mice from LPS septic shock by increasing peripheral blood GILZ in a dosedependent manner and suppressing IKB phosphorylation, which is a mechanisms that promoting immune tolerance (16, 79).

Although the upregulation of GILZ can alleviate inflammatory storms and improve survival during the early stage of sepsis, but not endotoxin tolerance (77), the downregulation of GILZ expression independent of GR activation abrogated LPS tolerance and increased responsiveness to LPS by enhancing ERK activity and rescuing MAPK signals, which was independent of GR activation (77). Meanwhile, Wang et al. (87) found that the elevated level of GCs or GILZ is related to late stage inflammation in sepsis, and artesunate can inhibit the upregulation of GILZ mRNA and increase bacterial clearance of hydrocortisoneinduced immunosuppression peritoneal macrophages.

Immune phenotypes of infection, especially in sepsis, have many similarities with those in cancer (88). GILZ is a crucial immunosuppressive molecule mediated by GCs in the immunosuppressive tumor environment. Recently, GILZ was shown to be highly expressed in the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment, which was sufficient to abolish the therapeutic control of tumors (89). DC-specific GILZ deletion or GR antagonists could reverse these negative effects. An online survival analysis suggested that the GILZ level was negatively correlated with prognosis in lung cancer patients (90, 91). These seemingly conflicting data may indicate the cell-specific nature and different stages of the regulation of GILZ in sepsis, which is similar to GCs. As mentioned above, GILZ may play a pivotal role in the immune tolerance of sepsis, although only a few related researches. Of note is, GCs are responsible for osteoporosis though osteoblast formation after long-term GC treatment. In contrast, GILZ increases osteogenic differentiation and inhibits adipocyte formation in mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (92). Consistently, cell-specific GILZ overexpression in osteoblasts induced high bone mass and increased bone formation and the osteoblast number (93). Whether GILZ exerts the opposite effect on other GC side effects remains unclear, although the latest published data indicate that GILZ is a critical mediator leading to statin-induced myopathy (90).

Collectively, the potential significance of GILZ in the potential diagnosis, treatment, and prediction of sepsis is worth discussing. To date, few studies investigated the mechanism and therapeutic applications of GILZ in inflammatory diseases and sepsis, and more studies are needed to determine its efficacy and safety.

PROSPECTS OF GILZ IN SEPSIS

Sepsis and septic shock are both severe diseases that should be treated and resuscitated immediately. Evidence increasingly suggests that the early treatment of sepsis increases the chances of survival, and no study has shown that treatment works better when applied later (94). Although the immune system changes as sepsis progresses, GILZ expression is stable during the late stage of inflammation, especially during immunosuppression, which is probably due to GILZ acting as a downstream molecule and regulation by endogenous cortisol *in vivo*. Hence, GILZ might become a potential monitoring molecule under the regulation of endogenous glucocorticoids or guide treatment with glucocorticoids. Currently, studies are exploring the key role of GILZ in sepsis and whether it can be a critical marker, such as the Rapid Recognition of Corticosteroid Resistant or Sensitive Sepsis (RECORDS) trial (NCT04280497) (95).

According to the current study, GILZ overexpression mice or using GILZ peptides all simulated the effect of early antiinflammatory agents in acute sepsis. Recombinant GILZ, which couples GILZ to membrane-penetrating sequences, is an attractive prospect, although further studies are needed to demonstrate the feasibility and safety of GILZ in clinical setting. Alternatively, the targeted activation of GILZ expression using the CRISPR/dCas9 activator complex specifically in macrophages could be used (96). It should be noted that a peptide targeting the C-terminal region of GILZ 115-137 aa in the mouse GILZ sequence has demonstrated a potential therapeutic effect in experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) (97), which suggesting that diverse regions of GILZ can bind different partner proteins. It may be necessary to further determine the optional GILZ peptide that binds specific targets.

SUMMARY

Sepsis is a syndrome associated with an immune system disorder in response to infection. Currently, the mechanism underlying sepsis development is unclear, further limiting treatment. Clinical studies have shown that the earlier sepsis is resolved, the more likely the patient is to survive. GILZ, which is downstream of the GR, has powerful anti-inflammatory effects similar to GCs and might circumvent GCR in sepsis. Proofof-concept studies have shown that GILZ has significant therapeutic effects in CLP-induced septic models. Additionally, cell-specific targeting of GILZ may circumvent side effects, which could be of particular interest in sepsis models or other experimental models. Cortisol is essential for

REFERENCES

- Cecconi M, Evans L, Levy M, Rhodes A. Sepsis and septic shock. *Lancet (Lond Engl)* (2018) 392(10141):75–87. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30696-2
- Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, et al. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* (2020) 395 (10219):200–11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32989-7
- Reinhart K, Daniels R, Kissoon N, Machado FR, Schachter RD, Finfer S. Recognizing Sepsis as a Global Health Priority - A WHO Resolution. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(5):414–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1707170
- Venkatesh B, Finfer S, Cohen J, Rajbhandari D, Arabi Y, Bellomo R, et al. Adjunctive Glucocorticoid Therapy in Patients with Septic Shock. N Engl J Med (2018) 378(9):797–808. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1705835
- Seymour CW, Gesten F, Prescott HC, Friedrich ME, Iwashyna TJ, Phillips GS, et al. Time to Treatment and Mortality during Mandated Emergency Care for Sepsis. N Engl J Med (2017) 376(23):2235–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1703058
- Ayroldi E, Riccardi C. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ): a new important mediator of glucocorticoid action. *FASEB J* (2009) 23(11):3649–58. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-134684
- Ding R, Meng Y, Ma X. The Central Role of the Inflammatory Response in Understanding the Heterogeneity of Sepsis-3. *BioMed Res Int* (2018) 2018:5086516. doi: 10.1155/2018/5086516
- Venet F, Monneret G. Advances in the understanding and treatment of sepsis-induced immunosuppression. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2018) 14(2):121–37. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.165
- Maslove DM, Wong HR. Gene expression profiling in sepsis: timing, tissue, and translational considerations. *Trends Mol Med* (2014) 20(4):204–13. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2014.01.006
- Tang BM, Huang SJ, McLean AS. Genome-wide transcription profiling of human sepsis: a systematic review. *Crit Care* (2010) 14(6):R237. doi: 10.1186/cc9392

inflammatory responses, and endogenous and exogenous GCs induce GILZ to change dynamically. Detection of GILZ expression over time can guide the use of GCs and evaluate the timeline of sepsis, which is of great importance for the treatment of sepsis. As a potential alternative treatment to GCs, further research concerning the role of GILZ in sepsis is needed to identify its powerful regulatory role and molecular mechanisms.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Y-JH, J-QX, and YS designed the review. Y-JH and J-QX wrote the manuscript with supervision of YS. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 82002026, 81971818, and 81772047).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to all authors who could not be cited due to space constraints.

- Cheng SC, Scicluna BP, Arts RJ, Gresnigt MS, Lachmandas E, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, et al. Broad defects in the energy metabolism of leukocytes underlie immunoparalysis in sepsis. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(4):406–13. doi: 10.1038/ni.3398
- Shankar-Hari M, Fear D, Lavender P, Mare T, Beale R, Swanson C, et al. Activation-Associated Accelerated Apoptosis of Memory B Cells in Critically Ill Patients With Sepsis. *Crit Care Med* (2017) 45(5):875–82. doi: 10.1097/ CCM.00000000002380
- Hotchkiss RS, Nicholson DW. Apoptosis and caspases regulate death and inflammation in sepsis. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6(11):813–22. doi: 10.1038/ nri1943
- Rackov G, Hernandez-Jimenez E, Shokri R, Carmona-Rodriguez L, Manes S, Alvarez-Mon M, et al. p21 mediates macrophage reprogramming through regulation of p50-p50 NF-kappaB and IFN-beta. *J Clin Invest* (2016) 126 (8):3089–103. doi: 10.1172/JCI83404
- Qin K, Han C, Zhang H, Li T, Li N, Cao X. NAD + dependent deacetylase Sirtuin 5 rescues the innate inflammatory response of endotoxin tolerant macrophages by promoting acetylation of p65. *J Autoimmun* (2017) 81:120–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.04.006
- Hoogendijk AJ, Garcia-Laorden MI, van Vught LA, Wiewel MA, Belkasim-Bohoudi H, Duitman J, et al. Sepsis Patients Display a Reduced Capacity to Activate Nuclear Factor-kappaB in Multiple Cell Types. Crit Care Med (2017) 45(5):e524–31. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002294
- Talwar S, Munson PJ, Barb J, Fiuza C, Cintron AP, Logun C, et al. Gene expression profiles of peripheral blood leukocytes after endotoxin challenge in humans. *Physiol Genomics* (2006) 25(2):203–15. doi: 10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00192.2005
- Timmermans K, Kox M, Vaneker M, van den Berg M, John A, van Laarhoven A, et al. Plasma levels of danger-associated molecular patterns are associated with immune suppression in trauma patients. *Intensive Care Med* (2016) 42 (4):551–61. doi: 10.1007/s00134-015-4205-3

- Kim OY, Monsel A, Bertrand M, Coriat P, Cavaillon JM, Adib-Conquy M. Differential down-regulation of HLA-DR on monocyte subpopulations during systemic inflammation. *Crit Care* (2010) 14(2):R61. doi: 10.1186/cc8959
- Hotchkiss RS, Coopersmith CM, Karl IE. Prevention of lymphocyte apoptosis-a potential treatment of sepsis? *Clin Infect Dis* (2005) 41 Suppl 7: S465–9. doi: 10.1086/431998
- Patel GP, Balk RA. Systemic Steroids in Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock. Am J Resp Crit Care (2012) 185(2):133–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201011-1897CI
- 22. Steigbigel NH. Effect of treatment with low doses of hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone on mortality in patients with septic shock. *Curr Infect Dis Rep* (2003) 5(5):363–4. doi: 10.1007/s11908-003-0014-x
- Minneci PC, Deans KJ, Natanson C. Corticosteroid therapy for severe sepsis and septic shock. JAMA (2009) 302(15):1643, 1644–5. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2009.1480
- 24. Pastores SM, Annane D, Rochwerg B. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of critical illness-related corticosteroid insufficiency (CIRCI) in critically ill patients (Part II): Society of Critical Care Medicine (SCCM) and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) 2017. Intensive Care Med (2018) 44(4):474–7. doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4951-5
- Annane D, Renault A, Brun-Buisson C, Megarbane B, Quenot JP, Siami S, et al. Hydrocortisone plus Fludrocortisone for Adults with Septic Shock. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 378(9):809–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1705716
- Jara EL, Munoz-Durango N, Llanos C, Fardella C, Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, et al. Modulating the function of the immune system by thyroid hormones and thyrotropin. *Immunol Lett* (2017) 184:76–83. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017. 02.010
- Vandermosten L, Vanhorebeek I, De Bosscher K, Opdenakker G, Van den Steen PE. Critical Roles of Endogenous Glucocorticoids for Disease Tolerance in Malaria. *Trends Parasitol* (2019) 35(11):918–30. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2019. 08.007
- Jenniskens M, Weckx R, Dufour T, Vander Perre S, Pauwels L, Derde S, et al. The Hepatic Glucocorticoid Receptor Is Crucial for Cortisol Homeostasis and Sepsis Survival in Humans and Male Mice. *Endocrinology* (2018) 159(7):2790– 802. doi: 10.1210/en.2018-00344
- 29. Beishuizen A, Thijs LG, Vermes I. Patterns of corticosteroid-binding globulin and the free cortisol index during septic shock and multitrauma. *Intensive Care Med* (2001) 27(10):1584–91. doi: 10.1007/s001340101073
- Boonen E, Vervenne H, Meersseman P, Andrew R, Mortier L, Declercq PE, et al. Reduced cortisol metabolism during critical illness. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 368(16):1477–88. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1214969
- Thomas Z, Fraser GL. An update on the diagnosis of adrenal insufficiency and the use of corticotherapy in critical illness. *Ann Pharmacother* (2007) 41 (9):1456–65. doi: 10.1345/aph.1K082
- Annane D. The Role of ACTH and Corticosteroids for Sepsis and Septic Shock: An Update. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2016) 7:70. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2016.00070
- Annane D, Pastores SM, Arlt W, Balk RA, Beishuizen A, Briegel J, et al. Critical Illness-Related Corticosteroid Insufficiency (CIRCI). Crit Care Med (2017) 45(12):2089–98. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002724
- 34. Marik PE, Pastores SM, Annane D, Meduri GU, Sprung CL, Arlt W, et al. Recommendations for the diagnosis and management of corticosteroid insufficiency in critically ill adult patients: consensus statements from an international task force by the American College of Critical Care Medicine. *Crit Care Med* (2008) 36(6):1937–49. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31817603ba
- Flynn JK, Dankers W, Morand EF. Could GILZ Be the Answer to Glucocorticoid Toxicity in Lupus? *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1684. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01684
- 36. Guerrero J, Gatica HA, Rodriguez M, Estay R, Goecke IA. Septic serum induces glucocorticoid resistance and modifies the expression of glucocorticoid isoforms receptors: a prospective cohort study and in vitro experimental assay. *Crit Care* (2013) 17(3):R107. doi: 10.1186/cc12774
- Vazquez-Tello A, Halwani R, Hamid Q, Al-Muhsen S. Glucocorticoid receptor-beta up-regulation and steroid resistance induction by IL-17 and IL-23 cytokine stimulation in peripheral mononuclear cells. J Clin Immunol (2013) 33(2):466–78. doi: 10.1007/s10875-012-9828-3
- 38. Webster JC, Oakley RH, Jewell CM, Cidlowski JA. Proinflammatory cytokines regulate human glucocorticoid receptor gene expression and lead to the accumulation of the dominant negative beta isoform: a mechanism for the

generation of glucocorticoid resistance. *ProcNatl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98 (12):6865–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.121455098

- Bledsoe RK, Montana VG, Stanley TB, Delves CJ, Apolito CJ, McKee DD, et al. Crystal structure of the glucocorticoid receptor ligand binding domain reveals a novel mode of receptor dimerization and coactivator recognition. *Cell* (2002) 110(1):93–105. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00817-6
- Li LB, Leung D, Hall CF, Goleva E. Divergent expression and function of glucocorticoid receptor beta in human monocytes and T cells. J Leukoc Biol (2006) 79(4):818–27. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0805466
- Abraham MN, Jimenez DM, Fernandes TD, Deutschman CS. Cecal Ligation and Puncture Alters Glucocorticoid Receptor Expression. *Crit Care Med* (2018) 46(8):e797–804. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003201
- 42. Leventhal SM, Lim D, Green TL, Cantrell AE, Cho K, Greenhalgh DG. Uncovering a multitude of human glucocorticoid receptor variants: an expansive survey of a single gene. *BMC Genet* (2019) 20(1):16. doi: 10.1186/ s12863-019-0718-z
- Loren V, Garcia-Jaraquemada A, Naves JE, Carmona X, Manosa M, Aransay AM, et al. ANP32E, a Protein Involved in Steroid-Refractoriness in Ulcerative Colitis, Identified by a Systems Biology Approach. J Crohns Colitis (2019) 13 (3):351–61. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy171
- Pérez LMSA. Glucocorticoids and Glucocorticoid-Induced-Leucine-Zipper (GILZ) in Psoriasis. Front Immunol (2019) 10:2220. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.02220
- 45. Hoppstadter J, Diesel B, Linnenberger R, Hachenthal N, Flamini S, Minet M, et al. Amplified Host Defense by Toll-Like Receptor-Mediated Downregulation of the Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper (GILZ) in Macrophages. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:3111. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03111
- 46. Ricci E, Ronchetti S, Gabrielli E, Pericolini E, Gentili M, Roselletti E, et al. GILZ restrains neutrophil activation by inhibiting the MAPK pathway. *J Leukoc Biol* (2019) 105(1):187–94. doi: 10.1002/JLB.3AB0718-255R
- Ayyar VS, Almon RR, Jusko WJ, DuBois DC. Quantitative tissue-specific dynamics of in vivo GILZ mRNA expression and regulation by endogenous and exogenous glucocorticoids. *Physiol Rep* (2015) 3(6):e12382. doi: 10.14814/ phy2.12382
- Cari L, Ricci E, Gentili M, Petrillo MG, Ayroldi E, Ronchetti S, et al. A focused Real Time PCR strategy to determine GILZ expression in mouse tissues. *Results Immunol* (2015) 5:37–42. doi: 10.1016/j.rinim.2015.10.003
- D'Adamio F, Zollo O, Moraca R, Ayroldi E, Bruscoli S, Bartoli A, et al. A new dexamethasone-induced gene of the leucine zipper family protects T lymphocytes from TCR/CD3-activated cell death. *Immunity* (1997) 7 (6):803–12. doi: 10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80398-2
- Asselin-Labat ML, David M, Biola-Vidamment A, Lecoeuche D, Zennaro MC, Bertoglio J, et al. GILZ, a new target for the transcription factor FoxO3, protects T lymphocytes from interleukin-2 withdrawal-induced apoptosis. *Blood* (2004) 104(1):215–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-12-4295
- Bereshchenko O, Migliorati G, Bruscoli S, Riccardi C. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Novel Anti-inflammatory Molecule. *Front Pharmacol* (2019) 10(3):308–18. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00308
- Ayroldi E, Migliorati G, Bruscoli S, Marchetti C, Zollo O, Cannarile L, et al. Modulation of T-cell activation by the glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper factor via inhibition of nuclear factor kappaB. *Blood* (2001) 98(3):743–53. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.3.743
- Cannarile L, Delfino DV, Adorisio S, Riccardi C, Ayroldi E. Implicating the Role of GILZ in Glucocorticoid Modulation of T-Cell Activation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1823. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01823
- Latre DLP, Pepin A, Assaf-Vandecasteele H, Espinasse C, Nicolas V, Asselin-Labat ML, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) promotes the nuclear exclusion of FOXO3 in a Crm1-dependent manner. J Biol Chem (2010) 285(8):5594–605. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.068346
- 55. Bereshchenko O, Coppo M, Bruscoli S, Biagioli M, Cimino M, Frammartino T, et al. GILZ promotes production of peripherally induced Treg cells and mediates the crosstalk between glucocorticoids and TGF-beta signaling. *Cell Rep* (2014) 7(2):464–75. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.004
- Gruver-Yates AL, Quinn MA, Cidlowski JA. Analysis of glucocorticoid receptors and their apoptotic response to dexamethasone in male murine B cells during development. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155(2):463–74. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1473
- 57. Bruscoli S, Biagioli M, Sorcini D, Frammartino T, Cimino M, Sportoletti P, et al. Lack of glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) deregulates B-cell

survival and results in B-cell lymphocytosis in mice. *Blood* (2015) 126 (15):1790-801. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-03-631580

- Bruscoli S, Sorcini D, Flamini S, Gagliardi A, Adamo F, Ronchetti S, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Inhibits Interferon-Gamma Production in B Cells and Suppresses Colitis in Mice. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1720. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01720
- Hamdi H, Godot V, Maillot MC, Prejean MV, Cohen N, Krzysiek R, et al. Induction of antigen-specific regulatory T lymphocytes by human dendritic cells expressing the glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper. *Blood* (2007) 110 (1):211–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-052506
- 60. Futterleib JS, Feng H, Tigelaar RE, Choi J, Edelson RL. Activation of GILZ gene by photoactivated 8-methoxypsoralen: potential role of immunoregulatory dendritic cells in extracorporeal photochemotherapy. *Transfus Apher Sci* (2014) 50(3):379–87. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2013.10.003
- Calmette J, Ellouze M, Tran T, Karaki S, Ronin E, Capel F, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper enhanced expression in dendritic cells is sufficient to drive regulatory T cells expansion in vivo. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(12):5863–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400758
- Calmette J, Bertrand M, Vetillard M, Ellouze M, Flint S, Nicolas V, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Protein Controls Macropinocytosis in Dendritic Cells. J Immunol (2016) 197(11):4247–56. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1600561
- 63. Jones SA, Perera DN, Fan H, Russ BE, Harris J, Morand EF. GILZ regulates Th17 responses and restrains IL-17-mediated skin inflammation. *J Autoimmun* (2015) 61:73–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2015.05.010
- Cathelin D, Met O, Svane IM. Silencing of the glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper improves the immunogenicity of clinical-grade dendritic cells. *Cytotherapy* (2013) 15(6):740–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcyt.2013.02.005
- Hackstein H, Thomson AW. Dendritic cells: emerging pharmacological targets of immunosuppressive drugs. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(1):24–34. doi: 10.1038/nri1256
- Lebson L, Wang T, Jiang Q, Whartenby KA. Induction of the glucocorticoidinduced leucine zipper gene limits the efficacy of dendritic cell vaccines. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2011) 18(8):563–70. doi: 10.1038/cgt.2011.23
- Maggi J, Schinnerling K, Pesce B, Hilkens CM, Catalán D, Aguillón JC. Dexamethasone and Monophosphoryl Lipid A-Modulated Dendritic Cells Promote Antigen-Specific Tolerogenic Properties on Naive and Memory CD4 (+) T Cells. Front Immunol (2016) 7:359. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00359
- Piemonti L, Monti P, Allavena P, Leone BE, Caputo A, Di Carlo V. Glucocorticoids increase the endocytic activity of human dendritic cells. *Int Immunol* (1999) 11(9):1519–26. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.9.1519
- Cohen N, Mouly E, Hamdi H, Maillot MC, Pallardy M, Godot V, et al. GILZ expression in human dendritic cells redirects their maturation and prevents antigen-specific T lymphocyte response. *Blood* (2006) 107(5):2037–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-07-2760
- Hoppstadter J, Diesel B, Eifler LK, Schmid T, Brune B, Kiemer AK. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper is downregulated in human alveolar macrophages upon Toll-like receptor activation. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42 (5):1282–93. doi: 10.1002/eji.201142081
- Berrebi D, Bruscoli S, Cohen N, Foussat A, Migliorati G, Bouchet-Delbos L, et al. Synthesis of glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) by macrophages: an anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive mechanism shared by glucocorticoids and IL-10. *Blood* (2003) 101(2):729–38. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-02-0538
- 72. Giles KM, Ross K, Rossi AG, Hotchin NA, Haslett C, Dransfield I. Glucocorticoid augmentation of macrophage capacity for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells is associated with reduced p130Cas expression, loss of paxillin/ pyk2 phosphorylation, and high levels of active Rac. J Immunol (2001) 167 (2):976–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.2.976
- 73. Ricci E, Ronchetti S, Pericolini E, Gabrielli E, Cari L, Gentili M, et al. Role of the glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper gene in dexamethasone-induced inhibition of mouse neutrophil migrationvia control of annexin A1 expression. FASEB J (2017) 31(7):3054–65. doi: 10.1096/fj.201601315R
- Espinasse MA, Pepin A, Virault-Rocroy P, Szely N, Chollet-Martin S, Pallardy M, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Is Expressed in Human Neutrophils and Promotes Apoptosis through Mcl-1 Down-Regulation. *J Innate Immun* (2016) 8(1):81–96. doi: 10.1159/000439052

- Ballegeer M, Vandewalle J, Eggermont M, Van Isterdael G, Dejager L, De Bus L, et al. Overexpression of Gilz Protects Mice Against Lethal Septic Peritonitis. *Shock* (2019) 52(2):208–14. doi: 10.1097/SHK.00000000001252
- Ellouze M, Vigouroux L, Tcherakian C, Woerther PL, Guguin A, Robert O, et al. Overexpression of GILZ in macrophages limits systemic inflammation while increasing bacterial clearance in sepsis in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 50 (4):589–602. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948278
- Hoppstadter J, Kessler SM, Bruscoli S, Huwer H, Riccardi C, Kiemer AK. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper: a critical factor in macrophage endotoxin tolerance. J Immunol (2015) 194(12):6057–67. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1403207
- Pinheiro I, Dejager L, Petta I, Vandevyver S, Puimège L, Mahieu T, et al. LPS resistance of SPRET/Ei mice is mediated by Gilz, encoded by the Tsc22d3 gene on the X chromosome. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(3):456–70. doi: 10.1002/ emmm.201201683
- 79. Ng HP, Jennings S, Nelson S, Wang G. Short-Chain Alcohols Upregulate GILZ Gene Expression and Attenuate LPS-Induced Septic Immune Response. Front Immunol (2020) 11(3):53-65. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2020.00053
- Vassiliou AG, Stamogiannos G, Jahaj E, Botoula E, Floros G, Vassiliadi DA, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of glucocorticoid receptor alpha/beta expression and signalling, adrenocortical function and cytokines in critically ill steroidfree patients. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2020) 501:110656. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2019.110656
- Dejager L, Pinheiro I, Bogaert P, Huys L, Libert C. Role for neutrophils in host immune responses and genetic factors that modulate resistance to Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium in the inbred mouse strai SPRET/Ei. *Infect Immun* (2010) 78(9):3848–60. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00044-10
- Cannarile L, Cuzzocrea S, Santucci L, Agostini M, Mazzon E, Esposito E, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper is protective in Th1-mediated models of colitis. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136(2):530–41. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2008.09.024
- Baban B, Marchetti C, Khodadadi H, Malik A, Emami G, Lin PC, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Promotes Neutrophil and T-Cell Polarization with Protective Effects in Acute Kidney Injury. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2018) 367(3):483–93. doi: 10.1124/jpet.118.251371
- Baban B, Khodadadi H, Vaibhav K, Marchetti C, Riccardi C, Mozaffari MS. Regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cells in Acute Kidney Injury: Crosstalk between Cannabidiol and GILZ. J Immunol Res (2020) 2020:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2020/6056373
- Vago JP, Tavares LP, Garcia CC, Lima KM, Perucci LO, Vieira EL, et al. The role and effects of glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper in the context of inflammation resolution. *J Immunol* (2015) 194(10):4940–50. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1401722
- Dalli J, Jones CP, Cavalcanti DM, Farsky SH, Perretti M, Rankin SM. Annexin A1 regulates neutrophil clearance by macrophages in the mouse bone marrow. *FASEB J* (2012) 26(1):387–96. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-182089
- Wang Y, Liao M, Zhang Y, Deng F, Luo J, Wang N, et al. Artesunate protects immunosuppression mice induced by glucocorticoids via enhancing proinflammatory cytokines release and bacterial clearance. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2020), 173630. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173630
- Hotchkiss RS, Moldawer LL. Parallels between Cancer and Infectious Disease. N Engl J Med (2014) 371(4):380–3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcibr1404664
- Yang H, Xia L, Chen J, Zhang S, Martin V, Li Q, et al. Stress-glucocorticoid– TSC22D3 axis compromises therapy-induced antitumor immunity. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(9):1428–41. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0566-4
- Hoppstadter J, Valbuena PJ, Linnenberger R, Dahlem C, Legroux TM, Hecksteden A, et al. The glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper mediates statin-induced muscle damage. *FASEB J* (2020) 34(3):4684–701. doi: 10.1096/ fj.201902557RRR
- Győrffy B, Surowiak P, Budczies J, Lánczky A. Online survival analysis software to assess the prognostic value of biomarkers using transcriptomic data in non-small-cell lung cancer. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(12):e82241. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082241
- Zhang W, Yang N, Shi XM. Regulation of mesenchymal stem cell osteogenic differentiation by glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ). J Biol Chem (2008) 283(8):4723–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M704147200

- Pan G, Cao J, Yang N, Ding K, Fan C, Xiong WC, et al. Role of glucocorticoidinduced leucine zipper (GILZ) in bone acquisition. J Biol Chem (2014) 289 (28):19373–82. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.535237
- Levy MM, Evans LE, Rhodes A. The Surviving Sepsis Campaign Bundle: 2018 update. Intensive Care Med (2018) 44(6):925–8. doi: 10.1007/s00134-018-5085-0
- Rapid Recognition of Corticosteroid Resistant or Sensitive Sepsis. Issue 03 NCT04280497. (2020). Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/ NCT04280497
- Vandewalle J, Libert C. GILZ in sepsis: "Poor is the pupil who does not surpass his master". Eur J Immunol (2020) 50(4):490-3. doi: 10.1002/ eji.202048582
- 97. Srinivasan M, Janardhanam S. Novel p65 binding glucocorticoidinduced leucine zipper peptide suppresses experimental autoimmune

encephalomyelitis. J Biol Chem (2011) 286(52):44799-810. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.279257

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 He, Xu, Sun, Fang, Peng, Pan, Zhou, Wang and Shang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Use of IFNy/IL10 Ratio for Stratification of Hydrocortisone Therapy in Patients With Septic Shock

Rainer König^{1,2*†}, Amol Kolte^{1,2†}, Olaf Ahlers^{3†}, Marcus Oswald^{1,2†}, Veiko Krauss^{1,2}, Daniela Roell^{1,2}, Oliver Sommerfeld¹, George Dimopoulos⁴, Iraklis Tsangaris⁴, Eleni Antoniadou⁵, Neeraja Jaishankar¹, Holger Bogatsch⁶, Markus Löffler⁷, Markus Rödel¹, Marina Garcia-Moreno⁸, Lorena Tuchscherr⁸, Charles L. Sprung⁹, Mervyn Singer¹⁰, Frank Brunkhorst¹, Michael Oppert¹¹, Herwig Gerlach¹², Ralf A. Claus¹³, Sina M. Coldewey^{1,13,14}, Josef Briegel¹⁵, Evangelos J. Giamarellos-Bourboulis^{1,16}, Didier Keh^{3†} and Michael Bauer^{1,13*†}

¹ Integrated Research and Treatment Center, Center for Sepsis Control and Care, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, ² Institute of Infectious Diseases and Infection Control, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, ³ Department of Anesthesiology and Operative Intensive Care Medicine (CCM, CVK), Berlin Institute of Health, Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ 2nd Department of Critical Care Medicine, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece, ⁵ Intensive Care Unit, "George Gennimatas" Thessaloniki General Hospital, Thessaloniki, Greece, ⁶ Clinical Trial Centre, Leipzig University, Leipzig, Germany, ⁷ Institute for Medical Informatics, Statistics and Epidemiology, Leipzig University, Leipzig, Germany, ⁸ Institute of Medical Microbiology, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, ⁹ Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care Medicine, Hadassah Hebrew University Medical Center, Jerusalem, Israel, ¹⁰ Division of Medicine, Bloomsbury Institute of Intensive Care Medicine, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ¹¹ Department of Emergency and Intensive Care Medicine, Klinikum Ernst von Bergmann, Potsdam, Germany, ¹² Department of Anesthesia, Operative Intensive Care Medicine, and Pain Management, Vivantes Neukölln Hospital, Berlin, Germany, ¹³ Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, ¹⁴ Septomics Research Center, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, ¹⁵ Department of Anesthesiology, University Hospital, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Munich, Germany, ¹⁶ Hh Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Large clinical trials testing hydrocortisone therapy in septic shock have produced conflicting results. Subgroups may benefit of hydrocortisone treatment depending on their individual immune response. We performed an exploratory analysis of the database from the international randomized controlled clinical trial Corticosteroid Therapy of Septic Shock (CORTICUS) employing machine learning to a panel of 137 variables collected from the Berlin subcohort comprising 83 patients including demographic and clinical measures, organ failure scores, leukocyte counts and levels of circulating cytokines. The identified theranostic marker was validated against data from a cohort of the Hellenic Sepsis Study Group (HSSG) (n = 246), patients enrolled in the clinical trial of Sodium Selenite and Procalcitonin Guided Antimicrobial Therapy in Severe Sepsis (SISPCT, n = 118), and another, smaller clinical trial (Crossover study, n = 20). In addition, in vitro blood culture experiments and in vivo experiments in mouse models were performed to assess biological plausibility. A low serum IFNy/IL10 ratio predicted increased survival in the hydrocortisone group whereas a high ratio predicted better survival in the placebo group. Using this marker for a decision rule, we applied it to three validation sets and observed the same trend. Experimental studies in vitro revealed that $IFN_{\gamma}/IL10$ was

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chander Raman, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Barbara Bottazzi, University of Milan, Italy Craig Coopersmith, Emory University, United States Soheyl Bahrami, Ludwig Boltzmann Gesellschaft (LBG), Austria

*Correspondence:

Rainer König rainer.koenig@med.uni-jena.de Michael Bauer michael.bauer@med.uni-jena.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 16 September 2020 Accepted: 09 February 2021 Published: 09 March 2021

Citation:

König R, Kolte A, Ahlers O, Oswald M, Krauss V, Roell D, Sommerfeld O, Dimopoulos G, Tsangaris I, Antoniadou E, Jaishankar N, Bogatsch H. Löffler M. Rödel M. Garcia-Moreno M, Tuchscherr L, Sprung CL, Singer M, Brunkhorst F, Oppert M, Gerlach H, Claus RA, Coldewey SM, Briegel J, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Keh D and Bauer M (2021) Use of IFNy/IL10 Ratio for Stratification of Hydrocortisone Therapy in Patients With Septic Shock. Front. Immunol. 12:607217. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.607217 negatively associated with the load of (heat inactivated) pathogens in spiked human blood and in septic mouse models. Accordingly, an *in silico* analysis of published IFN_Y and IL10 values in bacteremic and non-bacteremic patients with the Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome supported this association between the ratio and pathogen burden. We propose IFN_Y/IL10 as a molecular marker supporting the decision to administer hydrocortisone to patients in septic shock. Prospective clinical studies are necessary and standard operating procedures need to be implemented, particularly to define a generic threshold. If confirmed, IFN_Y/IL10 may become a suitable theranostic marker for an urging clinical need.

Keywords: sepsis, hydrocortisone, immune therapy, machine learning, theranostics, steroids, IFNgamma/IL10

INTRODUCTION

Though prospective, randomized, controlled multicenter trials have consistently reported faster shock resolution (1, 2), the utility of "low-dose" hydrocortisone (HC) in patients with septic shock remains controversial. Whereas, two French studies reported outcome benefit from a combination of hydrocortisone plus oral fludrocortisone (3, 4), the pan-European CORTICUS trial and the 5-country ADRENAL trial found no survival effect from hydrocortisone alone (2, 5). Possible explanations for this disparity included differences in mortality risk in the populations with a two-fold higher risk of mortality in the French control group [of ref. (1)] compared to CORTICUS (61 vs. 31%, respectively), and an increase in superinfections, variations in other aspects of clinical management, and genetic variations. Of note, a subset analysis of the ADRENAL trial indicated survival benefit from hydrocortisone in Australasian patients, no effect in British and Danish patients, and a trend to harm in patients enrolled in Saudi Arabia (2). It is increasingly recognized that patients presenting in septic shock are hyper-inflamed yet at the same time immunosuppressed (6-8). Corticosteroids are traditionally considered to induce immune suppression via the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and its repressive effect on pro-inflammatory transcription factors such as AP-1 and NFkB (9). Thus, patients in an overall state of immunosuppression may be potentially compromised by administration of an immunosuppressive drug. This argument is, however, complicated by increasing evidence implicating corticosteroids and GRs in immune-reconstitutive processes (10, 11).

In human monocytes corticosteroid treatment induced expression of innate immune-related genes, such as Tolllike Receptors and anti-inflammatory genes (10, 11). In macrophages and derived cell lines glucocorticoids induced a central component of the inflammasome (NLRP3) and, upon stimulation with endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide, LPS), induced secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha (TNF α) (11). Furthermore, glucocorticoiddependent NLRP3 induction resulted in sensitization of innate immune cells to extracellular ATP and, thus, in an enhanced ATPmediated secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines following endotoxin stimulation (12). This immune-activating role of corticosteroids has been described as a response to acute stress enhancing the peripheral immune response, whereas chronic corticosteroid exposure leads to immune suppression (13, 14). These diverging effects of corticosteroids support the need for biomarkers to guide their application.

We applied machine learning to physiological and laboratory data from patients enrolled within a sub-population of the CORTICUS study to search for a potential theranostic marker for hydrocortisone treatment. Using the ratio of serum interferon gamma (IFN γ) to interleukin 10 (IL10), we were able to identify specific sub-cohorts with increased and decreased survival upon treatment. Furthermore, we explored the predictive utility of this biomarker in further datasets of septic shock patients and performed experimental studies regarding this marker as a function of pathogen challenge.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Included Cohorts and Studies

The discovery dataset based on the Berlin subcohort of the CORTICUS trial. The CORTICUS study was approved by local Ethics Committees (No: 153/2001). Written informed consent was obtained from patients, proxies or their legal representatives. Eligible patients were enrolled if they met the following inclusion criteria: clinical evidence of infection, evidence of a systemic response to infection, the onset of shock within the previous 72 h and hypoperfusion or organ dysfunction attributable to sepsis. Notable exclusion criteria included an underlying disease process with a poor prognosis, life expectancy <24 h, long-term immunosuppression and treatment with long-term corticosteroids within the past 6 months or with short-term corticosteroids within the past 4 weeks. Detailed eligibility criteria are given in Supplementary Table 1 and in the original study (5). Patients were randomized to receive either placebo or 200 mg hydrocortisone (HC) daily for 5

Abbreviations: ACTH, Adrenocorticotropic hormone; ADRENAL, Adjunctive corticosteroid treatment in critically ill patients with septic shock; CI, Confidence interval; CORTICUS, Corticosteroid therapy of septic shock; HC, Hydrocortisone; HSSG, Hellenic sepsis study group; NE, Norepinephrine; PSM, Propensity score matching; OR, Odds ratio; SISPCT, Sodium selenite and procalcitonin guided antimicrobial therapy in severe sepsis; SOFA, Sequential organ failure assessment; VASST, Vasopressin and septic shock trial.

days, followed by a tapering dose until day 11. Demographic, baseline and progression characteristics were extracted from the CORTICUS database.

In addition to the standard protocol, the Berlin sub-group of CORTICUS (consisting of 13 of the 52 study centers) sampled blood for subsequent measurement of cytokines and other circulating inflammatory mediators from all 84 patients. Seventynine out of these patients received norepinephrine at baseline while none received epinephrine. Blood samples were taken directly before an ACTH stimulation test and administration of the study medication. Supplementary Table 2 shows the timing of blood sampling relative to the onset of shock. The average time period between onset of septic shock and blood sampling was 29.4 h (standard deviation: 16.6 h). Blood samples were collected on day 0, on day 2, on the morning of day 5 (end of full dose HC application), on day 12 (day after HC cessation), day 17 and day 27. The soluble mediators interleukin (IL) 6, 8, 10, 12p70, IFNγ, TNFα, soluble TNF-receptor-I (sTNF-RI), soluble FAS (all OptEIATM Set Human, BD Biosciences, New Jersey, USA), and E-selectin (R&D, Minnesota, USA) were measured in serum, plasma, or culture supernatant by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) according to the manufacturers' instructions. This included calculating calibration and standard curves. All measurements were performed in duplicate. One patient was removed due to lack of cytokine data. Of the remaining 83 patients, serum lactate values (pre-treatment) and serial values were available in 53 and 41 patients, respectively. For 10 patients either IFNy or IL10 were below the detection limit. Excluding these patients did not change the overall results. For details, see Supplementary Text 1.

The first validation set was obtained by the Hellenic Sepsis Study Group from septic shock patients with communityacquired pneumonia or intraabdominal infection. This study included a prospective collection of clinical data and biosamples from patients admitted to 45 study sites in Greece. Patients were enrolled after written informed consent provided by themselves or their legal representatives. Eligibility criteria are given in Supplementary Table 1. All enrolled patients had been reclassified into infection and sepsis using the Sepsis-3 classification criteria (15, 16). In HC-treated patients 200 mg/day HC had been administered for 7 days followed by gradual tapering. Start of administration of hydrocortisone and sampling of blood was later than 3 h after onset of septic shock. After discarding data from patients dying or being discharged on the day of admission, a total of 342 shock patients were selected. Secreted cytokines were measured using the LEGENDplex Human Inflammation Panel (13-plex, BioLegend, San Diego, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions with half of the reagents volume and sample incubation at 4°C overnight. After removing all specimens with <8 of 13 successful cytokine measurements or without IFNy and IL10 measurements, a total of 246 eligible shock patients (HC treatment: n = 93, No HC treatment: n = 153) were selected. If only one of the cytokines (IFNy or IL10) was below the detection limit, the respective value was set as the detection limit. Excluding these samples from the analysis did not alter the findings (Supplementary Text 7). Propensity score matching (PSM) was

not necessary as the available dataset did not consist of unbiased baseline variables. For more details and the patient characteristics see Supplementary Text 2 and Supplementary Table 3. As a further validation cohort, we investigated serum IFNy/IL10 of patients in the placebo arm of the randomized and placebocontrolled trial of Sodium Selenite and Procalcitonin-guided antimicrobial therapy in Severe Sepsis (SISPCT) (17). SISPCT was a multicenter, randomized, clinical, 2×2 factorial trial performed in 33 intensive care units in Germany. It was conducted from November 6, 2009, to June 6, 2013, including a 90-day follow-up period. In this study patients were randomly assigned to receive sodium selenite or placebo. In addition, patients were randomized to receive anti-infectious therapy guided by a procalcitonin algorithm or without procalcitonin guidance. Using the same protocol as for HSSG blood samples, secreted cytokines were measured for our study using the LEGENDplex Human Inflammation Panel (13-plex, BioLegend, San Diego, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions with half of the reagents volume and sample incubation at 4°C overnight. We selected septic shock patients from the SISPCT trial randomized to the placebo (non-selenite) treated arm with or without procalcitonin guidance. Here, administration of HC was at the discretion of the treating physician. Patients were included for our study only, if they were either not treated with HC (arm not treated with HC), or treated with at least 50 mg daily hydrocortisone for at least the first 3 days (HC treated arm). Patients were excluded if IFNy and IL10 both were below the detection limits. If only one of these cytokines (IFNy, IL10) was below the detection limit, the respective value was set at the detection limit. After removing all specimens with <8 out of 13 successful cytokine measurements or without IFNy and IL10 measurements, a total of 254 eligible shock patients (HC treatment: n = 77, No HC treatment: n = 177) were selected. We observed considerable differences in their clinical variables (Supplementary Table 4a), hence we needed to select a balanced cohort employing propensity score matching (see below, Supplementary Table 4b). In addition, we analyzed the serum IFNy/IL10 ratio of patients from an earlier small crossover study of patients in septic shock (18). Details about this study and the crossover scheme is given in Table 2g, Supplementary Text 3. In this study, the early arm got a comparable HC application as the/verum arm of CORTICUS, and was also used for validating our marker. The cytokine values of the crossover study were taken from the original publication.

Propensity Score Matching

To account for the non-random application of hydrocortisone within the HSSG and SISPCT studies, we performed a PSM procedure using the 24 and 182 available baseline variables of these studies. According to (19), features are unbalanced if they show an absolute standardized mean difference d > 0.1 between HC-treated and untreated patients, and are thus candidates for PSM. Furthermore, to identify true confounding variables, we applied the method described by Austin (20) and determined features which were significantly correlated with treatment (HC) and outcome (28-days survival). Within HSSG, no variables fulfilled these criteria, and thus patient balancing using PSM

was not applied. Within SISPCT, 11 out of 182 variables were significantly correlated with treatment and outcome, and showed d > 0.1. These variables were regarded as true confounding and comprised the variables minimal value of thrombocytes (<24 h before inclusion), distorted metabolism of glucose (yes/no), deregulated body temperature (yes/no), known location of infection (yes/no), sodium minima (<24 h before inclusion), gram positive infections (yes/no), SOFA subscore of renal function, paO₂/FIO₂ ratio, amount of urine, potassium maxima (<24 h before inclusion and arterial hypotension (yes/no)). This set of true confounding features was used for PSM at both leaves of IFNy/IL10 ratio high and low using the R package matchIt (method "nearest," caliper value of 0.2). We repeated this PSM analysis 99 times (with different random seeds) and calculated a robust significance value by calculating the median *p*-value of the corresponding Fisher's exact-tests. By counting the reoccurrence of patient numbers within 100,000 Propensity Score Matching runs, we determined the consensus cohort comprising patients with the maximal number of selections (n = 86,273). By this, a balanced cohort of n = 118 patients (HC treatment: n = 42, No HC treatment: n = 76) was determined and used for the following analysis. Supplementary Tables 7a, 7b show the patients' characteristics before and after balancing.

In vitro Whole Blood Culture Experiments and *in vivo* Studies on Septic Mouse Models

To assess biological plausibility of the data-driven biomarker IFNy/IL10, we performed in vitro whole blood culture experiments in which blood of healthy donors was challenged with bacterial lysates or LPS (endotoxin of E. coli B4:O111, Sigma Aldrich) to simulate pathogen burden. Two hundred microliter of diluted (HBSS, 1:1, V/V) heparinized whole blood obtained from healthy volunteers (male, 20-25 years, N = 2-5) was stimulated with serial dilutions either of LPS, lysates from two E. coli, two S. aureus, one E. faecalis or one E. faecium isolates obtained from septic patients. In addition, lysates from lab strain S. aureus USA300 were obtained. Bacterial lysates were created by heat inactivation, following sonification and a serial dilution of the obtained fragment stock. Following incubation (37°C, 18 h, gentle agitation at 2 rpm) plasma supernatant was prepared by centrifugation (2,500 g at room temperature for 10 min). Secreted cytokine levels were measured using the LEGENDplex Human Inflammation Panel (13-plex, BioLegend), as described above. Comparison was made to vehicle controls. The data of the in vivo septic mouse model [cecal ligation and puncture (CLP)] for IFNy and IL10 was provided from Dahlke et al. (21) and the log2-ratio of IFNy and IL10 was calculated. Additionally, a second group of mice were infected by peritoneal contamination and infection (PCI). For the study, male C57BL/6J mice had been used (untreated controls: n = 7, sham: n = 3, CLP septic mice: n = 5, PCI septic mice: n = 6). Throughout all experiments, animals were kept under standardized conditions with access to food and water ad libitum. Cecal ligation and puncture and PCI were performed as described elsewhere (22). Whole blood was taken from CLP, PCI, sham, and control mice, for CLP, PCI, and sham mice 6 h post-intervention. For plasma preparation whole blood was centrifuged at 2,000 g for 10 min. Afterwards samples were frozen and stored at -80° C for further analysis. Plasma cytokine levels were measured using the CBA assay (Cytometric Bead Array, CBA; Mouse Inflammation Kit, Becton Dickinson, East Rutherford, USA) by FACS according to product manuals.

Strategy for Data Analysis

We used data consisting of 137 features (patient variables, potential predictors) from 83 patients of a subcohort of the CORTICUS study population to perform an exploratory data analysis. Only data which was available at baseline was used for propensity matching and machine learning. This table also included measured cytokine levels and ratios of all possible cytokine combinations. We aimed to find a theranostic marker distinguishing HC responders (i.e., survivors) from nonresponders (non-survivors). The complete list of these features is shown in Supplementary Table 5 and the workflow is depicted in Supplementary Figure 1. From this data, we sought the best predictor of 28-day survival for the placebo arm using onelevel decision trees (stumps) calculated by a leave-one-out crossvalidation scheme. The best stumps were chosen by enumeration of all available variables. To apply the marker to other datasets than the CORTICUS subset, the threshold was newly calculated by selecting the one with best significance of improved survival (employing a Fisher's exact-test). All analyses were carried out in R (www.r-project.org) using custom scripts.

The results from the CORTICUS, the HSSG, the SISPCT and the Crossover study cohorts were integrated by using a Mantel-Haenszel test implementing the R stats function mantelhaen.test.

RESULTS

IFNy/IL10 Stratifies CORTICUS Patients

The CORTICUS study included 499 patients (5). The Berlin sub-study (Immune sub-study) comprised of 84 patients, and only for these cytokine measurements were available (see section Materials and Methods). Hence, our analyses focused on this sub-cohort. Its patients' characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Median plasma concentrations of soluble mediators and leukocytes were not significantly different between the arms at baseline (Table 1). Age differed but was not a confounder (see Supplementary Text 4). Analysis of baseline characteristics was performed on 137 variables including demographic and clinical variables, Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) scores, lymphocyte counts, plasma protein concentrations of cytokines and patient blood stimulation experiments. We performed a leave-one-out crossvalidation with one-level decision trees (using only one predictor at a time) to the placebo arm to discriminate between 28-daysurvivors and non-survivors. In 95% of the cross-validation runs, the serum IFNy/IL10 ratio (referred to as IFNy/IL10 or ratio in the following) was selected as the best predictor with a stable threshold of 0.95. Patients in which IFNy/IL10 was below 0.95 were denoted "low-ratio patients," the others "highratio patients." Untreated high-ratio patients showed a higher survival rate than such with a low ratio (95 vs. 45%, Table 2a).

TABLE 1 Patient characteristics, initial cytokine and blood counts of the studied
CORTICUS sub-cohort.

	HC	Placebo		
	(<i>N</i> = 42, 49.4%)	(N = 41, 50.6%)		
Sex (female)	13 (31%)	11 (27%)		
Age (years)	$59\pm15^{*}$	$69 \pm 11^{*}$		
Admission category				
- Medical	1 (2%)	0 (0%)		
 Emergency surgery 	39 (93%)	37 (90%)		
 Elective surgery 	2 (5%)	4 (10%)		
Temperature (°C)	38.5 ± 1.2	38.6 ± 0.8		
Heart rate (bpm)	121 ± 18	123 ± 24		
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	83 ± 17	90 ± 22		
SOFA score at inclusion	10.4 ± 3.2	9.8 ± 2.7		
SAPS II score	43.7 ± 15.6	48.0 ± 14.9		
Leukocytes (thousands/mm ²)	13.8 ± 7.3	15.1 ± 8.8		
Platelets (thousands/mm ²)	187 ± 121	165 ± 98		
Arterial lactate (mmol/L)	3.0 ± 2.3	3.9 ± 4.0		
Survival				
- Day 28 (survivors)	31 (74%)	29 (71%)		
- ICU (survivors/all)	27/42 (64%)	28/41 (68%)		
 Hospital (survivors/all) 	25/42 (60%)	26/41 (63%)		
- One year (survivors/all)	20/41 (49%)	17/40 (42%)		
ICU-stay (days) all patients	28 ± 27	24 ± 19		
Hospital stay (days) all patients	51 ± 42	46 ± 31		
Cytokines**	Median (Q1–Q3)	Median (Q1–Q3)		
IFNγ (pg/ml)	35.05 (15.79–152.13)	30.16 (17.93–57.80)		
IL10 (pg/ml)	31.21 (13.30–76.22)	31.66 (15.68–54.76)		
IL12 (pg/ml)	10.03 (3.90–43.60)	13.00 (3.90–43.27)		
IL6 (pg/ml)	388.02	377.21		
	(177.80–487.27)	(237.17–509.01)		
IL8 (pg/ml)	130.95 (56.63–226.28)	86.81 (53.81–244.44)		
sFas (pg/ml)	2137.17	2155.38		
	(1544.84–3335.26)	(1551.38–3196.85)		
sTNF-R1 (pg/ml)	25,806 (13,322–40,599)	18,809 (12,009–28,885)		
White blood cell counts**	(,	(,)		
Lymphocytes (/nl)	0.71 (0.34–0.93)	0.75 (0.41–1.05)		
Monocytes (/nl)	0.53 (0.36–0.80)	0.56 (0.33–0.92)		
NK cells (/nl)	0.04 (0.02–0.07)	0.05 (0.03–0.12)		
PMNs (/nl)	11.69 (7.17–14.36)	11.06 (7.75–15.21)		
B-lymphocytes (/nl)	0.09 (0.04–0.20)	0.08 (0.05–0.13)		
T-Helper lymphocytes (/nl)	0.30 (0.13–0.43)	0.26 (0.14–0.50)		
T-Suppressor lymphocytes (/nl)	0.10 (0.05–0.14)	0.07 (0.04–0.17)		
Thrombocytes (/nl)	170.00 (99.50–250.00)	146.50 (92.00–203.25		

*Values are given in means ± SD for all continuous variables of the patient characteristics. **All cytokine and blood count values did not significantly differ between verum and placebo treated patients.

Upon applying this predictor to HC-treated patients, the reverse behavior was observed i.e., a low IFN γ /IL10 indicated a high likelihood of survival (85 vs. 69%, **Table 2b**).

Performing a logistic regression with HC treatment, IFN γ /IL10 ratio and their interaction as independent variables

TABLE 2 | Survival rates according to high and low IFNγ/IL10.

	Non-survivors	Survivors	% Survivors
(a) CORTICUS	patients treated w	ith placebo	
IFNγ/IL10 high	1	20	95% ✓*
IFNγ/IL10 low	11	9	45%🔀
(b) CORTICUS	patients treated w	ith verum (HC, h	ydrocortisone)
IFNγ/IL10 high	9	20	69% ×
IFNγ/IL10 low	2	11	85%
(c) HSSG patie	ents, not treated wi	th HC	
IFNγ/IL10 high	43	36	46%
IFNγ/IL10 low	53	21	28%×
(d) HSSG patie	ents, treated with H	с	
IFNγ/IL10 high	31	14	31%🔀
IFNγ/IL10 low	29	19	40%
(e) SISPCT pat	tients, not treated v	vith HC	
IFNγ/IL10 high	0	15	100%
IFNγ/IL10 low	13	48	79% ×
(f) SISPCT pat	ients, treated with	нс	
IFNγ/IL10 high	2	7	78%×
IFNγ/IL10 low	5	28	85%
(g) Patients fro	om the early arm of	the crossover s	tudy (treated with H
IFNγ/IL10 high	5	6	55% <mark>×</mark>
IFNγ/IL10 low	1	8	89%

* Compliant to the rule; $\mathbf{\times}$ Non-compliant to the rule.

and 28-day survival as the dependent variable, we observed a significant effect of the interaction term (p = 0.042, Supplementary Text 5 and Supplementary Figure 2A). These observations suggested a new decision rule, that is, no HC treatment if the ratio is high, and HC treatment if it is low. This decision rule yielded an odds ratio of survival of OR = 6.97 (95%) Cl: 1.79–40.50), p = 0.0013 (Figure 1). Notably, the identified rule was valid also when regarding an earlier or later onset of septic shock before inclusion (0-14, 24-48, and 48-72h, see Supplementary Figure 6F). Regarding white blood cell (WBC) counts of different leukocytes did not reveal a clear separation of IFNy and IL10 producers. The IFNy/IL10 ratio did not significantly correlate with any of the investigated leukocyte subtypes. Notably, IL-10 negatively correlated with most of the leukocyte subtypes (Supplementary Table 6). However, neither IFNy, IL10 nor any WBC count alone could be used for a treatment rule.

Validation Based on Patients From the Hellenic Sepsis Study Group, a Published Crossover Study and the "Trial of Sodium Selenite and Procalcitonin-Guided Antimicrobial Therapy in Severe Sepsis"

Supplementary Table 3 summarizes the demographics of the HSSG validation cohort. Applying IFN γ /IL10 to HSSG patients, we observed a similar pattern as for the CORTICUS subgroup (**Tables 2c, d**). High IFN γ /IL10 indicated distinct higher survival

Study	Number of patients	Odds Ratio	Р	CI (low	er, upper)	Odds Ratio of surv	ival
CORTICUS	83	6.97	1.3e-03	1.79	40.50	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
HSSG	246	1.83	2.5e-02	1.05	3.22	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
SISPCT	118	2.36	1.4e-01	0.74	8.99		
Crossover	20	6.07	1.6e-01	0.49	353.00	•	++
Pooled	467	2.42	6.9e-05	1.58	3.72		

FIGURE 1 Forest plot showing the outcome in the investigated cohorts depending on hydrocortisone administration according to the theranostic marker. Odds ratios including confidence intervals and thresholds between low and high ratios are shown regarding the IFN_Y/IL10 prediction rule for the sub-cohorts of CORTICUS (discovery set), HSSG (validation set), SISPCT (validation set) and the crossover study (validation set).

of the HC non-treated patients (46 vs. 28%). In contrast, in the HC treated group we observed the opposite behavior (31 vs. 40%), yielding an odds ratio of 1.83 (95% CI: 1.05–3.22), p =0.025. As the means to measure the cytokines differed, we had to adjust the IFN γ /IL10 ratio threshold for the HSSG (threshold = 1.01). For the HSSG study, days of survival were available. Thus, we assembled survival curves for patients treated according and against our rule (Supplementary Figure 3). During the first 10 days, patients with a high IFNy/IL10 ratio showed a higher rate of survival, suggesting an initial better condition of patients with higher ratios (this is evidenced also by their lactate levels, see next section). After 10 days, the HC treatment (during the first 7 days following by gradual tapering) seems to impact the outcome, as the survival rate of the low ratio patients with HC-treatment (treatment in compliance with our rule) crossed the high ratio patients with HC-treatment (treatment not in compliance with our rule). The HSSG cohort consisted of patients in sepsis either caused by community acquired pneumonia (CAP) or intraabdominal infection. To note, our rule performed better for the subcohort of patients with intra-abdominal infection [n = 98]patients, OR = 2.55 (95% CI: 1.03–6.49), p = 0.038], compared to patients with CAP [n = 148 patients, OR = 1.73 (95% CI: 0.82–3.73), not significant].

Next, we analyzed serum IFN γ /IL10 of patients from an earlier, smaller crossover study (18) in which the early arm got a comparable HC application as the HC arm of CORTICUS (details about this study and the crossover scheme is given in **Supplementary Text 3**). In line to the results from CORTICUS and HSSG, low IFN γ /IL10 indicated better survival (89% survivors), whereas high IFN/IL10 was an indicator for considerably worse outcome (55% survivors), yielding an odds ratio of 6.07 (95% CI: 0.49-353), p = 0.16. Due to the small sample size the result from the crossover study failed to achieve significance.

Furthermore, we investigated serum IFN γ /IL10 of propensity score matched patients from the *placebo* arm of the randomized *placebo*-controlled trial of Sodium Selenite and Procalcitoninguided antimicrobial therapy in Severe Sepsis (SISPCT) (17). For details about the study and the selection of patients, see Methods and **Supplementary Text 6**. In contrast to the former patient populations, the 28-day-survival rate of SISPCT patients receiving or not receiving HC differed considerably (68 vs. 84%, respectively, p = 0.0041, Fisher's exact-test, see **Supplementary Figure 4A**). We evaluated if there was a variable which may elucidate such an uneven distribution and identified the time of septic shock before inclusion (and HC treatment) to be strongly correlated with the survival rate of the HC-treated patients. This variable was not correlated with the survival of the non-HC-treated patients (**Supplementary Figure 4B**). Thus, we excluded patients with shorter time intervals between shock and study inclusion (<7 h), and balanced the remaining patients after separation into IFN γ /IL10 ratio low and high. The cohort comprised of n=118 patients and showed comparable survival rates of HC- and non-HC-treated patients (83 vs. 84%).

In summary, and comparable results when applying our treatment rule (**Tables 2e,f**). the investigated patients from all investigated validation studies evidenced IFN γ /IL10 as a potential theranostic marker for HC application in septic shock. **Figure 1** shows the forest plot including all investigated studies.

CORTICUS Time Courses of Serum Lactate and Norepinephrine Requirement Reflect Hemodynamic Stabilization in Patients Treated in Compliance With the Decision Rule

High serum lactate levels have been demonstrated to indicate severity of metabolic derangements and increased mortality in sepsis (15). In all studied subpopulations where it was available, median initial lactate was distinctly lower in patients with high compared to patients with low IFN γ /IL10 ratio (CORTICUS: 1.90 vs. 2.89 mmol/L, SISPCT: 2.20 vs. 3.00 mmol/L, Crossover study: 1.49 vs. 2.24 mmol/L). Together, lactate values were significantly different between low ratio and high ratio patients (p = 0.0029, n = 330, Yuen's bootstrap-test), suggesting that IFN γ /IL10 associated with disease severity. Of note, although the lactate levels correlate inversely with IFN γ /IL10 at baseline, serum lactate itself performed worse as a theranostic marker. Notably, we identified a significantly stronger decrease of the lactate values of patients which were treated in compliance

with the decision rule in comparison to patients which were treated against the rule (**Figure 2A**). Hemodynamic stabilization was also supported by a visible stronger trend of reduction of norepinephrine (NE) requirement specifically in the group of patients in compliance with the decision rule (**Figure 2B**). In summary, time series of serum lactate and NE requirement reflect better recovery of septic shock in patients treated in compliance with the proposed theranostic marker.

IFNy/IL10 as an Indicator of Pathogen Challenge

In light of published evidence associating IFN γ and IL10 with the severity of parasitic infection and tuberculosis (23,



FIGURE 2 | Time courses of serum lactate and norepinephrine requirement are depending on the proposed theranostic rule. Shown are patient values and linear models including color-shaded confidence intervals (95%) for the sub-populations of CORTICUS treated in compliance (red) and not in compliance (blue) to our rule. The time course is given in days after start of the study, (**A**) shows the course of serum lactate, and (**B**) shows the course of the norepinephrine requirement.

24), we investigated whether IFN γ /IL10 reflects the pathogen burden of immune cells when challenged with typical pathogens found in sepsis. We spiked blood from healthy donors with fragments of clinical isolates (Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus, Enterococcus faecalis, Enterococcus faecium) or endotoxin (LPS) across a wide range of concentrations. As expected, the higher the pathogen challenge, the higher the immune response and hence the concentration of IFNy and IL10 in the supernatant. Remarkably, we observed the inverse behavior for the ratio, i.e., a high IFNy/IL10 ratio for low pathogen concentrations and vice versa. Figure 3 shows the results exemplarily for one E. coli isolate. Results for the second E. coli isolate, S. aureus, E. faecalis and E. faecium isolates and LPS are shown in the Supplementary Material (Supplementary Figure 5). To note, testing also a lab strain of S. aureus (USA 300) showed not this tendency (Supplementary Figure 5, see section Discussion). To validate the obtained results in an in vivo sepsis model we challenged mice by cecal ligation and puncture (CLP sepsis model) as well as peritoneal contamination and infection (PCI), and compared them to untreated controls and sham treated mice (sham-operated mice underwent an identical operation except for the actual cecal ligation and puncture). Indeed, we observed the same behavior: the ratio of IFNy/IL10 was distinctively higher in the controls (negative and sham treated mice) and lower in septic mice (Supplementary Figure 6).

Furthermore, we associated IFN γ /IL10 to the bacterial load in critical ill patients, and compared publically available data of patients with and without bacteremia. Matera et al. (25) investigated 52 patients (39 survivors and 13 non-survivors) with signs of SIRS at hospital admission. Only 4% of them were in septic shock. Twenty-eight of 52 were diagnosed with bacteremia. In line with our experimental observations, a distinctively higher ratio (1.6 ± 0.77) for IFN/IL10 in SIRS patients was observed compared to patients with bacteremia (0.8 ± 0.88, details: **Supplementary Text 7**). Healthy volunteers showed the highest IFN γ /IL10 ratio (2.80 ± 1.22) of all groups investigated by Matera et al.

In summary, IFN γ /IL10 inversely correlates with the immunological load of infection in an *in vitro* system, in septic mice and when comparing bacteremic and non-bacteremic critically ill patients.

DISCUSSION

Starting from a larger panel of 137 predictors derived from septic shock patients (n = 83) in CORTICUS, we identified the ratio of serum IFN γ and IL10 as a promising biomarker to guide the treatment decision for or against HC. We validated our results by applying the marker to three other datasets.

Metabolically, high serum lactate indicates severity of cellular disturbances (15) and is associated with poor outcome (26). Consistent with this, patients with low IFN γ /IL10 showed high serum lactate. Furthermore, stratifying patients in compliance with the proposed decision rule, we observed a considerable decrease over time in serum lactate specifically in the group of





patients, which were treated in compliance with the theranostic marker. This further extends the concept that HC is generally able to stabilize cardiovascular function in septic shock and suggests that this effect might also be restricted to patients with a high burden of the disease, and compares to the different beneficial effects of steroids in septic shock observed in the trials mentioned in the introduction (French studies with higher mortality showed a beneficial effect compared to no beneficial effect in the studies ADRENAL and CORTICUS).

IFNy and IL10 have been suggested as biomarkers for parasitic (23) and other infections, such as tuberculosis (24). E.g. McIlleron et al. reported the time course of IFNy indicating response to treatment in pulmonary tuberculosis (27). However, for diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis, IFNy alone has limitations relating to sensitivity (28). In turn, high IL10 was observed with mycobacterial persistence (29) suggesting that in particular the ratio of these cytokines might reflect the immunological burden of infection. In line with this, it has been shown that the ratio of IFNy and IL10 correlates with disease severity of tuberculosis and may differentiate pulmonary from extra-pulmonary forms (30). To elucidate the functional implications of low and high IFNy/IL10, we performed blood culture assays challenging the immune cells with fragments of bacterial isolates from septic patients. Indeed, we observed the ratio to be negatively correlated with the load of pathogen fragments. Similarly, we observed a significant lower ratio in untreated and sham controls compared to septic mice. This was supported by clinical data from Matera et al. (25) when regarding critically ill patients with bacteraemia (higher bacterial load) and without bacteraemia (no or non-detectable bacterial load). Thus, IFN γ /IL10 is supposedly (negatively) associated with the pathogen load.

IFN γ has been consistently documented to activate cells of adaptive immunity (31), and IL10 as a suppressor of innate immune responses and inflammation (32, 33). Hence, high

IL-10 may be a response to a high load to prevent and limit over-whelming immune reactions and, in consequence, tissue damage, whereas low IFN γ reflects a low adaptive immune response.

Interestingly, Sommerfeld et al. observed recently that mouse mutants lacking the receptor of complement factor C5a showed increased survival in mild septic mouse models, and, IFNy/IL10 was increased compared to wildtype mice under the same conditions (34). The mutants also showed a similar survival benefit when mutant and wildtype mice were treated with antibiotics. Sommerfeld et al. explained the effect by an increased adaptive immune response in the mutants. It is reasonable that a high pathogen load causes repression or even disruption of the adaptive immune system or/and induces an overwhelming innate immune response monitored by the ratio of IFN γ /IL10. Nevertheless, this needs exploration in future studies. We observed in vitro, in vivo and in patients that blood challenged with bacteria/bacterial fragments displayed lower IFNy/IL10 at higher loads, and vice versa. Transferring these observations to septic shock patients with low IFNy/IL10, we speculate that HC treatment yielded a better outcome in these HCresponders because HC may allow the highly loaded immune system more pace for recovery. This is evidenced by the reduction of serum lactate and norepinephrine requirements as measures of recovery particularly in the subgroup of very sick patients.

To mention, we also challenged the blood culture with the lab strain *S. aureus* USA300, for which this behavior was not observed. We speculate that such a pathogen causing rather skin and soft tissue inflammation than bacteraemia and sepsis may evoke other cytokine responses and suggest follow up analyses on this aspect in more detail.

The concern about side effects of corticosteroids such as infections in patients with less severe septic shock stipulated more restrictive recommendations by the Surviving Sepsis

Campaign. HC application is currently recommended only for patients not responding to adequate fluid resuscitation and vasopressor therapy (35, 36). Considering an immune biomarker, such as IFNy/IL10 reflecting the status of the patients' immune system status may intuitively be a promising path to improve the treatment decision. Consistent with this concept, Bentzer et al. studied data from patients of the "VAsopressin vs. norepinephrine in Septic Shock Trial" (VASST) investigating corticosteroid treated vs. non-treated patients (only vasopressin or catecholamine vasopressors). They identified a signature of three cytokines (IL3, IL6, CCL4) suggesting response to corticosteroid treatment (37). However, these results based on a study, which was not randomized, blinded or protocolized according to corticosteroid treatment, and Bentzer et al. did not elaborate how these cytokines interact with corticosteroid treatment.

In a very recent randomized controlled trial, patients who were hospitalized with Covid-19 were randomly assigned to receive dexamethasone (RECOVERY) or placebo. This trial elucidated that dexamethasone treatment is beneficial for patients receiving either invasive mechanical ventilation or oxygen alone at randomization but not among those receiving no respiratory support (38). Here the supportive measurement of the affected organ was sufficient for predictive enrichment of steroids treatment. In our case (septic shock), predictive enrichment basing solely on the supportive measurement (vasopressor requirement) was not sufficient and we needed to monitor the immune status (by the cytokines IFN γ and IL10). As an intriguing project for the future, we propose developing a generic rule distinguishing different disease/syndrome entities employing such categories.

Limitations and Strengths

We excluded patients from the very early window of septic shock of SISPCT (<7 h) to balance the survival between HC-treated and HC-untreated patients. This difference was not surprising, as the HC treatment was applied to patients in more severe conditions, as suggested by guidelines. This is consistent with the CORTICUS data where inclusion criteria were broader (up to 72 h) and the onset of sepsis in CORTICUS occurred on average 29 h before inclusion. In the light of the current recommendations to use HC restrictively, it might indicate, that HC treatment could be supported by a theragnostic biomarker. In addition, we were not able to outbalance every variable in SISPCT. Another limitation of our study is the variability of thresholds to distinguish between high and low IFNy/IL10 ratio. For CORTICUS it was 0.95, for HSSG 1.01, for SISPCT 0.48, and for the crossover study it was 0.81. DeJager et al. (33) reported that timing of sampling, sample storage, the choice of the platform and the blood collection tubes are crucial issues when measuring cytokines from blood. Cytokines can be stored below -80°C for a longer time, but even at -80° C degradation was observed, in particular of IL10. Most of these parameters varied between the different studies that we included in our analysis making it difficult to compare the ratios between the studies. Our cytokine measurements seemed to depend on the assay and sample handling described by DeJager et al. The discrepancies of the optimal threshold between the studies may also be due to the rather older time point when Corticus and the Crosscover study were performed. Hence, when implementing the rule into the clinics, well defined standard operating procedures need to be developed to obtain an appropriate, center independent threshold. A limitation of the *in vitro* blood culture study is that we used only blood of younger male volunteers.

A strength of our study is that our rule seems to be valid across studies of very heterogenous survival rates (CORTICUS: 72%, Crossover: 70%, HSSG: 37%, SISPCT: 84%). Applying our decision rule successfully across a broad range of these studies suggests the marker to be generic. The analyzed Berlin cohort of CORTICUS contained a high number of surgical patients and a rather low number of medical patients. Also the averaged ICU and hospital stay was longer as usual for septic shock patients [when compared e.g. to the prospective INSEP study (39)]. The validation cohorts didn't show this notable discrepancy suggesting a good generalizability of our rule. A randomized controlled trial also better representing these variables is, thus, in every case inevitable to confirm the identified rule. Furthermore, strengths of our study relates to the use of (i) well-phenotyped cohorts, (ii) that our marker showed remarkably similar results across all studies, and (iii) that we provide clinical, in vivo and in vitro data relating it to the pathogen challenge of the immune system.

CONCLUSIONS

We identified the ratio of serum cytokines $IFN\gamma$ and IL10 as a potential theranostic marker for hydrocortisone treatment in septic shock. An accompanying study into the mechanism suggests that this ratio monitors the immune response challenged across distinct pathogen loads. The development of a standard operating procedure for obtaining the cytokine concentrations in serum followed by a clinical trial is necessary confirming our rule before implementing it into the clinical routine.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions generated in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The CORTICUS trial was a multicenter study, the protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee at each of the 52 participating intensive care units. In addition to the standard CORTICUS protocol, the Berlin study group sampled blood for subsequent measurement of cytokines and other circulating inflammatory mediators. This was approved by the Local Ethics Committee (No: 153/2001). Written informed consent was obtained from patients, proxies or their legal representatives. The

HSSG cohort represents a prospective collection of clinical data and biosamples in 45 study sites in Greece. The study protocol was approved from the Ethics Committees of all participating hospitals. Patients were enrolled after written informed consent provided by themselves or by first-degree relatives if patients were unable to consent. The Placebo-Controlled Trial of Sodium Selenite and Procalcitonin Guided Antimicrobial Therapy in Severe Sepsis (SISPCT) was a multicenter clinical trial. It was conducted in 33 multidisciplinary intensive care units across Germany. The study protocol was approved by the ethics board of Jena University Hospital. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients or their legal representatives. The study protocol for the crossover study was approved by the institutional (Charite, Berlin) Ethics Committee. All animal experiments were in accordance with the German legislation on protection of animals and with permission of the regional animal welfare committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RK, AK, MOS, DK, and MB conceptualized and designed the study. MOS, RK, AK, and VK developed the methodology. AK, VK, MB, MS, JB, DK, DR, and RK analyzed and interpreted the data. Animal experiments were performed by OS. Administrative, technical, or material support was given by OA, DR, GD, IT, EA, HB, ML, CS, MS, FB, MOP, HG, RC, SC, and JB. The study was supervised by RK, DK, and MB, and they are the garantor of the article. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Annane D, Bellissant E, Bollaert PE, Briegel J, Confalonieri M, De Gaudio R, et al. Corticosteroids in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock in adults: a systematic review. JAMA. (2009) 301:2362–75. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.815
- Venkatesh B, Finfer S, Cohen J, Rajbhandari D, Arabi Y, Bellomo R, et al. Investigators and G. the Australian-New Zealand Intensive Care Society clinical trials: adjunctive glucocorticoid therapy in patients with septic shock. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:797–808. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1705835
- Annane D, Sebille V, Charpentier C, Bollaert PE, Francois B, Korach JM, et al. Effect of treatment with low doses of hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone on mortality in patients with septic shock. *JAMA*. (2002) 288:862–71. doi: 10.1001/jama.288.7.862
- Annane D, Renault A, Brun-Buisson C, Megarbane B, Quenot JP, Siami S, et al. Hydrocortisone plus fludrocortisone for adults with septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 378:809–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1705716
- Sprung CL, Annane D, Keh D, Moreno R, Singer M, Freivogel K, et al. Hydrocortisone therapy for patients with septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* (2008) 358:111–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa071366
- Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Sepsis-induced immunosuppression: from cellular dysfunctions to immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:862–74. doi: 10.1038/nri3552
- Bauer M, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Kortgen A, Moller E, Felsmann K, Cavaillon JM, et al. A transcriptomic biomarker to quantify systemic inflammation in sepsis—a prospective multicenter phase II diagnostic study. *EBioMedicine*. (2016) 6:114–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.03.006

FUNDING

This work has been supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF), Germany, FKZ: 01EO1002, 01EO1502 (CSCC), and FKZ 01ZX1302B, 01ZX1602B (CancerTel-Sys), 03Z22JN12 (Translational Septomics), 13N13890 (Inter-Sept), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) (KO 3678/5-1) and department funds of the Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine, Jena University Hospital. The CORTICUS immune substudy (Berlin substudy) was supported by the German Research Foundation (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG): KE 870 1-1 and 1-2, and by department funds of the Department of Anesthesiology and Operative Intensive Care Medicine (CCM, CVK), Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Anne Goessinger for her outstanding support of the CORTICUS sub-study, Katja Dahlke providing animal data for further analysis, Frank Bloos for providing information and discussing about the SISPCT data, and Jürgen Rödel for providing bacterial clinical isolates. This manuscript has been released as a pre-print at bioRxiv (40).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2021.607217/full#supplementary-material

- Kaufmann SHE, Dorhoi A, Hotchkiss RS, Bartenschlager R. Host-directed therapies for bacterial and viral infections. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2018) 17:35–56. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.162
- Baschant U, Culemann S, Tuckermann J. Molecular determinants of glucocorticoid actions in inflammatory joint diseases. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2013) 380:108–18. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.06.009
- Chinenov Y, Rogatsky I. Glucocorticoids and the innate immune system: crosstalk with the toll-like receptor signaling network. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2007) 275:30–42. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2007.04.014
- Galon J, Franchimont D, Hiroi N, Frey G, Boettner A, Ehrhart-Bornstein M, et al. Gene profiling reveals unknown enhancing and suppressive actions of glucocorticoids on immune cells. *FASEB J.* (2002) 16:61–71. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0245com
- Busillo JM, Azzam KM, Cidlowski JA. Glucocorticoids sensitize the innate immune system through regulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:38703–13. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.275370
- Dhabhar FS. Stress-induced augmentation of immune function-the role of stress hormones, leukocyte trafficking, and cytokines. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2002) 16:785–98. doi: 10.1016/S0889-1591(02)00036-3
- Cruz-Topete D, Cidlowski JA. One hormone, two actions: anti- and proinflammatory effects of glucocorticoids. *Neuroimmunomodulation*. (2015) 22:20–32. doi: 10.1159/000362724
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (sepsis-3). JAMA. (2016) 315:801–10. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2016.0287
- Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Tsaganos T, Tsangaris I, Lada M, Routsi C, Sinapidis D, et al. Validation of the new Sepsis-3 definitions: proposal for

improvement in early risk identification. *Clin Microbiol Infect*. (2017) 23:104–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2016.11.003

- 17. Bloos F, Trips E, Nierhaus A, Briegel J, Heyland DK, Jaschinski U, et al. Effect of sodium selenite administration and procalcitonin-guided therapy on mortality in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2016) 176:1266–76. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.2514
- Keh D, Boehnke T, Weber-Cartens S, Schulz C, Ahlers O, Bercker S, et al. Immunologic and hemodynamic effects of "low-dose" hydrocortisone in septic shock: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2003) 167:512–20. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200205-446OC
- Staffa SJ, Zurakowski D. Five steps to successfully implement and evaluate propensity score matching in clinical research studies. *Anesth Analg.* (2018) 127:1066–73. doi: 10.1213/ANE.00000000002787
- Austin PC. An introduction to propensity score methods for reducing the effects of confounding in observational studies. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2011) 46:399–424. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2011.568786
- Dahlke K, Wrann CD, Sommerfeld O, Sossdorf M, Recknagel P, Sachse S, et al. Distinct different contributions of the alternative and classical complement activation pathway for the innate host response during sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:3066–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002741
- Rittirsch D, Huber-Lang MS, Flierl MA, Ward PA. Immunodesign of experimental sepsis by cecal ligation and puncture. *Nat Protoc.* (2009) 4:31–6. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.214
- Medina TS, Costa SP, Oliveira MD, Ventura AM, Souza JM, Gomes TF, et al. Increased interleukin-10 and interferon-gamma levels in *Plasmodium vivax* malaria suggest a reciprocal regulation which is not altered by IL-10 gene promoter polymorphism. *Malar J.* (2011) 10:264. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-10-264
- 24. Djoba Siawaya JF, Beyers N, van Helden P, Walzl G. Differential cytokine secretion and early treatment response in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2009) 156:69–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03875.x
- 25. Matera G, Puccio R, Giancotti A, Quirino A, Pulicari MC, Zicca E, et al. Impact of interleukin-10, soluble CD25 and interferon-gamma on the prognosis and early diagnosis of bacteremic systemic inflammatory response syndrome: a prospective observational study. *Crit Care.* (2013) 17:R64. doi: 10.1186/cc12596
- Casserly B, Phillips GS, Schorr C, Dellinger RP, Townsend SR, Osborn TM, et al. Lactate measurements in sepsis-induced tissue hypoperfusion: results from the surviving sepsis campaign database. *Crit Care Med.* (2015) 43:567– 73. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000742
- McIlleron H, Watkins ML, Folb PI, Ress SR, Wilkinson RJ. Rifampin levels, interferon-gamma release and outcome in complicated pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)*. (2007) 87:557–64. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2007.08.002
- Chegou NN, Sutherland JS, Namuganga AR, Corstjens PL, Geluk A, Gebremichael G, et al. Africa-wide evaluation of host biomarkers in QuantiFERON supernatants for the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:2675. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20855-7
- Murray PJ, Wang L, Onufryk C, Tepper RI, Young RA. T cell-derived IL-10 antagonizes macrophage function in mycobacterial infection. *J Immunol.* (1997) 158:315–21.

- Jamil B, Shahid F, Hasan Z, Nasir N, Razzaki T, Dawood G, et al. Interferon gamma/IL10 ratio defines the disease severity in pulmonary and extra pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)*. (2007) 87:279–87. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2007.03.004
- Schoenborn JR, Wilson CB. Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. *Adv Immunol.* (2007) 96:41–101. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(07)96002-2
- Sabat R, Grutz G, Warszawska K, Kirsch S, Witte E, Wolk K. Biology of interleukin-10. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2010) 21:331–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.09.002
- Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell.* (1993) 75:263–74. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)80068-P
- Sommerfeld O, Medyukhina A, Neugebauer S, Ghait M, Ulferts S, Lupp A, et al. Targeting complement C5a receptor 1 for the treatment of immunosuppression in sepsis. *Mol Ther.* (2021) 29:338–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.09.008
- Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Carlet JM, Bion J, Parker MM, Jaeschke R, et al. Critical Care: surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2008. *Crit Care Med.* (2008) 36:296–327. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000298158.12101.41
- 36. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, Annane D, Gerlach H, Opal SM, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign guidelines committee including the pediatric: surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2012. *Crit Care Med.* (2013) 41:580–637. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31827e83af
- Bentzer P, Fjell C, Walley KR, Boyd J, Russell JA. Plasma cytokine levels predict response to corticosteroids in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2016) 42:1970–9. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4338-z
- Recovery Collaborative Group, Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19 preliminary report. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2021436. [Epub ahead of print].
- SepNet Critical Care Trials Group. Incidence of severe sepsis and septic shock in German intensive care units: the prospective, multicentre INSEP study. *Intensive Care Med.* (2016) 42:1980–9. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4504-3
- Koenig R, Kolte A, Ahlers O, Oswald M, Röll D, Dimopoulos G, et al. Use of IFNγ/IL10 ratio for stratification of hydrocortisone therapy in patients with septic shock. *BioRxiv*. doi: 10.1101/502864. [Epub ahead of print].

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 König, Kolte, Ahlers, Oswald, Krauss, Roell, Sommerfeld, Dimopoulos, Tsangaris, Antoniadou, Jaishankar, Bogatsch, Löffler, Rödel, Garcia-Moreno, Tuchscherr, Sprung, Singer, Brunkhorst, Oppert, Gerlach, Claus, Coldewey, Briegel, Giamarellos-Bourboulis, Keh and Bauer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of Tissue Immune Responses by Local Glucocorticoids at Epithelial Barriers and Their Impact on Interorgan Crosstalk

Verena M. Merk, Truong San Phan and Thomas Brunner*

Department of Biology, Chair of Biochemical Pharmacology, University of Konstanz, Konstanz, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bidesh Mahata, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Matthew Donald Taves, National Cancer Institute, United States Onur Boyman, University of Zurich, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Thomas Brunner Thomas.Brunner@uni-konstanz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 February 2021 Accepted: 21 April 2021 Published: 03 May 2021

Citation:

Merk VM, Phan TS and Brunner T (2021) Regulation of Tissue Immune Responses by Local Glucocorticoids at Epithelial Barriers and Their Impact on Interorgan Crosstalk. Front. Immunol. 12:672808. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.672808 The anti-inflammatory role of extra-adrenal glucocorticoid (GC) synthesis at epithelial barriers is of increasing interest with regard to the search for alternatives to synthetic corticosteroids in the therapy of inflammatory disorders. Despite being very effective in many situations the use of synthetic corticosteroids is often controversial, as exemplified in the treatment of influenza patients and only recently in the current COVID-19 pandemic. Exploring the regulatory capacity of locally produced GCs in balancing immune responses in barrier tissues and in pathogenic disorders that lead to symptoms in multiple organs, could provide new perspectives for drug development. Intestine, skin and lung represent the first contact zones between potentially harmful pathogens or substances and the body, and are therefore important sites of immunoregulatory mechanisms. Here, we review the role of locally produced GCs in the regulation of type 2 immune responses, like asthma, atopic dermatitis and ulcerative colitis, as well as type 1 and type 3 infectious, inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, like influenza infection, psoriasis and Crohn's disease. In particular, we focus on the role of locally produced GCs in the interorgan communication, referred to as gut-skin axis, gut-lung axis or lung-skin axis, all of which are interconnected in the pathogenic crosstalk atopic march.

Keywords: extra-adrenal glucocorticoids, immune regulation, inflammation, interorgan crosstalk, gut-lung axis, atopic march, gut-skin axis

EXTRA-ADRENAL GLUCOCORTICOID SYNTHESIS

Glucocorticoids (GCs) and their anti-inflammatory action are known since decades and are still of great importance in the treatment of inflammatory disorders. Although GCs are mainly produced in the *zona fasciculata* of the adrenal glands, regulated *via* the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA), extra-adrenal sources of GCs have received increasing attention in recent years. Since adrenal and extra-adrenal GC synthesis has been extensively reviewed in the past (1–3), we only provide a short overview on extra-adrenal GC synthesis in gut, skin and lung in this introduction. The epithelia of the gut, skin and lung serve as connection point between the body and the outside world. Local GC synthesis potentially contributes to local immune cell regulation and thereby to the prevention of immunopathologies due to excessive inflammatory processes. Despite some

similarities in their basic functions, each epithelium meets a variety of tissue-specific functions and therefore differs in its cellular composition.

Gut epithelial GCs derive from the crypt region of the small and large intestine. The nuclear receptor liver receptor homolog-1 (LRH-1/NR5A2) in the intestinal crypts regulates the expression of steroidogenic enzymes and thereby *de novo* intestinal GC synthesis (4). Moreover, under inflammatory conditions the pro-inflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor (TNF) seems to have a dual role in the promotion and regulation of intestinal inflammation (5). Noti et al. reported that besides pro-inflammatory activities, TNF also induces intestinal GC synthesis, thereby limiting the pathogenesis of acute intestinal inflammation (5).

While the role of the intestinal epithelium is to efficiently absorb nutrients, the main function of the skin is to provide a protective surface barrier. The different layers of the epidermis are mainly composed of keratinocytes in different stages of differentiation (6). Local GCs in the skin are produced by keratinocytes and their synthesis is regulated via a "cutaneous HPA-axis", UV irradiation and cytokines (e.g. IL-1β, TNF) (7-10). Hannen et al. further linked deficiency of skin GC synthesis with inflammatory disorders of the skin, like psoriasis or atopic dermatitis (7). Active GCs can be either synthesized de novo from cholesterol with the final conversion catalyzed by 11βhydroxylase-1 (CYP11B1, Cyp11b1) or via reactivation from inactive cortisone, respectively 11-dehydrocorticosterone catalyzed by $11-\beta$ hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase 1 (HSD11B1, Hsb11b1). Mouse models of keratinocyte-specific Hsd11b1 or Cyp11b1 deficiency, resulting in abrogation of skin GC reactivation or *de novo* synthesis, revealed that the absence of either enzyme results in an imbalance of skin immune homeostasis and aggravation of inflammatory skin diseases (11, 12).

While local production and regulation of intestinal and skinderived GC synthesis were described previously, the underlying molecular and biochemical basis of lung GC synthesis remains to be elucidated. Nevertheless, systemic immune cell activation *via* anti-CD3 antibody, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or TNF is able to induce local GC synthesis in the lung (13). Although all steroidogenic enzymes are expressed in the lung, analysis of adrenalectomized mice revealed a dominant role of GC reactivation, rather than *de novo* synthesis (13). Evidence for local *de novo* GC synthesis in the pathogenesis of human disease was found in a study in patients with rhinosinusitis (14). The upper respiratory tract seems to be capable of producing active GCs either *de novo* or *via* reactivation and both systems are activated in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis (14).

The immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory actions of GCs can be explained by their GC receptor (GR)-mediated gene regulation, GC-induced cell death and other regulatory mechanisms that have been extensively reviewed before (15). Classically, GC suppression of T helper (T_H) 2 cell differentiation by inhibiting p38 activation, consequent GATA3 inhibition and type 2 cytokine expression appears to be only moderate compared to the potent inhibition of type 1 immune responses

(16-21). Thus, GC-mediated immune regulation appears to shift immune responses towards humoral T_H2 responses. Whether this dogma, mostly derived from in vitro studies involving cytokine cocktails, is correct and reflects the dynamics in vivo environment is still unclear and up to debate. In vivo studies in the lung and the intestine did only describe minor induction of local GC synthesis in response to type 2 immune responses, like ovalbumin-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and oxazoloneinduced colitis (5, 13). However, recent evidence indicates a nonnegligible role of endogenous GCs in controlling T_H2 type responses, although their production is not strongly induced during these processes. Differently, atopic dermatitis (AD)-like skin inflammation as induced by the vitamin D3 analog MC903 was sufficient to promote local GC synthesis in keratinocytes, but the abrogation of local GC synthesis did not exacerbate AD-like skin inflammation (12). Although past research revealed the regulatory potential of extra-adrenal GCs in local immune responses at barrier tissues, current detailed insight into the respective processes is still limited. In the following, we discuss recently described situations where a potential contribution of local GCs in the regulation of interorgan crosstalk and disease pathogenesis has been suggested.

TISSUE-IMMUNE REGULATION AND INTERORGAN CROSSTALK

In biological research, organs are often considered in isolation, and while this simplifies research and may be justified in many respects, the reality is nevertheless more complicated and research on interorgan crosstalk is becoming increasingly important. Especially with regard to GCs, their simultaneous and differential effects on the entire body cannot be ignored. It is known for decades that starting from the adrenal cortex, steroid hormones are systemically distributed throughout the body via the blood circulatory system with different effects on the various organs. It is therefore striking that three steroidogenic organs (i.e., lung, skin, intestine) are linked via an interorgan crosstalk, raising the possibility that local steroidogenesis may play a role in the action and regulation of infections and allergies. This interorgan crosstalk is called the gut-lung axis, gut-skin axis and skin-lung axis, which in turn interact and cooperate in the atopic march.

Regulation of Type 2 Responses by GCs Along the Gut-Lung Axis

The gut-lung axis describes the influence of gut microbiota on the lung immune system and *vice versa* the influence of lung immunity on gastrointestinal homeostasis (22). Dysbiosis in the gut is not only associated with inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract, e.g. inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), but also with inflammatory airway diseases, like asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (23). Likewise, viral infections of the lung can cause gastrointestinal symptoms, like diarrhea, and also influence the microbiota of the gut *via* activities of the immune system (24, 25). Although underlying pathways and mechanisms of the gut-lung axis remain to be elucidated, short chain fatty acids (SCFA) have been identified as important immunomodulatory metabolites that derive from the intestinal microbiome (22, 26). In the following, we discuss the role of GCs in the regulation of type 2 immune responses along the gut-lung axis.

Asthma is a common chronic disease characterized by symptoms, such as coughing, chest tightness and shortness of breath. Chronic airway inflammation and the infiltration of inflammatory cells lead to a narrowing of the airway lumen, which massively reduces the quality of life of affected patients. GCs in combination with bronchodilators are successfully applied to treat asthma patients. The anti-inflammatory action of GCs dampens the acute overreaction of the immune system and helps to overcome asthma attacks. The application of synthetic GCs, like budesonide or ciclesonide, inhibits type 2 cytokine synthesis and dampens the inflammation during the allergic reaction (27, 28). Through the activity of GRa, GCs inhibit the expression of type 2 cytokines by antagonizing the activity of other transcription factors, like nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB), activator protein-1 (AP-1) and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein β $(C/EBP\beta)$ (29). In addition to that, GCs were found to inhibit the transcriptional activity of GATA3 in T_H2 cells by preventing its p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase-mediated phosphorylation, thereby limiting the effect of this major type 2 response regulator (16). Experimental allergic airway inflammation induced by i.p. ovalbumin-alum sensitization and ovalbumin aerosol challenge revealed only minor induction of local GC synthesis, especially when compared to the effect of type 1-inducing LPS or anti-CD3 application (13). Since GCs are constitutively present in the lung and there is evidence that lack of GCs exacerbates the allergic response, it is reasonable to assume that GCs not only suppress type 1 responses, but also control type 2 responses without being massively induced by it. Classically, asthma is associated with eosinophilic infiltration and increased serum immunoglobulin E (IgE) levels, as well as typical T_H2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-13), produced not only by T_H2 cells but also by basophils, mast cells and type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) (30). Traditional allergy models, as for example ovalbumin-induced airway hypersensitivity, have contributed much to the study of type 2 responses. However, the characteristics of human asthma are often more complicated and are now classified into different categories from "Type 2-low" to "Type 2-high" asthma depending on the respective immune responses (30). In order to better reflect the diversity of human asthma in experiments, there has been an increased use of natural allergens, such as house dust mite (HDM) or cockroach extracts. In this context, the question naturally arises which role lung-derived GCs play in balancing type 1 and type 2 responses in asthma models of natural allergens. However, this remains to be investigated and is subject of ongoing research.

With regard to the interorgan crosstalk in the control of asthma it has been reported that environmental factors and diet influence the susceptibility to allergic asthma (31, 32). For example, a farming environment protects children from allergy and asthma. Toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 activation in experimental HDM allergy has been shown to be crucial for allergic sensitization and dendritic cell (DC) activation (33). However, chronic exposure to low dose endotoxin or farm dust protects mice from HDM allergy by the induction of A20 (ubiquitin-modifying enzyme) resulting in reduced cytokine production (33, 34). This suggests that this intervention in the epithelial-immune interaction may contribute to the protective effect of rural environments. Interestingly, the "farm effect" as well as diet also contribute to the microbiome composition in the gut (31, 32). As mentioned above, it is well known that dietary fiber and gut-derived SCFA contribute to airway homeostasis and exert a protective effect during allergic airway inflammation in various mouse experiments (26, 35-37). For example, mice treated with the SCFA propionate showed dampened allergic airway inflammation (26). Additionally, Theiler et al. showed that SCFA limit human eosinophil trafficking and survival, thereby limiting allergic airway inflammation (36). A study with 301 one-year-old children revealed that those with the highest levels of the SCFA butyrate and propionate in feces had significantly less atopic sensitization and a reduced risk to develop asthma later in live (38). A 7-day randomized study in 17 adults with stable asthma demonstrated for the first time improvement of asthma symptoms upon soluble fiber supplementation (39). Only recently, a study identified a novel and protective pathway along the gut-lung axis. The metabolization of L-tyrosine by bacteria in the gut increases the concentration of p-cresol sulfate (PCS), which has been shown to be protective against HDM-induced allergy by interfering with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and TLR4 signaling (40). Whether and to which extent locally produced GC synthesis in the lung contributes to the protective action of gut-derived metabolites remains to be elucidated.

In this context, the research of Bouguen et al. on ulcerative colitis (UC) is especially interesting (41). Our group already showed that type 1 cytokines, namely TNF, directly induce intestinal GC synthesis to ameliorate colitis while type 2 immune response in the model of oxazolone-induced acute colitis did not trigger GC synthesis due to the lack of TNF. Eventually, Bouguen et al. linked extra-adrenal GC synthesis in the intestine with the expression and activity of the SCFA receptor peroxisome proliferating factor gamma (PPARy), a pathway which is impaired in UC but not in Crohn's disease (CD) (5, 41). UC is a chronic inflammation of the colonic mucosa. Pharmacological interventions in the treatment of IBD include anti-TNF antibodies and corticosteroids. Although very effective, their long-term use also promotes adverse side effects, calling for better solutions to combat causes that may not yet be known (42). UC, rather than CD, is associated with the upregulation of the T_H2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13, as well as eosinophil infiltration (43). However, the exact role of type 2 cells in UC is still up to further investigation. Besides type 2, also type 1 and type 3 immune responses are involved in UC disease processes, thus UC is another example where the rigid $T_H 1/T_H 2$

dogma is not valid anymore (43). The finding that LRH-1 expression and intestinal steroidogenesis is impaired in UC patients resulting in reduced anti-inflammatory actions via PPARy, provides further evidence for the regulatory role of GCs to restrict also diseases with features of a T_H2 immune response. The activation of PPARy via SCFA may represent a possible link to the lung immune system in the gut-lung axis. The role of PPARy in lung immunity has been characterized over the last twenty years with evidence for important regulatory functions. Schneider et al. uncovered that the induction of PPARy through the cytokine granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) critically regulates the differentiation of alveolar macrophages (44). Alveolar macrophages are part of the first line of defense system in the lung and are therefore crucial in shaping the immune response. Nevertheless, the role of PPAR γ in asthma is controversial. On the one hand, PPARyagonists, e.g. rosiglitazone and troglitazone, reduce airway inflammation by the inhibition of inflammatory cells and pro-inflammatory cytokines (45). And on the other hand, the deletion of PPARy in lung DCs protects from HDMinduced asthma development, by reducing their migration to the draining lymph nodes, pointing towards a pro-inflammatory role of this nuclear receptor (46). Therefore, PPARy appears to have multiple roles in regulating type 2 immune responses, and its effect must be considered in a cell type-specific and contextdependent manner. However, its regulatory role per se seems undisputed, thus the question at this point is whether local GCs, similar to that in the intestine, affect also the activity and expression of PPAR γ in the lung. Whether this hypothesis is correct and whether gut-derived SCFA can exert their antiinflammatory activities in the lung via this pathway remains to

be investigated. A possible model of regulation is depicted in **Figure 1**. The gut synthesizes local GCs that induce the expression of PPAR γ with beneficial effect on gut homeostasis. In addition to that, the gut microbiota synthesize SCFA that not only activate intestinal PPAR γ but also exert anti-inflammatory effects in the lung, resulting in reduced type 2 cytokine expression and consequently less tissue destruction and airway remodeling in allergic airway inflammatory diseases. Since the application of synthetic GCs has similar anti-inflammatory effects, it is very likely that also locally produced GCs in the lung exert a protective effect on type 2 immune responses (**Figure 1**). In any case, an interplay between SCFA and local GCs in the regulation of immune homeostasis along the gut-lung axis develops as an attractive new idea.

The Perspective of GCs to Regulate Pathogenic Crosstalk in the Atopic March

Atopic march is a progressive atopy, which describes the increased likelihood of individuals with inflammatory diseases of the skin in infancy to develop allergic airway or gastrointestinal inflammations, like asthma or food allergy, later in life (47–49). The recent discoveries of local GC synthesis in the skin provide novel ways for understanding prevalent inflammatory skin diseases and their possible regulation by keratinocyte-derived GCs. Although many inflammatory skin disorders involve local dysregulation of the skin immune system, they have the potential to progress into systemic diseases affecting diverse tissues and organs, such as the diseases involving the atopic march.

Atopic dermatitis (AD) represents one of the most common chronic inflammatory skin diseases, next to psoriasis. It is





characterized by chronic, pruritic eczematous skin lesions and is associated with dominant type 2 immune responses, including elevated T_H2-type cells and IgE serum levels. IL-4 and IL-13 are known to be essential for the pathogenesis of AD and are mainly secreted by T_H2 cells (50). However, recent studies have shown that T_H2 cytokines are also relevantly produced by basophils and ILC2s, which critically prime the skin immune system in the developing phase of AD (51-53). In addition to the immune dysregulation, defective skin barrier functions also play a major role in allergic skin sensitization, mostly because of impaired keratinocyte differentiation and defective barrier protein development. These circumstances often lead to increased antigen exposure due to increased epithelial permeability, involving microbial dysbiosis by dominant skin colonization and invasion of Staphylococcus aureus. Both, dysregulated type 2 immune responses and defective skin barrier fuel into an inflammatory feed-forward loop, which drive the chronic skin inflammation in AD. Its propagation and progression are specifically controlled by the complex interplay between keratinocytes, sensory neurons, and type 2 immune cells (T_H2 cells, DCs, ILC2s, mast cells and basophils), as well as their associated cytokines within the epithelia-immune microenvironment (50). Detailed underlying mechanisms are still not completely understood, but increasing evidence suggests that inflammatory AD conditions play a major role in allergic sensitization.

In fact, AD conditions represent the basis for the progression of several other atopic diseases, including allergic rhinitis, asthma and food allergy, but also eosinophilic esophagitis and allergic conjunctivitis, which define the so-called atopic march (54-56). These atopic diseases progress at different epithelial barriers of various anatomic sites, such as the upper and lower airway tract as well as from the oral-esophagus to the lower gastrointestinal organs (55). Mostly, the prevalence of infantile AD precedes these diseases of atopic march, which increase with age while AD skin conditions withdraw in the long-term (54). Thus, allergic sensitization through local inflammatory circuits in AD skin specifically implicates secondary atopic manifestations at mucosal barrier sites of the lung and the gastrointestinal tract, paving the way for further diseases of the atopic march. In addition to the clinical therapy of these diverse atopic diseases, several approaches aim to prevent the onset of atopic march through ameliorating cutaneous AD conditions and preventing skin sensitization in the first place (55). Besides the preventive disease management and the use of calcineurin inhibitors, acute inflammation and disease exacerbations are efficiently treated using several low- to high-class potent synthetic GCs for atopic march-affected epithelial sites in AD, asthma and food allergyassociated anaphylaxis. However, as discussed above, the very same epithelial barrier sites are also the source of local GCs, which contribute to the control of local inflammation (1, 4, 5, 13, 57-61). Despite that, our understanding of how local GCmediated immunoregulatory circuits impact type 2 inflammation remains incomplete. Epithelial barrier-derived GCs were shown to exert individual roles in maintaining an autonomous and local immunoregulatory circuit in each of these

tissues (1, 5, 12, 13). As already mentioned, oxazolone-induced acute colitis failed to trigger LRH-1-regulated and TNFdependent GC synthesis in the intestine, similar to the lung where ovalbumin-induced airway hypersensitivity was ineffective in promoting local GC synthesis (5, 13). Whereas in MC903induced AD, which also causes a type 2 skin inflammation, local GC synthesis in keratinocytes was indeed induced, it did not appear to ameliorate the pathogenesis of AD (12). Additionally, formation of lymph node (LN)-resident CD44⁺ CD69⁺ T cells and OVA-specific immune responses in MC903-induced AD skin conditions did not show significant alterations in mice with deficient skin GC synthesis indicating that AD development and skin sensitization is not directly restricted by local skin GCs (12). In contrast, deficient keratinocyte GC synthesis in AD skin inflammation resulted in decreased IL-4 levels in skin associated with ameliorated itchiness. Thus, absence of skin GCs indirectly resulted in the elevation of yet unknown inhibitory factors opposing IL-4-associated inflammatory responses in the skin (12). Here, our understanding of local GC biology in type 2 inflammatory skin diseases is still limited and further studies are warranted to investigate the underlying pathways. Specifically, possible regulation of the alarmins, such as TSLP, IL-33 or IL-25, by skin GCs and their impact on epithelia-type 2 immune cell interactions may unravel so far unrecognized or underestimated regulatory pathways. In vitro studies already revealed an inhibitory effect of low concentrations of exogenous GCs on the release of TSLP from keratinocytes in the presence of the type 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 (62). In addition to that, mice with a constitutive GR deletion in keratinocytes show enhanced expression levels of TSLP, IL-33 and other genes involved in inflammatory skin disorders (63). Accordingly, it is likely that local skin-derived GCs influence the production and signaling of these cytokines. It must be, however, noted that pleiotropic effects mediated by GCs may be determined by their bioavailability within specific tissues and target cells, and also depend on individual tissue and cell type sensitivity and expression level of the GR (15, 64). This may also explain why clinical application of potent high-class GCs are efficient in the treatment of acute allergic reactions in skin, and at mucosal sites of the airway and intestine despite the inefficiency of endogenous local GCs to completely shut down experimental type 2 inflammation. In this regard, a recent study described an experimental model for atopic march using mice with HDMinduced chronic AD skin conditions and subsequent allergic airway inflammation upon HDM challenge (65). This study revealed that co-activation of both GR and PPARy using dexamethasone and the PPARy-ligand rosiglitazone was more efficient in suppressing AD skin inflammation than single nuclear receptor activation (65). However, GR/PPARymediated amelioration of the preceding AD skin inflammation was not able to completely abrogate the development of allergic airway inflammation and the pathogenesis of atopic march, but asthma severity was alleviated associated with reduced IL-23/IL-17A axis, neutrophils and monocytes (65). Despite the progression of the atopic inflammation in the lung, topical GCs specifically inhibited local skin immune responses

associated with the suppression of type 3 response and thereby reduced the severity of experimental asthma. Thus, these results further indicate the therapeutic relevance of GCs to reduce disease severity, which originates in processes dependent on the skin-immune environment (65). On the contrary, the study further confirms the insensitivity of T_H2 cells towards GCs in allergic sensitization and inflammation (65). Especially the persistence of a T_H2 subset, which displays an inflammatory memory phenotype in non-lesioned AD skin, was suggested to play a major role in the recurrence of AD conditions in patients treated with the monoclonal anti-IL-4R α antibody dupilumab (66).

These interesting findings rise the questions to which extent keratinocyte-derived GCs are capable of modifying the initial progress of atopic march diseases in the lung and intestine during early skin sensitization phases and draining lymph node priming (12, 65). Specifically, it is of interest to explore the impact of skin GCs on developing and chronic AD, and whether and how they affect the differentiation of T_{H2} cells and innate type 2 immune cells in the skin. An overproduction of local GCs may compromise type 1 immune responses, which in general restrict cutaneous type 2 immune cells, thereby indirectly favoring the expansion of T_{H2} cells. How these processes modulate the progression of the atopic march remains to be investigated. **Figure 2** shows how the different organs potentially communicate during the progression of atopic march. Dysregulated local GC synthesis by reduced Cyp11b1 levels in the skin could favor the development of AD that develops during atopic march to food allergy and oral-esophageal, gastrointestinal anaphylaxis. A functional local GC synthesis in the intestine could potentially counteract this process by inhibiting the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. And in addition to that the local GC synthesis in the lung could possibly counteract the development of allergic airway inflammation in association with atopic march by suppressing the IL-23/IL-17 axis and the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes (**Figure 2**).

Taken together, the cutaneous GC synthesis represents a local regulatory circuit, which may not only regulate the local skin immune system but also affects other tissues *via* the crosstalk with the HPA axis and the systemic GC response. Specifically, a previous study demonstrated that UV stimulates the release of neuroendocrine mediators from the local HPA axis in the skin, which influences the systemic HPA axis and thus regulates global body homeostasis (67). This finding furthermore reveals the complexity of crosstalk mechanisms and reciprocal interactions of mediators controlling both local- and global-derived GC secretion. And thus implicating a relevant role of skin-originated mediators in controlling mucosal inflammation through mounting the systemic GC release. However, the possibility of mucosal-derived GCs to interact with global homeostasis is yet unexplored and its investigation is majorly challenged since local inflammation



FIGURE 2 | The perspective of GCs to regulate pathogenic crosstalk in the atopic march. Glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and peroxisome proliferating factor gamma (PPAR)/-mediated regulatory activities inhibit atopic dermatitis (AD) progression and reduce consequent atopic airway inflammation severity by inhibiting the IL-23/IL-17 axis upon topical dexamethasone (Dex)/rosiglitazone (Rg) treatment. AD skin inflammation enhances local *de novo* GC synthesis in keratinocytes through the conversion of 11-deoxycorticosterone (11-Doc) to corticosterone (Cort) catalyzed by 11β-hydroxylase (Cyp11b1). The regulatory potential of endogenous GCs on AD and associated atopic march diseases is yet still unclear. Local skin GCs have been shown to not restrict AD skin inflammation. The capacity of liver receptor homolog-1 (LRH-1)-regulated synthesis of gut-derived GCs and 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (Hsd11b1)-dependent GC reactivation from 11dehydrocorticosterone (11-Dhc) in the lung on atopic march diseases are unexplored.
and regulation of the tissue-immune microenvironment in skin, lung and intestine are differentially regulated due to their unique stromal-immune cell composition, tissue architecture and steroidogenic machinery.

Regulation of Local Type 1 and 3 Immune Responses and Autoinflammatory Diseases Across and Beyond Epithelial Barriers

Of no less importance is the efficient GC therapy in the treatment of infectious diseases as well as inflammation in autoimmune and autoinflammatory disorders. Most of them are known for the aberrant production of inflammatory cytokines with the involvement of activated stromal cells and pathogenic immune cells within local circuits. In particular, key cytokines of the type 1 and type 3 immune responses, including TNF or IL-1 cytokines, and the IL-12/IFN- γ - or the IL-23/IL-17 signaling pathways, are able to activate and remodel tissue cells and recruit inflammatory phagocytes resulting in cytotoxicity and tissue damage.

The organ interplay along the gut-lung axis is also described in diseases with features of type 1 and type 3 immune responses, even though this is less well explored. For example, during influenza infection, the innate immune system senses the virus via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) and initiates an adaptive immune response via the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and type I interferons (IFN) (68). The activation of neutrophils, macrophage recruitment and DC maturation finally leads to the recognition and clearance of the intruder by CD8+ cytotoxic T cells and CD4+ T cells (68). Moreover, regulatory T cells and T_H17 cells have been shown to be important in balancing the immune response during influenza infection (68). Evidence for positive effects of SCFA in influenza infections have been obtained in mouse models. High-fiber diet protected mice from influenza infection, by regulating the balance between the innate and the adaptive immune system (69). On the one hand SCFA modulated CD8+ T cell metabolism and on the other hand the number of Ly6C- monocytes was increased, leading to enhanced alternatively activated macrophages and finally reduced neutrophil-associated immunopathology (69). Interestingly, influenza infection seems also to have a major impact on the composition and metabolism of gut microbiota (24, 25, 70, 71). The infection leads to a strong weight loss in mice, which is in part due to a lower food intake caused by inappetence (72). This reduces the production of SCFA by the gut microbiota. The lack of anti-inflammatory effects by SCFA ultimately leads to a greater risk of secondary bacterial infections, in some cases also to so-called superinfections, which massively increase the mortality rate (24, 73). Mouse models revealed that supplementation with acetate improves the potential of the immune system to control secondary superinfections upon influenza infection (24). In addition to that, respiratory infection of mice with influenza virus has been shown to cause intestinal injury in a T_H17-dependent manner, which was further dependent on the intestinal microbiota (25). This could explain gastroenteritis-like symptoms in human influenza patients and further strengthens

the influence of the gut microbiome during disease control. Evidences for the importance of local steroidogenesis in respiratory viral infections have been observed in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis. Jun et al. observed increased expression of HSD11B1 and CYP11B1 as well as increased levels of cortisol in the sinus mucosa of the patients, indicating that local steroidogenesis in the conducting airways is upregulated to support balancing the immune response upon viral infection (14). In addition to that, the infection of mice with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) resulted in the induction of local steroidogenesis in the intestine, indicating that GCs may also play an important role in regulating viral infections of the gut (74). However, therapeutic GC application to patients with influenza infection remains controversial. Meta-analysis of data from ten trials with patients suffering from influenza pneumonia revealed a higher mortality rate and risk of secondary infections after corticosteroid treatment compared to the placebo group (75). Yet, with regard to the current COVID-19 pandemic, Cai et al. were able to define a threshold, based on the neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio, above which the treatment with the synthetic GC dexamethasone is highly recommended in cases of severe COVID-19 (76). Thus, GC treatment cannot be declared as effective or ineffective across the board. Accordingly, the application of synthetic GCs needs to be carefully pondered individually in each patient to ensure the safety of the treatment. Therefore, the application of GCs in patients with influenza infection needs to be further investigated to find the balance between anti-inflammatory action and viral clearance. This need of GC application fine-tuning further strengthens the hypothesis that comparably low GC concentrations derived from local steroidogenesis may play an important role in balancing local immune responses that on the one hand allow effective viral clearance and on the other hand prevent overshooting immune responses and consequently immunopathogenesis.

Similar to the gut-lung axis, the gut-skin axis describes physiological and pathological communication, and in some cases co-morbidities. A prevalent example, also with regard to autoimmune disorders, is psoriasis. Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory disease of the skin, which is immune cellmediated and involves keratinocyte hyperproliferation and T cell and granulocyte infiltration. Although the underlying cause is still unclear, type 3 immune responses are known to contribute to this skin pathology. It was classically thought to be mainly driven by pathogenic T_H17 cells producing IL-17, IL-22 and IFN- γ , which activate epithelial cells resulting in increased production of anti-microbial peptides, inflammatory cytokines and chemokines leading to the recruitment of granulocytes. However, current research revealed multiple additional cellular sources of IL-17, e.g. secreted by $\gamma\delta$ T cells and CD8+ T cells, among many other cell types (77, 78). Emerging evidence, reviewed by Zwicky et al., demonstrates that not IL-23independent IL-17 signaling but specifically the IL-23/IL-17 axis mediated the pathogenic psoriasiform inflammation (78). The IL-23/IL-17 axis and the aggravated type 3 immune response is also relevant to the pathogenesis of several other autoimmune and autoinflammatory diseases, of which psoriatic arthritis and

CD were reported to be directly associated with psoriasis. These and other autoinflammatory diseases were described to show immunological parallels with similarities in genetic predispositions and are currently viewed as systemic diseases rather than local dysregulation of the immune system (79).

So far, the underlying pathways within the crosstalk of involved tissues, linking the different autoimmune and/or autoinflammatory diseases, are less clear. Several processes have been described to contribute to the interaction between the barrier tissue and the HPA axis. Beside the immunological signaling across the lymphatic system, also the microbiome appears to affect the crosstalk directly and/or indirectly (80). This mostly occurs through metabolic interactions, but also neuroendocrine molecules have been demonstrated to link organs and inflammatory diseases through local and global circuits (81). Such links seem to be crucial for local pathogenic mechanisms to trigger autoinflammation at distant sites of the body. In this regard, the study of Kiyohara et al. revealed that for example psoriasiform skin inflammation triggers pathogenic conditions in the gut (82). Specifically, alterations in intestinal microbiome and local immune response were shown to originate from skin inflammation and lead to exacerbated dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis (82). Additionally, transplanted feces from mice with psoriasiform inflammation was sufficient to aggravate DSS-colitis in germ-free mice compared to controls with feces from untreated mice (82). These results emphasize the association of IBD with psoriasis and further solidifies the concept of autoinflammation as a systemic disease comprising processes, which involve the interaction of microbiota with the tissue-immune microenvironment. Tissue architecture and homeostasis are organized by stromal cells, which emerge to be relevant GC-mediated regulators of local and possibly global inflammation (83-87). Accordingly, in CD patients local GC de novo synthesis and reactivation was shown to be downregulated indicating their role in disease regulation (61, 88, 89). In the skin, both AD and psoriasiform skin inflammation enhanced local synthesis of GCs in keratinocytes (12). But apparently keratinocyte-derived GCs exert potent control only over type 3 immune responses in the skin as keratinocyte-deficient GC synthesis resulted in aggravated psoriasiform inflammation and the development of spontaneous skin inflammation (12). Another study by Psarras et al. further emphasized the concept that dysregulated stromal cells may represent a major contributor to and trigger of the pathogenesis of autoimmune disorders and challenges the immune cell-mediated point of view (90). They revealed keratinocytes to be the major source of type I IFN in At-Risk individuals in preclinical autoimmunity stage and in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients with established autoimmunity (90). Thus, keratinocytes and their potential to control local skin-immune microenvironment via autocrine GCs may directly restrict their own inflammatory potential as GCs are well described to efficiently suppress type I IFN expression and signaling pathway (91-93). Unraveling regulatory pathways in the skin may not only advance our knowledge on the regulation of local inflammatory processes but also impact our current understanding how systemic diseases such as SLE develop.

Intestinal barrier homeostasis is not only affected by distant inflammatory processes in the skin, but also contributes itself to central nervous system (CNS) autoimmunity, as recently demonstrated (94). Gut homeostasis, comprising of reciprocal intestinal IL-17 signaling and microbiome-host interaction, was shown to be required for the susceptibility to the CNS autoimmune model experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (94). Despite this finding, an earlier study unraveled the interaction between gut microbiota and intestinal IL-17R signaling, which regulates commensal dysbiosis, restricts $T_{\rm H}17$ formation and controls susceptibility to EAE autoimmune inflammation (95).

These studies demonstrate the complexity of interactions and mechanisms within the barrier microenvironment and their potential to trigger pathogenic inflammation across several organs. This is particularly true when synthetic GCs and several biologicals are clinically deployed to shut down local immunological flares. Targeting inflammatory mediators using monoclonal antibodies against IL-17, TNF or IL-12 has led to clinical benefits for some disorders, and low efficacy or even undesirable side-effects for others, also known as paradoxical effects (78, 79, 96). These paradoxical effects indicate that some cytokines exert tissue-specific actions resulting in regulatory effects that seem to be unique to specific barrier tissues. In addition to the distinct cytokine network signaling, various regulatory and tolerance-inducing mechanisms are mediated by the activity of GCs in tissue cells, among many other factors. This challenges our current view of how inflammatory diseases may develop and urge us to consider tissue-specific regulatory processes and pathways. Figure 3 aims to illustrate the complexity of this interorgan crosstalk and points out possible links and pathways between the gut, the lung and the skin. GCs that are produced by the adrenal glands are released into the blood stream and act systemically on all organs. The possible interaction of systemic and local GCs is currently unexplored but a very interesting future research subject. Cytokines and mediators from the HPA axis could trigger local GC synthesis in the skin with anti-inflammatory effects on psoriasis and consequently on psoriatic arthritis. It is already known that psoriasis also leads to intestinal dysbiosis, which could lead to colitis and interfere with the production of anti-inflammatory SCFA. Local gut-derived GCs exert their anti-inflammatory effect in acute inflammation, Crohn's disease and colitis. SCFA produced in the gut have beneficial effects on influenza infection in the lung, whereas the effect of local GCs in the lung on influenza infection is currently unknown. However, their role is important in acute inflammation and also in chronic rhinosinusitis, and it is therefore very likely that they also exert their anti-inflammatory function in viral infections (Figure 3).

Overall, local GCs have been shown to specifically restrict type 1 and 3 inflammations at various barrier tissues, indicating their important role in balancing microbiome-host interaction and cytokine responses within the tissue microenvironment. Pathologies at barrier tissues leading to inflammation at various distant sites of the body highlight the importance of



FIGURE 3 | Regulation of local type 1 and 3 immune responses and autoinflammatory diseases across and beyond epithelial barriers. Adrenal-derived GCs are regulated *via* the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Inflammation triggers the HPA axis *via* cytokines (e.g. tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin (IL)-6) and *de novo* synthesized GCs act systemically *via* the circulation. Additionally, HPA axis–skin communication occurs *via* neuromediators, cytokines and metabolites. GC synthesis in keratinocytes is regulated *via* a local HPA axis. Whereas the effect of local GCs on rheumatoid arthritis is currently unknown, GC-GR interactions have anti-inflammatory effects on psoriasis. In addition to that psoriasis alters the gut microbiota with substantial effects on intestinal homeostasis. The production of gut–derived GCs is regulated *via* liver receptor homolog-1 (LRH-1) and inducible *via* TNF. 11β-hydroxylase (Cyp11b1) catalyzes the conversion of 11-deoxycorticosterone (11-Doc) to corticosterone (Cort). Intestinal GCs exert anti-inflammatory effects on acute inflammation, experimental colitis and Crohn's disease. Additionally, short chain fatty acids (SCFA) produced by the gut microbiota, have positive effects on influenza infection by modulating CD8+ T cell metabolism and increasing the number of Ly6C- monocytes. However, influenza virus has negative effects on the gut microbiota and can thereby limit the SCFA production. The influence of SCFA on other viral infections, like SARS-CoV-2, is currently not known. The synthesis of lung-derived GCs is catalyzed by 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (Hsd11b1) and in the upper airways also by Cyp11b1. Local GCs inhibit acute lung inflammation. GC synthesis in the upper respiratory tract is upregulated in chronic rhinosinusitis patients and potentially exerts anti-inflammatory effects. The capacity of lung-derived GCs on skin-associated diseases and *vice versa* the effect of skin-derived GCs on lung disease in this context are unexplored.

local GCs in controlling these processes, and directs future research to unravel their tissue-specific regulatory processes. Extra-adrenal GCs may therefore not only maintain local tissue homeostasis but may also hold key in preventing the development of systemic autoimmune and autoinflammatory diseases, which at a first glace may appear unrelated to local barrier tissue inflammation.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, research on immunoregulatory networks at epithelial barriers and interorgan crosstalk contributes to a better understanding of the complexity of our immune system and opens up possibilities for novel treatments of chronic, inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. The importance of the gut microbiome, in particular their production of antiinflammatory metabolites like SCFA, for gut, lung and skin health and their regulatory function in a variety of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases could represent an interesting connection to local GC synthesis and regulatory pathways. The diseases we have been discussing here (asthma, influenza infection, UC, CD, AD, psoriasis) affect a large part of the population, and therefore it is even more important to better understand their causes and the regulatory mechanisms of the body opposing them, opening new perspectives in their treatment. Even if these diseases are usually not fatal, they still limit the quality of life of those affected and especially with regard to the atopic march, the path of chronic suffering starts at a very early age.

This review highlights several areas, where the role of local GC synthesis in immune regulation and the interorgan crosstalk has been largely unaddressed. Clearly, we see great potential in their exploration to fill our knowledge gaps and discover new signaling and regulatory pathways. For the scientific progress, it is indispensable today to consider local regulations of the

REFERENCES

- Phan TS, Merk VM, Brunner T. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Synthesis At Epithelial Barriers. *Genes Immun* (2019) 20:627–40. doi: 10.1038/s41435-019-0058-z
- Talabér G, Jondal M, Okret S. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Synthesis: Immune Regulation and Aspects on Local Organ Homeostasis. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2013) 380:89–98. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.05.007
- Taves MD, Gomez-Sanchez CE, Soma KK. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoids and Mineralocorticoids: Evidence for Local Synthesis, Regulation, and Function. *AJP Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 301:E11–24. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00100.2011
- Mueller M, Cima I, Noti M, Fuhrer A, Jakob S, Dubuquoy L, et al. The Nuclear Receptor LRH-1 Critically Regulates Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Synthesis in the Intestine. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2057–62. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20060357
- Noti M, Corazza N, Mueller C, Berger B, Brunner T. TNF Suppresses Acute Intestinal Inflammation by Inducing Local Glucocorticoid Synthesis. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1057–66. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090849
- Sotiropoulou PA, Blanpain C. Development and Homeostasis of the Skin Epidermis. Cold Spring Harb Persepct Biol (2012) 4:1–20. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a008383
- Hannen RF, Michael AE, Jaulim A, Bhogal R, Burrin JM, Philpott MP. Steroid Synthesis by Primary Human Keratinocytes; Implications for Skin Disease. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2011) 404:62–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbrc.2010.11.059
- Slominski A, Zbytek B, Nikolakis G, Manna PR, Skobowiat C, Zmijewski M, et al. Steroidogenesis in the Skin: Implications for Local Immune Functions. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* (2013) 137:107–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb. 2013.02.006
- Cirillo N, Prime SS. Keratinocytes Synthesize and Activate Cortisol. J Cell Biochem (2011) 112:1499–505. doi: 10.1002/jcb.23081
- Slominski A, Wortsman J, Paus R, Elias PM, Tobin DJ, Feingold KR. Skin as an Endocrine Organ: Implication for its Function. *Drug Discovery Today Dis Mech* (2008) 5:137–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ddmec.2008.04.004.Skin
- Terao M, Itoi S, Matsumura S, Yang L, Murota H, Katayama I. Local Glucocorticoid Activation by 11β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase 1 in Keratinocytes the Role in Hapten-Induced Dermatitis. *Am J Pathol* (2016) 186:1499–510. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.01.014
- Phan TS, Schink L, Mann J, Merk VM, Zwicky P, Mundt S, et al. Keratinocytes Control Skin Immune Homeostasis Through De Novo-Synthesized Glucocorticoids. *Sci Adv* (2021) 7:14. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abe0337

immune system also in a systemic context in order to better understand their interrelationships and to apply the knowledge effectively in the clinics.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VMM wrote the manuscript and generated the figures. TSP wrote parts of the manuscript, TB overviewed the research on extra-adrenal GC synthesis, and edited and finalized the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research of the TB lab conducted in this field has been supported by the German Science Foundation (DFG). The authors acknowledge excellent and faithful collaboration partners in this research area.

- Hostettler N, Bianchi P, Gennari-Moser C, Kassahn D, Schoonjans K, Corazza N, et al. Local Glucocorticoid Production in the Mouse Lung is Induced by Immune Cell Stimulation. *Allergy Eur J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 67:227– 34. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2011.02749.x
- 14. Jun YJ, Park SJ, Kim TH, Lee SH, Lee KJ, Hwang SM, et al. Expression of 11β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase 1 and 2 in Patients With Chronic Rhinosinusitis and Their Possible Contribution to Local Glucocorticoid Activation in Sinus Mucosa. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2014) 134:926–34.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.03.033
- Cain DW, Cidlowski JA. Immune Regulation by Glucocorticoids. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17:233–47. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.1
- Liberman AC, Druker J, Refojo D, Holsboer F, Arzt E. Glucocorticoids Inhibit GATA-3 Phosphorylation and Activity in T Cells. FASEB J (2009) 23:1558– 71. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-121236
- Maneechotesuwan K, Yao X, Ito K, Jazrawi E, Usmani OS, Adcock IM, et al. Suppression of GATA-3 Nuclear Import and Phosphorylation: A Novel Mechanism of Corticosteroid Action in Allergic Disease. *PloS Med* (2009) 6:5. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000076
- Martin RA, Ather JL, Daggett R, Hoyt L, Alcorn JF, Suratt BT, et al. The Endogenous Th17 Response in NO2-Promoted Allergic Airway Disease Is Dispensable for Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Distinct From Th17 Adoptive Transfer. *PloS One* (2013) 8:1–18. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074730
- Peek EJ, Richards DF, Faith A, Lavender P, Lee TH, Corrigan CJ, et al. Interleukin-10-secreting "Regulatory" T Cells Induced by Glucocorticoids and β2-Agonists. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2005) 33:105–11. doi: 10.1165/ rcmb.2005-01000C
- Elenkov IJ. Glucocorticoids and the Th1/Th2 Balance. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2004) 1024:138–46. doi: 10.1196/annals.1321.010
- Taves MD, Ashwell JD. Glucocorticoids in T Cell Development, Differentiation and Function. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 21:233-43. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-00464-0
- 22. Dang AT, Marsland BJ. Microbes, Metabolites, and the Gut-Lung Axis. Mucosal Immunol (2019) 12:843–50. doi: 10.1038/s41385-019-0160-6
- Hufnagl K, Pali-Schöll I, Roth-Walter F, Jensen-Jarolim E. Dysbiosis of the Gut and Lung Microbiome has a Role in Asthma. Semin Immunopathol (2020) 42:75–93. doi: 10.1007/s00281-019-00775-y
- Sencio V, Barthelemy A, Tavares LP, Machado MG, Soulard D, Cuinat C, et al. Gut Dysbiosis During Influenza Contributes to Pulmonary Pneumococcal Superinfection Through Altered Short-Chain Fatty Acid Production. *Cell Rep* (2020) 30:2934–47.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.02.013
- Wang J, Li F, Wei H, Lian ZX, Sun R, Tian Z. Respiratory Influenza Virus Infection Induces Intestinal Immune Injury Via Microbiotamediated Th17

Cell-Dependent Inflammation. J Exp Med (2014) 211:2397–410. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20140625

- Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, Sichelstiel AK, Sprenger N, Ngom-Bru C, et al. Gut Microbiota Metabolism of Dietary Fiber Influences Allergic Airway Disease and Hematopoiesis. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:159–66. doi: 10.1038/ nm.3444
- Ukena D, Biberger C, Steinijans V, von Behren V, Malek R, Weber HH, et al. Ciclesonide is More Effective Than Budesonide in the Treatment of Persistent Asthma. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther* (2007) 20:562–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.pupt.2006.05.007
- Dunican EM, Fahy JV. Asthma and Corticosteroids: Time for a More Precise Approach to Treatment. *Eur Respir J* (2017) 49:12–4. doi: 10.1183/ 13993003.01167-2017
- Escoubet-Lozach L, Glass CK, Wasserman SI. The Role of Transcription Factors in Allergic Inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2002) 110:553–64. doi: 10.1067/mai.2002.128076
- Lambrecht BN, Hammad H, Fahy JV. The Cytokines of Asthma. Immunity (2019) 50:975–91. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.018
- Depner M, Taft DH, Kirjavainen PV, Kalanetra KM, Karvonen AM, Peschel S, et al. Maturation of the Gut Microbiome During the First Year of Life Contributes to the Protective Farm Effect on Childhood Asthma. *Nat Med* (2020) 26:1766–75. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1095-x
- Rothschild D, Weissbrod O, Barkan E, Kurilshikov A, Korem T, Zeevi D, et al. Environment Dominates Over Host Genetics in Shaping Human Gut Microbiota. Nature (2018) 555:210–5. doi: 10.1038/nature25973
- 33. Hammad H, Chieppa M, Perros F, Willart MA, Germain RN, Lambrecht BN. House Dust Mite Allergen Induces Asthma Via Toll-like Receptor 4 Triggering of Airway Structural Cells. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:410–6. doi: 10.1038/nm.1946
- Schuijs MJ, Willart MA, Vergote K, Gras D, Deswarte K, Ege MJ, et al. Farm Dust and Endotoxin Protect Against Allergy Through A20 Induction in Lung Epithelial Cells. *Science* (2015) 349:1106–10. doi: 10.1126/science.aac6623
- 35. Lewis G, Wang B, Shafiei Jahani P, Hurrell BP, Banie H, Aleman Muench GR, et al. Dietary Fiber-Induced Microbial Short Chain Fatty Acids Suppress Ilc2-Dependent Airway Inflammation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2051. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02051
- 36. Theiler A, Bärnthaler T, Platzer W, Richtig G, Peinhaupt M, Rittchen S, et al. Butyrate Ameliorates Allergic Airway Inflammation by Limiting Eosinophil Trafficking and Survival. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 144:764–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2019.05.002
- Cait A, Hughes MR, Antignano F, Cait J, Dimitriu PA, Maas KR, et al. Microbiome-Driven Allergic Lung Inflammation is Ameliorated by Short-Chain Fatty Acids. *Mucosal Immunol* (2018) 11:785–95. doi: 10.1038/ mi.2017.75
- Roduit C, Frei R, Ferstl R, Loeliger S, Westermann P, Rhyner C, et al. High Levels of Butyrate and Propionate in Early Life are Associated With Protection Against Atopy. *Allergy Eur J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019) 74:799–809. doi: 10.1111/all.13660
- McLoughlin R, Berthon BS, Rogers GB, Baines KJ, Leong LEX, Gibson PG, et al. Soluble Fibre Supplementation With and Without a Probiotic in Adults With Asthma: A 7-Day Randomised, Double Blind, Three Way Cross-Over Trial. *EBioMedicine* (2019) 46:473–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.07.048
- Wypych TP, Pattaroni C, Perdijk O, Yap C, Trompette A, Anderson D, et al. Microbial Metabolism of L-Tyrosine Protects Against Allergic Airway Inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2021) 22:279–86. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-00856-3
- Bouguen G, Langlois A, Djouina M, Branche J, Koriche D, Dewaeles E, et al. Intestinal Steroidogenesis Controls Pparγ Expression in the Colon and is Impaired During Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut* (2015) 64:901–10. doi: 10.1136/ gutjnl-2014-307618
- Tripathi K, Feuerstein JD. New Developments in Ulcerative Colitis: Latest Evidence on Management, Treatment, and Maintenance. *Drugs Context* (2019) 8:1–11. doi: 10.7573/dic.212572
- Imam T, Park S, Kaplan MH, Olson MR. Effector T Helper Cell Subsets in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1212. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01212
- 44. Schneider C, Nobs SP, Kurrer M, Rehrauer H, Thiele C, Kopf M. Induction of the Nuclear Receptor PPAR- γ by the Cytokine GM-CSF is Critical for the

Differentiation of Fetal Monocytes Into Alveolar Macrophages. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:1026–37. doi: 10.1038/ni.3005

- Banno A T, Reddy A, Lakshmi S P, Reddy R C. Ppars: Key Regulators of Airway Inflammation and Potential Therapeutic Targets in Asthma. Nucl Recept Res (2018) 5:1–17. doi: 10.11131/2018/101306
- 46. Nobs SP, Natali S, Pohlmeier L, Okreglicka K, Schneider C, Kurrer M, et al. Pparγ in Dendritic Cells and T Cells Drives Pathogenic Type-2 Effector Responses in Lung Inflammation. J Exp Med (2017) 214:3015–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20162069
- Bantz SK, Zhu Z, Zheng T. The Atopic March: Progression From Atopic Dermatitis to Allergic Rhinitis and Asthma. J Clin Cell Immunol (2014) 5:202. doi: 10.4172/2155-9899.1000202
- Hill DA, Spergel JM. The Atopic March. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (2018) 120:131–7. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2017.10.037
- Yang L, Fu J, Zhou Y. Research Progress in Atopic March. Front Immunol (2020) 11:1907. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01907
- Dainichi T, Kitoh A, Otsuka A, Nakajima S, Nomura T, Kaplan DH, et al. The Epithelial Immune Microenvironment (EIME) in Atopic Dermatitis and Psoriasis. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19:1286–98. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0256-2
- Kim BS, Siracusa MC, Saenz SA, Noti M, Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, et al. TSLP Elicits IL-33-independent Innate Lymphoid Cell Responses to Promote Skin Inflammation. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:170. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.3005374
- Noti M, Kim BS, Siracusa MC, Rak GD, Kubo M, Moghaddam AE, et al. Exposure to Food Allergens Through Inflamed Skin Promotes Intestinal Food Allergy Through the Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin-Basophil Axis. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2014) 133:1390–9.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.01.021
- Hussain M, Borcard L, Walsh KP, Pena Rodriguez M, Mueller C, Kim BS, et al. Basophil-Derived IL-4 Promotes Epicutaneous Antigen Sensitization Concomitant With the Development of Food Allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141:223–34.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.02.035
- Han H, Roan F, Ziegler SF. The Atopic March: Current Insights Into Skin Barrier Dysfunction and Epithelial Cell-Derived Cytokines. *Physiol Behav* (2017) 278:116–30. doi: 10.1111/imr.12546
- 55. Czarnowicki T, Krueger JG, Guttman-Yassky E. Novel Concepts of Prevention and Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis Through Barrier and Immune Manipulations With Implications for the Atopic March. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2017) 139:1723–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.04.004
- Walker MT, Green JE, Ferrie RP, Queener AM, Kaplan MH, Cook-Mills JM. Mechanism for Initiation of Food Allergy: Dependence on Skin Barrier Mutations and Environmental Allergen Costimulation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 141:1711–1725.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.003
- Slominski A, Zbytek B, Nikolakis G, Manna PR, Skobowiat C, Zmijewski M, et al. Steroidogenesis in the Skin: Implications for Local Immune Functions. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2013) 137:107–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.02.006
- Slominski AT, Manna PR, Tuckey RC. On the Role of Skin in the Regulation of Local and Systemic Steroidogenic Activities. *Steroids* (2015) 103:72–88. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2015.04.006
- Hannen R, Udeh-Momoh C, Upton J, Wright M, Michael A, Gulati A, et al. Dysfunctional Skin-Derived Glucocorticoid Synthesis is a Pathogenic Mechanism of Psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol (2017) 137:1630–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.jid.2017.02.984
- Taves MD, Hamden JE, Soma KK. Local Glucocorticoid Production in Lymphoid Organs of Mice and Birds: Functions in Lymphocyte Development. *Horm Behav* (2017) 88:4–14. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.10.022
- Ahmed A, Schmidt C, Brunner T. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Synthesis in the Intestinal Mucosa: Between Immune Homeostasis and Immune Escape. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1438. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01438
- 62. Le TA, Takai T, Vu AT, Kinoshita H, Ikeda S, Ogawa H, et al. Glucocorticoids Inhibit Double-Stranded RNA-induced Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Release From Keratinocytes in an Atopic Cytokine Milieu More Effectively Than Tacrolimus. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2010) 153:27–34. doi: 10.1159/000301576
- Sevilla LM, Latorre V, Sanchis A, Pérez P. Epidermal Inactivation of the Glucocorticoid Receptor Triggers Skin Barrier Defects and Cutaneous Inflammation. J Invest Dermatol (2013) 133:361–70. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.281
- Quax RA, Manenschijn L, Koper JW, Hazes JM, Lamberts SWJ, Van Rossum EFC, et al. Glucocorticoid Sensitivity in Health and Disease. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2013) 9:670–86. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.183

- 65. Deckers J, Bougarne N, Mylka V, Desmet S, Luypaert A, Devos M, et al. Co-Activation of Glucocorticoid Receptor and Peroxisome Proliferator–Activated Receptor-γ in Murine Skin Prevents Worsening of Atopic March. J Invest Dermatol (2018) 138:1360–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.12.023
- 66. Bangert C, Rindler K, Krausgruber T, Alkon N, Thaler FM, Kurz H, et al. Persistence of Mature Dendritic Cells, TH2A, and Tc2 Cells Characterize Clinically Resolved Atopic Dermatitis Under IL-4Rα Blockade. *Sci Immunol* (2021) 6:eabe2749. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abe2749
- Skobowiat C, Slominski A. Ultraviolet B (UVB) Activates Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) Axis in C57BL/6 Mice. J Invest Derm (2015) 135:1638–48. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.12.037.Reactivity
- Bahadoran A, Lee SH, Wang SM, Manikam R, Rajarajeswaran J, Raju CS, et al. Immune Responses to Influenza Virus and its Correlation to Age and Inherited Factors. *Front Microbiol* (2016) 7:1841. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016. 01841
- Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Pattaroni C, Lopez-Mejia IC, Riva E, Pernot J, et al. Dietary Fiber Confers Protection Against Flu by Shaping Ly6c– Patrolling Monocyte Hematopoiesis and CD8+ T Cell Metabolism. *Immunity* (2018) 48:992–1005.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.04.022
- Yildiz S, Mazel-Sanchez B, Kandasamy M, Manicassamy B, Schmolke M. Influenza A Virus Infection Impacts Systemic Microbiota Dynamics and Causes Quantitative Enteric Dysbiosis. *Microbiome* (2018) 6:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0386-z
- Bartley JM, Zhou X, Kuchel GA, Weinstock GM, Haynes L. Impact of Age, Caloric Restriction, and Influenza Infection on Mouse Gut Microbiome: An Exploratory Study of the Role of Age-Related Microbiome Changes on Influenza Responses. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1164. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01164
- Groves HT, Higham SL, Moffatt MF, Cox MJ, Tregoning JS. Respiratory Viral Infection Alters the Gut Microbiota by Inducing Inappetence. *MBio* (2020) 11: e03236–19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.03236-19
- McCullers JA. The Co-Pathogenesis of Influenza Viruses With Bacteria in the Lung. Nat Rev Microbiol (2014) 12:252–62. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3231
- Huang J, Jia R, Brunner T. Local Synthesis of Immunosuppressive Glucocorticoids in the Intestinal Epithelium Regulates Anti-Viral Immune Responses. *Cell Immunol* (2018) 334:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.08.009
- Ni YN, Chen G, Sun J, Liang BM, Liang ZA. The Effect of Corticosteroids on Mortality of Patients With Influenza Pneumonia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Crit Care (2019) 23:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2395-8
- Cai J, Li H, Zhang C, Chen Z, Liu H, Lei F, et al. The Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio Determines Clinical Efficacy of Corticosteroid Therapy in Patients With COVID-19. *Cell Metab* (2021) 33:258–69.e3. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2021.01.002
- Blauvelt A, Chiricozzi A. The Immunologic Role of IL-17 in Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis Pathogenesis. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2018) 55:379–90. doi: 10.1007/s12016-018-8702-3
- Zwicky P, Unger S, Becher B. Targeting interleukin-17 in Chronic Inflammatory Disease: A Clinical Perspective. J Exp Med (2020) 217:1–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20191123
- Schön MP. Adaptive and Innate Immunity in Psoriasis and Other Inflammatory Disorders. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1764. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01764
- Szántó M, Dózsa A, Antal D, Szabó K, Kemény L, Bai P. Targeting the Gut-Skin Axis—Probiotics as New Tools for Skin Disorder Management? *Exp Dermatol* (2019) 28:1210–8. doi: 10.1111/exd.14016
- O'Neill CA, Monteleone G, McLaughlin JT, Paus R. The Gut-Skin Axis in Health and Disease: A Paradigm With Therapeutic Implications. *BioEssays* (2016) 38:1167–76. doi: 10.1002/bies.201600008
- Kiyohara H, Sujino T, Teratani T, Miyamoto K, Arai MM, Nomura E, et al. Toll-Like Receptor 7 Agonist–Induced Dermatitis Causes Severe Dextran Sulfate Sodium Colitis by Altering the Gut Microbiome and Immune Cells. *Cmgh* (2019) 7:135–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.09.010

- Koenen M, Culemann S, Vettorazzi S, Caratti G, Frappart L, Baum W, et al. Glucocorticoid Receptor in Stromal Cells is Essential for Glucocorticoid-Mediated Suppression of Inflammation in Arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77:1610–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-212762
- 84. Tu J, Stoner S, Fromm PD, Wang T, Chen D, Tuckermann J, et al. Endogenous Glucocorticoid Signaling in Chondrocytes Attenuates Joint Inflammation and Damage. FASEB J (2018) 32:478–87. doi: 10.1096/ fj.201700659R
- Kadmiel M, Cidlowski JA. Glucocorticoid Receptor Signaling in Health and Disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2013) 34:518–30. doi: 10.1016/j.tips. 2013.07.003
- Sevilla LM, Pérez P. Roles of the Glucocorticoid and Mineralocorticoid Receptors in Skin Pathophysiology. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19:1906. doi: 10.3390/ijms19071906
- Hardy RS, Raza K, Cooper MS. Therapeutic Glucocorticoids: Mechanisms of Actions in Rheumatic Diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2020) 16:133–44. doi: 10.1038/s41584-020-0371-y
- Coste A, Dubuquoy L, Barnouin R, Annicotte J-S, Magnier B, Notti M, et al. Lrh-1-mediated Glucocorticoid Synthesis in Enterocytes Protects Against Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2007) 104:13098–103. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702440104
- Ahmed A, Schwaderer J, Hantusch A, Kolho KL, Brunner T. Intestinal Glucocorticoid Synthesis Enzymes in Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients. *Genes Immun* (2019) 20:566–76. doi: 10.1038/s41435-019-0056-1
- Psarras A, Alase A, Antanaviciute A, Carr IM, Md Yusof MY, Wittmann M, et al. Functionally Impaired Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells and non-Haematopoietic Sources of Type I Interferon Characterize Human Autoimmunity. Nat Commun (2020) 11:1–18. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19918-z
- Jalkanen J, Pettilä V, Huttunen T, Hollmén M, Jalkanen S. Glucocorticoids Inhibit Type I IFN Beta Signaling and the Upregulation of CD73 in Human Lung. *Intensive Care Med* (2020) 46:1937–40. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06086-3
- Marcellini A, Swieboda D, Guedán A, Farrow SN, Casolari P, Contoli M, et al. Glucocorticoids Impair Type I IFN Signalling and Enhance Rhinovirus Replication. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2021) 893:173839. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar. 2020.173839
- Flammer JR, Dobrovolna J, Kennedy MA, Chinenov Y, Glass CK, Ivashkiv LB, et al. The Type I Interferon Signaling Pathway Is a Target for Glucocorticoid Inhibition. *Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 30:4564–74. doi: 10.1128/mcb.00146-10
- Regen T, Isaac S, Amorim A, Núñez NG, Hauptmann J, Shanmugavadivu A, et al. Il-17 Controls Central Nervous System Autoimmunity Through the Intestinal Microbiome. *Sci Immunol* (2021) 6:eaaz6563. doi: 10.1126/ sciimmunol.aaz6563
- Kumar P, Monin L, Castillo P, Elsegeiny W, Horne W, Eddens T, et al. Intestinal Interleukin-17 Receptor Signaling Mediates Reciprocal Control of the Gut Microbiota and Autoimmune Inflammation. *Immunity* (2016) 44:659–71. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.007
- 96. Fauny M, Moulin D, D'Amico F, Netter P, Petitpain N, Arnone D, et al. Paradoxical Gastrointestinal Effects of interleukin-17 Blockers. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79:1132–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217927

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Merk, Phan and Brunner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glucocorticoid-Induced Exacerbation of Mycobacterial Infection Is Associated With a Reduced Phagocytic Capacity of Macrophages

Yufei Xie, Jiajun Xie, Annemarie H. Meijer[†] and Marcel J. M. Schaaf^{*†}

Institute of Biology, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands

Glucocorticoids are effective drugs for treating immune-related diseases, but prolonged therapy is associated with an increased risk of various infectious diseases, including tuberculosis. In this study, we have used a larval zebrafish model for tuberculosis, based on *Mycobacterium marinum (Mm)* infection, to study the effect of glucocorticoids. Our results show that the synthetic glucocorticoid beclomethasone increases the bacterial burden and the dissemination of a systemic *Mm* infection. The exacerbated *Mm* infection was associated with a decreased phagocytic activity of macrophages, higher percentages of extracellular bacteria, and a reduced rate of infected cell death, whereas the bactericidal capacity of the macrophages was not affected. The inhibited phagocytic capacity of macrophages was not specific for *Mm*, since it was also observed upon infection with *Salmonella* Typhimurium. In conclusion, our results show that glucocorticoids inhibit the phagocytic activity of macrophages, which may increase the severity of bacterial infections like tuberculosis.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, Mycobacterium marinum, macrophage, phagocytosis, zebrafish, tuberculosis

HIGHLIGHTS

Using a zebrafish tuberculosis model, we show that glucocorticoids increase the severity of the bacterial infection, and decrease the phagocytosis by macrophages. This may explain the glucocorticoid-induced increase in susceptibility to tuberculosis in humans.

INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are a class of steroid hormones that are secreted upon stress. The main endogenous GC in our body, cortisol, helps our bodies adapt to stressful situations and for this purpose it regulates a wide variety of systems, like the immune, metabolic, reproductive, cardiovascular and central nervous system. These effects are mediated by an intracellular receptor, the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), which acts as a ligand-activated transcription factor.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Oxana Bereshchenko, University of Perugia, Italy

Reviewed by: Simona Ronchetti,

University of Perugia, Italy Stefan Oehlers, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Australia

*Correspondence: Marcel J. M. Schaaf m.j.m.schaaf@biology.leidenuniv.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 October 2020 Accepted: 13 April 2021 Published: 11 May 2021

Citation:

Xie Y, Xie J, Meijer AH and Schaaf MJM (2021) Glucocorticoid-Induced Exacerbation of Mycobacterial Infection Is Associated With a Reduced Phagocytic Capacity of Macrophages. Front. Immunol. 12:618569. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.618569

42

Synthetic GCs are widely prescribed to treat various immunerelated diseases due to their potent suppressive effects on the immune system. However, prolonged therapy with these pleiotropic steroids evokes severe side effects, such as osteoporosis and diabetes mellitus (1, 2). Importantly, the therapeutic immunosuppressive effect of GCs may lead to infectious complications because of the compromised immune system (3–5). Similarly, after chronic stress an increased susceptibility to infectious diseases has been observed, due to the high circulating levels of cortisol. In order to better understand these complex effects of GCs, more research is required into how GCs influence the susceptibility to infections and the course of infectious diseases.

Tuberculosis (TB) is the most prevalent bacterial infectious disease in the world, caused by the pathogen Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb). Despite the efforts made to reach the "End TB Strategy" of the World Health Organization, Mtb still infects approximately one-quarter of the world's population and caused an estimated 1.5 million deaths in 2018, which makes it one of the top 10 causes of death globally (6, 7). The major characteristic of Mtb infection is the formation of granulomas containing infected and non-infected immune cells (8). Most Mtb-infected people develop a latent, noncontagious infection and do not show any symptoms, with the bacteria remaining inactive, while contained within granulomas (9, 10). About 5-10% of the carriers develop a clinically active TB disease associated with a loss of granuloma integrity (9, 11). Among those TB patients, the majority manifest a lung infection and around 20% shows infection in other organs like the central nervous system, pleura, urogenital tracts, bones and joints, and lymph nodes (12). Antibiotics are currently the mainstay for TB treatment, but since antibiotic resistance is rising and an effective vaccine against latent or reactivated TB is still lacking, alternative therapies to control TB are needed (13).

GCs are known to modulate the pathogenesis of TB, but their effects are highly complicated. The use of GCs is considered as a risk factor for TB. Patients who are being treated with GCs have an approximately 5-fold increased risk for developing new TB (14), and treatment with a moderate or high dose of GCs is associated with an increased risk of activation of latent TB (15–17). Consequently, a tuberculin skin test (TST) for screening latent TB is recommended before starting GC therapy (14). Moreover, chronic stress which is associated with increased circulating levels of the endogenous GC cortisol, has been shown to be associated with a higher incidence of TB (18).

Despite the generally detrimental effects of GCs on TB susceptibility and progression, certain types of TB patients are treated with GCs. Chronic TB patients may require GCs for treatment of other disorders, and it has been shown that adjunctive GC therapy may have beneficial effects. Traditionally, adjunctive GC with standard anti-TB therapy has been used for prevention of inflammatory complications in patients with tuberculous meningitis, pericarditis, and pleurisy (19–22). It has been reported that adjunctive GC therapy could improve the probability of survival in tuberculous meningitis and pericarditis (23–26). In case of pulmonary TB, the most common

form of TB, adjunctive GC therapy is recommended in advanced tuberculosis since broad and significant clinical benefits have been demonstrated (27, 28).

Although GCs are being used for adjunctive therapy, the beneficial effects of GC treatment are still under debate. For tuberculous pleurisy TB, the efficacy of GCs is still controversial and for meningitis and pericarditis, information on the GC effects is still incomplete (22, 26, 29, 30). A review regarding clinical trials for pulmonary TB showed that, although adjunctive GC therapy appears to have short-term benefits, it is not maintained in the long-term (31). An explanation for the complexity of the effects of GC therapy in TB has been offered by Tobin et al. (2012). They showed that patients suffer from TB as a result of either a failed or an excessive immune response to the mycobacterial infection, and that only the subset of TB meningitis patients with an excessive response, showing a hyperinflammatory phenotype (in their study as a result of a polymorphism in the LTA4H gene), benefited from adjunctive GC therapy. It was suggested that GCs may also be beneficial for similar subgroups of patients suffering from other forms of TB (32).

The complex interplay between GC actions and TB underscores the need for a better understanding of the effects of GCs on mycobacterial infection. In the present study we have studied these effects using Mycobacterium marinum (Mm) infection in zebrafish as a model system. Mm is a species closely related to Mtb that can infect zebrafish and other coldblooded animals naturally, causing a TB-like disease (33). Infection of zebrafish larvae with Mm provides an animal model system that mimics hallmark aspects of Mtb infection in humans and is widely used for research into mechanisms underlying the course of this disease (34-36). Like Mtb, Mm is able to survive and replicate within macrophages and, in later stages of infection, induces the formation of granulomas (37). The transparency of zebrafish at early life stages makes it possible to perform non-invasive long-term live imaging, which has been used to reveal the earliest stages of granuloma formation (38). In addition, the availability of different transgenic and mutant zebrafish lines and the efficient application of molecular techniques allow us to exploit this zebrafish Mm infection model optimally to study both the host factors and bacterial factors involved in mycobacterial infection processes (33, 34, 39). For example, zebrafish studies revealed that infected macrophages can detach from a granuloma and facilitate dissemination to new locations (38). Moreover, the study of an *lta4h* mutant zebrafish line showed that the polymorphism in the LTA4H gene is associated with the susceptibility to mycobacterial diseases and the response to adjunctive GC therapy in human, representing a prime example of translational research (32, 40).

The zebrafish has proven to be a suitable model for studying the effects of GCs, since the GC signaling pathway is very well conserved between zebrafish and humans. Both humans and zebrafish have a single gene encoding the GR, and the organization of these genes is highly similar (41–43). Both the human and the zebrafish gene encodes two splice variants, the α -

isoform, the canonical receptor, and the β -isoform, which has no transcriptional activity (42). The DNA binding domain (DBD) and ligand binding domain (LBD) of the canonical α -isoform of the human and zebrafish GR share similarities of 98.4% and 86.5% respectively (42). The zebrafish GR α -isoform, hereafter referred to as Gr, mediates GC effects that have traditionally been observed in humans and other mammals as well, like the effects on metabolism (44) and the suppression of the immune system (45). This makes the zebrafish an ideal model to study the mechanisms of GC action in vivo (46, 47). In a recent study, we have demonstrated that GCs inhibit the activation of the immune system in zebrafish larvae upon wounding (48). Treatment with a synthetic GC attenuated the migration of neutrophils, and inhibited the differentiation of macrophages towards a pro-inflammatory phenotype without affecting the migration of the latter cell type.

In the present study, to investigate the functional consequences of the previously observed GC effects on immune cells, we have investigated how GCs modulate the course of an Mm infection in zebrafish larvae. We demonstrate that beclomethasone increases the level of Mm infection and tissue dissemination. This increased Mm infection can be explained by an inhibition of the phagocytic activity of macrophages by beclomethasone, which did not affect the microbicidal capacity of these cells. The inhibitory effect of beclomethasone on phagocytosis, which most likely results from Gr interfering with the transcription of genes required for phagocytosis, results in a higher percentage of extracellular bacteria, which eventually leads to an exacerbation of the Mm infection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Zebrafish Lines and Maintenance

Zebrafish were maintained and handled according to the guidelines from the Zebrafish Model Organism Database (zfin.org) and in compliance with the directives of the local animal welfare body of Leiden University. They were exposed to a 14 hours light and 10 hours dark cycle to maintain circadian rhythmicity. Fertilization was performed by natural spawning at the beginning of the light period. Eggs were collected and raised at 28°C in egg water (60 µg/ml Instant Ocean sea salts and 0.0025% methylene blue). The following fish lines were used: wild type strain AB/TL, and the transgenic lines $Tg(mpeg1: mCherry-F^{umsF001})$ (49) and $Tg(mpeg1:eGFP^{gl22})$ (50).

Bacterial Culture and Infection Through Intravenous Injections

Bacteria used for this study were *Mycobacterium marinum*, strain M, constitutively fluorescently labelled with Wasabi or mCrimson (51, 52), *Mm* mutant Δerp labelled with Wasabi (53), *Salmonella enterica serovar* Typhimurium (S. Typhimurium) wild type (wt) strain SL1344 labelled with mCherry (54, 55), and a reactive oxygen species (ROS) biosensor S. Typhimurium strain (*SL1344 sifBp::mCherry/pkatGp-gfpOVA*) (54, 56). The Mm and S. Typhimurium strains were cultured at 28°C and 37°C respectively and the bacterial suspensions were prepared with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) with 2% (w/v) polyvinylpyrrolidone-40 (PVP40, Sigma-Aldrich), as previously described (57). The suspension of $Mm \ \Delta erp$ -Wasabi was prepared directly from -80°C frozen aliquots.

After anesthesia with 0.02% aminobenzoic acid ethyl ester (tricaine, Sigma-Aldrich), 28 hours post fertilization (hpf) embryos were injected with Mm or S. Typhimurium into the blood island (or hindbrain if specified) under a Leica M165C stereomicroscope, as previously described (57). The injection dose was 200 CFU for Mm and 50 CFU for S. Typhimurium, except for the experiments to assess activation of the ROS biosensor, where a high bacterial dose of 2000-4000 CFU was used as previously described (56).

Chemical Treatments and Bacterial Burden Quantification

The embryos were treated with 25 μ M (or different if specified) beclomethasone (Sigma-Aldrich) or vehicle (0.05% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)) in egg water from 2 hours before injection to the end of an experiment. RU-486 (Sigma-Aldrich) was administered at a concentration of 5 μ M (0.02% DMSO), and cycloheximide (Sigma-Aldrich) at 100 μ g/ml (0.04% DMSO). If the treatment lasted longer than 1 day, the medium was refreshed every day.

For bacterial burden quantification, the embryos from the vehicle- and beclomethasone-treated groups were imaged alive using a Leica M205FA fluorescence stereomicroscope equipped with a Leica DFC 345FX camera (Leica Microsystems). The images were analyzed using custom-designed pixel quantification software (previously described by Benard et al. (58), and Image J (plugin 'Analyze Particles').

Hindbrain Infection and Analysis of Dissemination

To assess the dissemination efficiency, the embryos were injected with 50 CFU *Mm* into the hindbrain at 28 hpf. At 2 dpi, the embryos were imaged with a Leica M205FA fluorescence stereomicroscope equipped with a Leica DFC 345FX camera. The embryos were classified into two categories: with or without disseminated infection. An embryo was considered without disseminated infection if all the bacteria were still contained in the hindbrain ventricle and considered with dissemination if bacteria were present in any other part of the embryo.

Analysis of Microbicidal Activity

After infection at 28 hpf with $Mm \Delta erp$ -Wasabi, Tg(mpeg1: mCherry-F) embryos were fixed at 44 hpi with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA, Sigma-Aldrich) and imaged using a Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope with 40X objective (NA 1.3). All macrophages that contained $Mm \Delta erp$ -Wasabi in the tail region were analyzed. The level of infection inside macrophages was classified into two categories based on the number of bacteria: 1-10 bacteria or >10 bacteria, following established protocols (59, 60). To quantify the bacterial burden of Mm

 Δerp infected embryos, the fluorescence intensity of the Wasabi signal was measured using image J.

Analysis of Phagocytic Activity

To study the dynamics of bacterial phagocytosis during the early stage of infection, *Tg(mpeg1:mCherry-F)* or *Tg(mpeg1:eGFP)* embryos were intravenously infected at 28 hpf with *Mm*-Wasabi or *S*. Typhimurium-mCherry. At 5, 15 and 25 min after infection the embryos were fixed with 4% PFA, so they could later be imaged using a Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope with 20X objective (NA 0.75). The yolk sac area was selected as the quantification area (**Figure 3A**). The number of fluorescently labelled *Mm* or *S*. Typhimurium in this area, and those present inside a macrophage, were counted in a manual and blinded way.

TUNEL Assay

After infection at 28 hpf, *Tg(mpeg1:mCherry-F)* embryos were fixed with 4% PFA at 48 hpi and stained using terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling (TUNEL) with the In Situ Cell Death Detection Kit, TMR red (Sigma-Aldrich), as previously described by Zhang et al. (2019). For this TUNEL staining, the embryos were first dehydrated and then rehydrated gradually with methanol in PBS, and permeabilized with 10 µg/ml Proteinase K (Roche). The embryos were subsequently fixed with 4% PFA for another 20 min and stained with reagent mixture overnight at 37°C. After the reaction was stopped by washing with PBS containing 0.05% Tween-20 (PBST), the caudal hematopoietic tissue (CHT) region of the embryos was imaged using a Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope with 40X objective (NA 1.3). The total number of fluorescently labelled Mm clusters and the number of these clusters overlapping with TUNEL staining were counted in a manual and blinded way.

Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) of Macrophages

Macrophages were sorted from Tg(mpeg1:mCherry-F) embryos as previously described (61, 62). Dissociation was performed with 150-200 embryos for each sample after 2 hours beclomethasone or vehicle treatment (started at 28 hpf) using Liberase TL (Roche) and stopped by adding Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) to a final concentration of 10%. Isolated cells were resuspended in Dulbecco's PBS (DPBS), and filtered through a 40 µm cell strainer. Actinomycin D (Sigma-Aldrich) was added (final concentration of 1 µg/ml) to each step to inhibit transcription. Macrophages were sorted based on their red fluorescent signal using a FACSAria III cell sorter (BD Biosciences). The sorted cells were collected in QIAzol lysis reagent (Qiagen) for RNA isolation.

RNA Isolation, cDNA synthesis and Quantitative PCR (qPCR) Analysis

RNA isolation from FACS-sorted cells was performed using the miRNeasy mini kit (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Extracted total RNA was reverse-transcribed using the iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). QPCR was performed on a MyiQ Single-Color Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-

Rad) using iTaqTM Universal SYBR[®] Green Supermix (Bio-Rad). The sequences of the primers used are provided in **Supplementary Table 1**. Cycling conditions were pre-denaturation for 3 min at 95° C, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation for 15 s at 95°C, annealing for 30 s at 60°C, and elongation for 30 s at 72°C. Fluorescent signals were measured at the end of each cycle. Cycle threshold values (Ct values, i.e. the cycle numbers at which a threshold value of the fluorescence intensity was reached) were determined for each sample. To determine the gene regulation due to beclomethasone treatment in each experiment, the average Ct value of the beclomethasone treated samples was subtracted from the average Ct value of the vehicle-treated samples, and the fold change of gene expression was calculated, which was subsequently adjusted to the expression levels of a reference gene (*peptidylprolyl isomerase Ab* (*ppiab*)).

Analysis of ROS Production

Embryos were infected at 28 hpf with a ROS biosensor S. Typhimurium strain (*SL1344 sifBp::mCherry/pkatGp-gfpOVA*) which constitutively expresses mCherry, while the expression of an unstable GFP variant (GFP-OVA) is under the control of an OxyR-activated promoter, which is activated upon exposure to ROS from the host (54). Embryos were imaged using a Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope with 40X objective (NA 1.3) at 4 hpi. An area in the CHT region, close to the site of injection, was selected for analysis. The fluorescence intensity of the GFP signal in this area, which represents ROS production, and the intensity of the mCherry signal from *S*. Typhimurium were quantified, and their ratio was calculated.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test (**Figure 1A**) or two-way ANOVA with Tukey's *post hoc* test (**Figures 1B** and **2A–C**) or two-tailed t-test (**Figures 2D**, **4–6** and **7B**) or using R Statistical Software by fitting data to a beta inflated regression (from 'gamlss' package) (63) with Tukey's *post hoc* test (**Figures 3** and **7A**).

RESULTS

Beclomethasone Increases Mycobacterial Infection Through Glucocorticoid Receptor (Gr) Activation

To study the effect of GC treatment on *Mm* infection in zebrafish, we pretreated zebrafish embryos with beclomethasone and infected them intravenously with fluorescently labelled *Mm*. At 4 days post infection (dpi), the bacterial burden was assessed by quantification of pixel intensities of fluorescence microscopy images. We found that the bacterial burden increased by 2.3 fold when embryos were treated with 25 μ M beclomethasone compared with the vehicle-treated group (**Figures 1A, C**). Beclomethasone treatment at lower concentrations of 0.04, 0.2, 1 and 5 μ M did not affect the bacterial burden. Therefore, a concentration of 25 μ M beclomethasone was used in subsequent experiments. We have previously shown that this concentration



FIGURE 1 | Effect of beclomethasone on *Mm* infection burden in zebrafish. **(A)** Bacterial burden of zebrafish larvae at four days after intravenous injection (at 28 hpf) of *Mm* and treatment with vehicle or different concentrations of beclomethasone (beclo), started at 2 h before infection. Statistical analysis by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test revealed that the bacterial burden was significantly increased in the group treated with 25 μ M beclomethasone, compared to the burden of the vehicle-treated group. **(B)** Effect of the GR antagonist RU-486 on the beclomethasone-induced increase of the bacterial burden at 4 dpi. The bacterial burden was significantly increased by beclomethasone (25 μ M) treatment and this increase was abolished in the presence of RU-486. Statistical analysis was performed by two-way ANOVA with Tukey's *post hoc* test. In panels **(A, B)**, each data point represents a single larva and the means \pm s.e.m. of data accumulated from three independent experiments are shown in red. Statistical significance is indicated by: ns, non-significant; *P<0.05; ***P<0.001; ****P<0.001. **(C, D)** Representative fluorescence microscopy images of *Mm*-infected larvae at 4 days post infection (dpi), representing experimental groups presented in panels **(A, B)** Bacteria are shown in green. Scale bar = 200 μ m.

effectively reduces wound-induced neutrophil migration in zebrafish as well (48).

To demonstrate that the beclomethasone-induced increase in bacterial burden was not due to a general toxicity of beclomethasone but mediated specifically by the Gr, we used the GR antagonist RU-486. The results of these experiments showed that the beclomethasone-induced increase in bacterial burden at 4 dpi was abolished when co-treatment with RU-486 was applied (**Figures 1B, D**), which indicates that the effect of beclomethasone requires activation of Gr. No significant difference was observed when the RU-486-treated larvae were compared to the vehicle-treated group. In conclusion, beclomethasone increases the level of *Mm* infection in zebrafish larvae and this effect is mediated by Gr.

Beclomethasone Treatment Leads to a Higher Infection and Dissemination Level

Subsequently, we analyzed the effect of beclomethasone on *Mm* infection in more detail. The total bacterial burden (**Figure 2A**), the number of bacterial clusters per individual (**Figure 2B**) and the average size of the bacterial clusters (**Figure 2C**) were quantified at 1, 2, 3 and 4 dpi. The results showed that the difference in bacterial burden between the beclomethasone-treated group and the vehicle group was not significant at 1-3 dpi, but that a significant difference was observed at 4 dpi (6186.1 \pm 626.5 *vs* 2870.5 \pm 235.0). However, a significant increase in the number of bacterial clusters in the beclomethasone-treated group was already detected at 3 dpi (28.3 \pm 1.9 vs 18.1 \pm 1.5 in the vehicle group) which was sustained at 4 dpi (64.2 \pm 3.5 *vs* 35.4 \pm 2.6). The size of the bacterial clusters at 4 dpi



was also increased in the beclomethasone-treated group compared to the cluster size in the vehicle-treated group (741.6 \pm 58.3 vs 498.3 \pm 45.7). The increase in the number of bacterial clusters indicates an increased dissemination of the infection due to beclomethasone treatment. We confirmed this effect of beclomethasone on bacterial dissemination using hindbrain infection (**Figures 2D, E**). Following *Mm* injection into the hindbrain ventricle, 66.1 \pm 2.0% of embryos in the vehicle-treated group showed disseminated infection in tissues of the head and tail at 24 hours post infection (hpi), while a significantly higher number (76.4 \pm 2.6%) showed this dissemination in the beclomethasone-treated group.

Beclomethasone Activation of Gr Inhibits Macrophage Phagocytic Activity

Since previous studies showed that increased Mm infection could be related to decreased phagocytic activity of macrophages in zebrafish (64), we studied the effect of beclomethasone on phagocytosis. We used the Tg(mpeg1:mCherry-F) line in which macrophages are fluorescently labeled, and assessed phagocytic activity of macrophages by determining the percentage of Mm that were internalized by macrophages in the yolk sac area within 5-25 min after infection based on previous analysis of the kinetics of this response (64) (Figures 3A-C). The bacteria are intravenously injected at 28 hpf, and at this developmental stage the primitive macrophages of the zebrafish embryos are primarily localized in the blood circulation (65). Phagocytosis of the injected bacteria is therefore independent of tissue migration of macrophages in this experiment. In the vehicle-treated group, the percentage of phagocytosed Mm was $17.4 \pm 3.5\%$ at 5 minutes post infection (mpi) and gradually increased to 41.9 \pm 4.9% and 52.8 \pm 5.2% at 15 and 25 mpi respectively. At each of these time points, a lower percentage of Mm were phagocytosed in the beclomethasone-treated group $(4.6 \pm 1.6\%)$ at 5 mpi, 25.7 \pm 4.7% at 15 mpi and 34.0 \pm 5.2% at 25 mpi). In addition, we studied the involvement of Gr in the beclomethasone-induced inhibition of phagocytosis at 5 mpi,



FIGURE 3 | Effect of beclomethasone on phagocytic activity of macrophages and its dependency on Gr and *de novo* protein synthesis. **(A)** Schematic drawing of a zebrafish embryos at 28 hpf indicating the areas of imaging (purple dashed box, used for representative images) and quantification (green dashed circle) of *Mm* phagocytosis. **(B)** Representative confocal microscopy images of embryos of the *Tg(mpeg1:mCherry-F)* line injected with Mm at 28 hpf. Images were taken of infected embryos that were vehicle- or beclomethasone-treated at 5 minutes post infection (mpi). Macrophages are shown in magenta, bacteria in green. Scale bar = 100 μ m. Arrowheads indicate bacterial clusters phagocytosed by macrophages. **(C)** Percentages of phagocytosed *Mm* clusters (of total number of *Mm* clusters) at 5, 15 and 25 mpi. Statistical analysis, performed by fitting data to a beta inflated regression with Tukey's *post hoc* test, showed that beclomethasone decreased this percentage at all three time points. **(D)** Effects of RU-486 or cycloheximide on the beclomethasone-inhibited phagocytic activity. Embryos were treated with vehicle or beclomethasone and received either a vehicle, RU-486 or cycloheximide co-treatment two hours before injection of *Mm* at 28 hpf, and phagocytic activity was determined at 5 mpi. The significant inhibitory effect of beclomethasone on phagocytosis was not observed in the presence of RU-486. Cycloheximide, just like beclomethasone, significantly inhibited the phagocytic activity, and the combined cycloheximide/beclomethasone treatment showed the same level of inhibition. Statistical analysis was performed by fitting data to a beta inflated regression with Tukey's *post hoc* test. In panels **(C, D)**, each data point represents a single embryo and the means \pm s.e.m. of data accumulated from three independent experiments are shown in red. Statistical significance is indicated by: ns, non-significant; *P<0.05; **P<0.01.

by co-treatment with the GR antagonist RU-486 (**Figure 3D**). We found that the decreased phagocytic activity that was observed upon beclomethasone treatment was abolished when larvae were co-treated with RU-486, indicating that the inhibition of phagocytosis by beclomethasone is mediated by Gr.

Gr generally acts as a transcription factor, modulating the transcription rate of a wide variety of genes. To study whether phagocytosis could be modulated by altering the process of protein synthesis, we blocked *de novo* protein synthesis by treatment with cycloheximide (**Figure 3D**). We observed that the phagocytic activity of macrophages at 5 mpi was decreased by the cycloheximide treatment $(3.4 \pm 1.0\% \text{ vs } 11.1 \pm 1.8\% \text{ in the vehicle group})$. These data demonstrate that phagocytosis

depends on *de novo* protein synthesis, and indicate that repression of transcription of specific genes may inhibit the phagocytic activity of macrophages.

Beclomethasone Inhibits Phagocytosis-Related Gene Expression in Macrophages

To unravel the molecular mechanisms underlying the beclomethasone-induced inhibition of the phagocytic activity of macrophages, we performed qPCR analysis on FACS-sorted macrophages derived from 28 hpf larvae after 2 h of beclomethasone treatment. To determine the phenotype of the sorted macrophages, the expression of a classic pro-inflammatory gene, *tnfa*, was measured (66, 67). The levels of



FIGURE 4 | Effect of beclomethasone on gene expression levels in FACS-sorted macrophages. At 28 hpf, *Tg(mpeg1:mCherry-F)* embryos were treated with vehicle or beclomethasone for two hours, after which macrophages were isolated by FACS sorting. Gene expression levels were determined in the sorted cells by qPCR for *tnfa* (A), *sparcl1* (B), *uchl1* (C), *ube2v1* (D), *marcksa* (E), *marcksb* (F), *bsg* (G) and *tubb5* (H). Statistical analysis by two-tailed t-test showed that the levels of *tnfa*, *sparcl1*, *uchl1*, *marcksa* and *marcksb* expression were significantly inhibited by beclomethasone treatment. Data shown are the means ± s.e.m. of three or four independent experiments, and markers show averages of individual experiments. Statistical significance is indicated by: ns, non-significant; *P<0.05; ***P<0.001.

tnfa expression were significantly lower after beclomethasone treatment (**Figure 4A**), in agreement with previously reported transcriptome analysis (48). In addition, we measured the expression levels of seven genes, for which a phagocytosis-promoting role has been established: *sparcl1, uchl1, ube2v1, marcksa, marcksb, bsg* and *tubb5* (68–70) (**Figures 4B–H**). The expression levels of four of these genes, *sparcl1, uchl1, marcksa* and *marcksb*, were inhibited by beclomethasone treatment, while the levels of the other three (*ube2v1, bsg* and *tubb5*) were not affected. These data suggest that beclomethasone inhibits the phagocytic activity of macrophages by suppressing the transcription of phagocytosis-related genes in these cells.

Beclomethasone Treatment Results in Fewer Intracellular Bacteria, Limits Infected Cell Death, Without Affecting the Microbicidal Capacity of Macrophages

To further analyze the possible mechanisms underlying the beclomethasone-induced increase in the Mm infection level, we assessed the percentage of bacteria that are present inside and outside macrophages in the caudal hematopoietic tissue (CHT) at 48 hpi using Mm infection in the Tg(mpeg1:eGFP) line. The results showed that beclomethasone treatment resulted in a decreased percentage of intracellular bacteria (23.8 ± 3.0%) compared to the percentage in the vehicle-treated group (36.5 ± 3.6%) (**Figures 5A, C**). This result was in line with the observed decrease in phagocytosis at earlier stages of infection. To determine if the lower percentage of intracellular bacteria correlated with higher macrophage viability, we used terminal

deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling (TUNEL) staining to detect cell death (71). In the beclomethasone-treated group, the percentage of Mm that were colocalized with TUNEL staining (9.4 ± 1.6%) at 48 hpi was significantly lower compared to the percentage of the vehicle group (17.2 ± 2.3%) (**Figures 5B, D**). These data suggest that the observed inhibition of phagocytosis upon beclomethasone treatment causes a decrease in the percentage of intracellular bacteria, which underlies the lower numbers of macrophages undergoing cell death as a result of the Mm infection.

Next, we considered the possibility that beclomethasone, in addition to inhibiting phagocytosis, might affect the microbicidal capacity of macrophages. Therefore, we injected embryos with bacteria from the attenuated Mm Aerp strain. The erp (exported repetitive protein) virulence factor is required for bacteria to survive and replicate inside acidic compartments. These Δerp bacteria are therefore deficient for growth inside macrophages, and assessing their numbers is considered a readout for the clearance capacity of the host, since the initial infection dose is not increased in the absence of bacterial replication (59, 60). No significant difference was observed at 44 hpi for the bacterial burden, the number of Mm clusters, the percentage of bacteriacontaining macrophages that contained only 1-10 bacteria and the percentage of Mm inside macrophage in the tail region between the beclomethasone-treated group and the vehicle-treated group (Figure 6). These findings indicate that beclomethasone treatment does not lead to an altered microbicidal capacity of macrophages. Taken together, our results identify the inhibition of phagocytosis as the primary effect of beclomethasone during mycobacterial



FIGURE 5 | Effect of beclomethasone on intracellular bacterial growth and cell death. Infection was performed in Tg(mpeg1:eGFP) embryos at 28 hpf, a TUNEL assay was performed at 48 hpi, and the CHT region of the embryos was imaged using confocal microscopy. (A) The percentage of Mm clusters that were inside macrophages based on colocalization with the green fluorescent signal from eGFP. Statistical analysis was performed by two-tailed t-test. In the beclomethasone-treated group, the percentage of Mm clusters inside macrophages was significantly lower compared to the vehicle-treated group. (B) The percentage of TUNEL-positive Mm clusters. Statistical analysis by two-tailed t-test showed that the beclomethasone-treated group had a significantly lower percentage of TUNEL+ Mm clusters. In panels (A, B), each data point represents a single embryo and the means \pm s.e.m. of data accumulated from three independent experiments are shown in red. Statistical significance is indicated by: **P<0.01. (C) Representative confocal microscopy images of macrophage phagocytosis. Bacteria are shown in blue and macrophages in red. Arrowheads indicate intracellular bacterial clusters. Scale bar = 100 μ m. (D) Representative confocal microscopy images of cell death (TUNEL+ cells in magenta) and Mm infection (bacteria in blue). Arrowheads indicate bacterial clusters overlapping with TUNEL+ cells. Scale bar = 100 μ m.



FIGURE 6 | Effect of beclomethasone on the bacterial growth of the *Mm* Δerp mutant. The *Mm* Δerp mutant strain was injected intravenously at 28 hpf, and at 44 hpi, the bacterial burden (**A**), the number of *Mm* clusters (**B**), the percentage of macrophages that contained 1-10 or more than 10 bacteria (of all macrophages containing bacteria) (**C**), and the percentage of *Mm* inside macrophages (**D**) were determined. No significant difference was observed between the vehicle- and beclomethasone-treated groups for any of these parameters. Statistical analysis was performed using two-tailed t-tests. Values shown are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments, with each data point representing a single embryo. Statistical significance is indicated by: ns, non-significant. (**E**) Representative confocal microscopy image of *Mm* Δerp bacterial clusters (bacteria in green), indicated are clusters containing 1-10 bacteria and clusters containing more than 10 bacteria. Scale bar = 20 µm. (**F**) Representative images of the tail regions of a vehicle- and a beclomethasone-treated embryo infected with *Mm* Δerp bacteria. Scale bar = 100 µm.

50



FIGURE 7 | Effect of beclomethasone on phagocytosis of *Salmonella* Typhimurium and ROS production. At 28 hpf *Tg(mpeg1:eGFP)* embryos (vehicle- or beclomethasone-treated) were infected with *S*. Typhimurium through intravenous injection. (A) Percentage of phagocytosed *S*. Typhimurium wt at 10, 30 and 60 mpi. Confocal microscopy images were taken of the yolk area (as indicated in **Figure 3A**), and the percentage of bacteria inside macrophages was determined. Statistical analysis, performed by fitting data to a beta-inflated regression with Tukey's *post hoc* test, showed that the phagocytic activity of macrophages was significantly inhibited by beclomethasone treatment at 60 mpi, and not at other time points. (B) Ratio between ROS signal and *S*. Typhimurium signal. Embryos were injected with a ROS biosensor strain. At 4 hpi, confocal microscopy images were taken of the CHT region and the ratio between the ROS-induced fluorescent signal and the signal from a constitutively expressed fluorescent protein in the bacteria was determined. Statistical analysis was performed by two-tailed t-test, indicating no significant difference between the two vehicle- and beclomethasone-treated groups. In panel (**A**, **B**), each data point represents a single embryo and the means ± s.e.m. of data accumulated from three independent experiments are shown in red. Statistical significance is indicated by: ns, non-significant; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001. (C) Representative confocal microscopy images of *S*. Typhimurium wit infected vehicle- and beclomethasone-treated individuals at 60 mpi. Bacteria are shown in magenta, macrophages. Scale bar = 100 µm. (D) Representative confocal microscopy image of a vehicle-treated embryo infected with the *S*. Typhimurium ROS biosensor strain, showing the bacterial signal (magenta) and the ROS biosensor signal (green). Scale bar = 100 µm.

infection of zebrafish, which would exacerbate infection with Mm wt due to increased extracellular bacterial growth in line with previous results (72).

Beclomethasone Inhibits Macrophage Phagocytosis of *Salmonella* Typhimurium and Does Not Affect Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) Production

To study whether the beclomethasone-induced inhibitory effect on macrophage phagocytosis of Mm can be generalized to other bacterial infections, we analyzed the effect of beclomethasone on infection with Salmonella Typhimurium (S. Typhimurium), which is also an intracellular pathogen, but belongs to the gram-negative class. We quantified the percentages of bacteria phagocytosed by macrophages at different time points after infection in the Tg(mpeg1:eGFP) fish line (Figures 7A, C). In the vehicle group, the percentage of phagocytosed S. Typhimurium increased from 5.7 \pm 0.7% at 10 mpi to 9.0 \pm 1.2% at 30 mpi and 17.9 \pm 1.7% at 60 mpi, and these percentages were significantly lower in the beclomethasone-treated group at all time points (3.1 \pm 0.5% at 10 mpi, 6.5 \pm 1.0% at 30 mpi and $10.0 \pm 1.4\%$ at 60 mpi). These data demonstrate that the inhibitory effect of beclomethasone on the phagocytic activity of macrophages is not specific for Mm, but can also be observed for a distantly related Salmonella species.

In order to further investigate the effect of GC treatment on the microbicidal activity of host immune cells, we analyzed the effect of beclomethasone on reactive oxygen species (ROS) production upon *S*. Typhimurium infection. To analyze ROS production, we used a ROS biosensor *S*. Typhimurium strain, which expresses GFP when it encounters ROS (54, 56). At 4 hpi, the ROS-activated fluorescent signals from the bacteria were determined and the ratio between this signal and a signal from mCherry that was constitutively expressed by the bacteria, was calculated for both vehicle- and beclomethasone-treated embryos (**Figures 7B, D**). No significant difference was observed between the two groups, indicating no effect of beclomethasone on the ROS production in immune cells upon a bacterial infection.

In conclusion, beclomethasone inhibits the phagocytosis of both Mycobacteria and Salmonella by macrophages in the zebrafish host, while no evidence for additional effects on microbicidal responses was found in either case.

DISCUSSION

Synthetic GCs are widely prescribed to treat various immunerelated diseases, but their clinical use is limited by the severe side effects evoked by prolonged therapy, including a higher susceptibility to TB (5, 14). In order to gain more insight into the mechanism underlying this GC effect, we used the zebrafish Mm infection model, which mimics human TB, and studied the effect of GC treatment on the development of the infection. We showed that GC treatment increased the level of Mm infection, which was reflected in the overall bacterial burden, the size and number of bacterial clusters and the level of dissemination. Since we found that GC treatment inhibited the phagocytic activity but not the microbicidal capacity of macrophages, we suggest that the GC-induced increase in infection susceptibility is due to the inhibition on phagocytosis. Analysis of the transcription level of phagocytosis-related genes in macrophages suggested that the inhibition of phagocytic activity by GCs is mediated by Gr interfering with phagocytosis-related gene transcription. The lower phagocytic activity of the macrophages probably underlies the decrease in the percentage of intracellular bacteria that we observed, probably resulting in a lower level of cell death due to the Mm infection and exacerbated growth of the extracellular bacterial fraction. Finally, we showed that GC treatment not only limited phagocytosis of mycobacteria, but also of a Salmonella species, which suggests that the decrease in phagocytic activity may also explain the increased susceptibility to other bacterial infections that is commonly observed in patients receiving GC therapy (3-5).

Upon bacterial infections, macrophages are the first responders of the immune system. In humans, Mtb generally infects lungs due to its air transmission properties and in the lungs it is taken up by alveolar macrophages within the first few days. In later stages, Mtb replicates, translocates to secondary loci and aggregates into granulomas with other attracted immune cells (73-75). Consistently, in the zebrafish model, Mm is predominantly phagocytosed by macrophages within 30-60 min after intravenous infection in embryos, leading to initial stages of granuloma formation in the next few days (37, 64). The phagocytosis activity and microbicidal capacity of macrophages have been shown to be important for dealing with Mm infection (64, 72). Interestingly, in our study we found that the microbicidal capacity of macrophages (determined using the $Mm \ \Delta erp$ and the St biosensor strains) was not affected by GC treatment, which suggests that the inhibition of macrophage phagocytosis is a specific effect of GCs targeted at the uptake of pathogens rather than a global suppression of anti-microbial processes in macrophages.

Our study in the zebrafish model provides *in vivo* evidence for GC interference with macrophage phagocytosis. In line with our results, it has previously been shown that GCs decrease the phagocytosis of several *Escherichia coli* strains by human monocyte-derived (THP-1) macrophages and by murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) (76). Similarly to our results, in this study the reduced phagocytosis activity was accompanied by a decreased expression of genes involved in phagosome formation including *MARCKS* and pro-inflammatory genes like *TNF* (76). In earlier studies, decreased macrophage phagocytosis of carbon particles was observed *in vivo*, in GC-treated rats and rheumatoid arthritis patients (77, 78). However, in other studies GC treatment has been shown to enhance the bacterial phagocytosis by macrophages. Upon GC

exposure, increased bacterial phagocytic activity of human monocyte-derived macrophages was observed for *Haemophillus influenzae* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (79), and *Staphylococcus aureus* (80).

It could be argued that the observed effect of beclomethasone on phagocytosis, which looks more like a delay in this process than an inhibition, is unlikely to be solely responsible for the increased bacterial burden that we observed. It must be noted however that for the Mm infection, this burden is a result of a continuous cycle of phagocytosis, bacterial replication, cell death and subsequent phagocytosis [i.e. efferocytosis (81)], in which an effect of beclomethasone on phagocytosis may well accumulate over time. For the infection with the avirulent Δerp bacteria, which are simply phagocytosed and subsequently cleared, such an accumulation of the beclomethasone effect would be absent. In line with this notion, the percentage of $Mm \Delta erp$ inside macrophages was not different between the vehicle- and the beclomethasone-treated group in our study.

Alternatively, beclomethasone may alter additional processes during the course of the infection contributing to the increased bacterial burden. One such process that can be affected by GC treatment is the migration of macrophages towards a site of infection, and such an effect would in many experimental designs be difficult to separate from effects on phagocytosis. However, in our experiments we have infected the embryos at 28 hpf by intravenous injection of bacteria, upon which all bacteria are rapidly phagocytozed by monocytes/macrophages in the bloodstream (37, 64). Migration does not play a role in this process, because the primitive macrophages of the embryo are almost all located in the circulation at this stage (65). In addition, we have previously shown that beclomethasone does not affect migration of macrophages in a wounding-induced inflammation model (48), which makes an effect of GCs on migration unlikely, although we cannot exclude a possible effect of GCs on macrophage migration in the context of an infection.

Macrophages are often divided into two functional phenotypes: a classically activated phenotype (often referred to as M1) which contributes to the anti-microbial and inflammatory response, and an alternatively activated phenotype (often referred to as M2), which can be subdivided in several different phenotypes which have been shown to be involved in the resolution of inflammation and in wound healing (67, 82). It has been well established that GCs inhibit the differentiation towards the classically activated M1 phenotype (83-86), and we have recently demonstrated in zebrafish larvae that GC treatment inhibits the differentiation of macrophages towards this pro-inflammatory phenotype upon wounding of the tail fin (48). Increased expression of *tnfa* and phagocytic activity are commonly recognized as characteristics of M1-differentiated macrophages, so the GC-induced decreases in tnfa expression and phagocytosis that we have observed in the present study are well in line with the inhibitory effect of GCs on the differentiation of macrophages towards an M1 phenotype.

In addition, GCs have been demonstrated to enhance the differentiation of macrophages towards a specific, alternatively activated, anti-inflammatory phenotype, which is considered to

play an important role in GCs actively promoting the resolution of inflammation (84, 87). Interestingly, this phenotype shows an enhancement of phagocytic activity, but in the GC-induced differentiation status this activity is nonphlogistic and directed at apoptotic leukocytes, thereby contributing to the resolution of the inflammation. The GC-enhanced phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils has been observed in differentiated THP-1 macrophages, through stimulation of a protein S/Mer tyrosine kinase dependent pathway (88–90), and in mouse alveolar macrophages (91).

Our study revealed an inhibitory effect of GCs on four phagocytosis-related genes in FACS-sorted macrophages: sparcl-1, uchl-1, marcksa and marcksb. Among those genes, the human and mouse homologs of sparcl-1 and uchl-1 were reported to have a phagocytosis-promoting activity (68, 70). In human THP-1-derived macrophages, MARCKS plays a role in cytoskeletal remodeling and phagosome formation (69). In these cells, the MARCKS gene expression was found to be inhibited by dexamethasone treatment, which indicates that GCs induce this effect by activating GRs in macrophages (76). According to the Transcription Factor Targets Dataset generated by Encyclopedia of DNA Elements (ENCODE) project (92), the human genes SPARCL1, UCHL1, UCHL5 and MARCKS contain binding sites for GR, as determined by Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) sequencing analysis. Together with our observation that phagocytosis is dependent on *de novo* protein synthesis, these results support the idea that GC treatment inhibits the phagocytosis activity of macrophages through GRs directly interfering with transcription of genes that stimulate the phagocytic activity of these cells.

After internalization by macrophages, Mm are exposed to a bactericidal environment (93). Some bacteria may be killed by macrophages, while others may proliferate mediated by virulence determinants like Erp and RD1 (59, 93, 94). When the macrophages are incapable of containing the bacteria, they undergo cell death leading to recruitment of more macrophages (38). In our study, GC treatment led to a lower percentage of intracellular Mm at later stages, consistent with the decreased phagocytosis at early time points, and less Mm-related cell death, probably as a result of the decreased number on intracellular bacteria. The GC treatment may also directly affect cell death, since in a recent study it was demonstrated that GCs inhibit necrosis of various Mtb infected mouse and human cell types by activating MKP-1, which suppresses a pathway involving p38 MAPK activation ultimately leading to a loss of mitochondrial integrity (95). The increased numbers of extracellular bacteria could traverse endothelial barriers directly and grow more rapidly in a less restrictive environment outside macrophages, which may explain our observation of a higher bacterial burden induced by GC treatment.

Based on our results, it may seem surprising that adjunctive GC therapy is often beneficial to TB patients, and even increases survival among tuberculous meningitis and pericarditis patients (24–26). However, many of these observed beneficial effects are either minor or under debate. This may be due to GC therapy benefiting only a subset of patients whose disease has mainly progressed as a result of an excessive inflammatory response

(which can be controlled with GC therapy), rather than a failed reaction to the infection, which was demonstrated for GC-treated TB meningitis patients with specific polymorphisms in the *LTA4H* gene (32). We therefore suggest that in a subset of patients at later stages of infection, the anti-inflammatory effects of a GC treatment may outweigh a possible inhibitory effect on the phagocytic activity of the macrophages. Further research using the zebrafish model may shed light on a possible interplay between these effects, since the *Mm* infection model has been shown to have excellent translational value for human TB, including the effects of GC treatment (32, 40).

In conclusion, our *in vivo* study on the effect of GC treatment in the zebrafish *Mm* infection model shows that GCs, through activation of Gr, inhibit the phagocytic activity of macrophages, and results in more extracellular bacterial growth and a higher infection level. These results may explain why clinically prolonged GC treatment is associated with an increased risk of TB and other bacterial infections.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Upon request, the raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: AM and MS. Methodology: YX, JX, AM, and MS. Validation: YX and MS. Formal analysis: YX and JX. Investigation: YX and JX. Resources: MS. Data curation: YX and MS. Writing - original draft: YX and MS. Writing - review and editing: YX, JX, AM, and MS. Supervision: AM and MS. Project administration: MS. Funding acquisition: YX. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

YX and JX were funded by a grant from the China Scholarship Council (CSC).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Frida Sommer for her advice on the $Mm \Delta erp$ assays, Ralf Boland, Salomé Munoz Sanchez, Dr. Michiel van der Vaart and Aleksandra Fesliyska for their assistance with bacterial infections, Dr. Rui Zhang and Dr. Monica Varela Alvarez for their suggestions concerning TUNEL assays, Gerda Lamers for assistance with the microscopic imaging, Sander van der Kooij and Bart Grijmans for the help with the analysis of the ROS biosensor experiment, and Patrick van Hage for his help with the statistical analysis. We thank the fish facility team, in particular Ulrike Nehrdich, Ruth van Koppen, Karen Bosma and Guus van der Velden for zebrafish maintenance. We thank Dr. Georges Lutfalla and Dr. Graham Lieschke for providing transgenic zebrafish lines, Lalita Ramakrishnan for Mycobacterium strains and Dirk Bumann for the Salmonella strains.

REFERENCES

- Buckley L, Humphrey MB. Glucocorticoid-Induced Osteoporosis. N Engl J Med (2018) 379(26):2547–56. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1800214
- Suh S, Park MK. Glucocorticoid-Induced Diabetes Mellitus: An Important But Overlooked Problem. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* (2017) 32(2):180–9. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2017.32.2.180
- Dixon W, Kezouh A, Bernatsky S, Suissa S. The Influence of Systemic Glucocorticoid Therapy Upon the Risk of non-Serious Infection in Older Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Nested Case–Control Study. Ann Rheumatic Dis (2011) 70(6):956–60. doi: 10.1136/ard.2010.144741
- Fardet L, Petersen I, Nazareth I. Common Infections in Patients Prescribed Systemic Glucocorticoids in Primary Care: A Population-Based Cohort Study. *PloS Med* (2016) 13(5):e1002024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002024
- Caplan A, Fett N, Rosenbach M, Werth VP, Micheletti RG. Prevention and Management of Glucocorticoid-Induced Side Effects: A Comprehensive Review: A Review of Glucocorticoid Pharmacology and Bone Health. J Am Acad Dermatol (2017) 76(1):1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2016.02.1240
- 6. World Health Organization. *Global Tuberculosis Report 2019*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2019).
- Houben RM, Dodd PJ. The Global Burden of Latent Tuberculosis Infection: A Re-Estimation Using Mathematical Modelling. *PloS Med* (2016) 13(10): e1002152. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002152
- Furin J, Cox H, Pai M. Tuberculosis. Lancet (2019) 393(10181):1642–56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30308-3
- 9. Lin PL, Flynn JL. Understanding Latent Tuberculosis: A Moving Target. J Immunol (2010) 185(1):15–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903856
- Drain PK, Bajema KL, Dowdy D, Dheda K, Naidoo K, Schumacher SG, et al. Incipient and Subclinical Tuberculosis: A Clinical Review of Early Stages and Progression of Infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev* (2018) 31(1):e00021–18. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00021-18
- Parikka M, Hammaren MM, Harjula SK, Halfpenny NJ, Oksanen KE, Lahtinen MJ, et al. Mycobacterium Marinum Causes a Latent Infection That can be Reactivated by Gamma Irradiation in Adult Zebrafish. *PloS Pathog* (2012) 8(9):e1002944. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002944
- Kulchavenya E. Extrapulmonary Tuberculosis: Are Statistical Reports Accurate? Ther Adv Infect Dis (2014) 2(2):61-70. doi: 10.1177/ 2049936114528173
- Hawn TR, Matheson AI, Maley SN, Vandal O. Host-Directed Therapeutics for Tuberculosis: can We Harness the Host? *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* (2013) 77 (4):608–27. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00032-13
- Jick SS, Lieberman ES, Rahman MU, Choi HK. Glucocorticoid Use, Other Associated Factors, and the Risk of Tuberculosis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2006) 55 (1):19–26. doi: 10.1002/art.21705
- Kim H, Yoo C, Baek H, Lee EB, Ahn C, Han J, et al. Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection in a Corticosteroid-Treated Rheumatic Disease Patient Population. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (1998) 16(1):9–13. doi: 10.1016/ s0248-8663(98)80720-0
- Bovornkitti S, Kangsadal P, Sathirapat P, Oonsombatti P. Reversion and Reconversion Rate of Tuberculin Skin Reactions in Correlation With the Use of Prednisone. Dis Chest (1960) 38(1):51–5. doi: 10.1378/chest.38.1.51
- Schatz M, Patterson R, Kloner R, Falk J. The Prevalence of Tuberculosis and Positive Tuberculin Skin Tests in a Steroid-Treated Asthmatic Population. *Ann Intern Med* (1976) 84(3):261–5. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-84-3-261
- Lerner BH. Can Stress Cause Disease? Revisiting the Tuberculosis Research of Thomas Holmes, 1949-1961. Ann Intern Med (1996) 124(7):673–80. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-124-7-199604010-00008
- Kadhiravan T, Deepanjali S. Role of Corticosteroids in the Treatment of Tuberculosis: An Evidence-Based Update. *Indian J Chest Dis Allied Sci* (2010) 52(3):153–8.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 618569/full#supplementary-material

- Alzeer AH, FitzGerald JM. Corticosteroids and Tuberculosis: Risks and Use as Adjunct Therapy. *Tuber Lung Dis* (1993) 74(1):6–11. doi: 10.1016/0962-8479 (93)90060-B
- Evans DJ. The Use of Adjunctive Corticosteroids in the Treatment of Pericardial, Pleural and Meningeal Tuberculosis: Do They Improve Outcome? *Respir Med* (2008) 102(6):793–800. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2008.01.018
- Singh S, Tiwari K. Use of Corticosteroids in Tuberculosis. J Assoc Chest Physicians (2017) 5(2):70-5. doi: 10.4103/jacp.jacp_40_16
- Torok ME, Nguyen DB, Tran TH, Nguyen TB, Thwaites GE, Hoang TQ, et al. Dexamethasone and Long-Term Outcome of Tuberculous Meningitis in Vietnamese Adults and Adolescents. *PloS One* (2011) 6(12):e27821. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027821
- 24. Strang JI, Nunn AJ, Johnson DA, Casbard A, Gibson DG, Girling DJ. Management of Tuberculous Constrictive Pericarditis and Tuberculous Pericardial Effusion in Transkei: Results At 10 Years Follow-Up. Qjm (2004) 97(8):525–35. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hch086
- Thwaites GE, Nguyen DB, Nguyen HD, Hoang TQ, Do TT, Nguyen TC, et al. Dexamethasone for the Treatment of Tuberculous Meningitis in Adolescents and Adults. N Engl J Med (2004) 351(17):1741–51. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa040573
- Wiysonge CS, Ntsekhe M, Thabane L, Volmink J, Majombozi D, Gumedze F, et al. Interventions for Treating Tuberculous Pericarditis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2017) 9(9):Cd000526. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000526.pub2
- Smego RA, Ahmed N. A Systematic Review of the Adjunctive Use of Systemic Corticosteroids for Pulmonary Tuberculosis. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* (2003) 7 (3):208–13.
- Muthuswamy P, Hu T-C, Carasso B, Antonio M, Dandamudi N. Prednisone as Adjunctive Therapy in the Management of Pulmonary Tuberculosis: Report of 12 Cases and Review of the Literature. *Chest* (1995) 107(6):1621– 30. doi: 10.1378/chest.107.6.1621
- Ryan H, Yoo J, Darsini P. Corticosteroids for Tuberculous Pleurisy. Cochrane Database Systematic Rev (2017) 3:Cd001876. doi: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD001876.pub3
- Prasad K, Singh MB, Ryan H. Corticosteroids for Managing Tuberculous Meningitis. Cochrane Database Systematic Rev (2016) 4:Cd002244. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002244.pub4
- Critchley JA, Orton LC, Pearson F. Adjunctive Steroid Therapy for Managing Pulmonary Tuberculosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2014) 11):Cd011370. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011370
- Tobin DM, Roca FJ, Oh SF, McFarland R, Vickery TW, Ray JP, et al. Host Genotype-Specific Therapies can Optimize the Inflammatory Response to Mycobacterial Infections. *Cell* (2012) 148(3):434–46. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2011.12.023
- Tobin DM, Ramakrishnan L. Comparative Pathogenesis of Mycobacterium Marinum and Mycobacterium Tuberculosis. *Cell Microbiol* (2008) 10 (5):1027–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01133.x
- Meijer AH. Protection and Pathology in TB: Learning From the Zebrafish Model. Semin Immunopathol (2016) 38(2):261–73. doi: 10.1007/s00281-015-0522-4
- Ramakrishnan L. The Zebrafish Guide to Tuberculosis Immunity and Treatment. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol (2013) 78:179–92. doi: 10.1101/sqb.2013.78.023283
- Cronan MR, Tobin DM. Fit for Consumption: Zebrafish as a Model for Tuberculosis. *Dis Models Mech* (2014) 7(7):777–84. doi: 10.1242/dmm.016089
- Davis JM, Clay H, Lewis JL, Ghori N, Herbomel P, Ramakrishnan L. Real-Time Visualization of Mycobacterium-Macrophage Interactions Leading to Initiation of Granuloma Formation in Zebrafish Embryos. *Immunity* (2002) 17(6):693–702. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00475-2
- Davis JM, Ramakrishnan L. The Role of the Granuloma in Expansion and Dissemination of Early Tuberculous Infection. *Cell* (2009) 136(1):37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.014

- van Leeuwen LM, van der Sar AM, Bitter W. Animal Models of Tuberculosis: Zebrafish. Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Med (2015) 5(3):a018580. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a018580
- Tobin DM, Vary JCJr, Ray JP, Walsh GS, Dunstan SJ, Bang ND, et al. The lta4h Locus Modulates Susceptibility to Mycobacterial Infection in Zebrafish and Humans. *Cell* (2010) 140(5):717–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.013
- Stolte EH, van Kemenade BLV, Savelkoul HF, Flik G. Evolution of Glucocorticoid Receptors With Different Glucocorticoid Sensitivity. J Endocrinol (2006) 190(1):17–28. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.06703
- Schaaf M, Chatzopoulou A, Spaink H. The Zebrafish as a Model System for Glucocorticoid Receptor Research. Comp Biochem Physiol Part A: Mol Integr Physiol (2009) 153(1):75–82. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.12.014
- Alsop D, Vijayan MM. Development of the Corticosteroid Stress Axis and Receptor Expression in Zebrafish. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2008) 294(3):R711–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00671.2007
- 44. Chatzopoulou A, Roy U, Meijer AH, Alia A, Spaink HP, Schaaf MJ. Transcriptional and Metabolic Effects of Glucocorticoid Receptor α and β Signaling in Zebrafish. *Endocrinology* (2015) 156(5):1757–69. doi: 10.1210/en.2014-1941
- Chatzopoulou A, Heijmans JP, Burgerhout E, Oskam N, Spaink HP, Meijer AH, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Attenuation of the Inflammatory Response in Zebrafish. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157(7):2772–84. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-2050
- Faught E, Vijayan MM. Loss of the Glucocorticoid Receptor in Zebrafish Improves Muscle Glucose Availability and Increases Growth. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2019) 316(6):E1093–e1104. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00045.2019
- Facchinello N, Skobo T, Meneghetti G, Colletti E, Dinarello A, Tiso N, et al. nr3c1 Null Mutant Zebrafish are Viable and Reveal DNA-bindingindependent Activities of the Glucocorticoid Receptor. Sci Rep (2017) 7 (1):1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04535-6
- Xie Y, Tolmeijer S, Oskam JM, Tonkens T, Meijer AH, Schaaf MJ. Glucocorticoids Inhibit Macrophage Differentiation Towards a Pro-Inflammatory Phenotype Upon Wounding Without Affecting Their Migration. *Dis Models Mech* (2019) 12(5):dmm037887. doi: 10.1242/ dmm.037887
- Bernut A, Herrmann J-L, Kissa K, Dubremetz J-F, Gaillard J-L, Lutfalla G, et al. Mycobacterium Abscessus Cording Prevents Phagocytosis and Promotes Abscess Formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2014) 111(10):E943–52. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1321390111
- Ellett F, Pase L, Hayman JW, Andrianopoulos A, Lieschke GJ. Mpeg1 Promoter Transgenes Direct Macrophage-Lineage Expression in Zebrafish. *Blood* (2011) 117(4):e49–56. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-10-314120
- Takaki K, Davis JM, Winglee K, Ramakrishnan L. Evaluation of the Pathogenesis and Treatment of Mycobacterium Marinum Infection in Zebrafish. *Nat Protoc* (2013) 8(6):1114. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2013.068
- Ramakrishnan L, Falkow S. Mycobacterium Marinum Persists in Cultured Mammalian Cells in a Temperature-Restricted Fashion. *Infect Immun* (1994) 62(8):3222–9. doi: 10.1128/IAI.62.8.3222-3229.1994
- Cosma CL, Klein K, Kim R, Beery D, Ramakrishnan L. Mycobacterium Marinum Erp is a Virulence Determinant Required for Cell Wall Integrity and Intracellular Survival. *Infect Immun* (2006) 74(6):3125–33. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.02061-05
- Burton NA, Schürmann N, Casse O, Steeb AK, Claudi B, Zankl J, et al. Disparate Impact of Oxidative Host Defenses Determines the Fate of Salmonella During Systemic Infection in Mice. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 15 (1):72–83. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.12.006
- Hoiseth SK, Stocker B. Aromatic-Dependent Salmonella Typhimurium are non-Virulent and Effective as Live Vaccines. *Nature* (1981) 291(5812):238–9. doi: 10.1038/291238a0
- Masud S, Prajsnar TK, Torraca V, Lamers GEM, Benning M, Van Der Vaart M, et al. Macrophages Target Salmonella by Lc3-associated Phagocytosis in a Systemic Infection Model. *Autophagy* (2019) 15(5):796–812. doi: 10.1080/ 15548627.2019.1569297
- Benard EL, van der Sar AM, Ellett F, Lieschke GJ, Spaink HP, Meijer AH. Infection of Zebrafish Embryos With Intracellular Bacterial Pathogens. J Vis Exp (2012) 61:e3781. doi: 10.3791/3781
- Benard EL, Racz PI, Rougeot J, Nezhinsky AE, Verbeek FJ, Spaink HP, et al. Macrophage-expressed performs mpeg1 and mpeg1.2 have an anti-bacterial

function in zebrafish. J Innate Immun (2015) 7(2):136-52. doi: 10.1159/000366103

- Clay H, Volkman HE, Ramakrishnan L. Tumor Necrosis Factor Signaling Mediates Resistance to Mycobacteria by Inhibiting Bacterial Growth and Macrophage Death. *Immunity* (2008) 29(2):283–94. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2008.06.011
- 60. Sommer F, Torraca V, Kamel SM, Lombardi A, Meijer AH. Frontline Science: Antagonism Between Regular and Atypical Cxcr3 Receptors Regulates Macrophage Migration During Infection and Injury in Zebrafish. J Leukocyte Biol (2020) 107(2):185–203. doi: 10.1002/JLB.2HI0119-006R
- Zakrzewska A, Cui C, Stockhammer OW, Benard EL, Spaink HP, Meijer AH. Macrophage-Specific Gene Functions in Spi1-directed Innate Immunity. *Blood* (2010) 116(3):e1–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-262873
- Rougeot J, Zakrzewska A, Kanwal Z, Jansen HJ, Spaink HP, Meijer AH. RNA Sequencing of FACS-sorted Immune Cell Populations From Zebrafish Infection Models to Identify Cell Specific Responses to Intracellular Pathogens. *Methods Mol Biol* (2014) 1197:261–74. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1261-2_15
- Stasinopoulos DM, Rigby RA. Generalized Additive Models for Location Scale and Shape (GAMLSS) in R. J Stat Software (2007) 23(7):1–46. doi: 10.18637/ jss.v023.i07
- 64. Benard EL, Roobol SJ, Spaink HP, Meijer AH. Phagocytosis of Mycobacteria by Zebrafish Macrophages is Dependent on the Scavenger Receptor Marco, a Key Control Factor of Pro-Inflammatory Signalling. *Dev Comp Immunol* (2014) 47(2):223–33. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2014.07.022
- Herbomel P, Thisse B, Thisse C. Ontogeny and Behaviour of Early Macrophages in the Zebrafish Embryo. *Development* (1999) 126(17):3735– 45. doi: 10.1242/dev.126.17.3735
- Nguyen-Chi M, Laplace-Builhe B, Travnickova J, Luz-Crawford P, Tejedor G, Phan QT, et al. Identification of Polarized Macrophage Subsets in Zebrafish. *Elife* (2015) 4:e07288. doi: 10.7554/eLife.07288
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 Paradigm of Macrophage Activation: Time for Reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- Jeon H, Go Y, Seo M, Lee WH, Suk K. Functional Selection of Phagocytosis-Promoting Genes: Cell Sorting-Based Selection. J Biomol Screen (2010) 15 (8):949–55. doi: 10.1177/1087057110376090
- Carballo E, Pitterle DM, Stumpo DJ, Sperling RT, Blackshear PJ. Phagocytic and Macropinocytic Activity in MARCKS-deficient Macrophages and Fibroblasts. Am J Physiol-Cell Physiol (1999) 277(1):C163–73. doi: 10.1152/ ajpcell.1999.277.1.C163
- Banerjee H, Krauss C, Worthington M, Banerjee N, Walker RS, Hodges S, et al. Differential Expression of Efferocytosis and Phagocytosis Associated Genes in Tumor Associated Macrophages Exposed to African American Patient Derived Prostate Cancer Microenvironment. J Solid Tumors (2019) 9(2):22–7. doi: 10.5430/jst.v9n2p22
- Zhang R, Varela M, Forn-Cuni G, Torraca V, van der Vaart M, Meijer AH. Deficiency in the Autophagy Modulator Dram1 Exacerbates Pyroptotic Cell Death of Mycobacteria-infected Macrophages. *bioRxiv* (2019) p:599266. doi: 10.1101/599266
- Clay H, Davis JM, Beery D, Huttenlocher A, Lyons SE, Ramakrishnan L. Dichotomous Role of the Macrophage in Early Mycobacterium Marinum Infection of the Zebrafish. *Cell Host Microbe* (2007) 2(1):29–39. doi: 10.1016/ j.chom.2007.06.004
- Srivastava S, Ernst JD, Desvignes L. Beyond Macrophages: The Diversity of Mononuclear Cells in Tuberculosis. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 262(1):179–92. doi: 10.1111/imr.12217
- Cambier CJ, Falkow S, Ramakrishnan L. Host Evasion and Exploitation Schemes of Mycobacterium Tuberculosis. *Cell* (2014) 159(7):1497–509. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.024
- Russell DG. Mycobacterium Tuberculosis and the Intimate Discourse of a Chronic Infection. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 240(1):252–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00984.x
- 76. Olivares-Morales MJ, De La Fuente MK, Dubois-Camacho K, Parada D, Diaz-Jiménez D, Torres-Riquelme A, et al. Glucocorticoids Impair Phagocytosis and Inflammatory Response Against Crohn's Disease-Associated Adherent-Invasive Escherichia Coli. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1026. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01026

- 77. Jessop J, Vernon-Roberts B, Harris J. Effects of Gold Salts and Prednisolone on Inflammatory Cells. I. Phagocytic Activity of Macrophages and Polymorphs in Inflammatory Exudates Studied by a "Skin-Window" Technique in Rheumatoid and Control Patients. Ann Rheumatic Dis (1973) 32(4):294. doi: 10.1136/ard.32.4.294
- Vernon-Roberts B, Jessop J, Dore J. Effects of Gold Salts and Prednisolone on Inflammatory Cells. II. Suppression of Inflammation and Phagocytosis in the Rat. Ann Rheumatic Dis (1973) 32(4):301. doi: 10.1136/ard.32.4.301
- Taylor A, Finney-Hayward T, Quint J, Thomas C, Tudhope S, Wedzicha J, et al. Defective Macrophage Phagocytosis of Bacteria in COPD. *Eur Respir J* (2010) 35(5):1039–47. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00036709
- van der Goes A, Hoekstra K, van den Berg TK, Dijkstra CD. Dexamethasone Promotes Phagocytosis and Bacterial Killing by Human Monocytes/ Macrophages In Vitro. J Leukocyte Biol (2000) 67(6):801–7. doi: 10.1002/ jlb.67.6.801
- Hosseini R, Lamers GEM, Soltani HM, Meijer AH, Spaink HP, Schaaf MJM. Efferocytosis and Extrusion of Leukocytes Determine the Progression of Early Mycobacterial Pathogenesis. J Cell Sci (2016) 129(18):3385–95. doi: 10.1242/ jcs.135194
- Murray P, Allen J, Biswas S, Fisher E, Gilroy D, Goerdt S, et al. Macrophage Activation and Polarization: Nomenclature and Experimental Guidelines -Sciencedirect. *Immunity* (2014) 41(1):14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008
- Baschant U, Tuckermann J. The Role of the Glucocorticoid Receptor in Inflammation and Immunity. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2010) 120(2–3):69– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.03.058
- Busillo JM, Cidlowski JA. The Five Rs of Glucocorticoid Action During Inflammation: Ready, Reinforce, Repress, Resolve, and Restore. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 24(3):109–19. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012.11.005
- 85. Hofkens W, Schelbergen R, Storm G, van den Berg WB, van Lent PL. Liposomal Targeting of Prednisolone Phosphate to Synovial Lining Macrophages During Experimental Arthritis Inhibits M1 Activation But Does Not Favor M2 Differentiation. *PloS One* (2013) 8(2):e54016. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054016
- Tu GW, Shi Y, Zheng YJ, Ju MJ, He HY, Ma GG, et al. Glucocorticoid Attenuates Acute Lung Injury Through Induction of Type 2 Macrophage. J Trans Med (2017) 15(1):181. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1284-7
- Ehrchen JM, Roth J, Barczyk-Kahlert K. More Than Suppression: Glucocorticoid Action on Monocytes and Macrophages. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2028. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02028

- McColl A, Bournazos S, Franz S, Perretti M, Morgan BP, Haslett C, et al. Glucocorticoids Induce Protein S-dependent Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils by Human Macrophages. J Immunol (2009) 183(3):2167–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803503
- Liu Y, Cousin JM, Hughes J, Van Damme J, Seckl JR, Haslett C, et al. Glucocorticoids Promote Nonphlogistic Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Leukocytes. J Immunol (1999) 162(6):3639–46.
- Zahuczky G, Kristóf E, Majai G, Fésüs L. Differentiation and Glucocorticoid Regulated Apopto-Phagocytic Gene Expression Patterns in Human Macrophages. Role of Mertk in Enhanced Phagocytosis. *PloS One* (2011) 6 (6):e21349. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021349
- McCubbrey AL, Sonstein J, Ames TM, Freeman CM, Curtis JL. Glucocorticoids Relieve Collectin-Driven Suppression of Apoptotic Cell Uptake in Murine Alveolar Macrophages Through Downregulation of Sirpα. J Immunol (2012) 89(1):112–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200984
- The Encode Project Consortium. A User's Guide to the Encyclopedia of DNA Elements (Encode). *PloS Biol* (2011) 9(4):e1001046. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pbio.1001046
- Lesley R, Ramakrishnan L. Insights Into Early Mycobacterial Pathogenesis From the Zebrafish. Curr Opin Microbiol (2008) 11(3):277–83. doi: 10.1016/ j.mib.2008.05.013
- Lewis KN, Liao R, Guinn KM, Hickey MJ, Smith S, Behr MA, et al. Deletion of RD1 From Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Mimics Bacille Calmette-Guerin Attenuation. J Infect Dis (2003) 187(1):117–23. doi: 10.1086/345862
- 95. Gräb J, Suárez I, van Gumpel E, Winter S, Schreiber F, Esser A, et al. Corticosteroids Inhibit Mycobacterium Tuberculosis-Induced Necrotic Host Cell Death by Abrogating Mitochondrial Membrane Permeability Transition. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):1–14. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08405-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Xie, Xie, Meijer and Schaaf. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gender May Influence the Immunosuppressive Actions of Prednisone in Young Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Marianna Lucafò¹, Matteo Bramuzzo¹, Davide Selvestrel², Prisca Da Lozzo¹, Giuliana Decorti^{1,3*} and Gabriele Stocco²

¹ Institute for Maternal and Child Health - IRCCS Burlo Garofolo, Trieste, Italy, ² Department of Life Sciences, University of Trieste, Italy, ³ Department of Medical, Surgical and Health Sciences, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Oxana Bereshchenko, University of Perugia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Andrea Cignarella, University of Padua, Italy Wendy Goodman, Case Western Reserve University, United States

*Correspondence: Giuliana Decorti giuliana.decorti@burlo.trieste.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 February 2021 Accepted: 29 April 2021 Published: 13 May 2021

Citation:

Lucafò M, Bramuzzo M, Selvestrel D, Da Lozzo P, Decorti G and Stocco G (2021) Gender May Influence the Immunosuppressive Actions of Prednisone in Young Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Front. Immunol. 12:673068. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.673068 Although the use of glucocorticoids (GC) is well established, the therapeutic response to these agents often shows important interindividual differences, in particular among young patients with inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). Currently, GC resistance or dependence cannot be predicted by clinical or laboratory findings. The aim of this study was to investigate the association of gender and age with GC efficacy and with the expression of Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper (GILZ). One hundred thirty patients (mean age at enrolment 12.6 years, 53 Crohn's disease, 70 males) were enrolled in this retrospective study. IBD patients with active disease despite prednisone at a daily dose of up to 2 mg/kg over a period of 4 weeks were defined as steroid resistant. Patients who initially responded but relapsed upon dose reduction were considered steroid-dependent. Total RNA was extracted from biopsies of 14 patients (9 males) and the levels of GILZ mRNA were evaluated by real-time PCR. Association between clinical response to prednisone and the considered demographic variables was evaluated using logistic regression models. After 4 weeks of treatment, 112 patients were responders to prednisone and 18 were resistant; at this time-point, resistant patients were older than responders (p=0.032). After 12 weeks, 42, 71 and 12 patients were sensitive, dependent and resistant respectively; at this time-point, females were more prone than males to develop prednisone dependence vs a good response (p=0.028) while age had no effect. Age was associated with response both at 4 and 12 weeks in the subgroups of females: resistant patients were older than sensitive ones at 4 weeks (p=0.02). Likewise, at 12 weeks of therapy, dependent patients resulted older than sensitive ones (p=0.05). No association of age with prednisone response was found in males. In a subgroup of 14 patients (5 females), GILZ mRNA expression in intestinal biopsies was higher in males (p=0.0031). Patients with unfavorable response (7) presented lower GILZ expression at disease onset in comparison to the responder group (p=0.017). Older females with IBD have a higher incidence of prednisone unfavorable response and reduced intestinal expression of the GC pharmacodynamic marker GILZ.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, inflammatory bowel disease, gender, age, GILZ, prednisone

INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a chronic idiopathic inflammation of the intestinal tract, characterized by relapses and remissions, that comprises two disorders, Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). The disease has a peak onset in subjects 15 to 30 years old, and its incidence is rising in the young population with approximately 25% of patients with IBD presenting before the age of 20 (1). Patients with pediatriconset IBD tend to present with more extensive anatomic involvement, more active disease course and often require a more aggressive treatment compared to patients with adult onset disease (2). The etiology of CD and UC is often undefined and different genetic and environmental causes may result in a similar clinical outcome (3). At present, a curative therapy for IBD does not exist and the treatment aims to induce and maintain the disease in an inactive state. For this purpose, many immunosuppressants are currently employed due to the clear contribution of an uncontrolled immune response in the pathogenesis of both CD and UC (4). Despite the introduction in clinical practice of highly effective biological drugs, such as anti-TNFa agents, glucocorticoids (GCs) are still used to induce disease remission in young patients with moderate to severe active CD and UC (5, 6). GCs are steroid hormones that passively diffuse across plasma membranes and act by binding the GC receptor (GR) (7) which becomes able to translocate into the nucleus and binds as homodimer to DNA, in correspondence of GC-responsive elements (GREs), localized in the promoter region of target genes (8, 9). This binding activates the transcription of anti-inflammatory proteins such as glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ), interleukin-10 (IL-10), annexin 1 and enzymes involved in gluconeogenesis (10, 11), and reduces the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, TNF α) and inflammatory prostaglandins (12).

Although the use of GCs is well established in many diseases due to their efficacy, the therapeutic response to these agents often shows important interindividual differences between patients (13–15), especially in pediatric inflammatory diseases (6). According to the clinical response, young IBD patients treated with GCs can be classified as steroid sensitive (SS) or steroid resistant (SR) within the first 30 days of treatment (16). A high percentage of patients who initially respond to GC therapy is unable to reduce steroids within 3 months of starting due to frequent relapses: these patients are classified as steroiddependent (SD) (13, 17).

Steroid resistance is common in young patients with IBD, with an incidence of 6-20% of patients, however, a specific predictor of GC response has not yet been identified (18, 19). While resistance to GC has been widely studied both in pediatric and adult patients, few data are available for steroid dependency (17). Demographic characteristics, in particular age and gender, have been associated with GC levels (20), response (18) and side effects (21) but very few data are available on the young population affected by IBD. Moreover, the molecular mechanisms of the interindividual variability in GC response is still poorly understood in these patients (22). Polymorphisms in

genes involved in the GC pathway together with the expression of candidate mRNAs and epigenetic factors have been previously reported as possible mechanisms involved in steroid resistance even though none of them had entered in the clinical practice as biomarker of response (18, 22–24).

Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the association of age and gender with prednisone efficacy in a large cohort of children with IBD and to investigate gender-specific differences in GR-mediated gene expression in these patients, considering in particular GILZ expression in intestinal biopsies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients Characteristics

130 young patients with IBD were enrolled by the Gastroenterology Unit of the Pediatric Hospital "Burlo Garofolo" in Trieste, Italy between July 2001 and February 2019. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the protocol was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee. All subjects and/or parents gave their informed consent for inclusion before they participated in the study. The inclusion criteria were age less than 25 years, previous diagnosis of IBD and initial treatment with prednisone for 4 weeks at the standard dose (1 to 2 mg/kg/day) and 8 to 11 weeks of tapering. Steroids were administered as induction treatment in patients with ileo-colic or colonic CD when exclusive enteral nutrition was not an option and in patients with moderate or severe UC according to the pediatric ulcerative colitis activity index (PUCAI) and the pediatric Crohn's disease activity index (PCDAI) or to the physician global assessment.

Clinical response to prednisone was assessed after 4 and 12 weeks of therapy. Patients were considered responsive to treatment when a drop of at least 50% from the basal clinical score was observed. In case of clinical score unavailability, the physician global assessment definitions of "remission" and "response" or "persistent active disease" were used. Patients who initially responded to prednisone therapy but were unable to reduce steroids within 3 months of starting treatment were classified as steroid-dependent. Patients not classified as responders or dependent to prednisone, were considered resistant.

Total RNA Isolation

Total RNA was extracted from intestinal biopsies of 14 patients using TRIzol reagent (Thermo Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. The RNA concentration and purity were calculated by Nano Drop instrument (NanoDrop 2000, EuroClone, Milan, Italy).

Quantitative Real-Time PCR

Expression levels of GILZ was evaluated by real-time RT-PCR TaqMan[®] analysis using the CFX96 real-time system-C1000 Thermal Cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). The reverse transcription reaction was carried out with the High Capacity RNA-to-cDNA Kit (Applied Biosystem, Foster

City, CA, USA) and the real-time PCR was performed in triplicate using the TaqMan[®] Gene Expression Assay to assess GILZ mRNA expressions, according to the manufacturer's instructions. The thermal cycling conditions for TaqMan assays were as follows: 2 min at 50°C and 10 min at 95°C followed by 40 cycles at 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 60 s. The expression levels of GILZ was evaluated using the comparative Ct method (2– Δ Ct method) and normalized using the RPLP0 gene.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the software R, version 3.6.1.

Analysis for association of clinical response, evaluated as a categorical variable, was performed by logistic regression. For these analyses, binomial models were generated using response to prednisone as the dependent variable and the clinical or demographic covariate of interest (i.e., gender and type of IBD) as the independent variable. Odds ratios were calculated from estimates of the logistic regression models.

For the analysis considering continuous variables (i.e. age and GILZ expression) linear models of the Gaussian family were used. Before applying linear models, normality of the continuous variable was assessed. All p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patients Enrolled

One hundred thirty IBD patients treated with prednisone were enrolled in this retrospective study; baseline characteristics of the patients are shown in **Table 1**.

Response to Prednisone: Association With Clinical and Demographic Data

The clinical response was evaluated after treatment with prednisone 1–2 mg/kg/day and after 4 (initial response) and 12 weeks of therapy (tapering dose).

Among 130 patients enrolled, after 4 weeks of treatment, 112 (86.2%) were responder to prednisone and 18 (13.9%) were resistant. Out of the 130 patients age was available only for 93 sensitive and 17 resistant patients for a total of 110 subjects.

Interestingly, a significant association was found between the clinical response after 4 weeks of treatment and age: in particular, resistant patients resulted to be older than sensitive ones (mean age: 14.9 and 12.1 respectively, linear model p=0.032; **Figure 1**). No significant association was highlighted with sex, disease severity or type of IBD and clinical response at 4 weeks of treatment.

After tapering (12 weeks), 42 (32.3%), 71 (54.6%) and 12 (9.2%) patients were sensitive, dependent and resistant respectively. For 5 (3.8%) patients the information related to the clinical response at 12 weeks was not available for lack of scheduled visit.

Unlike what was observed with the response at 4 weeks of treatment, no significant association was found between clinical response after 12 weeks of treatment and age. A significant association was on the contrary detected between the clinical response at 12 weeks of treatment and the type of IBD; in particular, patients with UC were more GC dependent in comparison to patients with CD (logistic regression p=0.018 OR: 2.62; CI: 1.19 - 5.78). On the other hand, no significant difference was observed in the incidence of resistance according to age, disease severity or IBD type.

Among the 130 patients, 70 (53.9%) were concomitantly treated with prednisone and other medications and in particular: 55 with azathioprine, 6 with thalidomide, 3 with infliximab, 1 with adalimumab, 1 with methotrexate and 4 with topical therapy (budesonide). No association was found between the combination therapy with other immunomodulators and the response to prednisone.

Interestingly, females were more prone than males to develop prednisone dependence after 12 weeks of treatment (logistic regression p=0.028; OR: 2.44; CI: 1.10 - 5.26). Incidence of resistance was not affected by gender.

Patients were further stratified into pre-pubescent (\leq 13 years) and post-pubescent (> 13 years) categories for all analyses, but no statistical association was found, probably due to resulting sample size of the subgroups.

Multivariate analysis shows that sex (logistic regression, sensitive vs dependent p=0.03; OR: 2.38; CI: 1.06 - 5.26) and the type of IBD (logistic regression, sensitive vs dependent p=0.02; OR: 2.59; CI: 1.16 - 5.80) are independently associated with the clinical response at 12 weeks (**Table 2**).

Given the association between patient age and GC response (after 4 weeks of treatment, **Figure 1**) and the association with gender considering the clinical response after 12 weeks of treatment, we evaluated a potential effect of age on the response to prednisone in the subgroups of female and male patients. As reported in **Figure 2**, age is associated with response at 4 and 12 weeks in females. In particular, resistant patients

ABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients enrolled in the study.

		All patients (n = 130)
Age (mean, range)		12.6, 1.2-22.2
Gender	Female (%)	60 (46.2%)
	Male (%)	70 (53.8%)
Type of IBD	Crohn's disease (%)	53 (40.8%)
	Ulcerative colitis (%)	77 (59.2%)
Clinical Score (data available for 94 patients)	PUCAI (mean, range)	41.4, 0-85
	PCDAI (mean, range)	34.0, 2.5-65



resulted to be older than sensitive ones at 4 weeks of treatment (mean age: 11.6 and 15.8 respectively; linear model p=0.02). Likewise, at 12 weeks of therapy dependent patients resulted to be older than sensitive ones (mean age: 15.5 and 12.6 respectively, linear model p=0.05; **Figure 2**) and a similar trend was observed also for resistant patients in comparison with the responder group (mean age 16.9; linear model p=0.07; **Figure 2**).

No association was found between age and the response to prednisone at both time points in the group of males (Figure 2).

Gender-Specific Mechanism Controlling GC Receptor–Mediated GILZ Expression

To investigate on the gender-specific actions of prednisone in IBD patients, we evaluated in intestinal biopsies at disease onset the levels of the GC target gene GILZ in a subgroup of 14 patients (5 females, 3 CD; **Supplementary Table 1**), belonging to the same cohort of patients described above; no significant difference was observed in the demographic characteristics between the whole cohort and this subgroup. As reported in **Figure 3**, GILZ mRNA expression was lower in females in comparison to males (linear model p=0.0031), highlighting a different activity of the GC receptor between genders.

Interestingly, patients with unfavorable response (dependent + resistant) presented lower GILZ levels at disease onset in comparison to the responder group (linear model p=0.017; Figure 4).

Association of GILZ levels with gender and response to GCs was confirmed also by multivariate analysis (adjusted p-value respectively 0.00053 and 0.0024; **Figure 5**).

 TABLE 2 | Multivariate analysis considering all covariates significant in the univariate analysis.

Comparison	p-value (OR; CI)
Sens vs Dep	0.03 (2.38; 1.06 - 5.26)
Sens vs Res	0.30 (2.00; 0.54 - 7.14)
Sens vs Dep	0.02 (2.59; 1.16 - 5.80)
Sens vs Res	0.53 (1.53; 0.41 – 5.62)
	Sens vs Dep Sens vs Res Sens vs Dep

DISCUSSION

The use of GCs in young patients with IBD is mostly extrapolated from the experience in adults although many differences have been described and children are more sensitive to GC therapy-related side effects than adults (25). Despite the numerous studies conducted to investigate the underlying mechanism of resistance to GCs, no demographic, clinical or molecular biomarker is available yet to predict response or the risk of developing adverse events (4, 16). Moreover, while the molecular basis of GC resistance have been explored, the molecular mechanisms behind GC dependence are poorly investigated (5) and only few studies have been conducted in pediatric patients with IBD (17).

In our study, performed in a cohort of young patients, age and gender seem to be important contributing factors to prednisone response. In particular, resistant patients resulted to be older than sensitive ones after the initial 4 weeks of prednisone treatment, while females were more prone than males to develop dependence after tapering. A significant association was also reported between the type of IBD and clinical response at 12 weeks of treatment, but the multivariate analysis showed an independent effect of gender and the type of IBD.

The levels of endogenous GCs have been associated with age and gender, suggesting their important role in regulating GC secretion (26). Cortisol levels increase progressively with age in particular in women (20). However, the influence of age and sex on GC pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties have been reported only in adult subjects though these evidences do not suggest the need for dosage adjustments. Nowadays, the only data regarding age and gender differences in GC response in young patients with IBD were previously published by our group (18). In particular, it was reported that in IBD male patients with an age at disease onset above 7.5 years, response to GC therapy was significantly more frequent than females.

In the present study an association of age with the response to prednisone in females was highlighted: female responder patients after both 4 and 12 weeks of treatment, were significantly younger, while this effect of age was not observed in males.



FIGURE 2 | The boxplots show the age in female and male patients sensitive, resistant or dependent to GC after 4 and 12 weeks of therapy.

The influence of female hormonal status in IBD activity is recognized, but no studies have investigated how sex hormones modulate therapeutic response (27–30). Of interest, Altemus et al. observed a decrease in GR mRNA in the luteal phase, characterized by an increase of progesterone and, to a lesser extent, of estrogen levels (31). Moreover, the female sex steroid hormone progesterone has been shown to antagonize GC effects increasing the dissociation rate of GC from the GR and inhibiting its translocation into the nucleus (32, 33). Considering the crucial role of these hormones, GCs may not work properly in adolescent girls and young women with IBD.

To investigate on the gender-specific actions of prednisone in IBD patients, we analyzed the expression of the mRNA of the anti-inflammatory GC-induced gene GILZ in intestinal biopsies obtained before starting GC treatment of a subgroup of female and male patients of the same cohort, as a predictive pharmacodynamic marker of GC efficacy. GILZ levels were higher in males in comparison to females highlighting a different activity of the GC receptor between genders.



Sexually dimorphic GR signaling was already studied by pioneering investigations of the Cidlowski group (34–36). Results from their study indicate that estradiol antagonizes induction of GILZ gene expression providing evidence of its role also in the immune modulating functions of GCs (36).

Moreover, Cidlowski and collaborators demonstrated that ovarian hormones can influence the anti-inflammatory actions of GCs in the context of a rat adrenalectomized model of sepsis and that the anti-inflammatory actions of GCs are more effective in males (34). In particular, specific profiles of GC-regulated gene expression have been observed for females and males confirming a different gender-specific mechanism controlling GR-mediated gene expression. Even if the mechanisms that drive genderspecific effects of GC are still unclear, Cidlowski and collaborators showed a higher nuclear translocation of the GR in males after administration of the proinflammatory stimulus lipopolysaccharide compared to female mice, suggesting that the activation of GR is sex-specific.



The importance of the transcriptional activity of the GR in GC effectiveness is confirmed by the fact that in our study patients with unfavorable response presented lower GILZ levels at disease onset in comparison to the responder group. GILZ is expressed in all peripheral blood cells and in several other non-lymphoid tissues including cell types present in the biopsies such as immune cells (T-lymphocytes and monocytes) and intestinal cells (37). This is the first study to consider the association of GILZ expression on GC sensitivity in colon biopsies from a cohort of pediatric patients with IBD and no data about the modulation of GILZ levels during GC treatment in IBD patients have been published yet. In other diseases, in particular systemic lupus erythematosus and alcohol-induced liver disease, GILZ was overexpressed in blood cells of patients under treatment with GC, but no association with the clinical response have been analyzed (38, 39).

The role of GILZ has been studied in several mouse models of IBD using dinitrobenzene sulfonic acid-induced colitis (40). In particular, the severity of colonic inflammation was diminished in transgenic mice overexpressing GILZ and exacerbated in GILZconditional knock-out mice with a T-cell specific GILZ deletion highlighting its anti-inflammatory effects that mimic those of GCs (41, 42). An opposite effect of GILZ was observed in oxazoloneinduced colitis which is a Th2-dependent model of chronic inflammation where more severe disease was induced in mice overexpressing GILZ compared to the wild type mice suggesting that GILZ could have a protective role in Th1-mediated models of colitis (41). Further validation studies will help to explore the promising role of GILZ as marker of GC response in IBD patients as already proposed for other pathologies (43, 44) evaluating its levels also in the blood cells to avoid an invasive examination.

Our study has some limitations starting from its retrospective design. Unfortunately, no data about specific treatment administered before prednisone are available. Clinical score was not available for 36 of 130 patients before the treatment with prednisone because laboratory data from the retrospective analysis were incomplete. Moreover, the association of GILZ expression on GC sensitivity was limited to a small sample size



and mechanistic data to confirm the role of GILZ in GC response are needed.

In the present study we have demonstrated that age and gender are important variables affecting response to prednisone in young patients with IBD even though further investigation on the impact of sex hormones on therapeutic outcomes and disease course are needed. Our results support the hypothesis that the anti-inflammatory actions of GCs are reduced in female adolescents probably due to a lower activity of the GR. Furthermore, sex hormones, in particular estrogen and progesterone, and their fluctuation with age and critical phases such as puberty, might contribute to the differential sensitivity to GCs. The study is descriptive and data interpretation including links with female hormones are speculative, more in-depth investigation are therefore needed to establish the exact molecular mechanisms of these difference.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Local ethical committee (Comitato indipendente per la bioetica, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico materno infantile Burlo Garofolo, Trieste, Italy). Approval for

REFERENCES

- Rosen MJ, Dhawan A, Saeed SA. Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Children and Adolescents. *JAMA Pediatr* (2015) 169(11):1053–60. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2015.1982
- Nieuwenhuis EES, Escher JC. Early Onset IBD: What's the Difference? Dig Liver Dis Off J Ital Soc Gastroenterol Ital Assoc Study Liver (2008) 40(1):12–5. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2007.07.166

the study (Prot 2198; approval date: 17 September 2013) was provided. All patients participated in this study in accordance with the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki, and written informed consent was obtained from each participating patient and/or their parents or guardians. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML and GS: study conception and design. ML, DS, and GS: acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the data, and drafted the initial manuscript. ML, MB, and PD: acquisition of the data. GD and GS: critical discussion and study supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Institute for Maternal and Child Health "Burlo Garofolo," Trieste, Italy (grant number RC 10/19).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.673068/ full#supplementary-material

- Kaser A, Zeissig S, Blumberg RS. Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Annu Rev Immunol (2010) 28:573–621. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-030409-101225
- Lucafo M, Franca R, Selvestrel D, Curci D, Pugnetti L, Decorti G, et al. Pharmacogenetics of Treatments for Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Expert* Opin Drug Metab Toxicol (2018) 14(12):1209–23. doi: 10.1080/ 17425255.2018.1551876
- 5. Dubois-Camacho K, Ottum PA, Franco-Muñoz D, De la Fuente M, Torres-Riquelme A, Díaz-Jiménez D, et al. Glucocorticosteroid Therapy in

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: From Clinical Practice to Molecular Biology. World J Gastroenterol (2017) 23(36):6628–38. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i36.6628

- Ferrara G, Petrillo MG, Giani T, Marrani E, Filippeschi C, Oranges T, et al. Clinical Use and Molecular Action of Corticosteroids in the Pediatric Age. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(2):444. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020444
- Schaaf MJM, Cidlowski JA. Molecular Mechanisms of Glucocorticoid Action and Resistance. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2002) 83(1–5):37–48. doi: 10.1016/S0960-0760(02)00263-7
- Meijsing SH, Pufall MA, So AY, Bates DL, Chen L, Yamamoto KR. DNA Binding Site Sequence Directs Glucocorticoid Receptor Structure and Activity. *Science* (2009) 324(5925):407–10. doi: 10.1126/science.1164265
- Nordeen SK, Suh BJ, Kühnel B, Hutchison CA. Structural Determinants of a Glucocorticoid Receptor Recognition Element. *Mol Endocrinol Baltim Md* (1990) 4(12):1866–73. doi: 10.1210/mend-4-12-1866
- De Bosscher K, Vanden Berghe W, Vermeulen L, Plaisance S, Boone E, Haegeman G. Glucocorticoids Repress NF-kappaB-driven Genes by Disturbing the Interaction of p65 With the Basal Transcription Machinery, Irrespective of Coactivator Levels in the Cell. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97(8):3919–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.8.3919
- 11. Schäcke H, Schottelius A, Döcke W-D, Strehlke P, Jaroch S, Schmees N, et al. Dissociation of Transactivation From Transrepression by a Selective Glucocorticoid Receptor Agonist Leads to Separation of Therapeutic Effects From Side Effects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(1):227–32. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0300372101
- Liberman AC, Budziñski ML, Sokn C, Gobbini RP, Steininger A, Arzt E. Regulatory and Mechanistic Actions of Glucocorticoids on T and Inflammatory Cells. *Front Endocrinol* (2018) 9:235. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2018.00235
- Manz M, Vavricka SR, Wanner R, Lakatos PL, Rogler G, Frei P, et al. Therapy of Steroid-Resistant Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Digestion* (2012) 86(Suppl 1):11–5. doi: 10.1159/000341952
- Cuzzoni E, De Iudicibus S, Stocco G, Favretto D, Pelin M, Messina G, et al. In Vitro Sensitivity to Methyl-Prednisolone is Associated With Clinical Response in Pediatric Idiopathic Nephrotic Syndrome. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (2016) 100(3):268–74. doi: 10.1002/cpt.372
- Albrecht K, Callhoff J, Schneider M, Zink A. High Variability in Glucocorticoid Starting Doses in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis: Observational Data From an Early Arthritis Cohort. *Rheumatol Int* (2015) 35(8):1377–84. doi: 10.1007/s00296-015-3229-x
- De Iudicibus S, Franca R, Martelossi S, Ventura A, Decorti G. Molecular Mechanism of Glucocorticoid Resistance in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. World J Gastroenterol (2011) 17(9):1095–108. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i9.1095
- Sidoroff M, Kolho K-L. Glucocorticoids in Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Scand J Gastroenterol (2012) 47(7):745–50. doi: 10.3109/ 00365521.2012.679681
- De Iudicibus S, Stocco G, Martelossi S, Londero M, Ebner E, Pontillo A, et al. Genetic Predictors of Glucocorticoid Response in Pediatric Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. J Clin Gastroenterol (2011) 45(1):e1–7. doi: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e3181e8ae93
- Tung J, Loftus EV, Freese DK, El-Youssef M, Zinsmeister AR, Melton LJ, et al. A Population-Based Study of the Frequency of Corticosteroid Resistance and Dependence in Pediatric Patients With Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2006) 12(12):1093–100. doi: 10.1097/ 01.mib.0000235835.32176.85
- Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E. Sexual Dimorphism in the Influence of Advanced Aging on Adrenal Hormone Levels: The Rancho Bernardo Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 85(10):3561–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.10.3561
- Lee I, Kaminski HJ, McPherson T, Feese M, Cutter G. Gender Differences in Prednisone Adverse Effects: Survey Result From the MG Registry. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2018) 5(6):e507. doi: 10.1212/ NXI.000000000000507
- Lucafò M, Stankovic B, Kotur N, Di Silvestre A, Martelossi S, Ventura A, et al. Pharmacotranscriptomic Biomarkers in Glucocorticoid Treatment of Pediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Curr Med Chem* (2018) 25 (24):2855–71. doi: 10.2174/0929867324666170920145337
- 23. De Iudicibus S, Lucafò M, Vitulo N, Martelossi S, Zimbello R, De Pascale F, et al. High-Throughput Sequencing of microRNAs in Glucocorticoid Sensitive

Paediatric Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19 (5):1399. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051399

- Lucafò M, Di Silvestre A, Romano M, Avian A, Antonelli R, Martelossi S, et al. Role of the Long non-Coding RNA Growth Arrest-Specific 5 in Glucocorticoid Response in Children With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* (2018) 122(1):87–93. doi: 10.1111/bcpt.12851
- Uchida K, Araki T, Toiyama Y, Yoshiyama S, Inoue M, Ikeuchi H, et al. Preoperative Steroid-Related Complications in Japanese Pediatric Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. *Dis Colon Rectum* (2006) 49(1):74–9. doi: 10.1007/ s10350-005-0213-7
- Czock D, Keller F, Rasche FM, Häussler U. Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Systemically Administered Glucocorticoids. *Clin Pharmacokinet* (2005) 44(1):61–98. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200544010-00003
- Rolston VS, Boroujerdi L, Long MD, McGovern DPB, Chen W, Martin CF, et al. The Influence of Hormonal Fluctuation on Inflammatory Bowel Disease Symptom Severity-A Cross-Sectional Cohort Study. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2018) 24(2):387–93. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izx004
- Chen C, Gong X, Yang X, Shang X, Du Q, Liao Q, et al. The Roles of Estrogen and Estrogen Receptors in Gastrointestinal Disease. Oncol Lett (2019) 18 (6):5673–80. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10983
- Rustgi SD, Kayal M, Shah SC. Sex-Based Differences in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Review. *Ther Adv Gastroenterol* (2020) 13:1756284820915043. doi: 10.1177/1756284820915043
- Dotson JL, Bricker JB, Kappelman MD, Chisolm D, Crandall WV. Assessment of Sex Differences for Treatment, Procedures, Complications, and Associated Conditions Among Adolescents Hospitalized With Crohn's Disease. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2015) 21(11):2619–24. doi: 10.1097/ MIB.000000000000521
- Altemus M, Redwine L, Leong YM, Yoshikawa T, Yehuda R, Detera-Wadleigh S, et al. Reduced Sensitivity to Glucocorticoid Feedback and Reduced Glucocorticoid Receptor mRNA Expression in the Luteal Phase of the Menstrual Cycle. *Neuropsychopharmacol* (1997) 17(2):100–9. doi: 10.1016/ S0893-133X(97)00121-8
- Svec F, Yeakley J, Harrison RW. Progesterone Enhances Glucocorticoid Dissociation From the AtT-20 Cell Glucocorticoid Receptor. *Endocrinology* (1980) 107(2):566–72. doi: 10.1210/endo-107-2-566
- Schneider W, Gauthier Y, Shyamala G. Effects of Progesterone, Promegestone and RU 486 on Glucocorticoid Receptor Levels in Primary Cultures of Mouse Mammary Epithelial Cells. J Steroid Biochem (1988) 29(6):599–604. doi: 10.1016/0022-4731(88)90157-4
- Duma D, Collins JB, Chou JW, Cidlowski JA. Sexually Dimorphic Actions of Glucocorticoids Provide a Link to Inflammatory Diseases With Gender Differences in Prevalence. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3(143):ra74. doi: 10.1126/ scisignal.2001077
- Quinn MA, Cidlowski JA. Endogenous Hepatic Glucocorticoid Receptor Signaling Coordinates Sex-Biased Inflammatory Gene Expression. FASEB J (2016) 30(2):971–82. doi: 10.1096/fj.15-278309
- Whirledge S, Cidlowski JA. Estradiol Antagonism of Glucocorticoid-Induced GILZ Expression in Human Uterine Epithelial Cells and Murine Uterus. Endocrinology (2013) 154(1):499–510. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1748
- Thul PJ, Åkesson L, Wiking M, Mahdessian D, Geladaki A, Ait Blal H, et al. A Subcellular Map of the Human Proteome. *Science* (2017) 356(6340):eaal3321. doi: 10.1126/science.aal3321
- Mohammadi S, Ebadpour MR, Sedighi S, Saeedi M, Memarian A. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Expression is Associated With Response to Treatment and Immunoregulation in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 36(8):1765–72. doi: 10.1007/s10067-017-3711-9
- Hamdi H, Bigorgne A, Naveau S, Balian A, Bouchet-Delbos L, Cassard-Doulcier A-M, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Key Protein in the Sensitization of Monocytes to Lipopolysaccharide in Alcoholic Hepatitis. *Hepatol Baltim Md* (2007) 46(6):1986–92. doi: 10.1002/hep.21880
- Ronchetti S, Gentili M, Ricci E, Migliorati G, Riccardi C. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper as a Druggable Target in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2020) 26(7):1017–25. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izz331
- Cannarile L, Cuzzocrea S, Santucci L, Agostini M, Mazzon E, Esposito E, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper is Protective in Th1-mediated Models of Colitis. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136(2):530–41. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.09.024

- Bruscoli S, Sorcini D, Flamini S, Gagliardi A, Adamo F, Ronchetti S, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Inhibits Interferon-Gamma Production in B Cells and Suppresses Colitis in Mice. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1720. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01720
- He Y-J, Xu J-Q, Sun M-M, Fang X-Z, Peng Z-K, Pan S-W, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Promising Marker for Monitoring and Treating Sepsis. Front Immunol (2020) 11:606649. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.606649
- Flynn JK, Dankers W, Morand EF. Could GILZ be the Answer to Glucocorticoid Toxicity in Lupus? *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1684. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01684

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Lucafò, Bramuzzo, Selvestrel, Da Lozzo, Decorti and Stocco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Glucocorticoid Therapy in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Mechanisms and Clinical Practice

Stefano Bruscoli*, Marta Febo, Carlo Riccardi and Graziella Migliorati

Section of Pharmacology, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) comprises ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). IBD etiopathology is multifactorial and involves alteration of immune cells and chronic activation of the inflammatory cascade against yet unknown environmental factors that trigger the disease. IBD therapy aims at improving the guality of life and reducing the risk of disease-related complications to avoid the need for surgery. There is no specific cure for IBDs, and the focus of therapy is supportive measures and use of anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs. Glucocorticoids (GCs) are powerful anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory agents used to treat many acute and chronic inflammatory diseases. GCs remain basic treatment for moderate-to-severe IBD, but their use is limited by several important adverse drug effects. Topical administration of a second-generation of GCs, such as budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP), represents a valid alternative to use of older, systemic GCs. Administration of second-generation GCs shows promisingly high topical activity and less systemic toxicity, but maintenance therapy with these new GCs in IBD patients is associated with multiple adverse effects. In this review, we make a comparative analysis of the efficacy of first-generation and second-generation GCs in IBD treatment. Unraveling GC biology at the molecular level to uncouple their clinical benefits from detrimental effects is important. One approach is to consider new GC mediators, such as glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper, which may have similar anti-inflammatory properties, but avoids the side effects of GCs. This in-depth analysis can help to improve the development and the clinical outcomes of GC therapies in IBD.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, IBD, GILZ, inflammation, drug delivery

INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) comprises Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). These are chronic and progressive diseases affecting the gastrointestinal tract. They arise as a consequence of a complex multifactorial etiopathogenesis that is incompletely understood, but which includes genetic predisposition and various environmental factors (1, 2). Oral systemic corticosteroids (e.g., prednisone, prednisolone) have been used to induce remission in IBD patients for more than 60 years due to their powerful anti-inflammatory effects. Second generation glucocorticoids (GCs), such as budesonide and becomethasone dipropionate (BDP), which are

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bidesh Mahata, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Gabriele Stocco, University of Trieste, Italy Kaija-Leena Kolho, University of Helsinki, Finland

> *Correspondence: Stefano Bruscoli stefano.bruscoli@unipg.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 April 2021 Accepted: 19 May 2021 Published: 03 June 2021

Citation:

Bruscoli S, Febo M, Riccardi C and Migliorati G (2021) Glucocorticoid Therapy in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Mechanisms and Clinical Practice. Front. Immunol. 12:691480. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.691480

66

characterized by high anti-inflammatory activity, with low systemic bioavailability due to a significant first-pass effect and higher affinity for the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) compared to first generation GCs, represent an important alternative approach for IBD therapy (3). The possible advantage derives mainly from the lower adverse effects following treatment with these second-generation GCs. Nevertheless, the increase in IBD incidence and lack of long-term treatment alternatives have led to a search for new strategies and approaches.

In this review, we discuss the medical uses of synthetic GCs (e.g., second-generation GCs). We also report new perspectives in the study of GCs, focusing especially on the role of the glucocorticoid-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) protein in the clinical outcome of IBD.

GCs

GCs are endogenous molecules (cortisol, cortisone, corticosterone) that can also be synthesized in the laboratory and widely used as

treatments for several diseases. GC secretion is mediated by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and is regulated by the circadian rhythm and stress, but also by inflammatory stimuli. For example, upon activation by cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1, tumor necrosis factor, (TNF) and IL-6 (which can lead to extreme tissue damage due to uncontrollable inflammation), the HPA triggers the production and secretion of GCs. The HPA acts on inflammation by regulating genomic and non-genomic pathways, thereby blocking the activation, migration, and proliferation of immune cells of the innate and adaptive immune system (Figure 1) (4). Their action is mediated mainly by the GR, which is present predominantly in the cell cytoplasm, bound to a multi-protein complex of heat-shock proteins, immunophilins, kinases, and phospholipases (receptosome). After GC/GR interaction and the consequent conformational changes, the GR dissociates from the receptosome and translocates to the nucleus. The genomic action of the activated GR is elicited by a DNAbinding sequence with two zinc finger motifs. This sequence targets specific glucocorticoid-responsive elements (GREs) to control expression of many genes, such as proinflammatory mediators



FIGURE 1 | Glucocorticoid effects in innate and adaptive immune response (schematic).

and transcription factors [e.g., activator protein-1, nuclear factorkappa B (NF- κ B)] (5, 6). Conversely, GC/GR upregulate expression of lipocortin-1, IL-1 receptor antagonists, and I κ -B. These transcriptional effects contribute to the anti-inflammatory and immunoregulatory actions of GCs. An important target of GC/ GR transcriptional activity is GILZ, which interferes with the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway and NF-kB transcriptional activity and, consequently, regulates inflammatory and immune-mediated reactions (7–10).

Nonetheless, GRE presence is not the only mechanism by which the GR regulates its transcriptional activity. The cell typespecific activities of GCs are dependent upon several other factors, including the chromatin accessibility of target genes, which modulates the availability of DNA sequences (11). Nongenomic actions also contribute to the complexity of GC/GR signaling. These are characterized mainly by a short delay of action and often involve generation of intracellular second messengers and various signal-transduction cascades, such as phospholipase activation, modulation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate, protein kinase pathways, and Ca²⁺ mobilization (12, 13).

GCs have an essential role in controlling the metabolism of carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, water, Ca^{2+} , and other electrolytes, as well as maintaining the optimal function of the endocrine, musculoskeletal, cardiovascular, nervous, and immune systems (14–16). Prolonged therapy with GCs amplifies the physiological effects of endogenous GCs, which often lead to deleterious side effects such as hypertension, hyperglycemia, osteoporosis, Cushing's syndrome, and mood disorders (17, 18). Therefore, the anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive clinical effects of GCs, even if they are considerable, are transitory. The influence of GCs on the complex control of cellular responses to stress and in the regulation of inflammatory processes is linked markedly also to the adverse effects that accompany their chronic use, and therapy must be discontinued.

IBD

IBD represents a hypernym for the chronic remission and relapse of an immunologically mediated chronic and lifelong disease characterized by gastrointestinal-tract inflammation. IBD is caused by the interaction between the genetic predisposition of the individual and activation of the immune response. Various environmental factors also have important roles in IBD onset. UC and CD are chronic and debilitating diseases that are incurable (19, 20). T-helper type 2 (Th2) cells have been demonstrated to have a pathogenic role. An imbalance in Th17/T regulatory cells has been linked to UC. CD is characterized by an imbalance in the number of Th1 cells (21). However, recent researches reported a number of novel immune cell populations that correlate with disease in IBD patients indicating that there is no clean cut that UC and CD could be separated according to Th1 and Th2 action (22). The role of B cells is less clear because they mainly control mucosal

homeostasis, antibody production, and co-stimulation of T lymphocytes. Experimental evidence suggests that cytokine production by B cells may also affect immune regulation (23, 24).

UC and CD show heterogeneity in terms of clinical and pathological features, and can be distinguished by their location and the nature of inflammation they cause. UC attacks mainly the colonic mucosa, whereas CD can affect the gastrointestinal tract at any level. UC causes inflammation and ulceration of the inner lining of the colon and rectum, and usually manifests with diarrhea, loss of appetite/weight, abdominal pain, fatigue, and anemia. The level of inflammation determines disease severity and the subsequent therapeutic strategy. CD is a chronic inflammatory disorder that can affect all parts of the gastrointestinal tract, but mainly influences the terminal ileum, caecum, perianal area, and colon. Several symptoms are caused by CD, which hampers confirmation of the diagnosis. Among those symptoms are weight loss, bowel obstruction, abdominal pain, fever, and chronic or nocturnal diarrhea, although less frequently than other symptoms. These are all critical parameters for the initial diagnosis (25, 26).

IBD at any age is considered a risk factor for the onset of colon cancer due to the development of chronic inflammation that causes immune-mediated tissue destruction. The disease manifests itself in genetically susceptible individuals (i.e. mutations in IBD susceptibility loci including those of STAT3, TYK2, JAK2, CARD9 and IL10RA genes) (27), as a cause or consequence to an imbalance in commensal microbes, or if different environmental factors favor dysbiosis; poor hygiene (28), unbalanced diets (29), smoking, and stress (27). Several factors have been found to impair the functions of immune cells, including lymphocyte activation, autophagy, GC response, and chemotaxis (2, 30).

Specific and curative treatment for IBD is lacking. The focus is on supportive measures as well as the use of anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs (e.g., aminosalicylates, GCs, anti-TNF agents, such as infliximab, adalimumab, certolizumab pegol and CDP571) (31). The goals of therapy are to improve the quality of life, reduce the risk of disease-related complications, and avoid the need for surgery.

FIRST-GENERATION GCs

All GCs can be considered to be valid options when treating IBD. The most commonly used GCs are prednisone, methylprednisolone, and hydrocortisone (**Figure 2**). They can be used alone or in combination with mesalamine for the induction and maintenance of clinical remission in patients suffering from chronic IBD (32–34).

The primary purpose of GC use is to induce clinical remission. A controlled therapeutic regimen guarantees a reduction in the symptoms and side effects caused by these drugs. The most efficacious dose of prednisone is 1 mg/kg up to 40–60 mg/day, and a higher dose seems to not change therapy efficacy (35). The dose administered initially is 40–60 mg/day, but it must be reduced gradually to achieve therapy interruption



while maintaining control of IBD symptoms. At the same time it has been shown that alternate-day treatment helps to reduce and prevent the adverse effects on the central nervous system. Concomitant use with other drugs (e.g., azathioprine) also permits to avoid further use of GCs, while allowing maintenance therapy (36). It is important that prednisone can be considered lifesaving in severe diseases and this is especially true of chronic cases of UC after treatments from six weeks to three months. The effects are however temporary, as patients tends to miss out on the benefits after nine months of therapy (37).

It has been shown that intake of first-generation GCs, such as methylprednisolone (12–48 mg/day), if combined with other drugs, such as sulfasalazine (3 g/day), is important for symptom improvement. It was shown that these improvements occurred faster than if patients were treated with sulfasalazine alone (3).

Another factor in the choice of treatment (and consequently the dose) is the administration route because this is dependent upon the disease location. In people suffering from UC, drug administration can be topical if proctitis is present, or topical and systemic in the case of left-side colitis. In CD, disease severity is the main criterion for GC use because patients might not respond well to treatment and might need surgery if disease severity is high (38). To note, non-response to GCs is comparable between CD and UC.

Despite the efficacy of first-generation GCs, several serious side effects can be associated with their use, including osteoporosis, hyperglycemia, hypertension, mood disorders, gastric ulcer, and increased susceptibility to infections (3, 17).

This characteristic limits their long-term use. Maintenance treatment with systemic GCs is not recommended.

SECOND-GENERATION GCs

Due to the limitations of prolonged therapy with first-generation GCs, compounds such as budesonide and BDP have been developed that maintain topical anti-inflammatory efficacy but minimize their bioavailability and, consequently, their systemic adverse effects (**Figure 2**) (3).

Budesonide undergoes hepatic inactivation before reaching the systemic circulation to diminish corticosteroid-related side effects. Several clinical trials have been conducted to establish the efficacy of oral budesonide. A randomized, double-blind controlled trial conducted in patients with mild, active CD demonstrated that budesonide, if administered at 9 mg/day for 2 months, was as efficacious as prednisone (which was used at 40 mg/day for the first 2 weeks) followed by 30 mg/day in the third month (39). Budesonide carried a lower prevalence of systemic adverse effects (33% of cases) than that of conventional GCs (55%). Budesonide use has not been reported to directly cause changes in the bone mineral density or adrenal insufficiency, however individual sensitivity may vary and therefore cause their onset. Consequently there is no direct correlation to the appearance of osteoporosis symptoms or decreased/inadequate cortisol production (40, 41). Multiple meta-analyses have demonstrated the efficacy of budesonide in inducing remission, and that a once-daily dose is just as efficacious as 3 mg taken

thrice daily. In the context of more severe disease, budesonide is not as efficacious as prednisolone in achieving remission (42).

The second-generation GC BDP is a derivative of cortisone. It has topical effects and minimal systemic activity. It is administered as a prodrug and is partially metabolized in the lower gastrointestinal tract. If used at low doses, BDP has been shown to be free of many of the deleterious side effects associated with GCs absorbed systemically. The induction of remission in CD using BDP has not been investigated in double-blind randomized trials. The efficacy of BDP in patients with UC has been well established: eight double-blind randomized trials have been published (43). Oral BDP for UC has been approved in several countries. In one randomized controlled trial, oral BDP was administered as a daily dose of 5 mg for 4 weeks, then alternated weekly for 4 weeks. A similar efficacy to that observed with prednisolone was evident, and there was no difference in the prevalence of adverse events. However, as a second-generation GC with low systemic absorption, it is associated with fewer adverse events than that of first-generation GCs (44, 45).

NEW THERAPEUTIC GC-BASED APPROACHES IN CHRONIC IBD

Several studies have aimed to develop new delivery methods for existing drugs to improve the efficacy of therapeutic approaches by limiting the side effects associated with the use of specific drugs or resistance to therapy. Complexity of molecular pathways and networks regulating living organisms has become a central issue of molecular biology. Thus, "molecular stratification" is a new approach based on the needs of patients, their susceptibility to disease, and their gene variability. Studies are carried out on specific elements belonging to different molecular pathways. This can take the form of choosing biologically active molecules bound to cells such as erythrocytes, the targeting of selective GR agonists or the targeting of specific elements able to regulate the inflammatory reaction upon their activation. GILZ is a target linked to GC action, so it can be considered a new approach for the regulation of inflammatory diseases such as IBD or even as a molecular marker of inflammation (10, 24).

Drug-Delivery Strategies in IBD Therapy

Drug-delivery systems aim to improve the pharmacological activities of drugs. They play a key part in regulating solubility, drug aggregation, low bioavailability, poor biodistribution, and reducing side effects (46).

Red blood cells (RBCs) are the largest population of blood cells. Their main function is to carry oxygen to all body tissues. To use erythrocytes as carriers of biologically active substances, pores must be formed reversibly in their membrane, through which the drug can penetrate. To achieve this aim, the cell is stimulated with external influences, such as ultrasound. Drug molecules can also enter by endocytosis in the presence of certain chemical compounds, such as hydrocortisone. Active substances of different molecular weights can be delivered by incorporation in the cell or by binding to its surface (47). The average life of RBCs guarantees a therapeutic effect for 120 days, so biologically inactive compounds such as dexamethasone-21-phosphate are used (48). In recent years, drug selection and the relationship between specific drugs and RBCs have been adapted to reduce some of the limitations that their use could present. Prodrugs, such as corticosteroid prodrugs and nucleotide prodrugs, can improve the action of RBCs as carriers. If the molecule to be delivered is inactivated, erythrocytes can transform and release it in its active form (49).

A type of colonic-delivery technology called Multi-Matrix System ($MMX^{(B)}$) has been developed to provide controlled release of budesonide throughout the entire colon. The most common adverse effects in studies using MMX were headache, nausea, and urinary-tract infection (50).

Therapy with systemically active GCs, including budesonide MMX, is associated with suppression of endogenous cortisol levels and HPA function. Oral budesonide MMX at 9 mg/day has been shown to be significantly more efficacious than placebo and can induce remission in mild-to-moderate UC, being as efficacious as 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA, which is first-line therapy for mild-to-moderate active UC) (51). GC effects appear in a shorter time, while 5-ASA takes approximately 2 weeks and therefore it cannot be used in moderate disease as a sole therapeutic regimen (52).

Another strategy for drug delivery involves nanoparticles (NPs) which are organic, inorganic or polymeric particles that ranges between 1 to 100 nanometres in size. Among synthetic polymers used in pharmaceutical formulations there are poly-L-lactic acid, polyvinyl alcohol, poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid), and polyethylene glycol (53). NP efficacy is linked mainly to rapid and preferential intestinal uptake and decreased excretion of the drug following diarrhea (one of the main symptoms of IBD). Cellular internalization of NPs is characterized by paracellular transport or endocytosis into epithelial cells. It has been shown that NPs of diameter 200 nm prepared with cetyltrimethylammonium bromide and relatively neutral charge adhered to healthy colonic tissue in controls as well as inflamed colonic tissue in a colitis model using 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS). Simultaneously, polylactide-coglycolide FK506-NPs were shown to enhance drug penetration into inflamed tissue significantly in a TNBS-induced model and oxazolone-induced colitis model. Other parameters capable of influencing uptake (in addition to diameter) must be studied in detail. In vivo and ex vivo studies have shown that the surface charge of NPs can affect targeting in the colon. Cationic systems adhere to the mucosal surface due to the interaction between the positively charged nanocarrier and the negatively charged intestinal mucosa. Anionic systems adhere preferentially to targeted sites via electrostatic interaction with the higher concentration of positively charged proteins (53). Use of hydrophilic and uncharged NPs is also under development. The creation of NPs bound to the surface with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) seem to increase NP translocation through the mucus and to ensure a substantially increased half-life. Another type of nanoformulation used for GC delivery is polymeric micelles in which PEG is present to allow an extended circulation time and

slower release of the compound (54). Zeng et al. showed that a resin microcapsule composed of 717 anion exchange resin and Eudragit S100 could target dexamethasone to the colon, improve the efficacy of UC therapy, and reduce the overall toxic side effects (55).

Selective Glucocorticoid Receptor Agonists (SEGRAs)

Identification and development of SEGRAs is of particular interest because their therapeutic potential is uncertain (56, 57). SEGRAs are also defined as "dissociated GCs" because they could allow anti-inflammatory activities and the avoidance of metabolic effects. SEGRAs allow the mediation of only repressive effects on various controlled target genes from the GR, and not those of gene activation, because they work by operating through one of two main pathways: transactivation or transrepression (58). The concept that the activating action is responsible for the metabolic (and therefore collateral) effects, whereas immunosuppressive mechanisms are dependent upon the repressive effects, is controversial. Some SEGRA compounds have been shown to have anti-inflammatory properties with reduced collateral effects, such as Compound A [2-((4acetophenyl)-2-chloro-N-methyl) ethylammonium-chloride))], or ZK216348 N-(4-methyl-1-oxo-1H-2,3-benzoxazine-6-yl)-4-(2,3-dihydrobenzofuran-7-yl)-2-hydroxy-2-(trifluoromethyl)-4methylpentanamide (59). Therefore, their efficacy in vivo for treatment of inflammatory diseases, such as colitis, asthma, and rheumatoid arthritis, is being evaluated (60, 61).

GILZ-Based Therapy

One possible therapeutic solution involves GILZ being induced rapidly by CGs. GILZ protein has been recognized as a downstream inducer of anti-inflammatory effects (Figure 3). GILZ is a protein of 135 amino acids. It is highly conserved in humans and mice, and its binding activity can interfere with MAPK/extracellular receptor kinase and protein kinase B pathways (62, 63). Its action is mediated by the binding of GRs to the GREs present in the proximal region of the GILZ transcriptional start site. At the molecular level, GILZ can interact with proteins such as NF-KB, thereby obstructing the transcription of proinflammatory mediators (64). GILZ is expressed in virtually all cells, including macrophages, granulocytes, dendritic cells and T lymphocytes, as well as other non-lymphoid tissues (10). The function of GILZ has been identified only partially and its role (like that of GCs) is being studied in several mouse models of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Attention has focused mostly on various transduction pathways that act on suppression of the immune system (65). Several studies have focused on the role of GILZ and analyzed its protective aspect in dinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (DNBS)-induced colitis. It has been shown that transgenic mice overexpressing GILZ had lower levels of colonic inflammation. This result was reliant on a decrease in the number of Th1 cells in the lamina-propria lymphocytes and increase in the number of Th2 cells induced by GILZ overexpression (24, 66). Also, treatment with a recombinant form of TAT-GILZ has been



deriving from the Proline and Glutamic acid rich (PER) region of the GILZ protein and TAT-GILZ full length protein. Green arrows indicate positive regulation; red lines indicate negative regulation. DC, dendritic cells; Neut, neutrophils; B, B cells; TH1, T helper Type-1 cells; Th17, T helper Type-17 cells; MΦ, monocytes/ macrophages; T regulatory cells.
studied in animals with IL-10 knockout. The presence of GILZ has been shown to lower the prevalence of spontaneous UC, thereby demonstrating a protective action of GILZ against severe inflammation (66). Moreover, we and other groups demonstrated the efficacy of GILZ based molecules (full recombinant GILZ protein or peptides) in different experimental models of inflammatory diseases. The main inflammatory target of GILZ is NF-kB. GILZ binds and inhibits p65/NF-kB subunit, thus exerting its anti-inflammatory activity (7, 64). The GILZ interaction with NF-kB is mediated by proline-rich (PXXP) domains present in proline and acid glutamic rich (PER) region of GILZ COOH-terminal portion. Consequently, the possibility to synthesize and use GILZ peptides, that include PXXP domains of the GILZ protein, could be an alternative to the administration of the entire recombinant GILZ protein with possible pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic advantages. Notably, no apparent toxic effects have been observed in mice upon in vivo administration (intraperitoneally or subcutaneously) of TAT-GILZ protein or GILZ-peptides in mice (66, 67, and Bruscoli, unpublished data). Thus, GILZ represents a new approach for IBD treatment, and to have an immunosuppressant effect comparable with that of GCs (24, 66, 68). GILZ has also has been associated with several inflammatory diseases other than IBD, such as rheumatoid arthritis and fibromyalgia (69, 70). An advantage of GILZ therapy could be

REFERENCES

- Fiocchi C. Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Etiology and Pathogenesis. Gastroenterology (1998) 115:182–205. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70381-6
- Ananthakrishnan AN. Environmental Risk Factors for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Review. Dig Dis Sci (2015) 60:290–8. doi: 10.1007/s10620-014-3350-9
- Dubois-Camacho K, Ottum PA, Franco-Munoz D, de la Fuente M, Torres-Riquelme A, Diaz-Jimenez D, et al. Glucocorticosteroid Therapy in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: From Clinical Practice to Molecular Biology. World J Gastroenterol (2017) 23:6628–38. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i36.6628
- 4. Dunn AJ. Cytokine Activation of the HPA Axis. Ann NY Acad Sci (2000) 917:608–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb05426.x
- Diamond MI, Miner JN, Yoshinaga SK, Yamamoto KRTranscription Factor Interactions: Selectors of Positive or Negative Regulation From a Single DNA Element. *Science* (1990) 249:1266–72. doi: 10.1126/science.2119054
- Riccardi C, Bruscoli S, Migliorati. Molecular Mechanisms of Immunomodulatory Activity of Glucocorticoids. *Pharmacol Res* (2002) 45:361–8. doi: 10.1006/phrs.2002.0969
- Ayroldi E, Migliorati G, Bruscoli S, Marchetti C, Zollo O, Cannarile L, et al Modulation of T-Cell Activation by the Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Factor Via Inhibition of Nuclear Factor Kappab. Blood (2001) 98:743–53. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.3.743
- Ayroldi E, Zollo O, Macchiarulo A, Di Marco B, Marchetti C, Riccardi C. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Inhibits the Raf-Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase Pathway by Binding to Raf-1. *Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 22:7929– 41. doi: 10.1128/MCB.22.22.7929-7941.2002
- Vago JP, Tavares LP, Garcia CC, Lima KM, Perucci LO, Vieira EL, et al. The Role and Effects of Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper in the Context of Inflammation Resolution. *J Immunol* (2015) 194:4940–50. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1401722
- Bereshchenko O, Migliorati G, Bruscoli S, Riccardi C. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Novel Anti-Inflammatory Molecule. *Front Pharmacol* (2019) 10:308 doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00308

that side effects have not been associated with administration of GILZ recombinant protein in cellular systems or in established *in vivo* models of IBD.

Therefore, novel drugs in inflammatory/autoimmune diseases (including IBD) can be developed based on the structure and molecular interactions of GILZ. Moreover, GILZ could be of interest for several inflammation-based degenerative diseases and possibly cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB and MF wrote the article. CR substantially contributed to the conception and design of the article and interpreting the relevant literature. GM revised it critically for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Crohn's & Colitis Foundation, award number 504854, USA and by the Italian Ministry of Education and Research, grant PRIN 2017-2017XZMBYX.

- Quatrini L, Ugolini S. New Insights Into the Cell- and Tissue-Specificity of Glucocorticoid Actions. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2021) 18:269–78. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-020-00526-2
- Croxtall JD, Choudhury Q, Flower RJ. Glucocorticoids Act Within Minutes to Inhibit Recruitment of Signalling Factors to Activated EGF Receptors Through a Receptor-Dependent, Transcription-Independent Mechanism. Br J Pharmacol (2000) 130:289–98. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0703272
- Marchetti MC, Di Marco B, Cifone G, Migliorati G, Riccardi C. Dexamethasone-Induced Apoptosis of Thymocytes: Role of Glucocorticoid Receptor-Associated Src Kinase and Caspase-8 Activation. *Blood* (2003) 101:585–93 doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-06-1779
- Ramamoorthy S, Cidlowski JA. Corticosteroids: Mechanisms of Action in Health and Disease. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* (2016) 42:15–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.rdc.2015.08.002
- Desmet SJ, De Bosscher K. Glucocorticoid Receptors: Finding the Middle Ground. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:1136–45. doi: 10.1172/JCI88886
- Bereshchenko O, Bruscoli S, Riccardi C. Glucocorticoids, Sex Hormones, and Immunity. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1332. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01332
- Cain DW, Cidlowski JA. Immune Regulation by Glucocorticoids. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17:233–47. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.1
- Ronchetti S, Migliorati G, Bruscoli S, Riccardi C. Defining the Role of Glucocorticoids in Inflammation. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2018) 132:1529–43. doi: 10.1042/CS20171505
- Mulder DJ, Noble AJ, Justinich CJ, Duffin JM. A Tale of Two Diseases: The History of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis (2014) 8:341–8. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.09.009
- Zhang YZ, Li YY. Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Pathogenesis. World J Gastroenterol (2014) 20:91–9. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i1.91
- Harbour SN, Maynard CL, Zindl CL, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT. Th17 Cells Give Rise to Th1 Cells That Are Required for the Pathogenesis of Colitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2015) 112:7061–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415675112
- Imam T, Park S, Kaplan MH, Olson MR. Effector T Helper Cell Subsets in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1212. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01212

- Shimomura Y, Mizoguchi E, Sugimoto K, Kibe R, Benno Y, Mizoguchi A, et al. Regulatory Role of B-1 B Cells in Chronic Colitis. *Int Immunol* (2008) 20:729– 37. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn031
- Bruscoli S, Sorcini D, Flamini S, Gagliardi A, Adamo F, Ronchetti S, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Inhibits Interferon-Gamma Production in B Cells and Suppresses Colitis in Mice. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1720. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01720
- 25. Wilkins T, Jarvis K, Patel J. Diagnosis and Management of Crohn's Disease. *Am Fam Physician* (2011) 84:1365–75.
- 26. Yeshi K, Ruscher R, Hunter L, Daly NL, Loukas A, Wangchuk P. Revisiting Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Pathology, Treatments, Challenges and Emerging Therapeutics Including Drug Leads From Natural Products. *J Clin Med* (2020) 9:2–10. doi: 10.3390/jcm9051273
- Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ. Genetics and Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Nature* (2011) 474:307–17. doi: 10.1038/nature10209
- Bach JF. The Hygiene Hypothesis in Autoimmunity: The Role of Pathogens and Commensals. Nat Rev Immunol (2018) 18:105–20. doi: 10.1038/ nri.2017.111
- David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet Rapidly and Reproducibly Alters the Human Gut Microbiome. *Nature* (2014) 505:559–63. doi: 10.1038/nature12820
- Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, Mcgovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Host-Microbe Interactions Have Shaped the Genetic Architecture of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Nature* (2012) 491:119–24. doi: 10.1038/nature11582
- Steeland S, Libert C, Vandenbroucke RE. A New Venue of TNF Targeting. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19(5):1442. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051442
- 32. Lennard-Jones JE, Longmore AJ, Newell AC, Wilson CW, Jones FA. eq An Assessment of Prednisone, Salazopyrin, and Topical Hydrocortisone Hemisuccinate Used as Out-Patient Treatment for Ulcerative Colitis. *Gut* (1960) 1:217–22. doi: 10.1136/gut.1.3.217
- Truelove SC, Watkinson G, Draper G. Comparison of Corticosteroid and Sulphasalazine Therapy in Ulcerative Colitis. *Br Med J* (1962) 2:1708–11. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.5321.1708
- Ham M, Moss AC. Mesalamine in the Treatment and Maintenance of Remission of Ulcerative Colitis. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol* (2012) 5:113–23. doi: 10.1586/ecp.12.2
- Bello C, Goldstein F, Thornton JJ. Alternate-Day Prednisone Treatment and Treatment Maintenance in Crohn's Disease. Am J Gastroenterol (1991) 86:460-6.
- 36. Ewe K, Press AG, Singe CC, Stufler M, Ueberschaer B, Hommel G, et al. Azathioprine Combined With Prednisolone or Monotherapy With Prednisolone in Active Crohn's Disease. *Gastroenterology* (1993) 105:367– 72. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(93)90709-L
- Truelove SC, Witts LJ. Cortisone in Ulcerative Colitis; Final Report on a Therapeutic Trial. Br Med J (1955) 4947:1041–8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.4947.1041
- De Cassan C, Fiorino G, Danese S. Second-Generation Corticosteroids for the Treatment of Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis: More Effective and Less Side Effects? *Dig Dis* (2012) 30:368–75. doi: 10.1159/000338128
- Bar-Meir S, Chowers Y, Lavy A, Abramovitch D, Sternberg A, Leichtmann G, et al. Budesonide Versus Prednisone in the Treatment of Active Crohn's Disease. *Israeli Budesonide Study Group Gastroenterol* (1998) 115:835–40. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(98)70254-9
- Lofberg R, Danielsson A, Suhr O, Nilsson A, Schioler R, Nyberg A, et al. Oral Budesonide Versus Prednisolone in Patients With Active Extensive and Left-Sided Ulcerative Colitis. *Gastroenterology* (1996) 110:1713–8. doi: 10.1053/ gast.1996.v110.pm8964395
- Schoon EJ, Bollani S, Mills PR, Israeli E, Felsenberg D, Ljunghall S, et al. Bone Mineral Density in Relation to Efficacy and Side Effects of Budesonide and Prednisolone in Crohn's Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2005) 3:113–21. doi: 10.1016/S1542-3565(04)00662-7
- Rezaie A, Kuenzig ME, Benchimol EI, Griffiths AM, Otley AR, Steinhart AH, et al. Budesonide for Induction of Remission in Crohn's Disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2015) 6:CD000296. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD000296.pub4
- Prantera C, Marconi S. Glucocorticosteroids in the Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Approaches to Minimizing Systemic Activity. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol* (2013) 6:137–56. doi: 10.1177/1756283X12473675
- 44. Manguso F, Bennato R, Lombardi G, Riccio E, Costantino G, Fries W. Efficacy and Safety of Oral Beclomethasone Dipropionate in Ulcerative Colitis: A

Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0166455. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166455

- Lamb CA, Kennedy NA, Raine T, Hendy PA, Smith PJ, Limdi JK, et al. British Society of Gastroenterology Consensus Guidelines on the Management of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Adults. *Gut* (2019) 68:s1–s106. doi: 10.1136/ gutjnl-2019-318484
- Li C, Wang J, Wang Y, Gao H, Wei G, Huang Y, et al. Recent Progress in Drug Delivery. Acta Pharm Sin B (2019) 9:1145–62. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2019.08.003
- Koleva L, Bovt E, Ataullakhanov F, Sinauridze E. Erythrocytes as Carriers: From Drug Delivery to Biosensors. *Pharmaceutics* (2020) 12:1–3. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12030276
- Leuzzi V, Micheli R, D'agnano D, Molinaro A, Venturi T, Plebani A, et al. Positive Effect of Erythrocyte-Delivered Dexamethasone in Ataxia-Telangiectasia. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm (2015) 2:e98. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000098
- Xu P, Wang R, Wang X, Ouyang J. Recent Advancements in Erythrocytes, Platelets, and Albumin as Delivery Systems. Onco Targets Ther (2016) 9:2873– 84. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S104691
- Sandborn WJ, Travis S, Moro L, Jones R, Gautille T, Bagin R, et al. Once-Daily Budesonide MMX[®] Extended-Release Tablets Induce Remission in Patients With Mild to Moderate Ulcerative Colitis: Results From the CORE I Study. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143:1218–26.e1-e2. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2012.08.003
- Danese S, Siegel CA, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Review Article: Integrating budesonide-MMX Into Treatment Algorithms for Mild- to-Moderate Ulcerative Colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2014) 39:1095–103 doi: 10.1111/apt.12712
- Katz S, Lichtenstein GR, Safdi MA. 5-Asa Dose-Response: Maximizing Efficacy and Adherence. *Gastroenterol Hepatol (NY)* (2010) 6(2 Suppl 3):1–16.
- 53. Hua S, Marks E, Schneider JJ, Keely S. Advances in Oral Nano-Delivery Systems for Colon Targeted Drug Delivery in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Selective Targeting to Diseased Versus Healthy Tissue. *Nanomedicine* (2015) 11:1117–32. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2015.02.018
- Luhder F, Reichardt HM. Novel Drug Delivery Systems Tailored for Improved Administration of Glucocorticoids. Int J Mol Sci (2017) 18:3–5. doi: 10.3390/ ijms18091836
- 55. Zeng A, Dong K, Wang M, Sun J, Dong Y, Wang K, et al. Investigation of the Colon-Targeting, Improvement on the Side-Effects and Therapy on the Experimental Colitis in Mouse of a Resin Microcapsule Loading Dexamethasone Sodium Phosphate. *Drug Deliv* (2016) 23:1992–2002. doi: 10.3109/10717544.2015.1046569
- 56. Heck S, Kullmann M, Gast A, Ponta H, Rahmsdorf HJ, Herrlich P, et al. A Distinct Modulating Domain in Glucocorticoid Receptor Monomers in the Repression of Activity of the Transcription Factor AP-1. *EMBO J* (1994) 13:4087–95. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1994.tb06726.x
- Vandewalle J, Luypaert A, De Bosscher K, Libert C. Therapeutic Mechanisms of Glucocorticoids. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 29:42–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.tem.2017.10.010
- Sundahl N, Bridelance J, Libert C, De Bosscher K, Beck IM. Selective Glucocorticoid Receptor Modulation: New Directions With Non-Steroidal Scaffolds. *Pharmacol Ther* (2015) 152:28–41. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera. 2015.05.001
- Reuter KC, Grunwitz CR, Kaminski BM, Steinhilber D, Radeke HH, Stein J. Selective Glucocorticoid Receptor Agonists for the Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Studies in Mice With Acute Trinitrobenzene Sulfonic Acid Colitis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2012) 341(1):68–80. doi: 10.1124/jpet.111.183947
- Coghlan MJ, Jacobson PB, Lane B, Nakane M, Lin CW, Elmore SW, et al. A Novel Antiinflammatory Maintains Glucocorticoid Efficacy With Reduced Side Effects. *Mol Endocrinol* (2003) 17:860–9. doi: 10.1210/me.2002-0355
- Zhang Z, Zhang ZY, Schluesener HJ. Compound A, a Plant Origin Ligand of Glucocorticoid Receptors, Increases Regulatory T Cells and M2 Macrophages to Attenuate Experimental Autoimmune Neuritis With Reduced Side Effects. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:3081–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901088
- Ayroldi E, Zollo O, Bastianelli A, Marchetti C, Agostini M, Di Virgilio R, et al. GILZ Mediates the Antiproliferative Activity of Glucocorticoids by Negative Regulation of Ras Signaling. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1605–15. doi: 10.1172/ JCI30724

- 63. Venanzi A, Di Sante M, Bruscoli S, Biagioli M, Sorcini D, Cimino M, et al. Recombinant Long-Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper (L-GILZ) Protein Restores the Control of Proliferation in Gilz KO Spermatogonia. *Eur J Pharm Sci* (2014) 63:22–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2014.06.013
- 64. Di Marco B, Massetti M, Bruscoli S, Macchiarulo A, Di Virgilio R, Velardi E, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper (GILZ)/NF-Kappab Interaction: Role of GILZ Homo-Dimerization and C-terminal Domain. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2007) 35:517–28. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl1080
- Ronchetti S, Migliorati G, Riccardi C, GILZ A. GILZ as a Mediator of the Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Glucocorticoids. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2015) 6:170. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2015.00170
- Cannarile L, Cuzzocrea S, Santucci L, Agostini M, Mazzon E, Esposito E, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper is Protective in Th1-mediated Models of Colitis. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136:530–41. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2008.09.024
- Srinivasan M, Janardhanam S. Novel p65 Binding Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Peptide Suppresses Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. J Biol Chem (2011) 286:44799–810. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M111.279257
- 68. Bereshchenko O, Coppo M, Bruscoli S, Biagioli M, Cimino M, Frammartino T, et al. GILZ Promotes Production of Peripherally Induced Treg Cells and

Mediates the Crosstalk Between Glucocorticoids and TGF-beta Signaling. *Cell Rep* (2014) 7:464–75. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.004

- Macedo JA, Hesse J, Turner JD, Meyer J, Hellhammer DH, Muller CP. Glucocorticoid Sensitivity in Fibromyalgia Patients: Decreased Expression of Corticosteroid Receptors and Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2008) 33:799–809. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2008.03.012
- Eades LE, Thiagarajah AS, Harris J, Jones SA, Morand EF, Leech M. GILZ: A New Link Between the Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal Axis and Rheumatoid Arthritis? *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) 92:747–51. doi: 10.1038/icb.2014.56

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Bruscoli, Febo, Riccardi and Migliorati. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bidirectional Crosstalk Between Hypoxia Inducible Factors and Glucocorticoid Signalling in Health and Disease

Tineke Vanderhaeghen^{1,2}, Rudi Beyaert^{1,2} and Claude Libert^{1,2*}

¹ Centre for Inflammation Research, Flanders Institute for Biotechnology (VIB), Ghent, Belgium, ² Department of Biomedical Molecular Biology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Oxana Bereshchenko, University of Perugia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alexandra K. Kiemer, Saarland University, Germany Francis Lin, University of Manitoba, Canada

*Correspondence: Claude Libert Claude.Libert@IRC.VIB-UGent.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 March 2021 Accepted: 19 May 2021 Published: 04 June 2021

Citation:

Vanderhaeghen T, Beyaert R and Libert C (2021) Bidirectional Crosstalk Between Hypoxia Inducible Factors and Glucocorticoid Signalling in Health and Disease. Front. Immunol. 12:684085. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2021.684085 Glucocorticoid-induced (GC) and hypoxia-induced transcriptional responses play an important role in tissue homeostasis and in the regulation of cellular responses to stress and inflammation. Evidence exists that there is an important crosstalk between both GC and hypoxia effects. Hypoxia is a pathophysiological condition to which cells respond quickly in order to prevent metabolic shutdown and death. The hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) are the master regulators of oxygen homeostasis and are responsible for the ability of cells to cope with low oxygen levels. Maladaptive responses of HIFs contribute to a variety of pathological conditions including acute mountain sickness (AMS), inflammation and neonatal hypoxia-induced brain injury. Synthetic GCs which are analogous to the naturally occurring steroid hormones (cortisol in humans, corticosterone in rodents), have been used for decades as anti-inflammatory drugs for treating pathological conditions which are linked to hypoxia (i.e. asthma, ischemic injury). In this review, we investigate the crosstalk between the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), and HIFs. We discuss possible mechanisms by which GR and HIF influence one another, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and the therapeutic effects of GCs on HIF-mediated diseases.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, glucocorticoid receptor, HIF, hypoxia, inflammation

GLUCOCORTICOIDS AND THE GLUCOCORTICOID RECEPTOR: A GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids (GCs; corticosterone in rodents, cortisol in humans) are important steroid hormones which play a role in several fundamental physiological processes such as lipolysis (1) and gluconeogenesis (2), inflammation (3), development (4) and reproduction (5), growth (6), mood and cognition (7, 8), and cardiovascular function (9). They are mainly synthesized in the cortex of the adrenal glands by enzymatic processing of cholesterol (10). Extra-adrenal GC production in the thymus, brain, vasculature, and epithelial barriers has also been observed, where GCs primarily regulate local immune responses (11).

75

The Biosynthesis of GCs, Their Regulation, and Biological Activity

The adrenal GC production is regulated by the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (**Figure 1A**). Under homeostatic, unstressed conditions, the adrenal glands release GCs into the bloodstream in a circadian and ultradian rhythm characterized by peak levels in the morning in humans and in the late afternoon/early night in nocturnal animals such as mice. Upon physiological (e.g. activated immune response) and emotional stress, the activity of the HPA axis is increased. Furthermore, the production of cytokines during inflammation also activates the HPA axis which forms an important regulatory process. GCs will limit the production of most cytokines to maintain homeostasis and guarantee the survival of the host to a life-threatening impact of excessive inflammation, which can be described as a tolerancelike mechanism (12).

When the HPA axis is stimulated, the hypothalamus secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) which subsequently induces the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) by the anterior pituitary in the bloodstream. ACTH will then bind to its receptor and stimulate the adrenal glands to synthesize and secrete GCs into circulation (13). Blood GC levels are regulated by a negative feedback loop, whereby the HPA axis is inhibited at different levels by GCs both in a genomic and non-genomic way (14). The total amount of GCs in circulation is controlled by the adrenal production, but extracellular binding proteins and intracellular enzymes regulate local GC activity. In plasma, ~90% of circulating GCs are bound by corticosteroid-binding globulin (CBG) and albumin, thereby leaving only a

limited amount of circulating GCs in a free, biological active form (15). At sites of infection, proteases such as neutrophil elastases target CBG, causing the local release of bound GCs (16). Once the lipophilic GCs are released into the bloodstream, they diffuse through cell membranes to bind cytosolic glucocorticoid receptor (GR). This receptor is ubiquitously and constitutively expressed throughout the body, but exerts tissue-specific and cellular effects (17). The bioavailability of GCs in the cytoplasm is determined by the balance between active and inactive forms of GCs. Within cells, 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD1/2) enzymes are responsible for the conversion of inactive cortisone/11-dehydrocortisone into active cortisol/ corticosterone, and *vice versa* (Figure 1B). Inflammatory cytokines are able to regulate the expression of 11 β -HSD1/2 enzymes, thereby modulating GC activity locally (18).

The GR Protein Structure

The GR is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily of transcription factors (TFs). It is a 97 kDa protein encoded by the *NR3C1/Nr3c1* gene (chromosome 5 in human, chromosome 18 in mouse). The GR protein contains an N-terminal domain (NTD), a DNA-binding domain (DBD), a hinge region, and a C-terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD) (19). In the NTD, the ligand independent activation function (AF1) is present which is responsible for the binding of co-factors, chromatin modulators, and the transcription machinery (20). The DBD contains two subdomains each containing a zinc finger important for specific GR DNA binding (proximal box) and GR dimerization (distal box) (21). The hinge region provides flexibility between the DBD



FIGURE 1 | The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (A) and the conversion of glucocorticoids (GCs) (B). (A) Under unstressed, homeostatic conditions GCs are released from the adrenal glands in the blood stream in a circadian and ultradian rhythm. Upon physiological and emotional stress, this release is increased. Stimulation of the HPA axis induces the secretion of corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) by the hypothalamus which stimulates the release of adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) by the pituitary. This will lead to the production of GCs by the adrenal glands and the secretion into the blood stream. Blood GC levels regulate the hypothalamus and the pituitary via a negative feedback loop. (B) The lipophilic GCs diffuse freely through the plasma membrane. The bioavailability of the GCs is regulated by 11β-HSD1 and 11β-HSD2 which are responsible for the conversion of inactive cortisone/11-dehydrocortisone into active cortisol/corticosterone and vice versa. Figures created with Biorender.

and the LBD and acts as a regulatory interface. The LBD contains a ligand binding pocket which is composed of 12 α -helices and 4 β -sheets, and the ligand-dependent AF-2 domain. GR dimerization is also provided by a dimerization interphase in the LBD (22). Further, nuclear localization (NLS), nuclear export (NES), and nuclear retention (NRS) signals have been identified in the GR and are required for the subcellular traffic of GR (**Figure 2A**) (23).

GR Signalling

In the absence of bioactive ligand, the GR resides in the cytoplasm in a multiprotein chaperone complex. This chaperone complex is critical for the conformation of GR, in an ATP dependent manner, in which the ligand-binding cleft of GR is opened to allow GC binding with high affinity. Furthermore, the chaperone complex is important for nuclear translocation and activation of the GR. Upon ligand binding, the GR undergoes conformational changes leading to dissociation of the chaperone complex and translocation to the nucleus (24). Once in the nucleus, the GR transcriptionally activates or represses gene expression as a GR monomer or a GR dimer (or even a tetramer) usually via direct interaction with specific DNA sequences (25). In most tissues and in the presence of endogenous GCs during homeostasis, GR most frequently binds to DNA as a monomer and interacts with DNA via binding to GC response element (GRE) half-sites. When a binding site for another TF is in close proximity of the GRE halfsite, both elements are able to act as a composite site where the GR monomer and the other TF might interact in a positive or negative manner (26). Two GR monomers can also bind to DNA via interaction with inverted negative GREs and repress gene expression by recruitment of corepressors (27). When exogenous GCs like dexamethasone (DEX) and prednisolone are administered, the binding of the GR dimer to GREs is favoured at the cost of the GR monomer. Of course, GR homodimers are also formed under certain pathophysiological conditions, e.g. when GCs rise very high in the blood. Binding of GR homodimers induces transcriptional activation of genes, which indicates that the GR monomer is the most important for physiological functions whereas the GR dimer is crucial for the pharmacological and stress functions (28). GR can also interact with specific genome regions indirectly via tethering with other TFs such as nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) and AP-1 (29). Additionally, GR is able to compete with other TFs for overlapping DNA binding sequences (30) of for the binding of co-factors (31, 32). Finally, GR can sequester other TFs to prevent them of binding to the DNA (Figure 2B) (33). Next to genomic effects, GR can also induce non-genomic effects which are not dependent on transcriptional activities or protein synthesis (34).

THE PHYSIOLOGICAL REGULATION AND STRUCTURE OF HYPOXIA-INDUCIBLE FACTORS

The discovery of how cells are able to sense and respond to low oxygen levels, known as hypoxia, has been rewarded in 2019 with the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine, for Drs. Ratcliffe, Kaelin and Semenza. The regulation of oxygen homeostasis and the access to an adequate oxygen supply is crucial for the survival of all aerobic organisms, including humans. During oxygen deprivation induced by low levels of haemoglobin or insufficient blood flow to specific organs, cells modulate their protein activity or change their transcriptional and post-transcriptional organisations (35). Cells will activate multiple genes involved in diverse biological processes such as cell survival and proliferation (36), glucose metabolism (37), and angiogenesis (38).

Oxygen Sensing and the Importance of HIF Proteins

The human body senses oxygen levels by different mechanisms. First, the carotid body located in the carotid artery senses oxygen and carbon dioxide levels in the blood. When the carotid body detects a decrease in blood oxygen levels, it transduces a signal to stimulate breathing, thereby increasing the acquisition of oxygen from the air (39). Second, an unexpected and novel role for the mouse olfactory system has been revealed as a peripheral oxygensensing system that enables mice to rapidly assess the oxygen level in the environment before the arterial blood becomes hypoxic (40). Also, oxygen-dependent enzymes such as 2-oxoglutaratedependent [2-OG, also known as α -ketoglutarate (α -KG)] oxygenases require oxygen for their activity. When oxygen levels decrease, their activity is inhibited. Prolyl hydroxylases (PHDs) are the best-characterized 2-OG-dependent oxygenases which negatively regulate hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) (41), and thus operate as an "oxygen sensor" system. Additionally, mitochondria are also considered as a site of cellular oxygen sensing since they are responsible for the majority of oxygen consumption within cells. Oxygen is used at the terminal complex in the electron transport chain (ETC), where oxygen serves as the acceptor of protons, which have been stripped from metabolites in the ETC, forming H₂O. The production of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) signals upon hypoxia was firstly demonstrated by Chandel et al. They have shown that HIF1 α is stabilized upon hypoxia by the generation of ROS by the mitochondrial ETC (42), and more specifically, the ROS generated by complex III (43). A possible explanation how mitochondrial ROS stabilize HIF proteins is by inhibiting PHDs and Factor inhibiting HIF1 (FIH). Hydroxylases can be modified post-translationally by redox signals. Since PHD2 is able to interact with other proteins (44), ROS signals can influence PHD2 activity by changing these protein-protein interactions. Another possibility is the oxidation of cysteine residues or attacking iron (Fe^{2+}) atoms (45, 46), which are important for PHD and FIH function, by ROS leading to the inactivation of these oxygen-dependent enzymes.

The master regulators involved in oxygen homeostasis and important for development, physiology, and disease are HIFs. They are members of the basic helix-loop-helix Per-Arnt-Sim (bHLH-PAS) transcription factor superfamily. HIFs are heterodimers containing an α - and β -subunit. Three α subunits are found in mammals, namely HIF1 α , HIF2 α , and HIF3 α , which are oxygen-sensitive as they accumulate in hypoxia. The β -subunit, also known as the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT), is constitutively expressed



FIGURE 2 | The glucocorticoid receptor (GR) protein (A) and its activation and function (B). (A) The structure of the GR protein containing an N-terminal domain (NTD), a DNA-binding domain (DBD), a hinge region (H), and a ligand-binding domain (LBD). The DBD contains two zinc fingers important for specific GR DNA binding (P box) and GR dimerization (D box). Regions important for the GR function are indicated below the protein structure. AF, activation function; NLS, nuclear localization signal; NES, nuclear export signal; NRS, nuclear retention signal. (B) GCs diffuse through the cell membrane and bind the GR in the cytoplasm. This causes a change in the chaperone complex followed by its release and the translocation of the GR to the nucleus where it induces transactivation (+) or transrepression (-) of gene transcription as a GR monomer or a GR homodimer. The GR transactivate gene expression by binding to glucocorticoid receptor element (GRE) as a dimer (i), or can transrepress gene expression by binding to inverted repeat negative GREs (ii). The GR further transrepresses the expression of genes *via* binding to composite elements (iii), by tethering (v), by competing for DNA binding sites (BS) (vi), by competing for co-factors with other TFs (vii) or by sequestrating TFs (viii). GR can also function as a tetramer (iv), but its function is unknown. Figures created with Biorender.

and not affected by hypoxia. HIF1 α and HIF1 β contain an Nterminal bHLH and PAS domain, responsible for DNA binding and heterodimerization, respectively, and C-terminal transactivation domains (N-TAD and C-TAD). N-TAD is mandatory for target gene specificity and the stability, while C-TAD interacts with co-activators e.g. p300 and CREB binding protein (CBP) required for full HIF activity and regulation of HIF target gene expression. The oxygen sensitivity of HIF α is conferred by an internal oxygen-dependent degradation domain (ODDD). Besides these domains, two nuclear localization signals (N-NLS and C-NLS) are present, which direct the HIF protein to the nucleus. HIF2 α exhibits high structural similarity with HIF1 α , but they differ in their transactivation domains leading to differences in target gene specificities. HIF1 α is ubiquitously expressed, while HIF2 α expression is more cell type specific like hepatocytes, adipocytes, endothelial cells, cardiomyocytes, interstitial cells, kidney glomeruli and neurons (47–52). HIF3 α is the dominant-negative regulator of the HIF pathway. Due to the absence of the ODDD, HIF1 β is constitutively expressed in an oxygen-independent manner (**Figure 3A**).



FIGURE 3 | Protein structure of hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) (**A**) and their activity under normoxic and hypoxic conditions (**B**). (**A**) HIF proteins are basic helixloop-helix Per-Arnt-Sim (bHLH-PAS) transcription factors build up by an α -subunit and β -subunit. HIF1 α consist of a bHLH and PAS domain, necessary for DNA binding and homodimerization, respectively. Further, an oxygen-dependent domain (ODDD) and two transactivation domains (N-TAD and C-TAD) are present. The stability and target gene specificity are determined by the N-TAD which overlaps with the ODDD. The C-TAD regulates the interaction with co-activators thereby activating gene transcription. HIF1 α and HIF2 α differ within their transactivation domain, while HIF3 α is known as the dominant-negative regulator. Due to the absence of the ODDD, HIF1 β is constitutively expressed. (**B**) In normoxia, prolyl hydroxylases (PHDs) hydroxylate proline (P) residues in the ODDD leading to the binding of the von Hippel-Lindau protein (pVHL) followed by ubiquitination and degradation by the 26S proteasome. The factor inhibiting HIF1 (FIH) hydroxylates asparagine (N) residues in the C-TAD, preventing the interaction of the C-TAD with co-activators thereby inhibiting gene transcription. When oxygen levels decrease, PHDs are inactivated, the HIF α subunits are stabilized, dimerize with HIF β and translocate to the nucleus. After CBP/p300 are recruited, gene transcription is induced by binding to hypoxia-responsive elements (HREs). Figures created with Biorender.

HIF Protein Regulation

In physiological oxygen conditions, HIF proteins are constantly produced and degraded by the 26S proteasome. When oxygen is present, PHDs hydroxylate proline (Pro) residues present in the ODDD (Pro 402 and 564 for HIF1 α , Pro 405 and 531 for HIF2 α) inducing an ubiquitination reaction by the E3 ubiquitin ligase Von Hippel-Lindau protein (pVHL) followed by 26S proteasome-mediated degradation. The activity of PHDs relies on the presence of oxygen, Fe^{2+} , α -KG and ascorbic acid (also known as vitamin C). Each PHD has a different affinity for a certain HIF. HIF1 α is mainly regulated by PHD2, while PHD1 and PHD3 are the master regulators of HIF2 α (53–55). Mouse studies have reported that PHD2 deficiency causes defects in the developing heart and placenta leading to embryonic lethality between E12.5 and E14.5 (56, 57). Deletion of PHD1 and PHD3 is not lethal and only has tissue specific effects, because of their role in cellular metabolism in skeletal muscle and blood pressure in the central nervous system, respectively (58, 59). Hydroxylation of asparagine (Asn) residues in the C-TAD (Asn 803 for HIF1a and Asn 851 for HIF2a) by FIH prevents the interaction of C-TAD with co-activators causing the inhibition of the transcriptional activity of HIFa. Under hypoxic conditions, or in the absence of the cofactors Fe^{2+} , α -KG or vitamins, PHDs are inactivated and HIF hydroxylation is inhibited. The availability of HIF α can also be regulated at a transcriptional level via a crosstalk with other signalling pathways. For example, NF-KB is able to bind the HIF1a promotor and induces its transcription (60). Once the α subunits are stabilized, they dimerize with HIF1 β and translocate to the nucleus. After co-factor recruitment, the heterodimeric complex binds to hypoxia responsive elements (HREs) containing the core sequence RCGTG (R: A/G) leading to the activation of target genes (Figure 3B).

BIDIRECTIONAL CROSSTALK BETWEEN HIF AND GR

The Direct Effect of Hypoxia/HIF on GR Function and *Vice Versa*

The presence of a crosstalk between hypoxia-dependent signalling pathways and GCs and their receptor have been described in several *in vitro* studies (**Figure 4**). Kodama et al. have been the first to provide evidence of an interaction between HIF and GR. They have identified that hypoxia-dependent gene expression and HRE activity in HeLa cells is enhanced by ligand-dependent activation of GR after DEX stimulation. Furthermore, they show that the LBD is essential for the induction of HRE-Luc activity in HeLa cells upon DEX stimulation, since the HRE-Luc activity is not altered when HeLa cells are transfected with a GR plasmid lacking the NTD or in the presence of the point mutation A458T causing impaired GR dimerization. Although they have no direct evidence of a clear protein-protein interaction between the GR LBD and HIF1, colocalization of GR and HIF1 in distinct compartments of the nucleus are shown (61). Subsequently, a functional role for hypoxia and HIF1 α in the regulation of GR mRNA and protein expression and the associated increased GC activity has been shown by Leonard et al. in human proximal tubular epithelial cells (HK-2 cells), indicating that there is an obvious crosstalk between HIF and GR. The upregulation of GR might occur through the binding of HIF1 α to one or more HRE sites in the NR3C1 promotor, thereby enhancing GR transcription (62). These results were confirmed in another study where GR expression is upregulated in mouse pituitary AtT-20 cells in hypoxic conditions by increased HIF1 α mRNA and protein expression levels (63).

In contrast to the previous studies, Wagner et al. demonstrate that the effect of hypoxia on human hepatoma HepG2 cells in combination with DEX stimulation leads to reduced HIF1 α DNA binding activity and HRE activity in a dose-dependent manner. Also, the expression of endogenous HIF1 α target genes is decreased. This indicates that DEX attenuates HIF1 α activity in a GR-dependent manner, since these effects are not present in a GR deficient human hepatoma Hep3B cell line and are restored upon transient expression of GR. They also report an unusual distribution of HIF1 α in the cytoplasm, which suggests a problem with nuclear translocation of HIF1 α (64).

The Consequences of Hypoxia on the Anti-Inflammatory Actions of GCs

Next to the direct effect of hypoxia/HIF on GR and vice versa, several in vitro studies describe the effect of hypoxia on the antiinflammatory actions of synthetic GCs. Hypoxia plays a key role in chronic lung diseases e.g. asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The alveolar epithelial cells are directly exposed to changes in oxygen pressure in the arterial blood and to inhaled steroids (65). The exposure of A549 cells (immortalized human alveolar epithelial cells) to hypoxic conditions causes a downregulation of both GR mRNA and protein levels (66) and inhibits nuclear translocation of GR (67), which is in contrast with the results of Leonard et al. (62). This suggests that hypoxia has cell-type-specific effects on GR mRNA and protein levels (68). In the presence of normal oxygen levels, DEX inhibits the production of IL-8 by A549 cells when stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS). However, hypoxia significantly attenuates the DEX-mediated inhibition of IL-8 production in these cells (66). Charron et al. also demonstrate a reduced anti-inflammatory effect of DEX: stimulation of A549 cells with the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β leads to increased CXCL8 production, which can be repressed by DEX, but in hypoxia the DEX response is less effective (Figure 4A). They show that this reduced DEX effect might be linked to the binding of HIF1 α to HREs present in the promotor of histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2), which is normally recruited by an activated GR to repress NF-KB mediated transcription in airway epithelial cells. However, binding of HIF1 α to the promotor leads to reduced HDAC2 transcription and less suppression of NF-KB mediated transcription of genes with known pro-inflammatory functions (69).



studies, HIF and GR have direct and cell-type dependent effects on each other, thereby increasing or repressing the transcription of *HIF* mRNA and *N3RC1* mRNA genes. Inflammatory stimuli like lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induce NF-kB mediated transcription of genes encoding pro-inflammatory cytokines. HIF is known to stimulate this NF-kB mediated gene transcription, while GR will repress this. **(B)** Upon hypoxic conditions, the expression of GC-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) encoded by the *TSC22D3* gene is upregulated, thereby inhibiting the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines mediated by NF-kB. When macrophages are pre-treated with dexamethasone, a synthetic GC, the effects are amplified. Figures created with Biorender.

Immune Cells and the Role of Oxygen Availability

Oxygen availability is also important for the functional behaviour of immune cells. Hypoxia is able to activate monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells by altering their gene expression and cytokine secretion (70–73). GC-induced leucine zipper (GILZ) is encoded by the *TSC22D3* gene, which is known as a DEX-inducible gene and is highly expressed in cells of the immune system (74). GILZ is able to

inhibit the activation of macrophages and the production of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators upon exposure to LPS (75). The exposure of macrophages to hypoxic conditions significantly upregulates GILZ mRNA expression, thereby inhibiting the production and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-6. When pre-treated with DEX these effects are amplified. These results indicate that GILZ prevents the overactivation of immune cells and overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines in hypoxic microenvironments and might be involved in systemic adaptation to hypoxia (**Figure 4B**) (76). In A549 cells, hypoxia induces the expression COX-2 *via* NF- κ B, which is suppressed by DEX. The inhibitory effects of DEX on hypoxia-induced COX-2 is mediated by GILZ *via* a physical interaction between GILZ and HIF1 α (77).

Macrophages are known to be key players in inflammatory diseases. Next to their protective immunological function, they also induce the production of pro-angiogenic cytokines and growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A) and basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2) thereby promoting angiogenesis (78). Upon hypoxia, the polarization of macrophages is promoted towards the activated, anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype, and not to the pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype. This causes an increased the expression of VEGF and decreased the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, thereby regulating macrophage functions including tumour promotion in cancer (79). It is known that GCs are angiostatic and are used to tread angiogenesis-related diseases such as solid tumours. They regulate angiogenesis via the suppression of proliferation, migration and sprouting in endothelial cells and by reducing the expression or secretion of cytokines and proteins involved in angiogenesis (80). Since both hypoxia and GCs are involved in angiogenesis and influence the macrophage function e.g. by inducing GILZ expression, it is possible that the hypoxic tumour environment in combination with GC treatment also causes the upregulation of GILZ expression and thereby preventing overactivation of immune cells. However, further investigation is necessary to elucidate the connection between hypoxia, GCs and GILZ expression and macrophage polarization. Must be added at the end of this paragraph: An overview of the most essential key studies

concerning the bidirectional crosstalk between GCs and HIF can be found in Table 1.

The *In Vivo* Crosstalk Between HIF and GR and Its Role in Inflammation

From these in vitro studies, a dynamic interaction between oxygen concentration and GR function mediated through HIF1 α has become clear (Figure 4A). Also in vivo studies using zebrafish have identified new activators of the HIF signalling pathway in the liver e.g. betamethasone (BME) and DEX, synthetic GR agonists. These GCs activate HRE reporters in a GR dependent manner (81), although via a nontranscriptional route since these HIF transcriptional responses were still present when the GR DBD harbours a point mutation (R443C; R484C in mouse and R477C in human), a missense mutation in the DBD thereby largely eliminating the transcriptional activity of GR (96). They suggest a mechanism by which GCs stabilize HIF proteins via the degradation of pVHL (81). Upregulation of the HIF signalling in $vhl^{-/-}$ zebrafish represses the GR activity and dampens its responsiveness to BME. Also endogenous cortisol levels were reduced, most likely due to HIF-mediated downregulation of POMC activity. The inhibition of the HIF pathway leads to a significant increase in both GR activity and cortisol levels (97). These results are confirmed by Marchi et al. They have also demonstrated the repression of GR activity and its reduced responsiveness to exogenous GCs when HIF protein levels are upregulated in vhl^{-/-} zebrafish. Furthermore, cortisol levels were also reduced suggesting that HIF signalling can act both at the level of the hypothalamus by inhibiting Pomc expression and intracellularly by blocking the transcriptional activity of GR itself (82). A recent

TABLE 1 | Overview of key studies concerning the bidirectional crosstalk between GC signalling and HIF mediated pathways.

	Purpose	Results	References
In vitro	DEX effect on HeLa cells under hypoxic conditions	Induction of hypoxia-dependent gene expression Increased HRE-luciferase activity The LBD of GR is necessary for HRE-luciferase activity	
	Exposure of HK-2 cells or AtT-20 cells to hypoxia	Upregulation of GR mRNA and protein levels due to binding of HIF1 α to HREs present in the NR3C1 promotor	(62, 63)
	The effect of GCs on HIF1 α function (HepG2 cells)	Attenuation of HIF1 α activity upon hypoxia and DEX stimulation as a results of reduced DNA binding and HRE activity associated with problems with HIF1 α nuclear translocation	(64)
	Characterization of the hypoxic effect on GR levels and its anti-	Hypoxia causes a time-dependent downregulation of GR mRNA and protein levels and inhibits GR nuclear translocation	(66, 67, 69)
	inflammatory actions in A549 cells	The anti-inflammatory effect of DEX is attenuated when A549 cells are exposed to hypoxia and stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β	
	Effect of chemical hypoxia ($CoCl_2$) and/or DEX on RAW264.7 cells	GILZ is upregulated by hypoxia and is further increased upon DEX stimulation to prevent overactivation of immune cells (macrophages) and overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines (inhibition of IL-1 β and IL-6 production)	(76)
In vivo	How is hypoxia affecting the endogenous GC pathway and vice versa in zebrafish larvae?	GCs stabilize HIF <i>via</i> pVHL degradation HIF represses GR activity and the GR response to exogenous GCs (e.g. BME) in <i>vhI^{-/-}</i> zebrafish larvae Cortisol levels are reduced by HIF due to repression of POMC expression and intracellular blocking the transcriptional activity of GR	(81, 82)
GCs in AMS	Prophylactic effect of GCs when ascending to high altitude	Administration of GCs (DEX and prednisolone) prior to ascending to high altitude reduces the symptoms of AMS (suppresses inflammatory pathways, reduces vascular permeability and vasoconstriction, improves arterial oxygenation and induces a better antioxidant-oxidant balance)	(83–88)
Perinatal hypoxia and GCs	Effect of GCs during perinatal hypoxia	Neonatal hypoxia leads to the activation of the HPA axis in the neonates and causes higher GC levels GCs can have neuroprotective effects on neonatal HI-induced brain damage Ideal timing, dose and duration of GCs is necessary to prevent neurotoxic effects	(89, 90) (91–93) (94, 95)

study by Watts et al. propose HIF1 α as a vital regulator of steroidogenesis by controlling the expression of enzymes involved in steroid production (98).

In the presence of inflammation, an important role for the GR-HIF1 α signalling pathway has been implicated by Lu et al. (99). Immune mediated hepatic injury (IMH) caused by LPS leads to a decrease in GR protein levels in myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), which are known to be negative regulators of the immune response (100). However, when these MDSCs are treated with DEX, GR expression is restored followed by an ameliorated mortality and reduced inflammatory insults in IMH. This implies that the GR signalling pathway in MDSCs is a potential therapeutic target in treating innate immune cell-mediated hepatic injury. They also elucidate the suppression of HIF1 α and HIF1 α mediated glycolysis in MDSCs thereby promoting the immune suppressive activity in MDSCs (99). Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is a progressive and life-threatening disease with poor prognosis characterized by pulmonary vasoconstriction and increased pulmonary vascular resistance leading to right ventricular failure, fluid overload and eventually death (101). The infiltration of inflammatory cells e.g. T cells, B cells, macrophages and dendritic cells is typically present in the pulmonary vascular lesions of PAH patients (102). A critical role for serum GC regulated kinase 1 (SGK-1) in the pro-inflammatory response in hypoxia-induced PAH is demonstrated. In the absence of SGK-1, the hypoxia-induced PAH development and pulmonary arterial remodelling is ameliorated, and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNFa and IL-6 are inhibited. This suggest that SGK-1 plays a critical role in PAH development and might be a potential therapeutic target (103).

Based on these *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, a bidirectional crosstalk between GR and HIF is present. However, more studies using animal models will be necessary to elucidate this interaction in more detail and how important this crosstalk is in inflammatory disease models. Further understanding of the GR-HIF crosstalk might lead to the development of alternative therapeutic strategies.

IMPACT OF GCs ON ACUTE MOUNTAIN SICKNESS AND THE IMPORTANCE OF NF-KB

Hypoxia and inflammation are unequivocally linked (104). Just as hypoxia causes inflammation by stimulating NF- κ B gene transcription and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, inflamed tissue can also become hypoxic (105). The increased demand for oxygen and decreased oxygen supply are the main reasons why tissue becomes hypoxic during inflammation. The metabolic activity following an immunogenic insult is enlarged in the inflamed tissue and requires an increased synthesis of inflammatory cytokines and enzymes leading to a higher oxygen demand (106). Additionally, the influx of immune cells at the site of inflammation leads to more oxygen consumption and cellular hypoxia (105). Another cause of hypoxia during inflammation is disrupted oxygen delivery due to vascular dysfunction (107). Therefore, both an increased oxygen consumption and decreased oxygen delivery finally lead to tissue hypoxia during inflammation.

The Prophylactic Effect of Synthetic GCs When Ascending to High Altitude

Millions of people live permanently at high altitude. The inhabitants living at the highest altitude are found in La Rinconada in the Southern of Peru, where the altitude is 5100 m and only 7000 people live there. However Cerro de Pasco in Peru with an altitude of 4300 m has up to 75000 inhabitants and more than 1 million people reside at El Alto in Bolivia (altitude 4100 m) (Figure 5) (108). In the recent years, the interest in carrying out activities at high altitudes has increased. People travel to regions of high altitudes (i.e. higher than 2500 m) for work, permanent residence, sports and tourism. However, when ascending to high altitude, people are exposed to hypobaric hypoxia. Dependent on the length and time spent at high altitude, this can result in the development of high altitude illnesses encompassing pulmonary and cerebral syndromes which occur in non-acclimatized individuals shortly after rapid ascent (109, 110). Acute mountain sickness (AMS) is the most common syndrome and is characterized by headache and can also be accompanied by nausea, loss of appetite, disturbed sleep, fatigue and dizziness within 12h after ascent. A grading system that is used for the diagnosis of AMS is the Lake Louis self-assessment questionnaire (LLS) (111-113). AMS is a phenomenon of systemic hypoxia, vascular leakage and increased levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines which can lead to the development of high altitude pulmonary edema (HAPE) or high altitude cerebral edema (HACE) and are a potentially fatal consequence (109, 114).

Several clinical trials to prevent AMS have been performed in which acetazolamide and synthetic GCs such as DEX, budesonide and prednisolone were used. Acetazolamide has been the first drug used in a prophylactic manner, however symptoms were only partly controlled and the drug caused some undesirable side effects (83). Prophylactic treatment with GCs is able to reduce the symptoms of AMS when administered prior to ascending to high altitude (83-88). Both DEX and prednisolone are able to suppress inflammatory pathways (115), reduce vascular permeability and vasoconstriction (116), improve arterial oxygenation (88) and induce a more favourable antioxidant-oxidant balance (117). Budesonide, in contrast to DEX and prednisolone, is not recommended for the prevention of AMS, although it is able to reduce the heart rate and increases the oxygen saturation (118, 119). Next to synthetic GCs, clinical trials using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) e.g. ibuprofen against AMS suggest that NSAIDs might be a safe and effective alternative medicine in the prevention of AMS (120). Further, large randomized controlled clinical trials are necessary to look in more detail to the prophylactic effect of budesonide in AMS. The fact that GCs prevent AMS may suggest that AMS is in fact nothing else than a hypoxia-induced general inflammatory response. Also, more clinical trials comparing the benefits of NSAIDs to synthetic GCs in the prevention of AMS are recommended.



How Does Hypoxia Cause Generalized Inflammation? Physical Interaction Between NF-κB and HIF Proteins

When humans ascent to high altitude and are exposed to hypoxic conditions, hypoxia itself is able to promote several TFs such as NF- κ B thereby stimulating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF α and IL-6 (121). NF- κ B is a family of TFs composed of RelA (p65), RelB, c-Rel, NF-KB1 (p50/p105) and NF- κ B2 (p52/p100). Different stimuli are able to activate these different subunits e.g. bacterial LPS, viral pathogens, cytokines and growth factors. NF-KB activation requires the degradation of the inhibitory proteins such as IkBs. Once they are phosphorylated by the IKB kinase (IKK) complex, IKBs are degraded by the proteasome and the NF-KB subunits can translocate to the nucleus to activate their target genes. One of these target genes is the HIF α subunit, thereby increasing its transcription (122). Several studies have reported the physical interaction between HIF and NF-κB. Hypoxia itself is also able to stimulate the activation of NF-KB. In the presence of hypoxia, PHD1 activity is inhibited thereby decreasing PHD-dependent hydroxylation of IKK β , since IKK β contains a conserved motif for PHD hydroxylation. This results in the phosphorylation of IKK β and liberation of NF- κ B from the cytoplasm (123). It is shown that HIF1 α binds to RelA in EGF-induced cells (124). Also a novel and specific interaction between NF-KB essential modulator IKK γ (NEMO) and HIF2 α has been reported by Bracken et al. This interaction enhances the transcriptional

activity of HIF2a in normoxia in which NEMO promotes CBP/p300 recruitment to HIF2 α (125). HIF1 β is also able to interact physically with NF-KB. Namely, in CD30 stimulated cells, HIF1B interacts with RelB and p52 subunits thereby promoting NF-KB mediated transcription (126). Next to hypoxia, HIF is also induced by growth factors such as insulinlike growth factor 1 and platelet-derived growth factor, cytokines like TNF α and IL-1, and ROS, all of which are activators of NF- κ B (Figure 6). This learns us that NF- κ B functions as a direct modulator of HIF expression by regulating basal, $TNF\alpha$ and hypoxia-induced HIF expression (127-129). More elaborate studies will be necessary to determine whether the physical interaction between HIF and NF-KB is dependent on DNAbinding or is the result of protein-protein interactions. This is important, as more precise intervention strategies, involving GR or not, can then be developed.

Systemic Inflammation in Response to High Altitude

It has been shown that HIF1 α also plays an important role in promoting the expression of NF- κ B regulated inflammatory cytokines in macrophages after LPS (130). In humans ascending to high altitude, Hartmann et al. have reported elevated levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6, the inflammatory marker IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) and Creactive protein (CRP) in the blood compared to normal levels. This demonstrates the presence of moderate systemic inflammation in response to high altitude (131). Also other studies have shown that exposure to hypoxia of rodents and



humans causes increased vascular leakage and oxidative stress with elevated NF-KB expression in the lungs followed by significantly higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-6 and TNF α (132–134). Circulating chemokines known to recruit and activate leukocytes during inflammation such as macrophage inflammatory protein 1α (MIP- 1α) and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) are also significantly upregulated in HAPE susceptible individuals (fast ascending mountaineers with previous episodes of HAPE) which is suggestive for chronic inflammation (135). DEX is able to block the production of MCP-1 generated by hypoxic alveolar macrophages to increase capillary permeability (136, 137). It also blocks the formation of migration inhibitory factor (MIF) (138). The high recurrence rate of HAPE susceptibility might point towards a genetic predisposition linked with PAH. For example, a missense mutation in the JAK2 gene represents a good candidate gene for PAH and the possible development of HAPE upon ascending to high altitude. Also variants in the CYP1B1 and HRG gene have been identified in HAPE susceptible mountaineers (139). Therefore, the identification of more candidate gene polymorphisms in the pathogenesis of HAPE in combination with its prevention and treatment will be of great importance in the better understanding of the disease and formulating new strategies to deal with it.

A recent prospective observational trial has shown that several pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemoattractant proteins are increased after 24h when non-acclimatized humans ascend to high altitude and can be associated with an increased LLS and the clinical symptoms for AMS. In blood samples of these individuals, levels of IL-1 β , MCP-1 and its target

protein VEGFA are increased at high altitude (140). When AMS further develops into HACE, both in humans and rats the highaltitude hypoxia causes an increase in circulating TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6 cytokines. Also the stress hormone CRH is significantly increased. In rats, this has been associated with the upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines which can be blocked with a CRH receptor type 1 (CRHR1) antagonist. Based on these findings, one could suggest that the hypoxia-activated CRH and its CRHR1 signalling might be important for the induction AMS and its pro-inflammatory response (141).

In general, ascending to high altitude of non-acclimatized humans causes the development of AMS, which can further develop into HAPE or HACE. This is clearly associated with the induction of a pro-inflammatory response, most likely linked with a higher NF-KB activity and perhaps the involvement of CRH and the CRHR1 signalling. Small scale clinical trials suggest a prophylactic effect of acetazolamide and GCs such as DEX and prednisolone against AMS probably by reducing NF-KB activity and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Figure 7). It would be of great interest to conduct large scale clinical trials with healthy individuals ascending to high altitude which could provide new insights into the body's reaction to hypoxia. The exploration of possible mechanisms responsible for the adaptation to acute hypoxia might be of great added value to improve the understanding of causes and consequences of hypoxia in critical illness. Also the mechanism on how GR is able to inhibit HIF mediated effects in AMS, at the level of HIF itself or more downstream on HIF triggered inflammatory pathways might also be important in critically ill and septic patients and lead to the identification of new therapeutic targets.



FIGURE 7 | Acute mountain sickness (AMS) and the prophylactic effect of synthetic GCs. Ascending to high altitude can lead to the development of AMS. This is characterized by elevated NF- κ B expression and higher levels of po-inflammatory markers such as TNF α , IL-6, IL-1ra, CRP and chemokines like MCP-1 and MIP-1 α . Next to the inflammatory response, the expression of CRH and its receptor CRHR1 in the hypothalamus is also elevated, leading to increased GC production by the adrenal glands and stimulation of the GR. When ascending to high altitude, the hypoxic response is also characterized by metabolic changes and vascular dysfunction induced by the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) contributing to the inflammatory response. When pre-treated with synthetic GCs such as dexamethasone and prednisolone, the GR is stimulated and the NF- κ B and HIF mediated responses are inhibited and the symptoms of AMS are reduced. Figures created with Biorender.

OXYGEN DEPRIVATION DURING BIRTH AND THE ROLE OF GCs

Hypoxia during the period before and during parturition, and also after birth is one of the most common causes of neonatal morbidity followed by admission to the intensive care unit and neonatal mortality. Causes of foetal hypoxia might include unhealthy behaviour and the presence of chronic diseases in pregnant women (e.g. cardiovascular diseases, diabetes and anaemia). Also impairment of the foetal-placental barrier and exposure to harmful environments can lead to foetal hypoxia (142, 143). Postnatal hypoxia can appear from birth until days to weeks after parturition and is caused by a variety of cardiovascular and pulmonary disorders e.g. lack of lung development following preterm birth or patent ductus arteriosus in which the ductus arteriosus fails to close after birth (144, 145). Hypoxia in the premature neonate is generally associated with a harmful conditions requiring mechanical ventilation and oxygen therapy, GCs and other supplementary therapies (146, 147). The adaptation of neonates to hypoxia requires a coordinated physiological response, which includes an increase in the release of GCs, but not aldosterone, from the adrenal cortex. This implies a zonespecific adaptation of the adrenal glands to hypoxia (148). *In vitro* studies have shown that adrenal cells isolated from hypoxic neonatal rats display increased steroidogenesis due to hypoxia-induced changes to the steroidogenic enzyme activity rather than an alterations in the expression of steroidogenic enzymes (149). This is in contrast with adult rodents where hypoxia leads to a decreased expression of steroidogenic enzymes (150) and HIF1 α is a central regulator of steroidogenesis (98).

The Effect of Neonatal Hypoxia on the Activity of the HPA Axis

To gain further insights into the effect of neonatal hypoxia on the HPA axis, Raff et al. exposed suckling rats to hypoxia from birth until 5-7 days of age. This results into increased basal GC levels while no differences in endogenous plasma ACTH levels are detected (89, 90). The augmentation in steroidogenesis appears to be partly mediated by an increase in intracellular controllers of mitochondrial cholesterol transport, namely the steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) and peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor (PBR) proteins (89). Since GCs induce a negative feedback loop at the level of the hypothalamus and pituitary, most likely when the hypothalamus is exposed to a direct stimulus e.g. ether vapours, this

increased GC levels will inhibit the ACTH response to this stimulus (90). Also when perinatal hypoxia is induced in pregnant dams, maintaining them in a hypoxic environment during parturition and maintaining pups in hypoxia until 2 weeks of age, the GC response to an acute stressor in adult rats is significantly higher. This enhanced GC response is linked to higher CRH mRNA levels in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamic cells (151). The exposure of pregnant rats to hypoxia during the gestational period important for the maturation of the hippocampus induces long-term impairments in the GC system of the progeny. The exposure of pregnant females to adverse effects such as hypoxia causes an excess of GCs produced and a weakened negative feedback control of the HPA axis activity, resulting in higher baseline GC levels (152). This is associated with decreased nuclear GR protein levels (153) and reduced expression of GR dependent genes in the hippocampus of newborn rats. Additionally, the exposure to hypoxia during foetal development causes an agerelated depletion of GR in the liver and is accompanied with a reduced efficacy of GC mediated processes such as the inability to maintain normal glucose levels by the liver (152).

The Effects of GCs on Hypoxia-Ischemia Induced Neonatal Brain Injury

Next to GR, it is clear that HIF1 α also plays a role in hypoxiaischemia (HI) induced neonatal brain injury. The inhibition of HIF1a after a HI-induced injury results in neuroprotective effects by maintaining the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) integrity and reducing brain edema (154). On the contrary, when HIF1 α is induced in a severe neonatal HI model, the BBB permeability is attenuated by the inhibition of VEGFA (91). It is clear that the exposure to perinatal and postnatal hypoxia causes a higher GC response, however a more detailed understanding of the mechanism and the timing of the HPA axis response to acute hypoxia remains to be further elucidated. Furthermore, the exposure to hypoxia during the perinatal period does have long-term pathophysiological effects that persist until adulthood. Next to that, a role of GR and HIF1 α in HI-induced brain injury in neonates is obvious. It is likely that GR and HIF1a influence the adaptive response to a HIinduced insult thereby causing metabolic, apoptotic and inflammatory differences.



production, partly mediated by a higher StAR and PBR expression involved in the mitochondrial cholesterol transport. This leads to decreased GR protein levels and reduced glucose metabolism. On the other hand, HIF1 is involved in the hypoxia-ischemia induced brain injury *via* the induction of VEGF and increases blood-brain barrier permeability in combination with brain edema. Neuroprotective effects can be induced by DEX *via* the inhibition of HIF1 mediated brain injury and the inhibition of the GR mediated effects in the liver. Next to the neuroprotective effects, DEX also has neurotoxic effects. It can lead to increased glutamate levels and CDK5 expression causing neuronal damage and apoptosis, respectively. Figures created with Biorender.

Neuroprotective Mechanisms of GCs

Perinatal hypoxia results in a significant increase in hypoxiainduced brain infarct size in neonates. The question remains whether treatment of neonatal HI-induced brain injury with exogenous GCs like DEX provide neuroprotective or neurotoxic effects. It is shown by Tuor et al. that DEX-mediated alterations in metabolism have a protective effect against neonatal HI-induced brain damage (92, 93). Additionally, the inflammatory response in HI injury is attenuated when neonates are treated with GCs by significantly reducing TNFa production (155). GCs also provide neuroprotective effects by inhibiting cleaved caspase-3. Hence, treatment of neonates with exogenous GCs affects downstream apoptotic pathways and decreased neuronal cell death in the brain injury. Furthermore, DEX also exerts neuroprotective effects by activating phosphorylated Akt, which is important in neuronal prosurvival signals (156). In general, the protective effects of DEX focuses more on the mechanisms that cause damage to neuronal cells rather than decreasing ROS (92, 157). When DEX is administered *via* an intracerebroventricular (ICV) injection prior to hypoxia-ischemia (HI), a concentration-dependent neuroprotective effect of DEX on HI-induced brain injury is present in which the VEGF pathway is partially involved (158). This suggests a direct, local neuroprotective effect of the activation of GR in the neonatal brain.

Neurotoxic Mechanisms of GCs

However, when exposed to foetal hypoxia the neuroprotective effect of DEX in the neonatal brain is abrogated, most likely due to the downregulation in GR protein levels in the developing brain. This implies a role for GR in the increased vulnerability to HI-induced brain injury in the neonate due to foetal stress (153). The dosing and duration of GC treatment determines the neuroprotective or neurotoxic outcomes. For example, chronic exposure to GCs before HI-induced brain injury results in exacerbated neuronal cell death and white-matter injure (159). GCs also cause an accumulation of glutamate in the brain





thereby inducing cytotoxicity and neuronal damage, which contributes to the detrimental effects in neonatal brain injury (160). Also, GCs enhance apoptotic cell death *via* overexpression of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (CDK5), which is an important kinase for cell cycle regulation (**Figure 8**) (161).

In conclusion, evidence is provided that treatment of neonatal HI-induced brain injury with DEX can be either neuroprotective or neurotoxic (94, 95). In most cases, when DEX is administered systematically and chronically, neurotoxicity remains present, but when DEX is administered directly into the brain, it becomes neuroprotective. The ability of GCs to suppress neuroinflammation caused by hypoxia is thus dependent on dosing, timing and duration after the initial injury.

CONCLUSION

The bidirectional crosstalk between GR and HIF is clearly highlighted based on the studies described above. In vitro studies have shown cell-type specific effects of exogenous GCs on hypoxia-dependent gene expression and HIF1α activity upon hypoxia, which is associated with effects on the nuclear translocation and DNA binding of HIF. Conversely, hypoxia is also able to exert an effect on the GR mRNA and protein levels by influencing GR nuclear translocation or due to the binding of HIF1 to HREs present at the NR3C1 promotor. Only a few in vivo studies using zebrafish as a model organism have addressed the direct interaction between HIF and GR, thereby showing that HIF represses GR activity and its responsiveness to exogenous GCs. Moreover, HIF signalling reduces GC production by acting on POMC expression at the level of the hypothalamus. Further in vivo studies will be necessary to elucidate the precise crosstalk between these two complex signalling pathways.

GCs are known to be strong anti-inflammatory mediators. However, in this review, it is shown that hypoxia is able to affect these anti-inflammatory effects by influencing the DEX mediated suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokine production. On the contrary, hypoxia leads to higher GILZ levels in macrophages when exposed to an inflammatory stimulus to prevent overactivation of immune cells and overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines. This teaches us that a balance between GR and HIF mediated signalling is required upon inflammatory conditions and that it will be necessary to further investigate the

REFERENCES

- 1. de Guia RM, Herzig S. How do Glucocorticoids Regulate Lipid Metabolism? *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2015) 872:127–44. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2895-8
- Rose AJ, Herzig S. Metabolic Control Through Glucocorticoid Hormones: An Update. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2013) 380:65–78. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2013.03.007
- Cruz-Topete D, Cidlowski JA. One Hormone, Two Actions: Anti- and Pro-Inflammatory Effects of Glucocorticoids. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2014) 22:20–32. doi: 10.1159/000362724
- Fowden AL, Forhead AJ. Glucocorticoids as Regulatory Signals During Intrauterine Development. *Exp Physiol* (2015) 100:1477–87. doi: 10.1113/ EP085212

interplay between HIF and GR in disease models such as IMH, PAH and sepsis. Also the link with NF- κ B signalling is of utmost importance (**Figure 9**). The exploration of possible mechanisms responsible for the adaptation to acute hypoxia might be of great added value to improve the understanding of causes and consequences of hypoxia in critical illness. Also the mechanism on how GR is able to inhibit HIF mediated effects in AMS, at the level of HIF itself or more downstream on HIF triggered inflammatory pathways might also be important in critically ill and septic patients and lead to the identification of new therapeutic targets.

Since hypoxia is one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality in neonates, a more complete understanding of what is the mechanism behind these hypoxic conditions in neonates will be of great added value. It is necessary to find the ideal dose, timing and during of GC treatment so that neurotoxic effects of GCs can be eliminated. Considering the importance of HIF1 α during neural development, it could be relevant to further elucidate the use of PHD inhibitors or HIF stabilizers during neonatal hypoxia.

Overall, a clear interaction between HIF, GR and NF- κ B is shown both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. It will be of importance to identify the role of specific HIF isoforms in several diseases and how this is connected with GR and/or NF- κ B. Based on these results, specific targeting of certain HIF isoforms in inflammatory disease models could lead to the identification of new therapeutic targets.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TV wrote the draft, and RB and CL supervised, corrected, and finalized the paper. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Research in the lab of CL and RB is supported by the Research Council of Ghent University (GOA Program), the Research Foundation Flanders (FWO-Vlaanderen), the FWO Hercules program and Flanders Institute for Biotechnology (VIB).

- Whirledge S, Cidlowski JA. Glucocorticoids and Reproduction: Traffic Control on the Road to Reproduction. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28:399–415. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2017.02.005
- Donatti TL, Koch VHK, Takayama L, Pereira RMR. Effects of Glucocorticoids on Growth and Bone Mineralization. J Pediatr (Rio J) (2011) 87:4–12. doi: 10.2223/JPED.2052
- Tatomir A, Micu C, Crivii C. The Impact of Stress and Glucocorticoids on Memory. *Clujul Med* (2014) 87:3–6. doi: 10.15386/cjm.2014.8872.871.at1cm2
- Joëls M. Impact of Glucocorticoids on Brain Function: Relevance for Mood Disorders. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2011) 36:406–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.psyneuen.2010.03.004
- 9. Walker BR. Glucocorticoids and Cardiovascular Disease. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2007) 157:545–59. doi: 10.1530/EJE-07-0455

- Miller WL. Androgen Synthesis in Adrenarche. Rev Endocr Metab Disord (2009) 10:3–17. doi: 10.1007/s11154-008-9102-4
- Ahmed A, Schmidt C, Brunner T. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Synthesis in the Intestinal Mucosa: Between Immune Homeostasis and Immune Escape. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1438. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01438
- Medzhitov R, Schneider DS, Soares MP. Disease Tolerance as a Defense Strategy. Science (2012) 335:936–41. doi: 10.1126/science.1214935
- Spiga F, Walker JJ, Terry JR, Lightman SL. HPA Axis-Rhythms. Compr Physiol (2014) 4:1273–98. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140003
- Walker JJ, Spiga F, Gupta R, Zhao Z, Lightman SL, Terry JR. Rapid Intra-Adrenal Feedback Regulation of Glucocorticoid Synthesis. J R Soc Interface (2015) 12:1–10. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0875
- Hammond GL. Plasma Steroid-Binding Proteins: Primary Gatekeepers of Steroid Hormone Action. J Endocrinol (2016) 230:R13–25. doi: 10.1530/ JOE-16-0070
- Hammond GL, Smith CL, Paterson NAM, Sibbald WJ. A Role for Corticosteroid-Binding Globulin in Delivery of Cortisol to Activated Neutrophils. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1990) 71:34–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem-71-1-34
- Timmermans S, Souffriau J, Libert C. A General Introduction to Glucocorticoid Biology. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1545. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01545
- Cain DW, Cidlowski JA. Immune Regulation by Glucocorticoids. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17:233–47. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.1
- Vandevyver S, Dejager L, Libert C. Comprehensive Overview of the Structure and Regulation of the Glucocorticoid Receptor. *Endocr Rev* (2014) 35:671–93. doi: 10.1210/er.2014-1010
- Kumar R, Volk DE, Li J, Lee JC, Gorenstein DG, Thompson EB. TATA Box Binding Protein Induces Structure in the Recombinant Glucocorticoid Receptor AF1 Domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2004) 101:16425–30. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407160101
- Luisi BF, Xu WX, Otwinowski Z, Freedman LP, Yamamoto KR, Sigler PB. Crystallographic Analysis of the Interaction of the Glucocorticoid Receptor With DNA. *Nature* (1991) 352:497–505. doi: 10.1038/352497a0
- Bledsoe RK, Montana VG, Stanley TB, Delves CJ, Apolito CJ, McKee DD, et al. Crystal Structure of the Glucocorticoid Receptor Ligand Binding Domain Reveals a Novel Mode of Receptor Dimerization and Coactivator Recognition. *Cell* (2002) 110:93–105. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00817-6
- Tang Y, Getzenberg RH, Vietmeier BN, Stallcup MR, Eggert M, Renkawitz R, et al. The DNA-Binding and τ2 Transactivation Domains of the Rat Glucocorticoid Receptor Constitute a Nuclear Matrix-Targeting Signal. *Mol Endocrinol* (1998) 12:1420–31. doi: 10.1210/mend.12.9.0169
- Vandevyver S, Dejager L, Libert C. On the Trail of the Glucocorticoid Receptor: Into the Nucleus and Back. *Traffic* (2012) 13:364–74. doi: 10.1111/ j.1600-0854.2011.01288.x
- Vandewalle J, Luypaert A, Bosscher K, Libert C. Therapeutic Mechanisms of Glucocorticoids. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 29:42–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.tem.2017.10.010
- Diamond MI, Miner JN, Yoshinaga SK, Yamamoto KY. Transcription Factor Interactions: Selectors of Positive or Negative Regulation From a Single DNA Element. Science (1990) 249:1266–72. doi: 10.1126/science.2119054
- Hudson WH, Youn C, Ortlund EA. The Structural Basis of Direct Glucocorticoid-Mediated Transrepression. Nat Struct Mol Biol (2013) 20:53–8. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2456
- Lim H, Uhlenhaut NH, Rauch A, Weiner J, Hubner S, Hubner N, et al. Genomic Redistribution of GR Monomers and Dimers Mediates Transcription Response to Exogenous Ligand. *Genome Res* (2014) 25:836– 44. doi: 10.1101/gr.188581.114.10
- Ratman D, Vanden Berghe W, Dejager L, Libert C, Tavernier J, Beck IM, et al. How Glucocorticoid Receptors Modulate the Activity of Other Transcription Factors: A Scope Beyond Tethering. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2013) 380:41–54. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2012.12.014
- Weikum ER, De Vera IMS, Nwachukwu JC, Hudson WH, Nettles KW, Kojetin DJ, et al. Tethering Not Required: The Glucocorticoid Receptor Binds Directly to Activator Protein-1 Recognition Motifs to Repress Inflammatory Genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2017) 45:8596–608. doi: 10.1093/ nar/gkx509
- Sheppard KA, Phelps KM, Williams AJ, Thanos D, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, et al. Nuclear Integration of Glucocorticoid Receptor and Nuclear Factor-κb

Signaling by CREB-binding Protein and Steroid Receptor Coactivator-1. J Biol Chem (1998) 273:29291-4. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.45.29291

- 32. Kino T, Chrousos GP. Tumor Necrosis Factor α Receptor- and Fas-Associated FLASH Inhibit Transcriptional Activity of the Glucocorticoid Receptor by Binding to and Interfering With Its Interaction With p160 Type Nuclear Receptor Coactivators. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:3023–9. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M209234200
- 33. Scheinman RI, Gualberto A, Jewell CM, Cidlowski JA, Baldwin AS. Characterization of Mechanisms Involved in Transrepression of NF-κb by Activated Glucocorticoid Receptors. *Mol Cell Biol* (1995) 15:943–53. doi: 10.1128/mcb.15.2.943
- Song IH, Buttgereit F. Non-Genomic Glucocorticoid Effects to Provide the Basis for New Drug Developments. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2006) 246:142–6. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2005.11.012
- Nakayama K, Kataoka N. Regulation of Gene Expression Under Hypoxic Conditions. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20:1–15. doi: 10.3390/ijms20133278
- Hubbi ME, Semenza GL. Regulation of Cell Proliferation by Hypoxia-Inducible Factors. Am J Physiol - Cell Physiol (2015) 309:C775–82. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00279.2015
- Denko NC. Hypoxia, HIF and Metabolism in the Solid Tumour. Nat Rev Cancer (2008) 8:705–13. doi: 10.1038/nrc2468
- Krock BL, Skuli N, Simon MC. Hypoxia-Induced Angiogenesis: Good and Evil. Genes Cancer (2011) 2:1117–33. doi: 10.1177/1947601911423654
- Prabhakar NR, Semenza GL. Oxygen Sensing and Homeostasis. *Physiology* (2015) 30:340–8. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00022.2015
- Bleymehl K, Pérez-Gómez A, Omura M, Moreno-Pérez A, Macías D, Bai Z, et al. A Sensor for Low Environmental Oxygen in the Mouse Main Olfactory Epithelium. *Neuron* (2016) 92:1196–203. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.11.001
- Kaelin WG, Ratcliffe PJ. Oxygen Sensing by Metazoans: The Central Role of the HIF Hydroxylase Pathway. *Mol Cell* (2008) 30(4):393–402. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2008.04.009
- Chandel NS, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, Mathieu CE, Simon MC SP. Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Trigger Hypoxia-Induced Transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1998) 95:11715–20. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.95.20.11715
- Guzy RD, Schumacker PT. Oxygen Sensing by Mitochondria At Complex III: The Paradox of Increased Reactive Oxygen Species During Hypoxia. *Exp Physiol* (2006) 91:807–19. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2006.033506
- 44. Song D, Li LS, Heaton-Johnson KJ, Arsenault PR, Master SR, Lee FS. Prolyl Hydroxylase Domain Protein 2 (PHD2) Binds a Pro-Xaa-Leu-Glu Motif, Linking it to the Heat Shock Protein 90 Pathway. J Biol Chem (2013) 288:9662–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.440552
- 45. Masson N, Singleton RS, Sekirnik R, Trudgian DC, Ambrose LJ, Miranda MX, et al. The FIH Hydroxylase Is a Cellular Peroxide Sensor That Modulates HIF Transcriptional Activity. *EMBO Rep* (2012) 13:251–7. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.9
- Rhee SG, Woo HA, Kil IS, Bae SH. Peroxiredoxin Functions as a Peroxidase and a Regulator and Sensor of Local Peroxides. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:4403–10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R111.283432
- Cockman ME, Lippl K, Tian YM, Pegg HB, Figg WD, Abboud MI, et al. Lack of Activity of Recombinant HIF Prolyl Hydroxylases (Phds) on Reported Non-HIF Substrates. *Elife* (2019) 8:1–27. doi: 10.7554/eLife.46490
- 48. Dai Z, Li M, Wharton J, Zhu MM, Zhao YY. Prolyl-4 Hydroxylase 2 (PHD2) Deficiency in Endothelial Cells and Hematopoietic Cells Induces Obliterative Vascular Remodeling and Severe Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension in Mice and Humans Through Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-2α. Circulation (2016) 133:2447–58. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116. 021494
- Franke K, Gassmann M, Wielockx B. Erythrocytosis: The HIF Pathway in Control. Blood (2013) 122:1122–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-478065
- Wiesener MS, Jürgensen JS, Rosenberger C, Scholze CK, Hörstrup JH, Warnecke C, et al. Widespread Hypoxia-Inducible Expression of HIF-2alpha in Distinct Cell Populations of Different Organs. *FASEB J* (2003) 17:271–3. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0445fje
- 51. Korovina I, Neuwirth A, Sprott D, Weber S, Pasha SPBS, Gercken B, et al. Hematopoietic Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 2α Deficiency Ameliorates Pathological Retinal Neovascularization Via Modulation of Endothelial Cell Apoptosis. FASEB J (2019) 33:1758–70. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800430R

- García-Martín R, Alexaki V, Qin N, Rubín de Celis M, Economopoulou M, Ziogas A, et al. Exacerbates Obesity-Induced Brown Adipose Tissue Dysfunction and. *Mol* (2016) 36:376–93. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00430-15.Address
- Berra E, Benizri E, Volmat V, Ginouve A, Roux D, Pouysségur J. HIF Prolyl-Hydroxylase 2 Is the Key Oxygen Sensor Setting Low Steady-State Levels of HIF-1 a in Normoxia. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:4082–90. doi: 10.1093/emboj/ cdg392
- 54. Appelhoff RJ, Tian Y, Raval RR, Turley H, Harris AL, Pugh CW, et al. Differential Function of the Prolyl Hydroxylases PHD1, PHD2, and PHD3 in the Regulation of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor. J Biol Chem (2004) 279:38458–65. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406026200
- Webb JD, Coleman ML, Pugh CW. Hypoxia, Hypoxia-Inducible Factors (HIF), HIF Hydroxylases and Oxygen Sensing. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2009) 1:3539–54. doi: 10.1007/s00018-009-0147-7
- 56. Takeda K, Ho VC, Takeda H, Duan L-J, Nagy A, Fong G-H. Placental But Not Heart Defects Are Associated With Elevated Hypoxia-Inducible Factor α Levels in Mice Lacking Prolyl Hydroxylase Domain Protein 2. *Mol Cell Biol* (2006) 26:8336–46. doi: 10.1128/mcb.00425-06
- Minamishima YA, Moslehi J, Bardeesy N, Cullen D, Bronson RT, Kaelin WG. Somatic Inactivation of the PHD2 Prolyl Hydroxylase Causes Polycythemia and Congestive Heart Failure. *Blood* (2008) 111:3236–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-117812
- Aragonés J, Schneider M, Van Geyte K, Fraisl P, Dresselaers T, Mazzone M, et al. Deficiency or Inhibition of Oxygen Sensor Phd1 Induces Hypoxia Tolerance by Reprogramming Basal Metabolism. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40:170– 80. doi: 10.1038/ng.2007.62
- Bishop T, Gallagher D, Pascual A, Lygate CA, de Bono JP, Nicholls LG, et al. Abnormal Sympathoadrenal Development and Systemic Hypotension in PHD3–/– Mice. *Mol Cell Biol* (2008) 28:3386–400. doi: 10.1128/mcb.02041-07
- Bonello S, Zähringer C, BelAiba RS, Djordjevic T, Hess J, Michiels C, et al. Reactive Oxygen Species Activate the HIF-1α Promoter Via a Functional Nfxb Site. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2007) 27:755–61. doi: 10.1161/ 01.ATV.0000258979.92828.bc
- Kodama T, Shimizu N, Yoshikawa N, Makino Y, Ouchida R, Okamoto K, et al. Role of the Glucocorticoid Receptor for Regulation of Hypoxiadependent Gene Expression*. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:33384–91. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M302581200
- Leonard MO, Godson C, Brady HR, Taylor CT. Potentiation of Glucocorticoid Activity in Hypoxia Through Induction of the Glucocorticoid Receptor. J Immunol (2005) 174:2250–7. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.174.4.2250
- 63. Zhang C, Qiang Q, Jiang Y, Hu L, Ding X, Lu Y, et al. Effects of Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1α on Apoptotic Inhibition and Glucocorticoid Receptor Downregulation by Dexamethasone in AtT-20 Cells. BMC Endocr Disord (2015) 15:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12902-015-0017-2
- 64. Wagner AE, Huck G, Stiehl DP, Jelkmann W, Hellwig-Bürgel T. Dexamethasone Impairs Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 Function. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) 372:336–40. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc. 2008.05.061
- Tuder RM, Yun JH, Bhunia A, Fijalkowska I. Hypoxia and Chronic Lung Disease. J Mol Med (2007) 85:1317–24. doi: 10.1007/s00109-007-0280-4
- 66. Huang Y, Zhao JJ, Lv YY, Ding PS, Liu RY. Hypoxia Down-Regulates Glucocorticoid Receptor Alpha and Attenuates the Anti-Inflammatory Actions of Dexamethasone in Human Alveolar Epithelial A549 Cells. *Life Sci* (2009) 85:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2009.04.026
- Zhang P, Fang L, Wu HM, Ding P, Shen QY, Liu R. Down-Regulation of Grα Expression and Inhibition of Its Nuclear Translocation by Hypoxia. *Life Sci* (2016) 146:92–9. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2015.12.059
- Trousson A, Grenier J, Fonte C, Massaad-Massade L, Schumacher M, Massaad C. Recruitment of the p160 Coactivators by the Glucocorticoid Receptor: Dependence on the Promoter Context and Cell Type But Not Hypoxic Conditions. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2007) 104:305–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2007.03.018
- Charron CE, Chou PC, Coutts DJC, Kumar V, To M, Akashi K, et al. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1α Induces Corticosteroid-Insensitive Inflammation Via Reduction of Histone Deacetylase-2 Transcription. J Biol Chem (2009) 284:36047–54. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.025387

- Bosco MC, Puppo M, Blengio F, Fraone T, Cappello P, Giovarelli M, et al. Monocytes and Dendritic Cells in a Hypoxic Environment: Spotlights on Chemotaxis and Migration. *Immunobiology* (2008) 213:733–49. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2008.07.031
- Safronova O, Pluemsampant S, Nakahama Ki, Morita I. Regulation of Chemokine Gene Expression by Hypoxia Via Cooperative Activation of NF-κb and Histone Deacetylase. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2009) 41:2270–80. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2009.05.003
- Lewis C, Murdoch C. Macrophage Responses to Hypoxia: Implications for Tumor Progression and Anti-Cancer Therapies. Am J Pathol (2005) 167:627–35. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62038-X
- Hempel SL, Monick MM, Hunninghake GW. Effect of Hypoxia on Release of IL-1 and TNF by Human Alveolar Macrophages. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1996) 14:170–6. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.14.2.8630267
- 74. D'Adamio F, Zollo O, Moraca R, Ayroldi E, Bruscoli S, Bartoli A, et al. A New Dexamethasone-Induced Gene of the Leucine Zipper Family Protects T Lymphocytes From TCR/CD3-activated Cell Death. *Immunity* (1997) 7:803–12. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80398-2
- 75. Hamdi H, Bigorgne A, Naveau S, Balian A, Bouchet-Delbos L, Cassard-Doulcier AM, et al. Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper: A Key Protein in the Sensitization of Monocytes to Lipopolysaccharide in Alcoholic Hepatitis. *Hepatology* (2007) 46:1986–92. doi: 10.1002/hep.21880
- Wang Y, Ma Y-Y, Song X-L, Cai H-Y, Chen J-C, Song L-N, et al. Upregulations of Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper by Hypoxia and Glucocorticoid Inhibit Proinflammatory Cytokines Under Hypoxic Conditions in Macrophages. J Immunol (2012) 188:222–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1002958
- 77. Lim W, Park C, Shim MK, Lee YH, Lee YM, Lee Y. Glucocorticoids Suppress Hypoxia-Induced COX-2 and Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1α Expression Through the Induction of Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper. Br J Pharmacol (2014) 171:735–45. doi: 10.1111/bph.12491
- 78. Xue L, Greisler HP. Angiogenic Effect of Fibroblast Growth Factor-1 and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Their Synergism in a Novel In Vitro Quantitative Fibrin-Based 3-Dimensional Angiogenesis System. Surgery (2002) 132:259–67. doi: 10.1067/msy.2002.125720
- Ke X, Chen C, Song Y, Cai Q, Li J, Tang Y, et al. Hypoxia Modifies the Polarization of Macrophages and Their Inflammatory Microenvironment, and Inhibits Malignant Behavior in Cancer Cells. Oncol Lett (2019) 18:5871– 8. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10956
- Liu B, Goodwin JE. The Effect of Glucocorticoids on Angiogenesis in the Treatment of Solid Tumors. J Cell Signal (2020) 1:42–9. doi: 10.33696/ Signaling.1.011
- Vettori A, Greenald D, Wilson GK, Peron M, Facchinello N, Markham E, et al. Glucocorticoids Promote Von Hippel Lindau Degradation and Hif-1α Stabilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2017) 114:9948–53. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1705338114
- Marchi D, Santhakumar K, Markham E, Li N, Storbeck KH, Krone N, et al. Bidirectional Crosstalk Between Hypoxia-Inducible Factor and Glucocorticoid Signalling in Zebrafish Larvae. *PloS Genet* (2020) 16:1–28. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1008757
- Rock PB, Johnson TS, Larsen RF, Fulco CS, Trad LA, Cymerman A. Dexamethasone as Prophylaxis for Acute Mountain Sickness. Effect of Dose Level. *Chest* (1989) 95:568–73. doi: 10.1378/chest.95.3.568
- Johnson T, Rock P, Fulco C, Trad L, Spark R, Maher J. Prevention of Acute Mountain Sickness by Dexamethasone. N Engl J Med (1984) 310:683–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198403153101103
- Basu M, Sawhney RC, Kumar S, Pal K, Prasad R, Selvamurthy W. Glucocorticoids as Prophylaxis Against Acute Mountain Sickness. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2002) 57:761–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2002.01664.x
- Basu M, Sawhney RC, Kumar S, Pal K, Prasad R, Selvamurthy W. Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Following Glucocorticoid Prophylaxis Against Acute Mountain Sickness. *Horm Metab Res* (2002) 34:318–24. doi: 10.1055/s-2002-33260
- Kitsteiner JM, Whitworth JD, Nashelsky J. Preventing Acute Mountain Sickness. Am Fam Physician (2011) 84:398–400.
- Zheng CR, Chen GZ, Yu J, Qin J, Song P, Bian SZ, et al. Inhaled Budesonide and Oral Dexamethasone Prevent Acute Mountain Sickness. *Am J Med* (2014) 127:1001–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.04.012

- Raff H, Hong JJ, Oaks MK, Widmaier EP. Adrenocortical Responses to ACTH in Neonatal Rats: Effect of Hypoxia From Birth on Corticosterone, StAR, and PBR. *Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2003) 284:78–85. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00501.2002
- Raff H, Jacobson L, Cullinan WE. Elevated Corticosterone and Inhibition of ACTH Responses to CRH and Ether in the Neonatal Rat: Effect of Hypoxia From Birth. *Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2003) 285:1224–30. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00259.2003
- 91. Shi X, Doycheva DM, Xu L, Tang J, Yan M, Zhang JH. Sestrin2 Induced by Hypoxia Inducible Factor 1 Alpha Protects the Blood-Brain Barrier Via Inhibiting VEGF After Severe Hypoxic-Ischemic Injury in Neonatal Rats. *Neurobiol Dis* (2016) 95:111–21. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.07.016.Sestrin2
- Tuor UI, Simone CS, Arellano R, Tanswell K, Post M. Glucocorticoid Prevention of Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Damage: Role of Hyperglycemia and Antioxidant Enzymes. *Brain Res* (1993) 604:165–72. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(93)90364-S
- Tuor UI, Yager JY, Bascaramurty S, Del Bigio MR. Dexamethasone Prevents Hypoxia / Ischemia-Induced Reductions in Cerebral Glucose Utilization and High-Energy Phosphate Metabolites in Immature Brain. J Neurochem (1997) 69:1954–63. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1997.69051954.x
- Harding B, Conception K, Li Y, Zhang L. Glucocorticoids Protect Neonatal Rat Brain in Model of Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy (HIE). *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18:1–12. doi: 10.3390/ijms18010017
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez PJ, Li Y, Martinez F, Zhang L. Dexamethasone Protects Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury Via L-PGDS-Dependent Pgd2-DP1-pERK Signaling Pathway. *PloS One* (2014) 9:1–14. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0114470
- Ziv L, Muto A, Schoonheim PJ, Meijsing SH, Strasser D, Ingraham HA, et al. An Affective Disorder in Zebrafish With Mutation of the Glucocorticoid Receptor. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18:681–91. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.64
- Yang N, Berry A, Sauer C, Baxter M, Donaldson IJ, Forbes K, et al. Hypoxia Regulates GR Function Through Multiple Mechanisms Involving microRNAs 103 and 107. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2020) 518:111007. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2020.111007
- Watts D, Stein J, Meneses A, Bechmann N, Neuwirth A, Kaden D, et al. Hif1α Is an Essential Regulator of Steroidogenesis in the Adrenal Gland. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2021) 78(7):3577–90. doi: 10.1101/2020.07.08.191783
- 99. Lu Y, Liu H, Bi Y, Yang H, Li Y, Wang J, et al. Glucocorticoid Receptor Promotes the Function of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells by Suppressing HIF1 α-Dependent Glycolysis. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2018) 15:618–29. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.5
- 100. Zhao Y, Wu T, Shao S, Shi B, Zhao Y. Phenotype, Development, and Biological Function of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. Oncoimmunology (2016) 5:1–12. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1004983
- 101. Park Y, Chung WJ, Choi DYo, Baek H, Jung SHWA, Choi ISUC, et al. Functional Class and Targeted Therapy Are Related to the Survival in Patients With Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Yonsei Med J* (2014) 55:1526–32. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2014.55.6.1526
- 102. Lai YC, Potoka KC, Champion HC, Mora AL, Gladwin MT. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: The Clinical Syndrome. *Circ Res* (2014) 115:115–30. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.301146
- 103. Xi X, Zhang J, Wang J, Chen Y, Zhang W, Zhang X, et al. Sgk1 Mediates Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension Through Promoting Macrophage Infiltration and Activation. *Anal Cell Pathol* (2019) 2019:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2019/3013765
- 104. Schofield CJ, Ratcliffe PJ. Oxygen Sensing by HIF Hydroxylases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2004) 5:343–54. doi: 10.1038/nrm1366
- Cummins EP, Keogh CE, Crean D, Taylor CT. The Role of HIF in Immunity and Inflammation. *Mol Aspects Med* (2016) 47–48:24–34. doi: 10.1016/ j.mam.2015.12.004
- 106. Campbell EL, Colgan SP. Neutrophils and Inflammatory Metabolism in Antimicrobial Functions of the Mucosa. J Leukoc Biol (2015) 98:517–22. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3mr1114-556r
- Flück K, Fandrey J. Oxygen Sensing in Intestinal Mucosal Inflammation. Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol (2016) 468:77–84. doi: 10.1007/s00424-015-1722-4
- 108. West JB. Are Permanent Residents of High Altitude Fully Adapted to Their Hypoxic Environment? *High Alt Med Biol* (2017) 18:135–9. doi: 10.1089/ ham.2016.0152

- 109. Hackett P, Roach R. High Altitude Ilness. N Engl J Med (2001) 345:107–14. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200107123450206
- Pollard AJ, Murdoch DR, Bartsch P. Children in the Mountains. Br Med J (1998) 316:874–5. doi: 10.1001/jama.1980.03300370030022
- Debudaj A, Bobiński R. The Pathophysiology of Acute Mountain Sickness. Pol Merkur Lekarski (2010) 28:478–81.
- 112. Luks AM, McIntosh SE, Grissom CK, Auerbach PS, Rodway GW, Schoene RB, et al. Wilderness Medical Society Consensus Guidelines for the Prevention and Treatment of Acute Altitude Illness. Wilderness Environ Med (2010) 21:146–55. doi: 10.1016/j.wem.2010.03.002
- 113. Imray C, Wright A, Subudhi A, Roach R. Acute Mountain Sickness: Pathophysiology, Prevention, and Treatment. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* (2010) 52:467–84. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2010.02.003
- 114. Eltzschig HK, Carmeliet P. Hypoxia and Inflammation. N Engl J Med (2011) 364:656–65. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0910283
- 115. Scherrer U, Vollenweider P, Randin D, Jéquier E, Nicod P, Tappy L. Suppression of Insulin-Induced Sympathetic Activation and Vasodilation by Dexamethasone in Humans. *Circulation* (1993) 88:388–94. doi: 10.1161/ 01.CIR.88.2.388
- 116. Kim H, Lee JM, Park JS, Jo SA, Kim YO, Kim CW, et al. Dexamethasone Coordinately Regulates Angiopoietin-1 and VEGF: A Mechanism of Glucocorticoid-Induced Stabilization of Blood-Brain Barrier. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) 372:243–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.05.025
- 117. Huo Y, Rangarajan P, Ling EA, Dheen ST. Dexamethasone Inhibits the Nox-Dependent ROS Production Via Suppression of MKP-1-Dependent MAPK Pathways in Activated Microglia. *BMC Neurosci* (2011) 12:1–18. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-12-49
- Berger MM, Macholz F, Sareban M, Schmidt P, Fried S, Dankl D, et al. Inhaled Budesonide Does Not Prevent Acute Mountain Sickness After Rapid Ascent to 4559 M. *Eur Respir J* (2017) 50:1–4. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00982-2017
- 119. Zhu X, Liu Y, Li N, He Q. Inhaled Budesonide for the Prevention of Acute Mountain Sickness: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Am J Emerg Med (2020) 38:1627–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2019.158461
- 120. Pandit A, Karmacharya P, Pathak R, Giri S, Aryal MR. Efficacy of NSAIDs for the Prevention of Acute Mountain Sickness: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect (2014) 4:1–7. doi: 10.3402/jchimp.v4.24927
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-Inducible Factors and the Response to Hypoxic Stress. *Mol Cell* (2010) 40:294–309. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2010.09.022
- 122. D'Ignazio L, Bandarra D, Rocha S. Nf- κb and HIF Crosstalk in Immune Responses. FEBS J (2016) 283:413–24. doi: 10.1111/febs.13578
- 123. Cummins EP, Berra E, Comerford KM, Ginouves A, Fitzgerald KT, Seeballuck F, et al. Prolyl Hydroxylase-1 Negatively Regulates Ikb Kinaseβ, Giving Insight Into Hypoxia-Induced Nfkb Activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2006) 103:18154–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0602235103
- 124. Yang W, Xia Y, Cao Y, Zheng Y, Bu W, Zhang L, et al. Egfr-Induced and Pkce Monoubiquitylation-Dependent Nf-κb Activation Upregulates PKM2 Expression and Promotes Tumorigenesis. *Mol Cell* (2012) 48:771–84. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.09.028
- 125. Bracken CP, Whitelaw ML, Peet DJ. Activity of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 2α Is Regulated by Association With the NF- κb Essential Modulator. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:14240–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409987200
- 126. Wright CW, Duckett CS. The Aryl Hydrocarbon Nuclear Translocator Alters CD30-Mediated Nf-κb-Dependent Transcription. *Science* (2009) 323:251–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1162818
- 127. Déry MAC, Michaud MD, Richard DE. Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1: Regulation by Hypoxic and Non-Hypoxic Activators. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2005) 37:535–40. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2004.08.012
- Van Uden P, Kenneth NS, Rocha S. Regulation of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1αa by NF-κb. Biochem J (2008) 412:477–84. doi: 10.1042/BJ20080476
- 129. Rius J, Guma M, Schachtrup C, Akassoglou K, Zinkernagel AS, Nizet V, et al. Nf-κb Links Innate Immunity to the Hypoxic Response Through Transcriptional Regulation of HIF-1α. *Nature* (2008) 453:807–11. doi: 10.1038/nature06905
- 130. Peyssonnaux C, Cejudo-Martin P, Doedens A, Zinkernagel AS, Johnson RS, Nizet V. Cutting Edge: Essential Role of Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1 in Development of Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Sepsis. J Immunol (2007) 178:7516–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.7516

- 131. Hartmann G, Tschöp M, Fischer R, Bidlingmaier C, Riepl R, Tschöp K, et al. High Altitude Increases Circulating interleukin-6, Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist and C-Reactive Protein. *Cytokine* (2000) 12:246–52. doi: 10.1006/ cyto.1999.0533
- Mazzeo RS. Altitude, Exercise and Immune Function. Exerc Immunol Rev (2005) 11:6–16.
- 133. de Gonzalo-Calvo D, Neitzert K, Fernández M, Vega-Naredo I, Caballero B, García-Macía M, et al. Differential Inflammatory Responses in Aging and Disease: TNF-α and IL-6 as Possible Biomarkers. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2010) 49:733–7. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.05.019
- 134. Sarada SKS, Veeramohan HP, Mathew T, Saumya S, Chitharanjan M. Nifedipine Inhibits Hypoxia Induced Transvascular Leakage Through Down Regulation of Nfkb. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* (2012) 183:26–34. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2012.05.016
- 135. Mishra KP, Sharma N, Soree P, Gupta RK, Ganju L, Singh SB. Hypoxia-Induced Inflammatory Chemokines in Subjects With a History of High-Altitude Pulmonary Edema. *Indian J Clin Biochem* (2016) 31:81–6. doi: 10.1007/s12291-015-0491-3
- 136. Chao J, Viets Z, Donham P, Wood JG, Gonzalez NC. Dexamethasone Blocks the Systemic Inflammation of Alveolar Hypoxia At Several Sites in the Inflammatory Cascade. Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol (2012) 303:168–77. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00106.2012
- 137. Chao J, Wood JG, Gonzalez NC. Alveolar Macrophages Initiate the Systemic Microvascular Inflammatory Response to Alveolar Hypoxia. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* (2011) 178:439–48. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2011.03.008
- Savaskan NE, Fingerle-Rowson G, Buchfelder M, Eyüpoglu IY. Brain Miffed by Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor. *Int J Cell Biol* (2012) 2012:1–11. doi: 10.1155/2012/139573
- 139. Eichstaedt CA, Mairbäurl H, Song J, Benjamin N, Fischer C, Dehnert C, et al. Genetic Predisposition to High-Altitude Pulmonary Edema. *High Alt Med Biol* (2020) 21:28–36. doi: 10.1089/ham.2019.0083
- 140. Kammerer T, Faihs V, Hulde N, Stangl M, Brettner F, Rehm M, et al. Hypoxic-Inflammatory Responses Under Acute Hypoxia: In Vitro Experiments and Prospective Observational Expedition Trial. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21:1–17. doi: 10.3390/ijms21031034
- 141. Song TT, Bi YH, Gao YQ, Huang R, Hao K, Xu G, et al. Systemic Pro-Inflammatory Response Facilitates the Development of Cerebral Edema During Short Hypoxia. J Neuroinflamm (2016) 13:1–14. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-016-0528-4
- 142. Alexander BT, Dasinger JH, Intapad S. Fetal Programming and Cardiovascular Pathology. *Compr Physiol* (2015) 5:997–1025. doi: 10.1002/ cphy.c140036.Fetal
- 143. Lv J, Ma Q, Dasgupta C, Xu Z, Zhang L. Antenatal Hypoxia and Programming of Glucocorticoid Receptor Expression in the Adult Rat Heart. Front Pediatr (2019) 10:323. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00323
- 144. Low JA, Froese AB, Galbraith RS, Smith JT, Sauerbrei EE, Derrick EJ. The Association Between Preterm Newborn Hypotension and Hypoxemia and Outcome During the First Year. Acta Paediatr (1993) 82:433–7. doi: 10.1111/ j.1651-2227.1993.tb12717.x
- 145. Rubaltelli FF, Bonafè L, Tangucci M, Spagnolo A, Dani C. Epidemiology of Neonatal Acute Respiratory Disorders A Multicenter Study on Incidence and Fatality Rates of. *Biol Neonate* (1998) 74:7–15. doi: 10.1159/ 000014005
- 146. Reyes ZC, Claure N, Tauscher MK, Ugard CD, Vanbuskirk S, Bancalari E. Randomized, Controlled Trial Comparing Synchronized Intermittent Mandatory Ventilation and Synchronized Intermittent Mandatory Ventilation Plus Pressure Support in Preterm Infants. *Pediatrics* (2006) 118:1409–17. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2923
- 147. Chang M. Optimal Oxygen Saturation in Premature Infants. Korean Peadiatric Soc (2011) 54:359–62. doi: 10.3345/kjp.2011.54.9.359
- 148. Hanukoglu A, Fried D, Nakash I, Hanukoglu I. Selective Increases in Adrenal Respiratory Disease in Infants Steroidogenic Capacity During Acute

Respiratory Disease in Infants. Eur J Endocrinol (1995) 133:552-6. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1330552

- 149. Raff H, Jankowski BM, Bruder ED, Engeland WC, Oaks MK. The Effect of Hypoxia From Birth on the Regulation of Aldosterone in the 7-Day-Old Rat: Plasma Hormones, Steroidogenesis *in Vitro*, and Steroidogenic Enzyme Messenger Ribonucleic Acid. *Endocrinology* (1999) 140:3147–53. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.7.6794
- 150. Raff H, Jankowski BM, Engeland WC, Oaks MK. Hypoxia In Vivo Inhibits Aldosterone Synthesis and Aldosterone Synthase mRNA in Rats. J Appl (1996) 81:604–10. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1996.81.2.604
- 151. Raff H, Jacobson L, Cullinan WE. Augmented Hypothalamic Corticotrophin-Releasing Hormone mRNA and Corticosterone Responses to Stress in Adult Rats Exposed to Perinatal Hypoxia. J Neuroendocr (2007) 19:907–12. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2009.08.003.Predictive
- 152. Vetrovoy O, Tyulkova E, Stratilov V, Baranova K, Nimiritsky P, Makarevich P, et al. Long-Term Effects of Prenatal Severe Hypoxia on Central and Peripheral Components of the Glucocorticoid System in Rats. *Dev Neurosci* (2021) 42:145–58. doi: 10.1159/000512223
- 153. Gonzalez-rodriguez PJ, Xiong F, Li Y, Zhou J, Zhang L. Fetal Hypoxia Increases Vulnerability of Hypoxic – Ischemic Brain Injury in Neonatal Rats: Role of Glucocorticoid Receptors. *Neurobiol Dis* (2014) 65:172–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.01.020
- 154. Chen W, Jadhav V, Tang J, Zhang JH. Hif-1a Inhibition Ameliorates Neonatal Brain Injury in a Rat Pup Hypoxic-Ischemic Model. *Neurobiol Dis* (2008) 31:433–41. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2008.05.020.HIF-1
- 155. Sierra A, Gottfried-Blackmore A, Milner TA, McEwen BS, Bulloch K. Steroid Hormone Receptor Expression and Function in Microglia. *Glia* (2008) 56:659–74. doi: 10.1002/glia.20644
- 156. Feng Y, Lu S, Wang J, Kumar P, Zhang L, Bhatt AJ. Dexamethasone-Induced Neuroprotection in Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury in Newborn Rats Is Partly Mediated Via Akt Activation. *Brain Res* (2014) 1589:68–77. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.09.073
- 157. Ekert P, MacLusky N, Luo XP, Lehotay DC, Smith B, Post M, et al. Dexamethasone Prevents Apoptosis in a Neonatal Rat Model of Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy (HIE) by a Reactive Oxygen Species-Independent Mechanism. *Brain Res* (1997) 747:9–17. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(96)01201-2
- 158. Feng Y, Rhodes PG, Bhatt AJ. Dexamethasone Pre-Treatment Protects Brain Against Hypoxic-Ischemic Injury Partially Through Up-Regulation of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A in Neonatal Rats. *Neuroscience* (2011) 179:223–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.01.050
- 159. Yeh CY, Yeh CM, Yu TH, Chang KH, Huang CC. Hsu K Sen. Neonatal Dexamethasone Treatment Exacerbates Hypoxia/Ischemia-Induced White Matter Injury. *Mol Neurobiol* (2017) 54:7083–95. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-0241-4
- Dallas M, Boycott HE, Atkinson L, Miller A, Boyle JP, Pearson HA, et al. Hypoxia Suppresses Glutamate Transport in Astrocytes. J Neurosci (2007) 27:3946–55. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5030-06.2007
- 161. Tan X, Chen Y, Li J, Li X, Miao Z, Xin N, et al. The Inhibition of Cdk5 Activity After Hypoxia/Ischemia Injury Reduces Infarct Size and Promotes Functional Recovery in Neonatal Rats. *Neuroscience* (2015) 290:552–60. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.01.054

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Vanderhaeghen, Beyaert and Libert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Protection of Antigen-Primed Effector T Cells From Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis in Cell Culture and in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Oxana Bereshchenko, University of Perugia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Ulrike Baschant, University Hospital Carl Gustav Carus, Germany Sabine Vettorazzi, University of Ulm, Germany

*Correspondence:

Holger M. Reichardt hreichardt@med.uni-goettingen.de Fred Lühder fred.luehder@med.uni-goettingen.de

[†]Present address:

Jasmina Bier, Institute of Neuroimmunology and Multiple Sclerosis, University Medical Center Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany

> [‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 23 February 2021 Accepted: 28 May 2021 Published: 10 June 2021

Citation:

Bier J, Steiger SM, Reichardt HM and Lühder F (2021) Protection of Antigen-Primed Effector T Cells From Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis in Cell Culture and in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis. Front. Immunol. 12:671258. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.671258 Jasmina Bier^{1†‡}, Sebastian M. Steiger^{1‡}, Holger M. Reichardt^{2*‡} and Fred Lühder^{1*‡}

¹ Institute for Neuroimmunology and Multiple Sclerosis Research, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany, ² Institute for Cellular and Molecular Immunology, University Medical Center Goettingen, Goettingen, Germany

Induction of T cell apoptosis constitutes a major mechanism by which therapeutically administered glucocorticoids (GCs) suppress inflammation and associated clinical symptoms, for instance in multiple sclerosis (MS) patients suffering from an acute relapse. The sensitivity of T cells to GC action depends on their maturation and activation status, but the precise effect of antigen-priming in a pathological setting has not been explored. Here we used transgenic and congenic mouse models to compare GC-induced apoptosis between naïve and antigen-specific effector T cells from mice immunized with a myelin peptide. Antigen-primed effector T cells were protected from the pro-apoptotic activity of the synthetic GC dexamethasone in a dose-dependent manner. which resulted in their accumulation relative to naïve T cells in vitro and in vivo. Notably, the differential sensitivity of T cells to GC-induced apoptosis correlated with their expression level of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl- X_L and a loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential. Moreover, accumulation of antigen-primed effector T cells following GC treatment in vitro resulted in an aggravated disease course in an adoptive transfer mouse model of MS in vivo, highlighting the clinical relevance of the observed phenomenon. Collectively, our data indicate that antigen-priming influences the T cells' sensitivity to therapeutically applied GCs in the context of inflammatory diseases.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, apoptosis, T cells, antigen-priming, adoptive transfer EAE

INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids (GCs) have been used as immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory agents for more than 70 years (1) and have become indispensable for the management of a variety of diseases. In some fields such as dermatology and ophthalmology, GCs are mostly applied in topical form, whereas systemic administration is customary in the treatment of lymphoma and various autoimmune diseases. This also concerns multiple sclerosis (MS) patients suffering from an acute relapse, who commonly receive high-dose intravenous methylprednisolone pulse therapy to ameliorate clinical symptoms (2). Most of our current knowledge on the mechanisms of GCs in neuroinflammatory diseases stems from the analysis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a frequently used animal model of MS (3). It has turned out that therapeutic GCs mainly act on T cells in this disease whereas GC nanoformulations such as PEGylated liposomes and hybrid nanoparticles rather target myeloid cells (4–6). GCs engage a variety of mechanisms to modulate T-cell function in neuroinflammation. They alter the expression and secretion of cytokines and chemokines, downregulate adhesion molecules, and redirect T cell migration (4, 5, 7, 8). In addition, they induce apoptosis in developing and mature T cells, which shapes the thymocyte repertoire (9) and contributes to the effectiveness of GC therapy (10). In contrast, the role of regulatory T cells (Treg) as targets of GC action remains controversial (4, 11).

Induction of T-cell apoptosis by GCs requires DNA-bindingdependent transcriptional regulation (12), presumably of proapoptotic genes such as Bim and PUMA (13), and is mediated via the intrinsic apoptotic pathway (14). The sensitivity of T cells to GC-induced apoptosis depends on their maturation and differentiation stage. While GCs efficiently cause cell death of CD4⁺CD8⁺ double-positive (DP) thymocytes, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ single-positive (SP) thymocytes turned out to be highly resistant (15-17). Differential sensitivities to GC-induced apoptosis have also been noticed for peripheral T cell subpopulations such as Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells (18), whereas contradictory results have been obtained for Treg cells (19-21). Experiments in cell culture further indicated that activated T cells are less prone to GCinduced apoptosis than naïve T cells. Such a dichotomy was found for both murine (22, 23) and human T cells (24, 25). However, little information is available about the impact of GCs on antigen-specific effector T cells that have been activated in a pathological context in vivo rather than by artificial treatment with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies, PMA/ionomycin or ConA in vitro. In order to close this gap, we made use of transgenic mice expressing green or red fluorescent proteins as well as CD45.1/2 congenic mice to distinguish between individual T cell populations, and a protocol to generate antigen-specific effector T cells in vivo by immunizing 2D2 transgenic mice expressing a MOG-specific TCR. Using this approach, we could demonstrate that antigen-primed effector T cells are protected from GC-induced apoptosis in vitro and in vivo, and that this effect is relevant in the context of a model neuroinflammatory disease in mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

C57BL/6J and B6.SJL-PtprcaPepcb/BoyJ (CD45.1-congenic) mice were originally purchased from Charles River (Sulzfeld, Germany) and bred in the animal facility of the University Medical Center Göttingen. The following mouse strains were also housed in the University Medical Center Göttingen animal facility: 2D2 transgenic mice (26), Act-GFP mice (27), and RFP knock-in mice (28). 2D2 and RFP knock-in mice were

intercrossed to obtain mice expressing both the MOG-specific 2D2 TCR transgene and RFP. The mice were kept in individually ventilated cages under specific-pathogen-free conditions and supplied with food and water *ad libitum*. All animal experiments were performed in accordance with ethical standards of animal welfare and approved by the responsible authorities of Lower Saxony (*Niedersächsisches Landesamt für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit*).

Animal Experimentation

Mice were immunized s.c. with 50 μ g MOG₃₅₋₅₅ in Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA) and injected twice with 200 ng pertussis toxin (PTX) i.p. on day 0 and 2 as described previously (4). The draining lymph nodes were collected on day 12 post immunization in the case of C57BL/6J mice and on day 10 post immunization for 2D2/RFP mice. To investigate GC effects *in vivo*, 2.5 x 10⁶ restimulated RFP⁺ antigen-primed T cells and 8-10 x 10⁶ purified GFP⁺ naïve T cells were injected i.v. into the tail vein of CD45.1-congenic C57BL/6 recipient mice. Three days later, 5 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg Dex (Urbason soluble 32 mg; Sanofi, Paris, France) or PBS as a control were injected i.p. On day 4 after cell transfer, inguinal and mesenteric lymph nodes and spleen were collected, single cell suspensions prepared and analyzed by flow cytometry.

T-Cell Isolation and Cell Culture

CD3⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleen with the EasySepTM Mouse T Cell Enrichment Kit (Stemcell Technologies, Cologne, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cell purity was routinely determined by flow cytometry and always exceeded 90%. Antigen-specific restimulation of T cells was achieved by seeding cell suspensions from draining lymph nodes of immunized animals in 96-well round bottom plates at 5 x 10^5 cells/well in 100 µL of restimulation medium consisting of advanced RPMI 1640 (Gibco 51800-035; Thermofisher Scientific, Darmstadt, Germany), 10% fetal calf serum (PAA Laboratories A15-043; Thermofisher Scientific), 1% penicillin/ streptomycin (Gibco 150063), 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco 25030-024), and 0.0002% β -mercaptoethanol. In addition, 25 µg/mL MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide (wildtype T cells) or 10 µg/mL MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide (2D2 T cells) provided by the Charité (Berlin, Germany), 25 ng/mL recombinant mouse IL-12 (R&D Systems, 419-ML; Wiesbaden, Germany) and 20 µg/mL anti-IFNy antibody (XMG1.2, Biolegend, 505847; Uithoorn, The Netherlands) were added. The cell suspension was incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for 48 hrs, after which it was transferred into 96-well flat bottom plates. Dex at concentrations ranging from 10⁻⁹ M to 10⁻⁶ M or restimulation medium alone as a control were added to the wells, followed by 24 hrs incubation at 37 °C and 5% CO₂.

Flow Cytometry

All antibodies and reagents for extracellular staining were obtained from BioLegend unless otherwise indicated: anti-CD3 ϵ (145-2C11), anti-CD4 (RM4-5), anti-CD8 α (53-6.7), anti-CD19 (6D5), anti-CD44 (IM7), anti-CD45.1 (A20), anti-CD45.2 (104), anti-CD62L (Mel14), AnnexinV, streptavidin, and LIVE/DEAD stain (Thermofisher Scientific). Antibodies and reagents were

directly conjugated with FITC, AF647, PE, PerCPCy5.5, PE-Cy7, APC, APC-Cv7, BV421, BV650, BV785 or biotin. Extracellular staining was performed as previously described (29). For intracellular antigen detection, cells were fixed with 4% PFA for 20 min after completion of surface staining, followed by 30 min of incubation with Perm buffer (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) and 60 min with an anti-Bcl-2 antibody (clone REA356, conjugated with APC; Miltenvi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany), an anti-Bcl-X₁ antibody (clone 7B2.5, conjugated with biotin; SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, AL, USA) in combination with streptavidin, an anti-Bim antibody (polyclonal, conjugated with AF647, antibodies-online, Aachen, Germany) or an mIgG2b isotype control antibody (clone MPC-11, conjugated with APC or biotin; BioLegend), all diluted in Perm buffer. The mitochondrial membrane potential was measured with the help of the MitoProbeTM TMRM Kit (Thermofisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All measurements were performed with a Cytoflex[®] flow cytometry device (Beckmann Coulter, Krefeld, Germany) and analyzed using Cytexpert® (Beckmann) or FlowJo® (Tree Star, Ashland, OR, USA; version 10.7.1.) software.

Transfer EAE

Lymph node cells from immunized C57BL/6J mice were cultured as described above in the absence or presence of 10^{-6} M or 10^{-7} M Dex for the last 24 hrs of the culture period. Afterwards, 2.5 x 10^{6} cells were transferred i.p. into C57BL/6J recipient mice (30). The induction of transfer EAE did not require application of PTX. Animals were monitored daily for clinical symptoms by measuring their weight and scoring disease progression as follows: 0 =normal; 1 = reduced tone of tail; 2 = limp tail, impaired righting; 3 = absent righting; 4 = gait ataxia; 5 = mild paraparesis of hindlimbs; 6 = moderate paraparesis; 7 = severe paraparesis or paraplegia; 8 = tetraparesis; 9 = moribund; 10 = death.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed by One-way ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison test. Analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism software (San Diego, CA, USA). Data are depicted as scatter dots plots with individual data points and a horizontal line representing the mean, or as XY plot with the mean \pm SEM. Levels of significance are as follows: n.s., p > 0.05; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

RESULTS

Antigen-Priming Protects T Cells From GC-Induced Apoptosis

GC therapy of MS patients and EAE mice induces T cell apoptosis but the differential sensitivity of antigen-primed effector and naïve bystander T cells to the pro-apoptotic activity of GCs has not been explored. To address this issue, we initially established an *in vitro* model that mimics the situation encountered in the treatment of neuroinflammatory diseases (**Figure 1A**). Lymph node cells mostly composed of antigen-primed T cells with a MOG-



FIGURE 1 | Enrichment of antigen-primed effector T cells after GC treatment *in vitro*. **(A)** Setup of the experimental model. **(B)** Percentages of live/dead⁻ (naïve) GFP⁺ T cells (upper left panel) as well as live/dead⁻ (antigen-primed) RFP⁺ T cells (upper right panel) after 3 days of cell culture in the presence of the indicated concentrations of Dex for the last 24 hrs. In control (con) conditions, no Dex was added to the cell culture. Percentages of GFP⁺ B cells (lower left panel) and RFP⁺ B cells (lower right panel) were determined in the same cultures. Each dot corresponds to cells originating from one individual mouse, the horizontal line represents the mean. N=4 (biological replicates from individual mice). Statistical analysis was performed by Oneway ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison test. Levels of significance (depicted for the comparison between control and Dex-treated cultures): n.s. = not significant; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. T_{as}, antigen-specific T cells; T_n, naïve T cells; B, B cells; M, myeloid cells.

specific TCR were isolated from 2D2/RFP double-transgenic C57BL/6 mice previously immunized with MOG_{35-55} peptide. These cells were then co-cultured for 3 days in the presence of the same antigen with lymph node cells from GFP transgenic mice containing naïve T cells expressing a natural TCR repertoire. During the last 24 hours of co-culture, Dex was added at concentrations ranging from 10^{-9} M to 10^{-6} M to induce apoptosis while leaving T cell differentiation largely unaffected. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that the abundance of naïve GFP⁺ T cells amongst live cells was gradually diminished with ascending concentrations of Dex, whereas the percentage of antigen-primed RFP⁺ effector T cells was concomitantly

increased (**Figure 1B**). In contrast, no such effect was observed for other cell types also contained in these lymph node cell preparations. More specifically, the percentages of GFP⁺ and RFP⁺ B cells amongst live cells for instance remained unaltered after the addition of Dex (**Figure 1B**). We conclude that antigenprimed effector T cells are more resistant to GC-induced apoptosis than naïve T cells.

Reduced Sensitivity of Antigen-Primed T Cells to Apoptosis Induction

Next, we explored whether the enrichment of antigen-primed effector T cells after Dex treatment was a direct consequence of an altered sensitivity to apoptosis induction. Using the same experimental setup as before, we found that the percentage of AnnexinV⁺ cells amongst GFP⁺CD4⁺ naïve T cells strongly increased in a dose-dependent manner after Dex treatment, whereas the percentage of AnnexinV⁺ cells amongst RFP⁺CD4⁺ effector T cells increased only very moderately (Figure 2A). To further unveil the mechanisms underlying the T cells' differential sensitivity to GC-induced apoptosis, we investigated the expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L in naïve GFP⁺CD4⁺ and antigen-primed RFP⁺CD4⁺ T cells. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that antigen-priming increased the levels of both anti-apoptotic proteins compared to the naïve state regardless of whether the cells were treated with Dex or not (Figure 2B). In contrast, the levels of the pro-apoptotic molecule Bim were comparable in both cell types (data not shown). Therefore, the elevated expression of anti-apoptotic proteins presumably explains the observed protection of effector T cells from GC-induced apoptosis.

To corroborate our findings, we also measured the mitochondrial membrane potential, as Bcl-2 family members have been reported to exert their apoptosis-modifying activity via this organelle (31). Lymph node cells, mostly composed of antigen-primed T cells with a MOG-specific TCR, were isolated from 2D2 transgenic C57BL/6 mice previously immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide. These cells were co-cultured for 3 days in the presence of the same antigen with lymph node cells from CD45.1-congenic mice containing primarily naïve T cells. During the last 24 hours of co-culture, the cells were either treated with 10⁻⁶ M Dex or left untreated (Figure 3A). Under control conditions, a more pronounced loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential, as indicated by a reduced staining with TMRM, was observed for naïve CD45.1⁺CD4⁺ T cells in comparison to antigen-primed CD45.2+CD4+ T cells (Figure 3B). This difference was even stronger after Dex treatment and correlated well with the expression levels of the anti-apoptotic molecules Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L in these cells. Collectively, our results underscore that naïve T cells are the preferential target of apoptotic cell death after GC treatment.

Enrichment of Antigen-Primed T Cells Coincides With Their Activation State

In the last step, we investigated late activation/memory markers as an alternative strategy to distinguish between naïve and



FIGURE 2 | Apoptosis sensitivity of naïve and antigen-primed effector T cells. (A) Percentages of AnnexinV⁺ (AnV⁺) cells amongst (naïve) GFP⁺ and (antigen-primed) RFP+CD4+ T cells after 3 days of cell culture in the presence of the indicated concentrations of Dex for the last 24 hrs. No Dex was added to the cell culture under control (con) conditions. The experimental setup corresponds to the one illustrated in Figure 1A. Open symbols refer to RFP+ cells and filled symbols refer to GFP⁺ cells. N=4. Statistical analysis was performed by One-way ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison test. Levels of significance (depicted for each comparison between RFP⁺ and GFP⁺ cells): n.s. = not significant; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. (B) Intracellular stainings of Bcl-2 or Bcl-X₁ in (naïve) GFP⁺ and (antigen-primed) RFP+CD4+ T cells cultured in the absence (control) or presence of 10⁻⁶ M Dex for the last 24 hrs according to the experimental scheme depicted in Figure 1A. Staining with an mlgG2b antibody served as an isotype control. One representative analysis for each condition is depicted as overlaved histograms.

effector T cells. Here, we used total lymph node cells from C57BL/6 wildtype mice previously immunized with MOG_{35-55} and restimulated them for 3 days in cell culture. During the last 24 hours, Dex was added at ascending concentrations ranging from 10^{-9} to 10^{-6} M (**Figure 4A**). In agreement with our earlier findings, the abundance of naïve CD44^{low}CD62L⁺ cells amongst live CD4⁺ T cells decreased from approximately 60% to 20% with increasing concentrations of Dex, while CD4⁺ T cells with an activated phenotype (CD44^{high}CD62L⁻) were concomitantly enriched amongst live cells (**Figure 4B**). In summary, our data suggest that upregulation of anti-apoptotic proteins after activation specifically protects effector T cells from GC-induced apoptosis.



GC Treatment of Mice Preferentially Induces Apoptosis in Naïve T Cells

As a first step to confirm our results in vivo, lymph node cells containing antigen-primed effector T cells expressing a MOGspecific TCR were isolated from 2D2/RFP double-transgenic C57BL/6 mice previously immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide and restimulated in cell culture with the same antigen. These RFP⁺ effector T cells were then transferred into CD45.1-congenic C57BL/6 mice together with purified GFP⁺ naïve T cells, and 3 days later the mice were injected with 5 or 20 mg/kg Dex or PBS as a control. CD45.1-congenic mice were used as recipients to unequivocally allow to distinguish donor T cells from endogenous cells. After another 24 hours, the ratio between GFP⁺ and RFP⁺ T cells was determined in secondary lymphoid organs by flow cytometric analysis (Figure 5A). Similar to our in vitro findings, a dose-dependent accumulation of RFP⁺ antigenprimed effector T cells compared to GFP⁺ naïve T cells was observed in lymph nodes and spleen (Figures 5B, C). Moreover, also in this *in vivo* setting, a higher expression level of Bcl-2 was found in antigen-primed RFP⁺CD4⁺ T cells than in naïve GFP⁺CD4⁺ T cells regardless of whether or not the cells were



FIGURE 4 | Enrichment of 1 cells with an activation/memory phenotype atter GC treatment *in vitro*. **(A)** Setup of the experimental model. **(B)** Percentages of live/dead⁻ (naïve) CD44^{low}CD62L⁺ CD4⁺ T cells (left panel) and live/dead⁻ (activated) CD44^{high}CD62L⁻ CD4⁺ T cells (right panel) after 3 days of cell culture in the absence (con) or presence of the indicated concentrations of Dex for the last 24 hrs. Each dot corresponds to cells from one individual mouse, the horizontal line represents the mean. N=3 (biological replicates from individual mice). Statistical analysis was performed by One-way ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison test. Levels of significance (depicted for the comparison between control and Dex-treated cultures): n.s., not significant; *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001. T_{as}, antigen-specific T cells; T_n, naïve T cells; B, B cells; M, myeloid cells.

treated with Dex (**Figure 5D**). Our data collectively provide evidence that the sensitivity of antigen-primed effector T cells to GC-induced apoptosis in mice is diminished *in vivo* as well.

GC-Treatment of T Cells Aggravates Adoptive Transfer EAE in Mice

Finally, we asked whether the accumulation of antigen-primed effector T cells after *in vitro* treatment with Dex had any consequences in an adoptive transfer EAE model. To address this issue, C57Bl/6 wildtype mice were immunized with MOG_{35-55} peptide and 12 days later the lymph nodes containing both antigen-primed effector and naïve T cells were isolated and restimulated *in vitro* with the same antigen for 3 days. During the last 24 hours, Dex was added at two different concentrations $(10^{-7} \text{ M and } 10^{-6} \text{ M})$, or the cells were left untreated as a control. Eventually, 2.5 x 10^{6} live cells from each condition were transferred into naïve C57Bl/6 wildtype mice and the disease course was followed over 3 weeks (**Figure 6A**). Mice receiving T cells from cell cultures treated with Dex showed a significantly aggravated disease course dependent on the employed Dex



in vivo. (A) Setup of the experimental model. (B, C) Weighted ratio of live/ dead⁻ CD45.2⁺ (antigen-primed) RFP⁺ T cells and (naïve) GFP⁺ T cells from lymph nodes (B) and spleen (C) on day 4 after transfer and 24 hrs after application of the indicated doses of Dex (5 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg) *in vivo*. Control mice (0 mg/kg Dex) received PBS. Data are depicted as the mean +/-SEM. N=4-5 (biological replicates from individual mice). Statistical analysis was performed by One-way ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison test. Levels of significance (depicted for the comparison between control and Dex-treated cultures): *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01. (D) Intracellular stainings of Bcl-2 in (naïve) GFP⁺ and (antigen-primed) RFP⁺CD4⁺ T cells isolated from mice treated with 20 mg/kg Dex or left untreated as outlined in panel (A). Staining with an mIgG2b antibody served as an isotype control. One representative analysis for each condition is depicted as overlayed histograms. T_{as}, antigen-specific T cells; T_n, naïve T cells; B, B cells; M, myeloid cells.

concentration compared to mice receiving control T cells (**Figure 6B**). This negative effect was also reflected by a higher incidence of EAE [10^{-6} M Dex: 91% (10/11), 10^{-7} M Dex: 85% (11/13), control: 75% (9/12)], an earlier onset of the disease (**Figure 6C**), and an increase of the cumulative disease score (**Figure 6D**). In summary, our findings suggest that protection of antigen-primed effector T cells from GC-induced apoptosis is



PROPER b (Einschneid einechter in der Berlehren in der Berlehren in vitro aggravates clinical symptoms in an adoptive transfer EAE model. **(A)** Setup of the experimental model. **(B-D)** EAE development after transfer of 2.5×10^6 T cells under control conditions (black) or after treatment with 10^{-7} M (blue) or 10^{-6} M (red) Dex for the last 24 hrs of the cell culture period *in vitro*. Clinical score of all mice that became sick, depicted as the mean +/-SEM **(B)**, the day of disease onset **(C)**, and the cumulative clinical score **(D)** are depicted. N = 11-13. Statistical analysis was performed by One-way ANOVA followed by a Newman-Keuls Multiple Comparison test. Levels of significance: *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001.

relevant for the pathogenesis of T cell-dependent inflammatory diseases in mice and presumably MS in humans as well.

DISCUSSION

Induction of T-cell apoptosis was one of the first modes of action identified for GCs and is still believed to be highly relevant for their clinical effectiveness in the treatment of various diseases. It was soon noticed that profound differences exist between individual developmental stages, cellular subsets and differentiation states with regard to apoptosis sensitivity. DP thymocytes are presumably the most sensitive type of immune cell in this respect (16, 17), but differences were also found for mature T-cell subpopulations such as Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells (21, 32). Furthermore, it was observed that T-cell activation conferred protection against GC-induced apoptosis, which was linked to the cell cycle entry into the G1/ G2/M phase (33, 34). Along these lines, T cells from burn-injured mice were shown to have a reduced sensitivity to GC-induced apoptosis, which correlated with their enhanced activation status (23). In contrast, very little is known concerning GC-induced apoptosis of antigen-primed effector T cells in the pathological setting of inflammatory diseases. It is noteworthy that a stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies, PMA/ionomycin or ConA, as done in most published studies, mimics T cell activation only partially. In natural conditions, activation of T cells is achieved by interaction of an MHC:peptide complex on antigen-presenting cells with the TCR, and engagement of CD28 by B7 molecules in the context of an immune microenvironment composed of other leukocytes, cytokines and growth factors. Since these diverse influences not only impact the fate of effector T cells but presumably determine their sensitivity to GC-induced apoptosis, too, the latter process should be preferably investigated in more sophisticated experimental setups.

To uncover whether antigen-primed effector T cells show a different sensitivity towards GC-induced apoptosis compared to naïve T cells, we developed a co-culture system in which both cell types could be distinguished based on their expression of a red and green fluorescent protein or the expression of the congenic markers CD45.1 and 2, respectively. T cell priming in vivo was achieved by immunization of 2D2-transgenic mice expressing a TCR specific for the pathologically relevant myelin antigen MOG₃₅₋₅₅ followed by restimulation in cell culture. With this setup we ensured that T cell activation occurred in a microenvironment that mimics the situation encountered during an autoimmune response. Importantly, only antigenspecific T cells but neither B cells isolated from the same immunized mice nor naïve T cells were protected from GCinduced cell death. This effect could be assigned to a reduced induction of apoptosis based on the staining of T cell subtypes with AnnexinV and their differential loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential. While these results collectively confirmed that antigen-priming alters apoptosis induction by GCs, this effect was not only clear in vitro but also observed in vivo. In fact, we could demonstrate that the protective effect of antigenpriming with regard to GC-induced apoptosis was dosedependent in corresponding concentration ranges in vitro (10⁻⁸ and 10⁻⁷ M Dex) and *in vivo* (5 and 20 mg/kg Dex). This observation indicates that the mechanism in cell culture and living mice is very similar.

Several mechanisms are being discussed as possible explanations for the diminished sensitivity of activated T cells to GC-induced apoptosis *in vitro*, including a critical role of cytokines as part of the immune microenvironment. This concerns IL-2, IL-4, IL-10 and IL-12 acting on individual T-cell subsets (24, 35), and downstream pathways involving I κ B α (36) and PI3K/AKT (37). Importantly, cytokine signaling has

been shown to upregulate the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L in activated T cells, which seems to be an important mechanism of their reduced sensitivity to apoptosis induction (38). Intriguingly, Bcl-2 in T cells was found to be only induced after stimulation of total splenocyte preparations with ConA but not after activation of purified T cells with PMA/ionomycin. In contrast, Bcl-X_L was induced under both conditions (39). These findings support the notion that the immune microenvironment dictates if anti-apoptotic proteins become elevated during T cell activation or not. In our study, we could show that both proteins were expressed at higher levels in antigen-primed effector T cells compared to naïve T cells, regardless of GC treatment, a finding which reflects the natural context of an autoimmune response in vivo. Noteworthy, the previous observation that T cells obtained from Bcl-2-transgenic mice are resistant to GC-induced apoptosis is also in line with our current finding that an increased expression of this anti-apoptotic protein in antigenprimed effector T cells is linked to a protection against cell death by GCs (8). Hence, we consider it fair to conclude that T cells, which were naturally activated in the context of an immune response, become resistant against GC-induced apoptosis through induction of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_I.

The biological consequences of the observed GC-resistance of antigen-primed T cells have not been studied in physiologically relevant mouse models up to now. Adoptive transfer EAE mimics many hallmarks of human MS and hence makes it possible to test the in vivo relevance of the altered balance between naïve and antigen-primed T cells after Dex treatment in vitro (30). Importantly, the MOG-specific T cells analyzed in this study are able to induce clinical symptoms after transfer into C57BL/6 mice and therefore resemble pathogenic T cells found in MS patients. Our results unveiled that the enrichment of antigen-primed effector T cells after incubation with Dex enhanced disease development after adoptive transfer into mice. These data further indicate that our model is very sensitive to the input of antigen-primed effector T cells and that already a slight increase in their relative number suffices to induce a statistically significant worsening of the disease course.

In summary, our study extents previous findings concerning GC-induced apoptosis of activated T cells to the analysis of pathologically relevant antigen-primed effector T cells in a setting which is relevant for neuroinflammatory diseases. The data have several practical implications. Antigen-primed effector T cells can be enriched in cell culture with the help of GCs, which can be exploited for the analysis of autoimmune diseases but also in approaches to treat cancer where pure preparations of such cells are required. Furthermore, the observation that preventive treatment of EAE with methylprednisolone paradoxically worsened the disease outcome can now be explained by an unintended enrichment of effector T cells prior to disease induction (40). Although GCs undoubtedly remain a powerful tool to interfere with inflammatory conditions including MS, our results highlight the importance of critically considering whether their application might result in an enrichment of effector T cells during an ongoing immune response and therefore might even prove harmful.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Niedersächsisches Landesamt für Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB: performed and analyzed experiments. SS: performed and analyzed experiments. HR: designed the project, analyzed experiments, and wrote the manuscript. FL: designed the project,

REFERENCES

- 1. Hench P. Effects of Cortisone in the Rheumatic Diseases. *Lancet* (1950) 2:483–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(50)91461-9
- Milligan NM, Newcombe R, Compston DA. A Double-Blind Controlled Trial of High Dose Methylprednisolone in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis: 1. Clinical Effects. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1987) 50:511–6. doi: 10.1136/ jnnp.50.5.511
- Gold R, Linington C, Lassmann H. Understanding Pathogenesis and Therapy of Multiple Sclerosis Via Animal Models: 70 Years of Merits and Culprits in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Research. *Brain* (2006) 129:1953–71. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl075
- Wüst S, van den Brandt J, Tischner D, Kleiman A, Tuckermann JP, Gold R, et al. Peripheral T Cells are the Therapeutic Targets of Glucocorticoids in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:8434– 43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.12.8434
- Schweingruber N, Haine A, Tiede K, Karabinskaya A, van den Brandt J, Wüst S, et al. Liposomal Encapsulation of Glucocorticoids Alters Their Mode of Action in the Treatment of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:4310–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101604
- Montes-Cobos E, Ring S, Fischer HJ, Heck J, Strauss J, Schwaninger M, et al. Targeted Delivery of Glucocorticoids to Macrophages in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis Using Inorganic-Organic Hybrid Nanoparticles. J Control Release (2017) 245:157–69. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.12.003
- Wüst S, Tischner D, John M, Tuckermann JP, Menzfeld C, Hanisch UK, et al. Therapeutic and Adverse Effects of a non-Steroidal Glucocorticoid Receptor Ligand in a Mouse Model of Multiple Sclerosis. *PloS One* (2009) 4:e8202. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008202
- Schweingruber N, Fischer HJ, Fischer L, van den Brandt J, Karabinskaya A, Labi V, et al. Chemokine-Mediated Redirection of T Cells Constitutes a Critical Mechanism of Glucocorticoid Therapy in Autoimmune CNS Responses. *Acta Neuropathol* (2014) 127:713–29. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1248-4
- Mittelstadt PR, Monteiro JP, Ashwell JD. Thymocyte Responsiveness to Endogenous Glucocorticoids is Required for Immunological Fitness. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:2384–94. doi: 10.1172/JCI63067
- Schmidt J, Gold R, Schonrock L, Zettl UK, Hartung HP, Toyka KV. T-Cell Apoptosis in Situ in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Following Methylprednisolone Pulse Therapy. *Brain* (2000) 123(Pt 7):1431–41. doi: 10.1093/brain/123.7.1431
- Kim D, Nguyen QT, Lee J, Lee SH, Janocha A, Kim S, et al. Anti-Inflammatory Roles of Glucocorticoids are Mediated by Foxp3(+) Regulatory T Cells Via a miR-342-Dependent Mechanism. *Immunity* (2020) 53:581–96.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.07.002

analyzed experiments, and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the *Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft* (RE 1631/17-1 and FL 377/4-1).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Birgit Curdt and Martina Weig for their expert technical assistance, Leonard Hammermann and Judith Strauß for help with the adoptive transfer EAE model, and Catherine Ludwig for language editing.

- Reichardt HM, Kaestner KH, Tuckermann J, Kretz O, Wessely O, Bock R, et al. DNA Binding of the Glucocorticoid Receptor is Not Essential for Survival. *Cell* (1998) 93:531–41. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81183-6
- Erlacher M, Michalak EM, Kelly PN, Labi V, Niederegger H, Coultas L, et al. BH3-Only Proteins Puma and Bim are Rate-Limiting for Gamma-Radiationand Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis of Lymphoid Cells In Vivo. *Blood* (2005) 106:4131–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-04-1595
- Wang D, Müller N, McPherson KG, Reichardt HM. Glucocorticoids Engage Different Signal Transduction Pathways to Induce Apoptosis in Thymocytes and Mature T Cells. J Immunol (2006) 176:1695–702. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.176.3.1695
- Wiegers GJ, Knoflach M, Bock G, Niederegger H, Dietrich H, Falus A, et al. CD4(+)CD8(+)TCR(Low) Thymocytes Express Low Levels of Glucocorticoid Receptors While Being Sensitive to Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) 31:2293–301. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200108)31:8<2293:: AID-IMMU2293>3.0.CO;2-I
- Berki T, Palinkas L, Boldizsar F, Nemeth P. Glucocorticoid (GC) Sensitivity and GC Receptor Expression Differ in Thymocyte Subpopulations. *Int Immunol* (2002) 14:463–9. doi: 10.1093/intimm/14.5.463
- van den Brandt J, Wang D, Reichardt HM. Resistance of Single-Positive Thymocytes to Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis is Mediated by CD28 Signaling. *Mol Endocrinol* (2004) 18:687–95. doi: 10.1210/me.2003-0390
- Banuelos J, Lu NZ. A Gradient of Glucocorticoid Sensitivity Among Helper T Cell Cytokines. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev (2016) 31:27–35. doi: 10.1016/ j.cytogfr.2016.05.002
- Chen X, Murakami T, Oppenheim JJ, Howard OM. Differential Response of Murine CD4+CD25+ and CD4+CD25- T Cells to Dexamethasone-Induced Cell Death. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34:859–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.200324506
- Sbiera S, Dexneit T, Reichardt SD, Michel KD, van den Brandt J, Schmull S, et al. Influence of Short-Term Glucocorticoid Therapy on Regulatory T Cells In Vivo. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e24345. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024345
- Prenek L, Litvai T, Balazs N, Kugyelka R, Boldizsar F, Najbauer J, et al. Regulatory T Cells are Less Sensitive to Glucocorticoid Hormone Induced Apoptosis Than CD4(+) T Cells. *Apoptosis* (2020) 25:715–29. doi: 10.1007/ s10495-020-01629-x
- Zacharchuk CM, Mercep M, Chakraborti PK, Simons SSJr., Ashwell JD. Programmed T Lymphocyte Death. Cell Activation- and Steroid-Induced Pathways are Mutually Antagonistic. *J Immunol* (1990) 145:4037–45.
- D'Elia M, Patenaude J, Dupras C, Bernier J. T Cells From Burn-Injured Mice Demonstrate a Loss of Sensitivity to Glucocorticoids. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 299:E299–307. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00084.2010
- 24. Brunetti M, Martelli N, Colasante A, Piantelli M, Musiani P, Aiello FB. Spontaneous and Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis in Human Mature T

Lymphocytes. *Blood* (1995) 86:4199–205. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.11. 4199.bloodjournal86114199

- Strauss G, Osen W, Debatin KM. Induction of Apoptosis and Modulation of Activation and Effector Function in T Cells by Immunosuppressive Drugs. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2002) 128:255–66. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2002.01777.x
- Bettelli E, Pagany M, Weiner HL, Linington C, Sobel RA, Kuchroo VK. Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein-Specific T Cell Receptor Transgenic Mice Develop Spontaneous Autoimmune Optic Neuritis. J Exp Med (2003) 197:1073–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021603
- Okabe M, Ikawa M, Kominami K, Nakanishi T, Nishimune Y. 'Green Mice' as a Source of Ubiquitous Green Cells. *FEBS Lett* (1997) 407:313–9. doi: 10.1016/ S0014-5793(97)00313-X
- Luche H, Weber O, Nageswara Rao T, Blum C, Fehling HJ. Faithful Activation of an Extra-Bright Red Fluorescent Protein in "Knock-in" Cre-reporter Mice Ideally Suited for Lineage Tracing Studies. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37:43–53. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636745
- van den Brandt J, Voss K, Schott M, Hünig T, Wolfe MS, Reichardt HM. Inhibition of Notch Signaling Biases Rat Thymocyte Development Towards the NK Cell Lineage. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34:1405–13. doi: 10.1002/ eji.200324735
- 30. Flach AC, Litke T, Strauss J, Haberl M, Gomez CC, Reindl M, et al. Autoantibody-Boosted T-cell Reactivation in the Target Organ Triggers Manifestation of Autoimmune CNS Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:3323–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1519608113
- Rasmussen ML, Gama V. A Connection in Life and Death: The BCL-2 Family Coordinates Mitochondrial Network Dynamics and Stem Cell Fate. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol (2020) 353:255–84. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2019.12.005
- Banuelos J, Shin S, Cao Y, Bochner BS, Morales-Nebreda L, Budinger GR, et al. BCL-2 Protects Human and Mouse Th17 Cells From Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis. *Allergy* (2016) 71:640–50. doi: 10.1111/all.12840
- Walker PR, Kwast-Welfeld J, Gourdeau H, Leblanc J, Neugebauer W, Sikorska M. Relationship Between Apoptosis and the Cell Cycle in Lymphocytes: Roles of Protein Kinase C, Tyrosine Phosphorylation, and AP1. *Exp Cell Res* (1993) 207:142–51. doi: 10.1006/excr.1993.1173
- 34. Tuosto L, Cundari E, Gilardini Montani MS, Piccolella E. Analysis of Susceptibility of Mature Human T Lymphocytes to Dexamethasone-

Induced Apoptosis. Eur J Immunol (1994) 24:1061-5. doi: 10.1002/ eji.1830240508

- Zubiaga AM, Munoz E, Huber BT. IL-4 and IL-2 Selectively Rescue Th Cell Subsets From Glucocorticoid-Induced Apoptosis. *J Immunol* (1992) 149:107– 12.
- Xie H, Seward RJ, Huber BT. Cytokine Rescue From Glucocorticoid Induced Apoptosis in T Cells is Mediated Through Inhibition of Ikappabalpha. *Mol Immunol* (1997) 34:987–94. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(97)00128-4
- Kawabe K, Lindsay D, Braitch M, Fahey AJ, Showe L, Constantinescu CS. IL-12 Inhibits Glucocorticoid-Induced T Cell Apoptosis by Inducing GMEB1 and Activating PI3K/Akt Pathway. *Immunobiology* (2012) 217:118–23. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2011.07.018
- Akbar AN, Borthwick NJ, Wickremasinghe RG, Panayoitidis P, Pilling D, Bofill M, et al. Interleukin-2 Receptor Common Gamma-Chain Signaling Cytokines Regulate Activated T Cell Apoptosis in Response to Growth Factor Withdrawal: Selective Induction of Anti-Apoptotic (bcl-2, bcl-xL) But Not Pro-Apoptotic (Bax, bcl-xS) Gene Expression. *Eur J Immunol* (1996) 26:294– 9. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830260204
- Broome HE, Dargan CM, Krajewski S, Reed JC. Expression of Bcl-2, Bcl-X, and Bax After T Cell Activation and IL-2 Withdrawal. J Immunol (1995) 155:2311–7.
- Wüst S, van den Brandt J, Reichardt HM, Lühder F. Preventive Treatment With Methylprednisolone Paradoxically Exacerbates Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. Int J Endocrinol (2012) 2012:417017. doi: 10.1155/2012/417017

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Bier, Steiger, Reichardt and Lühder. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of the Immune System Development by Glucocorticoids and Sex Hormones

Linda Quatrini^{*}, Biancamaria Ricci, Cecilia Ciancaglini, Nicola Tumino and Lorenzo Moretta

Department of Immunology, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy

Through the release of hormones, the neuro-endocrine system regulates the immune system function promoting adaptation of the organism to the external environment and to intrinsic physiological changes. Glucocorticoids (GCs) and sex hormones not only regulate immune responses, but also control the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) differentiation and subsequent maturation of immune cell subsets. During the development of an organism, this regulation has long-term consequences. Indeed, the effects of GC exposure during the perinatal period become evident in the adulthood. Analogously, in the context of HSC transplantation (HSCT), the immune system development starts *de novo* from the donor HSCs. In this review, we summarize the effects of GCs and sex hormones on the regulation of HSC, as well as of adaptive and innate immune cells. Moreover, we discuss the short and long-term implications on hematopoiesis of sex steroid ablation and synthetic GC administration upon HSCT.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, sex hormones, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell, immune system development

INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids (GCs) and the sex hormones estrogens, progesterone and androgens are produced under the control of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) and hypothalamic-pituitarygonadal (HPG) axis, respectively, through a common steroidogenic pathway from cholesterol (1) (**Figure 1**). GC synthesis occurs in the cortical part of the adrenal gland for both males and females. Androgens are produced in male gonads and, in smaller amounts, in the ovary and adrenal cortex in females. Estrogens are mainly produced from androgens precursors in ovarian granulosa cells and placenta in females, testis in males and non-glandular tissue (fat and bone) in both sexes (2). Progesterone is produced by ovarian granulosa cells, adrenal glands, corpus luteum during the menstrual cycle and placenta (**Figure 1**) in females and by adrenal glands in both males and females (3).

GCs are released into circulation in response to the circadian cycle, are essential regulators of body functions in homeostasis and allow adaptation to the environmental changes. Moreover, due to their potent immune-suppressive and anti-inflammatory effects, synthetic GCs are widely used in clinics to treat acute and chronic inflammation (4). On the other hand, besides regulating reproductive and metabolic body functions throughout the lifespan, sex hormones are also able to regulate immune response and inflammation. Indeed, a key example is given by the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chander Raman, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

Reviewed by:

Michele Ardolino, University of Ottawa, Canada Cristina Tecchio, University of Verona, Italy Christoph Baerwald, Leipzig University, Germany

*Correspondence:

Linda Quatrini linda.quatrini@opbg.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 February 2021 Accepted: 08 June 2021 Published: 23 June 2021

Citation:

Quatrini L, Ricci B, Ciancaglini C, Tumino N and Moretta L (2021) Regulation of the Immune System Development by Glucocorticoids and Sex Hormones. Front. Immunol. 12:672853. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.672853

103



FIGURE 1 | Overview of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis. Corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) are released by the hypothalamus and act on their receptors in the pituitary gland. In detail, CRH binding to its receptor triggers the production of the adrenocorticotropic-hormone (ACTH), while GnRH binding to its receptor triggers the production of the gonadotropins follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH). ACTH and gonadotropins are released in the bloodstream and act on the adrenal gland and the gonads, respectively, to induce the secretion of glucocorticoids and sex hormones.

predominance of autoimmune diseases in females (5) and by sex dimorphism in antitumor immunity and response to infections (6, 7). In line with this, it was shown that estrogen-dependent protection of women from hepatitis C virus and liver cancer incidence are lost after menopause (8, 9). Age- and sex-related changes in immune response have therefore clinical consequences and should be taken into account because they may affect the efficacy of vaccination and cancer immunotherapy (10).

Because of their lipophilic nature, steroid hormones can cross cell membranes and bind to nuclear receptors belonging to the same superfamily of the ligand-regulated transcription factors (TFs) (11). In particular, they are the GC receptor (GR) and the sex hormone receptors estrogen receptor (ER) ER α and ER β , progesterone receptor (PR), and androgen receptor (AR). These receptors are characterized by polymorphisms and multiple

isoforms, responsible for variations in individual response at both molecular and clinical level. Steroid hormone receptors possess a N-terminal transactivation domain, a conserved central DNA binding domain and a C-terminal ligand-binding domain. In the cytoplasm, they are bound to chaperone proteins (e.g., HSP90). The binding of the ligand frees the receptor from the chaperone, allowing homodimerization, exposure of the nuclear localization sequence, and entry into the nucleus. Once in the nucleus, the ligand–receptor complex can directly bind to DNA sequences termed hormone response elements, and can associate with transcriptional coactivators to facilitate the regulation of target genes. It has been shown that steroid hormones can also mediate rapid "non-genomic" effects by acting directly on cytoplasmatic signal transduction pathways (12, 13). In addition, steroid hormones can alter gene expression through their effects on epigenetic modifications (14–16). For example, GR represses IL-5 transcription by recruiting and interacting with the Histone Deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) (17), and can inhibit p65-mediated transcription by recruiting HDAC2 (18).

Thus, the steroid hormone receptor-driven transcriptional regulation in a given cellular context may be mediated by at least two non-mutually exclusive mechanisms: chromatin remodeling and partnering with a specific repertoire of TFs (19).

Immune cells express receptors for GCs and sex hormones and are therefore regulated by these steroids. However, the response depends on many factors, including the developmental stage, the activation state and the inflammatory signals the cell receives at the same time. In this review, we will summarize the effects of GCs and sex hormones on the development of the immune system and how this regulation affects the immune response in the long term (**Table 1**).

GCs AND SEX HORMONES REGULATION OF HSC DEVELOPMENT

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are multipotent self-renewing units mediating the generation of all blood constituents. An important site for the development of HSC in the embryo is the dorsal aorta, which contains a transient population of bloodproducing endothelial cells called hemogenic endothelium (40). Studies on the role of GCs on the early development of immune system in the embryo were done in a zebrafish experimental model (41). It was shown that, upon stress, the central nervous system releases serotonin that, in turn, activates the HPA axis. GC release controls HSC specification promoting hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell (HSPC) formation in the dorsal aorta of embryos (41). These findings suggest that any stress that may be experienced by the embryo during development, such as hypoxia, temperature changes, metabolic or oxidative stress, would promote blood cell formation through activation of the HPA axis.

After birth, steroid hormones control the formation of immune cells by acting on HSCs in the bone marrow (BM). Studies have been performed in mouse models and on *ex vivo* cultures of human CD34⁺ HSCs to investigate this matter, especially with the purpose of developing therapeutic strategies to treat hematological diseases (42). For instance, it was suggested that GC treatment may be efficient to treat erythropoietin-resistant anemias because GR signaling regulates erythropoiesis. In particular, it was shown that GR synergizes with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α (PPAR- α) to induce self-renewal of erythroid progenitor cells *in vivo* and increase erythroid cell expansion *ex vivo* from human CD34⁺ HSCs (20).

HSC transplantation (HSCT) represents the common therapeutic approach to treat malignant and non-malignant hematological disorders. G-CSF-mediated mobilization of HSC has emerged as the most suitable means to obtain HSCs for transplantation, complemented by plerixafor (a selective CXCR4 antagonist) treatment in "poor-mobilizers" (43, 44). In mice, a neuroendocrine pathway that promotes HSC migration from the BM to the peripheral blood has been identified. It was shown that cholinergic signals through the muscarinic receptor type-1 (Chrm1) in the brain trigger HPA axis activation and GC production. GR signaling in HSC induces an up-regulation of actin-organizing molecules, thus promoting cell migration (45). HSC homing to the BM upon intravenous injection is mediated by coordinated actions of adhesion receptors and the chemokine CXCL12 expressed in the

	Hormone or hormone receptor	Target cell	Effect	Reference
Hematopoietic stem cells	GR	erythroid progenitor	increased self-renewal	(20)
	GR	HSC	upregulation of CXCR4 expression and homing to the BM	(21)
	LH	HSC	regulation of cell expansion	(22)
	ERα	HSC	increased self-renewal	(23)
	ERα	HSC	increased telomerase activity	(24)
Adaptive immune cells	GC	thymocytes	apoptosis	(25)
	GR	CD8+ T cell	generation of memory precursor cells	(26)
	DT	thymocytes	TNFα-mediated apoptosis	(27)
	ERα	thymocytes	thymic atrophy	(28)
	AR	cTEC	inhibition of DII4 expression	(29)
	AR	mTEC	upregulation of Aire expression	(30)
	ERα	mTEC	downregulation of Aire expression	(31)
	ERα	lymphoid precursors	decrease of B lymphopoiesis	(32)
	E2	lymphoid precursors	cell depletion in the BM	(33)
	AR	BM stromal cell	defect in B lymphopoiesis	(34)
Innate immune cells	GC	HSC	induction of NK cell differentiation from myeloid precursors	(35)
	GC	monocytes	block of differentiation towards DCs	(36)
	GC	DCs	impairment of DCs terminal maturation	(37)
	ERα	myeloid precursors	inhibition of Flt3-induced conventional and plasmacytoid DC development	(38)
	ERα	myeloid precursors	increased GM-CSF-induced DC differentiation	(39)

GR, glucocorticoid receptor; HSC, hematopoietic stem cell; BM, bone marrow; LH, luteinizing hormone; ER, estrogen receptor; GC, glucocorticoid; DT, depo-testosterone; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; AR, androgen receptor; cTEC, cortical thymic epithelial cells; mTEC, medullary thymic epithelial cells; DI4, Delta-like 4; E2, estradiol; NK, natural killer; DC, dendritic cell; Flt3, Fms related tyrosine kinase 3; GM-CSF, Granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor.

BM microenvironment (46). In a screen of small molecule compounds, GCs were identified as activators of CXCR4 expression in human CD34⁺ HSC isolated from cord blood (CB). It was shown that short term GC pretreatment is able to induce GR binding to a GC-response element in the CXCR4 promoter and SRC-1-p300 complex recruitment to induce H4K5 and H4K16 histone acetylation, favoring gene transcription. GC-induced CXCR4 up-regulation mediated HSC chemotaxis in response to CXCL12 and homing in the BM. Notably, although GC pretreatment was short, long-term engraftment was observed upon HSC transplantation into primary- and secondary-recipient NSG mice (21).

The regulation of HSC homeostasis by the sex hormones takes place after birth and affects their number and self-renewal capacity at different developmental stages. Luteinizing hormone (LH) is secreted by the pituitary gland at the onset of puberty, promoting the maturation of the reproductive system in both males and females. In post-natal BM, HSCs are a direct target of LH, whose signaling acts like a brake of cell overexpansion, ensuring a proper HSC count for normal hematopoiesis in adulthood (22). HSCs from mice treated with the estrogen estradiol (E2) have increased regenerative capacity after transplantation or irradiation, thus explaining why female immunodeficient recipient mice support reconstitution of the blood system by transplanted human HSCs more efficiently than the male counterpart (47). It was suggested that E2-ERa signaling in HSCs induces the expression of Ern1, which encodes Ire1a, thus activating the Ire1a-Xbp1 pathway of the unfolded protein response and promoting HSC resistance against proteotoxic stress (48). It was shown that Tamoxifen (a selective ER modulator) by signaling through ERa has a minor impact on primitive normal HSCs, but induces apoptosis in malignant HSCs enhancing chemotherapy response in a mouse model of acute myeloid leukemia (49). During pregnancy, ER α signaling in HSCs increases cell division, frequency, and erythropoiesis in the spleen of female mice (23). In particular, E2 promotes increased HSC selfrenewal in the bone marrow, while another endogenous ligand for ERa (27-Hydroxycholesterol-27HC) promotes HSC mobilization to the spleen (50). Thus, these two ER α agonists collaborate to favor extramedullary hematopoiesis, required during pregnancy to maintain red blood cell counts despite a rapidly increasing blood volume.

Impaired DNA repair, altered DNA methylation patterns, aberrant metabolism and skewed upregulation of myeloid- (at the expense of lymphoid-) associated genes contribute to altering HSC functions with age (51). Both intrinsic functional changes in the earliest HSCs and extrinsic alterations of the HSC niche contribute to this degeneration (52). Evidence suggests that sex steroids play at least some roles in age-related decline of the immune functions (53) which, indeed, becomes more evident from the onset of puberty, when the levels of these hormones increase (54, 55). A comparison of healthy men and women's PBMCs revealed a shared epigenomic signature of aging, including declining naïve T cell and increasing monocyte and cytotoxic cell functions. Age-related epigenomic changes first spike around late-thirties with similar timing and magnitude between sexes, whereas the second spike occurs earlier and stronger in men (56).

Consistent with a role for sex steroids in the decline of the immune functions, sex steroid ablation (SSA) today represents an attractive therapeutic approach to restore immune competence in immunodeficient individuals (57). It has been shown that SSA has the potential to accelerate the immune recovery in many clinical conditions such as upon autologous and allogeneic HSCT, or after damaging cytoablative treatments like chemotherapy. SSA consists in therapeutically targeting the upstream signaling events such as LH releasing hormone (LHRH) or directly blocking sex steroid receptors (58, 59). This has been achieved clinically for over 35 years because, in addition to its well established role in improving thymopoiesis (see following section), several studies have found that SSA contrasts the age-related decline of early lymphoid progenitors in the BM. SSA does not enhance HSC homing to the BM, but increases their self-renewal and lymphoid differentiation capacities (60). These effects are due to intrinsic changes in HSCs, as well as to an extrinsic effect on the stromal microenvironment. In particular, SSA induces the upregulation of genes implicated in the protection from aging such as Foxo1 in the hematopoietic niche thus increasing its ability to support hematopoiesis (60). Interestingly, while SSA through direct and indirect mechanisms contrasts aging of early lymphoid progenitors, androgens have been shown to increase telomerase activity in primary HSCs (24). For its therapeutic effect on erythropoiesis, the androgen derivative Danazol is now used in the treatment of acquired severe aplastic anemia (61).

GCs AND SEX HORMONES CONTROL THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The thymus is a critical site for generating a diverse T cell repertoire while maintaining self-tolerance, and both GCs and sex hormones play a critical role in shaping thymic functions. In particular, GCs are crucial in the selection of the appropriate T cell receptor (TCR) self-affinities repertoire in the thymus (62). By dampening the strength of TCR signals, GCs prevent negative selection of T cells that have high affinity for self MHC (63). On the other hand, double positive thymocytes are the most sensitive to GC-induced apoptosis, and indeed stress response inducing GC production (including psychological stress, fasting, injury and infection) causes an acute reduction in thymus size (25, 64, 65). GCs also regulate the subsequent thymus-independent steps of T cell development. A characterization of the epigenetic landscapes of naïve, terminal-effector, memory precursor and memory CD8⁺ T cells revealed that the expression and binding of specific TFs contribute to the establishment of subset-specific enhancers during differentiation, which control the in vivo response to bacterial infections (26). One of these key TF is Nr3c1, encoding for GR, constitutively expressed during CD8⁺ T cell differentiation and involved in the generation of memory precursor cells (26). GR has an important role in T cell differentiation not only in physiological, but also in pathological conditions. Indeed, in tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, an increasing gradient of GR

expression and signaling from naïve to dysfunctional CD8⁺ T cells was found, suggesting that endogenous GCs also promote T cell dysfunction and tumor growth (66).

Testosterone can directly induce apoptosis of double positive thymocytes through the upregulation of TNF- α , while estrogens can induce thymic atrophy by eliminating early thymic progenitors and inhibiting the proliferation of β -selected thymocytes (27, 28). They have also an indirect effect on thymopoiesis since the expression of sex steroid receptor is significantly higher on thymic epithelia cells than on thymocytes. Indeed, sex steroids inhibit in cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) the expression of Delta-like 4 (Dll4), a Notch ligand crucial for the commitment and differentiation of T cell progenitors in a dose-dependent manner (29). It was demonstrated that androgen-response elements are present in the promoter of the Dll4 gene and androgen/AR complexes were localized to the Dll4 promoter by chromatin immunoprecipitation (29). Sex hormones also control the expression of Aire (Autoimmune Regulator), the transcription factor responsible for the expression of thousands of tissue-restricted proteins in cells deputed to the presentation of selfantigens to the maturing T lymphocytes. By upregulating Aire expression in medullary TEC (mTEC) by directly binding its promoter, androgens enforce self-tolerance and lead to a more efficient negative selection of self-reactive T cells (30). At the same time, estrogens can decrease Aire expression by epigenetically regulating its methylation (31). Indeed, Aire expression in mice and human thymus is higher in males compared to females, suggesting that increased levels of androgens and decreased levels of estrogens protect males from autoimmunity by promoting Aire expression. All of these molecular mechanisms identified for sex hormones explain why SSA increases thymic cellularity, restores thymic architecture and organization, and enhances thymopoiesis in young and adult animals (58).

Age-related immune system decline is not only restricted to thymic atrophy, but also to an intrinsic defect in the HSC ability to commit to the lymphoid lineage. Therefore, with age there is a significant decline in B lymphopoiesis and humoral immunity, accompanied by a reduced peripheral immune repertoire, leading to increased opportunistic infections and limited recovery following cytoablation after chemo or radiotherapy (67). Estrogens reduce responsiveness to IL-7 causing decreased B lymphopoiesis (32) and deplete lymphoid committed precursors in the BM (33). Androgens affect B lymphopoiesis indirectly, by acting on BM stromal cells (34). Following surgical SSA in mice displaying age- or chemotherapy-induced immunodepletion, a rapid and sustained increase in developing B cells and their upstream lymphoid progenitors was observed. SSA not only increased B cell number, but also enhanced humoral response to challenge by hepatitis B vaccine (68).

GCs AND SEX HORMONES REGULATION OF INNATE IMMUNE CELLS

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) differentiate from HSC in the BM, and common ILC precursors continue their development in secondary lymphoid tissues (69). GC treatment of human CB CD34⁺ HSCs accelerated Natural Killer (NK) cell differentiation, promoted a switch of myeloid precursors towards immature NK cells and induced NK cell cytolytic activity (35). Although a role for the neuroendocrine system in the regulation of helper ILC functions has been shown (70), its contribution to their development has not been investigated so far.

In mice, GC exposure favors myelopoiesis in the bone marrow, suggesting that preservation of granulocytes and their progenitors may be a mechanism to ensure rapid protection of the organism upon stress (71). Neutrophil development and function are modulated also by sex hormones. In particular, healthy young adult women display an activated/mature neutrophil profile characterized by enhanced type I IFN pathway activity, enhanced proinflammatory responses, and distinct immunometabolism compared to young men (72).

Blood monocyte precursors originate in the BM, enter the circulation and are present in the blood until they migrate into tissues where they can differentiate into macrophages and dendritic cells (DC) (73). GCs are long known to act on monocytes influencing their short time mediator release, but there is growing evidence that they are also involved in differentiation processes skewing towards an anti-inflammatory phenotype (74). GCs block the generation of immature DCs from monocytes (36) and impair terminal maturation of already differentiated DCs (37). Similarly, ER signaling inhibits Flt3induced conventional and plasmacytoid DC development from myeloid precursors (38). On the contrary, it was shown that GM-CSF-induced DC differentiation as Langerhans cells from myeloid progenitors was promoted by adding E2 in vitro and inhibited by ER antagonists and ERa-deficiency (39). Indeed, ERα signaling during this process targets IRF4, a TF critical for Langerhans cell development (75).

Interestingly, mast cell cytokine production seems to be sex dependent. Indeed, in females they mainly produce proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF and IL-1 β , while their activation in males results in a predominant production of IL-33 (76). Although both male and female derived mast cells express AR, testosterone induces IL-33 production only in malederived cells *in vitro* (77). These data suggest that, in addition to a direct effect, testosterone may have other effects during development that poise mast cells for IL-33 expression potential, perhaps at an epigenetic level. Therefore, the ability to express a particular array of cytokines may be programmed by prolonged exposure to sex hormones starting early in life and is not solely due to acute sex hormone-receptor interactions.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES: A ROLE FOR GCs AND SEX HORMONES IN THE DEVELOPMENTAL PROGRAMMING OF IMMUNE SYSTEM?

Early life exposure to environmental cues, particularly during the perinatal period, can have a life-long impact on the organism
development and physiology. The biological rationale for this phenomenon is to promote physiologic adaptation to the anticipated environment based on early life experience. A role in this "developmental programming" for early life stress or prenatal treatment with synthetic GCs during sensitive windows of development has been established (78). Excessive or premature exposure to GCs has been associated to long term effects on tissues and organs (hypertension, hyperglycemia, anxiety), as well as to higher risks for atopic diseases, asthma, autoimmune type I diabetes, infectious diseases and decreased adaptive and anti-tumor immune response (79-83). GC-induced programming of the immune system is mediated by effects on HSCs or other persistent progenitors, which endure through the individual's lifespan (84, 85), rather than upon the short-lived fully differentiated immune cell populations. The long-term consequences of perinatal GC exposure were recently evaluated in mice in a study by putting the synthetic GC dexamethasone in the drinking water from mid-pregnancy to early post-natal period, when hematological and lymphoid organogenesis takes place (86). As a result, the authors observed a diminished CD8⁺ T cell response in adulthood and impaired control of tumor growth and bacterial infections. Perinatal GC exposure led to HPA axis reprogramming with alterations in its threshold, decreased systemic levels of GCs and persistent changes in the chromatin state of naïve T cells (86). The gene expression program was "imprinted", as the changes were maintained also upon cell adoptive transfer to new environments and, importantly, the stem cell compartment contributed to compromised T cell responses, as the defect could be observed also in irradiated mice transplanted with the BM of GC-treated mice (86).

These findings suggest that GCs, as well as the other hormones whose receptors function as TFs, may be able to

REFERENCES

- Miller WL, Auchus RJ. The Molecular Biology, Biochemistry, and Physiology of Human Steroidogenesis and Its Disorders. *Endocrine Rev* (2011) 32(1):81– 151. doi: 10.1210/er.2010-0013
- Vermeulen A, Kaufman JM, Goemaere S, van Pottelberg I. Estradiol in Elderly Men. Aging male Off J Int Soc Study Aging Male (2002) 5(2):98–102. doi: 10.1080/tam.5.2.98.102
- Guennoun R, Labombarda F, Gonzalez Deniselle MC, Liere P, De Nicola AF, Schumacher M. Progesterone and Allopregnanolone in the Central Nervous System: Response to Injury and Implication for Neuroprotection. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2015) 146:48–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb. 2014.09.001
- Quatrini L, Ugolini S. New Insights Into the Cell- and Tissue-Specificity of Glucocorticoid Actions. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 18(2):269–78. doi: 10.1038/ s41423-020-00526-2
- Moulton VR. Sex Hormones in Acquired Immunity and Autoimmune Disease. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2279. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02279
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex Differences in Immune Responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(10):626–38. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Jaillon S, Berthenet K, Garlanda C. Sexual Dimorphism in Innate Immunity. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2019) 56(3):308–21. doi: 10.1007/s12016-017-8648-x
- Baden R, Rockstroh JK, Buti M. Natural History and Management of Hepatitis C: Does Sex Play a Role? J Infect Dis (2014) 209(Suppl 3):S81–5. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu057

induce an "imprinting" in HSC gene expression program, most likely at the epigenetic level, thus stably affecting HSC developmental trajectories. This kind of regulation that occurs during organism development may be recapitulated upon HSCT when the immune system development from donor-derived HSCs starts *de novo*. Since SSA and GCs are widely used to improve HSCT outcome and prevent complications such as graft *vs* host disease, respectively, it would be interesting to gain further insights into the short and long term consequences of these treatments on hematopoiesis. A better understanding of HSC regulation by GCs and sex hormones is extremely important to predict their effects on the immune system development and design therapeutic approaches to improve the long-term reconstitution in HSCT recipients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants awarded by Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC)-Special Program Metastatic disease: the key unmet need in oncology 5X1000 2018 Id. 21147 (LM), AIRC IG 2017 Id. 19920 (LM), and RC-2020 OPBG (LM). LQ has received funding from AIRC and from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no 800924.

- Naugler WE, Sakurai T, Kim S, Maeda S, Kim K, Elsharkawy AM, et al. Gender Disparity in Liver Cancer Due to Sex Differences in Dependent IL-6 Production. *Science* (2007) 317(5834):121–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1140485
- Gubbels Bupp MR, Potluri T, Fink AL, Klein SL. The Confluence of Sex Hormones and Aging on Immunity. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1269. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01269
- Cain DW, Cidlowski JA. Immune Regulation by Glucocorticoids. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17(4):233–47. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.1
- Kovats S. Estrogen Receptors Regulate Innate Immune Cells and Signaling Pathways. Cell Immunol (2015) 294(2):63–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.018
- Buttgereit F, Scheffold A. Rapid Glucocorticoid Effects on Immune Cells. Steroids (2002) 67(6):529–34. doi: 10.1016/s0039-128x(01)00171-4
- Mann M, Cortez V, Vadlamudi RK. Epigenetics of Estrogen Receptor Signaling: Role in Hormonal Cancer Progression and Therapy. *Cancers* (2011) 3(3):1691–707. doi: 10.3390/cancers3021691
- Walecki M, Eisel F, Klug J, Baal N, Paradowska-Dogan A, Wahle E, et al. Androgen Receptor Modulates Foxp3 Expression in CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Regulatory T-Cells. *Mol Biol Cell* (2015) 26(15):2845–57. doi: 10.1091/ mbc.E14-08-1323
- Ratman D, Vanden Berghe W, Dejager L, Libert C, Tavernier J, Beck IM, et al. How Glucocorticoid Receptors Modulate the Activity of Other Transcription Factors: A Scope Beyond Tethering. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2013) 380(1-2):41– 54. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2012.12.014
- Jee YK, Gilmour J, Kelly A, Bowen H, Richards D, Soh C, et al. Repression of Interleukin-5 Transcription by the Glucocorticoid Receptor Targets GATA3

Signaling and Involves Histone Deacetylase Recruitment. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(24):23243-50. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M503659200

- Ito K, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. Glucocorticoid Receptor Recruitment of Histone Deacetylase 2 Inhibits Interleukin-1Beta-induced Histone H4 Acetylation on Lysines 8 and 12. *Mol Cell Biol* (2000) 20(18):6891–903. doi: 10.1128/ mcb.20.18.6891-6903.2000
- Weikum ER, Knuesel MT, Ortlund EA, Yamamoto KR. Glucocorticoid Receptor Control of Transcription: Precision and Plasticity Via Allostery. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2017) 18(3):159–74. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.152
- Lee HY, Gao X, Barrasa MI, Li H, Elmes RR, Peters LL, et al. PPAR-Alpha and Glucocorticoid Receptor Synergize to Promote Erythroid Progenitor Self-Renewal. *Nature* (2015) 522(7557):474–7. doi: 10.1038/nature14326
- Guo B, Huang X, Cooper S, Broxmeyer HE. Glucocorticoid Hormone-Induced Chromatin Remodeling Enhances Human Hematopoietic Stem Cell Homing and Engraftment. Nat Med (2017) 23(4):424–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4298
- Peng YJ, Yu H, Hao X, Dong W, Yin X, Lin M, et al. Luteinizing Hormone Signaling Restricts Hematopoietic Stem Cell Expansion During Puberty. *EMBO J* (2018) 37(17):e98984. doi: 10.15252/embj.201898984
- Nakada D, Oguro H, Levi BP, Ryan N, Kitano A, Saitoh Y, et al. Oestrogen Increases Haematopoietic Stem-Cell Self-Renewal in Females and During Pregnancy. *Nature* (2014) 505(7484):555–8. doi: 10.1038/nature12932
- Calado RT, Yewdell WT, Wilkerson KL, Regal JA, Kajigaya S, Stratakis CA, et al. Sex Hormones, Acting on the TERT Gene, Increase Telomerase Activity in Human Primary Hematopoietic Cells. *Blood* (2009) 114(11):2236–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-09-178871
- Tarcic N, Ovadia H, Weiss DW, Weidenfeld J. Restraint Stress-Induced Thymic Involution and Cell Apoptosis Are Dependent on Endogenous Glucocorticoids. J Neuroimmunol (1998) 82(1):40–6. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(97)00186-0
- Yu B, Zhang K, Milner JJ, Toma C, Chen R, Scott-Browne JP, et al. Epigenetic Landscapes Reveal Transcription Factors That Regulate CD8 (+) T Cell Differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(5):573–82. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3706
- Guevara Patino JA, Marino MW, Ivanov VN, Nikolich-Zugich J. Sex Steroids Induce Apoptosis of CD8+CD4+ Double-Positive Thymocytes Via TNF-Alpha. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30(9):2586–92. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200009) 30:9<2586::AID-IMMU2586>3.0.CO;2-L
- Zoller AL, Kersh GJ. Estrogen Induces Thymic Atrophy by Eliminating Early Thymic Progenitors and Inhibiting Proliferation of Beta-Selected Thymocytes. J Immunol (2006) 176(12):7371–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 176.12.7371
- Velardi E, Tsai JJ, Holland AM, Wertheimer T, Yu VW, Zakrzewski JL, et al. Sex Steroid Blockade Enhances Thymopoiesis by Modulating Notch Signaling. J Exp Med (2014) 211(12):2341–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131289
- Zhu ML, Bakhru P, Conley B, Nelson JS, Free M, Martin A, et al. Sex Bias in CNS Autoimmune Disease Mediated by Androgen Control of Autoimmune Regulator. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:11350. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11350
- 31. Dragin N, Bismuth J, Cizeron-Clairac G, Biferi MG, Berthault C, Serraf A, et al. Estrogen-Mediated Downregulation of AIRE Influences Sexual Dimorphism in Autoimmune Diseases. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(4):1525–37. doi: 10.1172/JCI81894
- Medina KL, Kincade PW. Pregnancy-Related Steroids are Potential Negative Regulators of B Lymphopoiesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1994) 91(12):5382– 6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.12.5382
- Medina KL, Garrett KP, Thompson LF, Rossi MI, Payne KJ, Kincade PW. Identification of Very Early Lymphoid Precursors in Bone Marrow and Their Regulation by Estrogen. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2(8):718–24. doi: 10.1038/90659
- Olsen NJ, Gu X, Kovacs WJ. Bone Marrow Stromal Cells Mediate Androgenic Suppression of B Lymphocyte Development. J Clin Invest (2001) 108 (11):1697–704. doi: 10.1172/JCI13183
- Vitale C, Cottalasso F, Montaldo E, Moretta L, Mingari MC. Methylprednisolone Induces Preferential and Rapid Differentiation of CD34+ Cord Blood Precursors Toward NK Cells. *Int Immunol* (2008) 20 (4):565–75. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn014
- Woltman AM, de Fijter JW, Kamerling SW, Paul LC, Daha MR, van Kooten C. The Effect of Calcineurin Inhibitors and Corticosteroids on the Differentiation of Human Dendritic Cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30(7):1807–12. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200007)30:7<1807::AID-IMMU1807>3.0.CO;2-N

- Piemonti L, Monti P, Allavena P, Sironi M, Soldini L, Leone BE, et al. Glucocorticoids Affect Human Dendritic Cell Differentiation and Maturation. *J Immunol* (1999) 162(11):6473–81. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.9.1519
- Carreras E, Turner S, Paharkova-Vatchkova V, Mao A, Dascher C, Kovats S. Estradiol Acts Directly on Bone Marrow Myeloid Progenitors to Differentially Regulate GM-CSF or Flt3 Ligand-Mediated Dendritic Cell Differentiation. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(2):727–38. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.2.727
- Paharkova-Vatchkova V, Maldonado R, Kovats S. Estrogen Preferentially Promotes the Differentiation of CD11c+ CD11b(Intermediate) Dendritic Cells From Bone Marrow Precursors. J Immunol (2004) 172(3):1426–36. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.3.1426
- Tober J, Maijenburg MW, Speck NA. Taking the Leap: Runx1 in the Formation of Blood From Endothelium. *Curr Topics Dev Biol* (2016) 118:113–62. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctdb.2016.01.008
- Kwan W, Cortes M, Frost I, Esain V, Theodore LN, Liu SY, et al. The Central Nervous System Regulates Embryonic Hspc Production Via Stress-Responsive Glucocorticoid Receptor Signaling. *Cell Stem Cell* (2016) 19(3):370–82. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.06.004
- Guo B, Huang X, Broxmeyer HE. Enhancing Human Cord Blood Hematopoietic Stem Cell Engraftment by Targeting Nuclear Hormone Receptors. *Curr Opin Hematol* (2018) 25(4):245–52. doi: 10.1097/ MOH.000000000000429
- Levesque JP, Winkler IG. Mobilization of Hematopoietic Stem Cells: State of the Art. Curr Opin Organ Transplant (2008) 13(1):53–8. doi: 10.1097/MOT. 0b013e3282f42473
- 44. To LB, Levesque JP, Herbert KE. How I Treat Patients Who Mobilize Hematopoietic Stem Cells Poorly. *Blood* (2011) 118(17):4530-40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-318220
- 45. Pierce H, Zhang D, Magnon C, Lucas D, Christin JR, Huggins M, et al. Cholinergic Signals From the CNS Regulate G-CSF-Mediated Hsc Mobilization From Bone Marrow Via a Glucocorticoid Signaling Relay. *Cell Stem Cell* (2017) 20(5):648–58.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.01.002
- Magnon C, Frenette PS. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Trafficking. In: Stembook. Cambridge (MA): Harvard Stem Cell Institute (2008).
- Notta F, Doulatov S, Dick JE. Engraftment of Human Hematopoietic Stem Cells Is More Efficient in Female NOD/SCID/IL-2Rgc-Null Recipients. *Blood* (2010) 115(18):3704–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-249326
- Chapple RH, Hu T, Tseng YJ, Liu L, Kitano A, Luu V, et al. Eralpha Promotes Murine Hematopoietic Regeneration Through the Irelalphamediated Unfolded Protein Response. *eLife* (2018) 7:e31159. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.31159
- 49. Sanchez-Aguilera A, Arranz L, Martin-Perez D, Garcia-Garcia A, Stavropoulou V, Kubovcakova L, et al. Estrogen Signaling Selectively Induces Apoptosis of Hematopoietic Progenitors and Myeloid Neoplasms Without Harming Steady-State Hematopoiesis. *Cell Stem Cell* (2014) 15 (6):791–804. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.002
- Oguro H, McDonald JG, Zhao Z, Umetani M, Shaul PW, Morrison SJ. 27-Hydroxycholesterol Induces Hematopoietic Stem Cell Mobilization and Extramedullary Hematopoiesis During Pregnancy. J Clin Invest (2017) 127 (9):3392–401. doi: 10.1172/JCI94027
- Geiger H, de Haan G, Florian MC. The Ageing Haematopoietic Stem Cell Compartment. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(5):376–89. doi: 10.1038/ nri3433
- Woolthuis CM, de Haan G, Huls G. Aging of Hematopoietic Stem Cells: Intrinsic Changes or Micro-Environmental Effects? *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23(4):512–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2011.05.006
- Chinn IK, Blackburn CC, Manley NR, Sempowski GD. Changes in Primary Lymphoid Organs With Aging. Semin Immunol (2012) 24(5):309–20. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2012.04.005
- Medina KL, Strasser A, Kincade PW. Estrogen Influences the Differentiation, Proliferation, and Survival of Early Lineage Precursors. *Blood* (2000) 95 (6):2059–67. doi: 10.1182/blood.V95.6.2059
- Smithson G, Couse JF, Lubahn DB, Korach KS, Kincade PW. The Role of Estrogen Receptors and Androgen Receptors in Sex Steroid Regulation of B Lymphopoiesis. J Immunol (1998) 161(1):27–34.
- Marquez EJ, Chung CH, Marches R, Rossi RJ, Nehar-Belaid D, Eroglu A, et al. Sexual-Dimorphism in Human Immune System Aging. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):751. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14396-9

- Velardi E, Dudakov JA, van den Brink MR. Sex Steroid Ablation: An Immunoregenerative Strategy for Immunocompromised Patients. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2015) 50 Suppl 2:S77–81. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2015.101
- Goldberg GL, King CG, Nejat RA, Suh DY, Smith OM, Bretz JC, et al. Luteinizing Hormone-Releasing Hormone Enhances T Cell Recovery Following Allogeneic Bone Marrow Transplantation. J Immunol (2009) 182 (9):5846–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801458
- 59. Lai KP, Lai JJ, Chang P, Altuwaijri S, Hsu JW, Chuang KH, et al. Targeting Thymic Epithelia AR Enhances T-Cell Reconstitution and Bone Marrow Transplant Grafting Efficacy. *Mol Endocrinol* (2013) 27(1):25–37. doi: 10.1210/me.2012-1244
- Khong DM, Dudakov JA, Hammett MV, Jurblum MI, Khong SM, Goldberg GL, et al. Enhanced Hematopoietic Stem Cell Function Mediates Immune Regeneration Following Sex Steroid Blockade. *Stem Cell Rep* (2015) 4(3):445– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.01.018
- Jaime-Perez JC, Colunga-Pedraza PR, Gomez-Ramirez CD, Gutierrez-Aguirre CH, Cantu-Rodriguez OG, Tarin-Arzaga LC, et al. Danazol as First-Line Therapy for Aplastic Anemia. *Ann Hematol* (2011) 90(5):523–7. doi: 10.1007/s00277-011-1163-x
- Brown MA, Su MA. An Inconvenient Variable: Sex Hormones and Their Impact on T Cell Responses. J Immunol (2019) 202(7):1927–33. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1801403
- Taves MD, Ashwell JD. Glucocorticoids in T Cell Development, Differentiation and Function. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 21(4):233-43. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-00464-0
- Dominguez-Gerpe L, Rey-Mendez M. Time-Course of the Murine Lymphoid Tissue Involution During and Following Stressor Exposure. *Life Sci* (1997) 61 (10):1019–27. doi: 10.1016/s0024-3205(97)00606-1
- Ruzek MC, Pearce BD, Miller AH, Biron CA. Endogenous Glucocorticoids Protect Against Cytokine-Mediated Lethality During Viral Infection. *J Immunol* (1999) 162(6):3527–33.
- Acharya N, Madi A, Zhang H, Klapholz M, Escobar G, Dulberg S, et al. Endogenous Glucocorticoid Signaling Regulates Cd8(+) T Cell Differentiation and Development of Dysfunction in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Immunity* (2020) 53(3):658–71.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.08.005
- Frasca D, Diaz A, Romero M, Landin AM, Blomberg BB. Age Effects on B Cells and Humoral Immunity in Humans. *Ageing Res Rev* (2011) 10(3):330–5. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2010.08.004
- Dudakov JA, Goldberg GL, Reiseger JJ, Chidgey AP, Boyd RL. Withdrawal of Sex Steroids Reverses Age- and Chemotherapy-Related Defects in Bone Marrow Lymphopoiesis. J Immunol (2009) 182(10):6247–60. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0802446
- Quatrini L, Tumino N, Moretta F, Besi F, Vacca P, Moretta L. Helper Innate Lymphoid Cells in Allogenic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation and Graft Versus Host Disease. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:582098. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2020.582098
- Quatrini L, Vivier E, Ugolini S. Neuroendocrine Regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cells. Immunological Rev (2018) 286(1):120–36. doi: 10.1111/imr.12707
- Trottier MD, Newsted MM, King LE, Fraker PJ. Natural Glucocorticoids Induce Expansion of All Developmental Stages of Murine Bone Marrow Granulocytes Without Inhibiting Function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105(6):2028–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712003105
- Gupta S, Nakabo S, Blanco LP, O'Neil LJ, Wigerblad G, Goel RR, et al. Sex Differences in Neutrophil Biology Modulate Response to Type I Interferons and Immunometabolism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2020) 117(28):16481–91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2003603117

- Ginhoux F, Guilliams M. Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3):439–49. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.024
- Yona S, Gordon S. Inflammation: Glucocorticoids Turn the Monocyte Switch. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2007) 85(2):81–2. doi: 10.1038/sj.icb.7100034
- Carreras E, Turner S, Frank MB, Knowlton N, Osban J, Centola M, et al. Estrogen Receptor Signaling Promotes Dendritic Cell Differentiation by Increasing Expression of the Transcription Factor IRF4. *Blood* (2010) 115 (2):238–46. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-236935
- Christy AL, Walker ME, Hessner MJ, Brown MA. Mast Cell Activation and Neutrophil Recruitment Promotes Early and Robust Inflammation in the Meninges in EAE. J Autoimmun (2013) 42:50–61. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2012.11.003
- Russi AE, Ebel ME, Yang Y, Brown MA. Male-Specific IL-33 Expression Regulates Sex-Dimorphic EAE Susceptibility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2018) 115(7):E1520–E9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1710401115
- Solano ME, Holmes MC, Mittelstadt PR, Chapman KE, Tolosa E. Antenatal Endogenous and Exogenous Glucocorticoids and Their Impact on Immune Ontogeny and Long-Term Immunity. *Semin Immunopathol* (2016) 38 (6):739–63. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0575-z
- Beijers R, Jansen J, Riksen-Walraven M, de Weerth C. Maternal Prenatal Anxiety and Stress Predict Infant Illnesses and Health Complaints. *Pediatrics* (2010) 126(2):e401–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3226
- Nielsen NM, Hansen AV, Simonsen J, Hviid A. Prenatal Stress and Risk of Infectious Diseases in Offspring. Am J Epidemiol (2011) 173(9):990–7. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq492
- Henriksen RE, Thuen F. Marital Quality and Stress in Pregnancy Predict the Risk of Infectious Disease in the Offspring: The Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study. *PloS One* (2015) 10(9):e0137304. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0137304
- O'Connor TG, Winter MA, Hunn J, Carnahan J, Pressman EK, Glover V, et al. Prenatal Maternal Anxiety Predicts Reduced Adaptive Immunity in Infants. *Brain Behavior Immun* (2013) 32:21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.02.002
- Witek Janusek L, Tell D, Albuquerque K, Mathews HL. Childhood Adversity Increases Vulnerability for Behavioral Symptoms and Immune Dysregulation in Women With Breast Cancer. *Brain Behavior Immun* (2013) 30 Suppl:S149– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.05.014
- Mikkola HK, Orkin SH. The Journey of Developing Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Development* (2006) 133(19):3733–44. doi: 10.1242/dev.02568
- Moisiadis VG, Matthews SG. Glucocorticoids and Fetal Programming Part 2: Mechanisms. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2014) 10(7):403–11. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2014.74
- Hong JY, Lim J, Carvalho F, Cho JY, Vaidyanathan B, Yu S, et al. Long-Term Programming of CD8 T Cell Immunity by Perinatal Exposure to Glucocorticoids. *Cell* (2020) 180(5):847–61.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2020.02.018

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Quatrini, Ricci, Ciancaglini, Tumino and Moretta. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





20S-Hydroxyvitamin D3, a Secosteroid Produced in Humans, Is Anti-Inflammatory and Inhibits Murine Autoimmune Arthritis

Arnold E. Postlethwaite^{1,2†}, Robert C. Tuckey³, Tae-Kang Kim⁴, Wei Li², Syamal K. Bhattacharya², Linda K. Myers^{2*}, David D. Brand^{1,2} and Andrzej T. Slominski^{4,5}

¹ Research Service, Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ² Department of Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, ³ School of Molecular Sciences, The University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia, ⁴ Department of Pathology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States, ⁵ Research Service, Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Birmingham, AL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Silvano Sozzani, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

Reviewed by:

Martin Hewison, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom Arup Kumar Indra, Oregon State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Linda K. Myers Imyers@uthsc.edu [†]Deceased

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 March 2021 Accepted: 15 June 2021 Published: 30 June 2021

Citation:

Postlethwaite AE, Tuckey RC, Kim T-K, Li W, Bhattacharya SK, Myers LK, Brand DD and Slominski AT (2021) 20S-Hydroxyvitamin D3, a Secosteroid Produced in Humans, Is Anti-Inflammatory and Inhibits Murine Autoimmune Arthritis. Front. Immunol. 12:678487. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.678487 The ability to use large doses of vitamin D3 (D3) to chronically treat autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is prohibitive due to its calcemic effect which can damage vital organs. Cytochrome P450scc (CYP11A1) is able to convert D3 into the noncalcemic analog 20S-hydroxyvitamin D3 [20S(OH)D3]. We demonstrate that 20S(OH)D3 markedly suppresses clinical signs of arthritis and joint damage in a mouse model of RA. Furthermore, treatment with 20S(OH)D3 reduces lymphocyte subsets such as CD4⁺ T cells and CD19⁺ B cells leading to a significant reduction in inflammatory cytokines. The ratio of T reg cells (CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells) to CD3+CD4+ T cells is increased while there is a decrease in critical complement-fixing anti-CII antibodies. Since pro-inflammatory cytokines and antibodies against type II collagen ordinarily lead to destruction of cartilage and bone, their decline explains why arthritis is attenuated by 20(OH) D3. These results provide a basis for further consideration of 20S(OH)D3 as a potential treatment for RA and other autoimmune disorders.

Keywords: vitamin D, arthritis, RA, 20S(OH)D₃, mouse, collagen

INTRODUCTION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is one of the more common autoimmune diseases (affecting approximately 0.5-1% of the world's population (1, 2). Although, multiple diathroidial joints are the main targets of autoimmune attack, other organ systems are also involved, reducing life expectancy by about 10 years in patients with RA (3, 4). Standard disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs, (DMARDs), such as methotrexate (MTX) and "biologics" that target specific cytokines (e.g., TNF α) or surface molecules on immune cells (e.g., CTLA-4 on T cells), do reduce both joint damage and certain systemic complications of RA. However, their use occasionally triggers adverse events such as increased infections and development of certain neoplasms, other autoimmune diseases, or interstitial lung disease (5–8). Clearly, safer and effective therapeutic agents for RA are needed.

In humans, vitamin D3 (D3 aka cholecalciferol) is synthesized in the skin *via* ultraviolet B (UVB) induced photoconversion of 7-dehydrocholestrol (7-DHC), a precursor to cholesterol (9, 10). D3, which is inert as a pro-hormone, undergoes two hydroxylation steps: first in the liver (or skin itself)

by a 25-hydroxylase (CYP2R1 or CYP27A1) to form 25(OH)D3, and then in the kidney and other tissues by 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 alpha hydroxylase (CYP27B1) to form 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25(OH)₂D3) (11–15). 1,25(OH)₂D3 exerts positive or negative influences on D3-dependent gene expression by binding to the ligand binding domain of the vitamin D receptor (VDR) (16). A heterodimer is then formed within the retinoic acid X receptor (RXR), which, (with the contributions of basal transcriptional machinery plus coactivators and corepressors) forms transcription complexes at vitamin D response elements (VDRE) of target genes (17).

1,25(OH)₂D3 is the most extensively characterized active naturally occurring D3 metabolite that, not only systematically regulates calcium homeostasis and bone metabolism, but also possesses immunomodulatory properties. Clinically, normal D3 level is associated with better outcomes in patients with a variety of autoimmune diseases (18-21). In RA, disease activity, C reactive protein and disability scores are inversely related to serum levels of 25(OH)D, and anticyclic citrullinated peptide antibody positivity in RA patients is correlated with D3 insufficiency [25(OH)D, 21-29 ng/ml] and deficiency [25(OH)D <20 ng/ml] (18, 22-25). Furthermore, the VDR Fok1 polymorphism may confer susceptibility to RA in Europeans and Native Americans (26, 27). These observations suggest D3 may have salutary effects in RA. Earlier studies demonstrated 1,25(OH)₂D3 inhibited arthritis in the type II collagen (CII)-induced arthritis (CIA) model of RA in mice fed a low calcium diet to protect against development of hypercalcemia (28). Unfortunately, 1,25(OH)₂D3 or its precursors, 25(OH)D3 or D3 (cholecalciferol), induce hypercalcemic toxicity when given chronically at the pharmacological doses needed to maximally suppress arthritis and autoimmunity, limiting the amounts that can be given chronically to patients to treat autoimmune diseases such as RA.

We have discovered a novel pathway of D3 metabolism operative in humans, mediated by cytochrome P450scc (CYP11A1), which is modified by CYP27B1, that generates additional biologically active products (29-31). These are at least as potent as classical 1,25(OH)2D3 when tested in vitro and in vivo in several model systems and, like 1,25(OH)₂D3, bind to the VDR (32-37). The main and first product of the pathway, 20S(OH)D3, in contrast to 25(OH)D3 or 1,25(OH)₂D3, is nontoxic (i.e., noncalcemic and nontoxic to the hematopoietic system, liver, kidney, and heart) at doses as high as 60 µg/kg, while 25(OH)D3 or 1,25(OH)2D3 induce hypercalcemia at doses $\leq 2 \mu g/kg$ (38–41). Finally, 20S(OH)D3 is produced in vivo, being present in human serum at 1/20th the concentration of classical 25(OH)D3 (31) and has also been detected in honey (42). The cytochrome SCC enzymes are unusual in that they hydroxylate vitamin D3 to produce 20S-hydroxyvitamin D3 [20(OH)D3] rather than cleaving the side chains of D3 (43). These properties define 20S(OH)D3 as a hither to unrecognized novel endogenous regulator/natural product.

In the present study, CIA in DBA/1 mice (the most widely studied animal model of RA) was used to collect preclinical data on 20S(OH)D3 as a potential treatment for human RA. When immunized with bovine CII, DBA/1 mice rapidly develop an

anti-CII Th1 and Th17 T cell (IFN γ , IL-2, GM-CSF, TNF α , and IL-17) and later a B cell response characterized by production of IgG1 and complement fixing IgG2a antibodies to CII that triggers inflammation (44–49). At about 3 weeks post immunization, arthritis (which histologically resembles RA) begins to develop in peripheral joints (44, 46, 50–52). As time passes arthritis develops in more joints and with greater degrees of inflammation and damage. We demonstrated that treatment of mice with CIA with 20S(OH)D3 reduces the severity of clinical arthritis accompanied by reduction in joint destruction, in serum anti-CII antibodies, in lymphoid organ CD4⁺ T and CD19⁺ B cells, and production by cultured draining lymph node cells of TH1, TH17, and inflammatory cytokines and chemokines.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Production and Purification of 20(OH)D3

20S(OH)D3 was generated by enzymatic hydroxylation of D3 catalyzed by CYP11A1 as previously described by our group (29, 53). Briefly, 10 mM D3 in 45% 2-hydroxpropyl-β-cyclodextrin was prepared. Buffer comprising 20 mM HEPES (pH 7.4), 100 mM NaCl, 0.1mM dithiothreitol, 2 µM CYP11A1, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.3 µM adrenodoxin reductase, 10 µM adrendoxin, 2 mM glucose 6-phosphate, 2U/ml glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase, and 50 µM NADPH was mixed with the D3 stock solution rendering a final D3 concentration of 200 μ M and 0.9% concentration of 2-hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodexrtin. Following 8 min pre-incubation, the reaction was initiated by adding NADPH, after which the samples were incubated for 3 h at 37°C with gentle shaking. Ice cold dichloromethane (20 ml) was then added to stop the reactions after which the reaction products were extracted with dichloromethane as previously described (53-55). The 20(OH)D3 product was purified by preparative thin-layer chromatography, followed by reverse phase high performance liquid chromatography, as previously described (55). Routinely 0.3 mg of purified 20S(OH)D3 was recovered from 12.5 ml of the starting incubation mixture. Aliquots of the purified 20S(OH)D3 were dried under nitrogen and stored at -80°C until used.

Mice

Female DBA/1 Lac J mice, age 6 weeks old (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbour, ME) were housed in a pathogen-free AAALACapproved animal care facility at the University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC) and Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center (VAMC), Memphis, TN. Mice were fed regular laboratory chow and water ad libitam, and housed under a 12 h light and 12 h darkness cycle. Animal protocols for the study were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees at UTHSC and VAMC Memphis.

Induction and Assessment of CIA

Mice were immunized with native bovine CII prepared (as previously described from fetal calf articular cartilage) (47). Groups of 12 mice (for assessment of arthritis development) or

groups of 5 or 6 mice (for other studies) were administered different amounts of 20S(OH)D3 dissolved in sterile sesame oil (S.O) or propylene glycol [(PG) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO)]. The S.O. or PG, with-or-without 20S(OH)D3, was administered daily intraperitoneally (i.p.) or *via* daily oral gavage in volumes of 50 µl and 100 µl, respectively. For studies using PG to solubilize 20S(OH)D3, the PG, with-or-without 20S(OH)D3, was diluted 1:5 by volume with sterile normal saline, and 100 µl was administered daily by oral gavage. Rheumatrex tablets (DAVA Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Fort Lee, NJ) were used as a source of methotrexate sodium. Methotrexate 2.5 mg/kg was administered in 100 µl normal saline weekly by oral gavage. The tablets were crushed and solubilized in sterile normal saline.

Arthritis severity was assessed in each paw every other day by two observers (one of whom was blinded to treatment) using the following scale: 0=no swelling or redness, 1=slight swelling and redness, 2=moderate swelling or redness, 3=marked swelling and redness, and 4=marked swelling and redness with some deformity (47). For histological assessment of joint tissue, mice were euthanized, all paws were removed, decalcified, processed and scored histologically, as previously described (56). Evaluation of each joint was done in a blinded manner using 4 parameters (0–3 scale for each parameter): synovial inflammation and thickness, synovial leukocyte invasion into the joint, cartilage unevenness caused by inflammation related cartilage damage, and subchondral bone erosion. The total histologic score represented the sum of the 4 parameters. The maximal histologic score per mouse paw was 12 and 48 per mouse.

Quantitation of Anti-CII Antibodies in Sera

Specific murine IgG1, IgG2a, and Ig2b anti-CII antibodies were quantitated in sera using a commercial ELISA, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Chondrex, Redwood, WA).

Flow Cytometric Assessment of Lymphoid Cells

Isolated cells from spleen or draining para aortic, popliteal or inguinal lymph nodes were labeled as follows: Alexa-700 labeled rat anti-mouse CD3, PE-Cy7-labeled rat anti-mouse CD25, Per CP-Cy5.5-labeled rat anti-mouse CD4, FoxP3 Tregs were detected by FoxP3 staining kit, and FITC-labeled rat anti-mouse CD-19 (BD Bioscience, San Diego, CA). Flow cytometry was performed on a SORP BD LSRII instrument and results analyzed by FlowJo.

Cytokine Quantitation

Draining lymph node cells were isolated and cultured at $2x10^6$ cells/ml in RPMI 1640 medium containing 9% fetal calf serum, penicillin 100 u/ml, streptomycin 100 µg/ml, 1% glutamax, 1% pyruvate, and 1% 2-mercaptoethanol. Supernatants were collected after 48 h or 120 h of culture and analyzed by multiplex sandwich immunoassay (Bio-plex mouse cytokine/ chemokine kits, Bio Rad) for levels of different cytokines using a Luminex instrument according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Quantitation of Total Serum Calcium

Levels of calcium in mice serum were quantitated by atomic absorption spectroscopy as previously described (57).

Statistical Analyses

Differences between groups were analyzed using 2 way RM ANOVA when multiple comparisons were made, Student's 2-sample *t*-test was used for single comparisons between groups with normally distributed data, or by Mann-Whitney rank sum test for data not normally distributed. The level of significance was set at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

20S(OH)D3 Treatment Suppresses Development of CIA and Associated Joint Damage

To determine whether 20S(OH)D3 treatment started day 14 post CII immunization, after T cell priming to CII is firmly established, would suppress the development of CIA, two groups of mice (12 per group) were immunized with CII and from days 14-to-40 post immunization treated daily with i.p. injections of sterile 50 µl S.O. or 50 µl S.O. containing 20S(OH)D3 at a dose of 2.4 µg/kg/day. The 20S(OH)D3 treatment markedly reduced the mean arthritis severity score (Figure 1A) and arthritis incidence (Figure 1B). The curves comparing drug to vehicle are roughly parallel, suggesting that the greatest effect is on the magnitude of the immune response rather than elicitation of the response. The histologic scores reflecting inflammation, cartilage damage and subchondral bone erosion in joints harvested at sacrifice on Day 40 post CII immunization were significantly reduced in 20S(OH) D3 treated versus S.O. treated CIA mice (Figure 1E), reflecting the ability of 20(OH)D3 to protect joints from damage in this model.

Representative images of hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections of hind paws harvested on Day 40 post CII immunization show marked destruction of joint structures in S.O. treated CIA mice (**Figure 1D**), while joint structure was maintained in mice with CIA treated with 20S(OH)D3 (**Figure 1C**). Aliquots of sera were subjected to analysis of calcium content by atomic absorption spectroscopy. There was no difference in levels of serum calcium between 20S(OH)D3- and S.O.-treated mice with CIA (S.O. = $9.50 \pm 0.50 \text{ mg/dL}$, 20S(OH) D3 = $9.57\pm 0.50 \text{ mg/dL}$, p = NS). This is compatible with our earlier report that 20S(OH)D3 does not induce hypercalcemia at doses up to 60 µg/kg when administered to C57BL/6 daily by i.p. injections for 21 days (39).

20S(OH)D3 Treatment Reduces Levels of Serum Antibodies to CII

Earlier studies demonstrated that the generation of complement fixing anti-CII antibodies is essential for development of CIA (58, 59). The major complement fixing anti-CII antibodies generated in DBA/1 mice immunized with CII are of the IgG2a subclass (59). However, the less potent complement fixing anti CII IgG1 and anti CII Ig G2b antibodies are also generated (59). Therefore, it was essential to assess whether 20S (OH)D3 versus S.O. vehicle treatment of mice immunized with CII developed less IgG2a and IgG1 anti-CII antibodies. On Day 40, sera from mice in **Figure 1A** were analyzed for anti-CII specific antibodies by a commercial ELISA kit from Chondrex specific for IgG1, IgG2a and Ig2b anti-CII antibodies. Significant



FIGURE 1 | 20S(OH)D3 suppresses CIA: 24 DBA/1 Lac J female mice at 6 wks of age were immunized with bovine CII and 14 days later 12 mice were treated daily with intraperitoneal (i.p.) 50 µl S.O. and 12 mice with 50 µl S.O. containing 2.4 µg/kg 20S(OH)D3. Arthritis severity (**A**) and incidence (**B**) were assessed by a blinded observer and each paw was scored on a scale of 0 to 4 with 16 being the maximal score per mouse. All mice survived to day 40. On Day 40, mice were euthanized, sera obtained, and paws processed for histology and scored histologically as described in Methods. An H&E stained section of the decalcified hind paw of a mouse treated with 20S(OH)D₃ shows preservation of joint structures with minimal inflammation (10X magnification, b, bone, * identifies joint space) (**C**) while S.O.-treated mouse hind paws showed marked joint destruction with extensive loss of cartilage and bone with invasion of pannus (20X magnification, b, bone; p, pannus) (**D**). 20S(OH)D3- treated CIA mice had a lower histologic score than S.O. treated CIA mice (**E**). Photographs of typical paws for the scoring system we used are available online at the Hooke Laboratories Web Site (https://hookelabs.com/services/cro/cia/MouseCIAscoring.html).

reductions in serum levels of anti-CII antibodies of the IgG1 (**Figure 2A**) and IgG2a (**Figure 2B**) subclasses (P=0.017 and P=0.03), respectively occurred in 20S(OH)D3 treated mice compared to S.O. treated mice with CIA. However, IgG2b anti-CII antibody levels were not significantly different between 20S (OH)D3- and S.O.- treated cohort with CIA (data not shown). These reduced complement fixing anti-CII antibodies likely resulted in reduced arthritis severity observed in mice treated with CIA treated with 20S(OH)D3.

20S(OH)D3 Treatment Modulates Production of Cytokines and Chemokines by Cultured Draining LN Cells

Popliteal and inguinal lymph nodes contain immune cells that traffic to and from the joints in the hind limbs of mice with CIA

(50, 60). Cytokine and chemokine production by draining LN cells from mice with CIA, in part, reflect production of cytokines and chemokines by immune cells in arthritic joints (61). To assess whether cytokine and/or chemokine production are changed by treatment of mice with CIA with 20S(OH)D3, groups of 9 mice immunized with CII were treated beginning on the day of CII immunization with i.p. administration of 2.4 μ g/kg 20S(OH)D3 or S.O. daily for 14 days. The mice were then euthanized and isolated popliteal and inguinal LN cells were cultured for 48 h to allow cytokines and chemokines to be released into the culture medium. Levels of Th1, Th2, Th17, and inflammatory cytokines were significantly reduced in the supernatants of the draining LN from mice treated with 20S(OH) D3 *vs* S.O. vehicle (**Table 1**). Similar reductions in production of these types of cytokines were observed when we cultured spleen



levels of anti Cll IgG1 and IgG2a (A, B) but not of anti-Cll IgG2b antibodies (data not shown).

cells from a similarly treated different group of CIA mice (data not shown).

Treatment of CIA Mice With 20S(OH)D3 Reduces Percentages of CD4⁺ T Cells and CD19⁺ B Cells From Draining LN Cells and Increases T Regulatory (Treg) CD4⁺T Cell Ratio

Since arthritis in mice with CIA results from a contribution by CD4⁺ T cells and B cells which may be suppressed by CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Tregs (62), it was important to determine whether percentages of these cell populations were changed by 20S(OH)D3 treatment. Groups of DBA/1 mice were immunized with CII and treated with 20S(OH)D3 (N=12) or S.O. (N=12) following the same protocol as in the experiment depicted in **Figure 1A**, except mice were euthanized on Day 14 post CII immunization. Draining LN cells were isolated and subjected to analysis by flow cytometry as described under Materials and Methods. The mice treated with 20S(OH)D3 had reduced percentages of CD3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells and CD19⁺ B cells (*P*=0.004 and *P*=0.004, respectively) (**Table 2**). We also assessed percentages of CD4⁺CD25+ Foxp3⁺ Tregs in this experiment and found no absolute change in the percentage of these

Tregs in the draining LN population (data not shown). However, the ratio of $CD4^+CD25^+$ Foxp3⁺ Tregs to $CD3^+$ $CD4^+$ T cells in mice with CIA treated with 20S(OH)D3 increased, indicating the equilibrium was shifted in favor of less $CD3^+$ $CD4^+$ T cells compared to this type of Treg (**Table 2**).

20S(OH)D3 Administered by Oral Gavage Suppresses Development of CIA

Since 20S(OH)D3 would be given *via* the oral route to humans with RA, if eventually approved to treat this disease, we evaluated whether CIA would be suppressed if 20S(OH)D3 were administered *via* the oral route using gavage and how it compared to methotrexate in its ability to suppress CIA. Groups of DBA/1 mice (N=10-12 per group) were immunized with CII and were assigned to different treatments as follows: daily oral gavage 100 µl 1:5 diluted PG containing 15 µg/kg 20S(OH)D3 and 100 µl normal saline by oral gavage every 7 days daily oral gavage 100 µl 1:5 diluted PG and 100 µl normal saline by oral gavage every 7 days daily oral gavage to a gavage 100 µl 1:5 diluted PG and 100 µl normal saline. Treatments began at Day 13 Post CII immunization.

Treatment of mice	IFNγ Pg/ml	GCSF Pg/ml	GMCSF Pg/ml	IL-17 Pg/ml	IL-1α Pg/ml	TNFα Pg/ml
20S(OH)D3	36 ± 20	50 ± 23	23 ± 19	2 ± 1	4 ± 1	3 ≤ 1
p⁻Value	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001

Female DBA/1 Lac J mice (N=6 per group) were treated daily after immunization with CII for 14 days with i.p. 20S(OH)D3 (2.5 µg/kg) in 50 µl sesame oil (S.O.) vehicle or with 50 µl of S.O. vehicle daily. Mice were euthanized and lymph node cells were isolated and cultured as described in Methods for 72 h with 1 µg/ml anti CD3/CD28 monoclonal antibodies for 72 h fter which the culture supernatants were harvested and analyzed by multiplex cytokine assay and a Luminex instrument. Differences between groups of vehicle-and 20S(OH)D3-treated mice were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA.

TABLE 2 | Treatment of CIA mice with 20S(OH)D₃ reduces percentages of CD 4⁺ T cells and B cells in draining lymph nodes while elevating FoxP3 Treg/CD3⁺ CD4⁺ ratio^{*}.

In Vivo	Treatment Percentage					
	CD3 ⁺ CD4 ⁺ T cells	CD4 ⁺ CD25 ⁺ FoxP3 Tregs	CD19 ⁺ B cells	CD4 ⁺ CD25 FoxP3 ⁺ Tregs/CD3 ⁺ CD4 ⁺ T cells		
Sesame oil (100 µl/day	12.1 ± 0.54	8.8 ± 1.9	17.7 ± 3.5	1.1 ± 0.11		
20S(OH)D3 (2.4 µg/kg/day	9.1 ± 0.5	7.0 ± 1.04	11.4 ± 0.7	1.6 ± 0.14		
pValue	0.004	NS	0.004	0.023		

*Lymph nodes were harvested from DB A/1 LacJ mice immunized with ClI and treated daily for 14 days with i.p. S.O. (n=5) or 20S(OH)D3 (2.4 µg/kg) (n=5) dissolved in S.O. Percentage of CD3+ T cells and B cells were determined by flow cytometry after staining with fluorochrome tagged rat anti-mouse CD3, anti-mouse CD19. FoxP3 Tregs were detected by FoxP3 staining kit (eBioscience, San Diego, CA).

NS, not significant.

Arthritis Severity Scores were significantly lower in 20S(OH)D3and MTX-treated mice than in PG saline vehicle-treated mice (**Figure 3A**). The incidence of arthritis (percentage of mice with one or more arthritic joints) was also significantly lower in 20S(OH) D3-treated mice, but not in MTX-treated mice (**Figure 3B**). This experiment demonstrates that, like MTX (a commonly used medication to treat RA), 20S(OH)D3 can suppress CIA when given *via* the oral route.

20S(OH)D3 Administered by Gavage Suppresses Established Arthritis in CIA Mice

To determine whether 20S(OH)D3 would suppress arthritis severity when started later after CII immunization when arthritis is firmly established, we immunized 24 mice with CII and waited until arthritis was present to begin treatment with 20S (OH)D3 and S.O. Beginning Day 21, after CII immunization when the mean arthritis severity score was 2.4, we treated 12 of the mice with S.O. administered by daily gavage and 12 with S.O. containing 20S(OH)D3 administered by daily gavage at a dose of 30 µg/kg/day. After 46 days treatment, mice were euthanized. As shown in Figure 4, mice treated with 20S(OH)D3 had less severe arthritis, demonstrating 20S(OH)D3 can suppress CIA during the inflammatory phase when anti-CII antibodies play a major role in mediating inflammation in the joints (59, 63). On Day 21 under the conditions we employ, arthritis is highly inflammatory and driven by complement fixing anti-CII antibodies. This suggests 20S(OH)D3 also has anti-inflammatory effects.

DISCUSSION

This is the first demonstration that a natural noncalcemic D3 analog, 20*S*(OH)D3, which is normally produced in humans, suppresses the CIA model of human RA, both clinical arthritis and joint destruction, providing a rationale for further consideration of 20*S*(OH)D3 as a potential mono or adjunctive therapy for RA and other autoimmune diseases. It must be noted that CYP11A1 is also expressed outside the classical steroidogenic organs including skin (64, 65), brain, gastrointestinal tract (66, 67), and immune system (68–71). This suggests that 20*S*(OH)D3



FIGURE 3 | Suppression of CIA by 20S(OH)D3 given by gavage: 36 DBA/ Lac J female mice 6 weeks of age were immunized with bovine CII (Day 0) and groups of 12 were gavaged orally beginning on day 13 post CII immunization with daily 15 µg/kg 20S(OH)D_{3 in} 50 µl 1:5 diluted PG and 50 µl normal saline by oral gavage every 7 days; oral gavage daily with 50 µl 1:5 diluted PG and every 7 days by oral gavage with MTX 2.5 mg/kg dissolved in 50 µl normal saline; or oral gavage daily with 50 µl 1:5 diluted PG and 50 µl normal saline by oral gavage every 7 days. Treatment began at Day 13 after CII immunization and continued through 48 days post CII immunization. Arthritis severity (**A**) and arthritis incidence (**B**) were assessed every 2 days. All mice survived until termination of the experiment.



may also be produced by the immune cells. Furthermore, 20S (OH)D3 has been detected in honey identifying it as a natural product (42). The mechanisms by which 20S(OH)D3 downregulates arthritis severity in the CIA model is likely related to reduction in CD4⁺ T cells, CD19⁺ B cells, anti-CII antibodies, and maintenance of CD4⁺CD24⁺FoxP3⁺Tregs. Treatment with 20(OH) D3 leads to a significant reduction in inflammatory cytokines, likely caused by reduction in the numbers of CD4⁺ T cells together with an increase in the ratio of T reg cells (CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells) to CD3+CD4+ T cells. The decrease in arthritis was also accentuated by a decrease in critical complement-fixing anti-CII antibodies together with a reduction in the number of CD19⁺ B cells. Since proinflammatory mediators interact to produce an inflammatory cascade and antibodies against type II collagen lead to destruction of cartilage and bone, these data explain why arthritis is attenuated by 20(OH) D3. These results have some similarities to results obtained using a natural plant product (72). The currently used and/or FDA approved therapeutics to treat RA have the potential to cause mild-to-severe life-threatening adverse events such as bacterial, fungal, or mycobacterium tuberculosis infections, neoplasms such as skin cancers and lymphoma, vasculitis, SLE, MS, and interstitial lung disease, etc (73-75).

20S(OH)D3 is produced *in vivo* by the hydroxylation of D3 by CYP11A1 and is non-calcemic in rats and mice (38–41). The serum levels in normal humans of 20S(OH)D3 is approximately 5% of 25(OH)D3. In preclinical studies on C57BL6 mice treated with 20S(OH)D3 up to $60 \mu g/kg$ given i.p. daily for 3 weeks, there was no evidence of hematologic, renal, or liver toxicity (39). In addition, 20S(OH)D3 *in vitro* exhibited anti-inflammatory and

pro-differentiatory effects on epidermal cells (32, 34, 76, 77). In contrast, C57B/L6 mice given either 2 µ/kg 1,25(OH)₂D3 or 25 (OH)D3 i.p. daily for 3 weeks displayed hypercalcemia (41). This hypercalcemic property of 1,25(OH)₂D3 and 25(OH)D3 markedly limits the dosages that can be safely administered to humans on a chronic basis that would be required to treat autoimmune diseases such as RA (78). 20S(OH)D₃ in addition to inhibiting CIA, shares some other biological properties with 1,25(OH)₂D3 (32). 20S(OH)D3 like 1,25(OH)₂D₃ inhibits collagen synthesis by dermal fibroblasts in vitro, and at a dose of 3 µ/kg in vivo inhibits fibrosis induced by repeated subcutaneous injection of bleomycin into mice (36). 20S(OH) D3 also like 1,25(OH)₂D3 inhibits growth of melanoma cells in vitro (37, 40, 79), and it inhibits growth of melanoma at a dose of 30 µg/kg applied daily in vivo (37). This is in addition to the aforementioned anti-cancer, pro-differentiation and photoprotective activities of 20S(OH)D3 in cells of different origins (80-82). Of significance are anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory (downregulation of T-cell responses) properties of 20S(OH)D3 in conjunction with its ability to decrease NF-kB activity by increasing IkBa levels and inhibiting translocation of NF-kB to the nucleus (76, 81) and inhibit production of IL-17, interferon- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 (32, 83) and inverse agonism on ROR γ (77). These immunomodulatory properties are consistent with the beneficial effect of 20S(OH)D3 in the CII-induced arthritis model of RA reported in this paper.

In addition, 20S(OH)D3, in contrast to the classical 1,25 $(OH)_2D3$, is non-calcemic and acts as a biased agonist on the VDR having different interactions with the ligand binding domain in comparison to 1,25(OH)_2D3 or 1,20(OH)_2D3 (83, 84). Furthermore, 20S(OH)D3 acts as an inverse agonist on ROR α and γ (77, 84) and acts as an agonist on the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) (85). Defining the relative contribution of these nuclear receptors (80, 86) to the reported attenuation of the RA will be addressed in the future studies using transgenic mice with silenced VDR, RORs and AhR receptors.

In summary, we provided for the first time preclinical evidence that 20S(OH)D3 can significantly attenuate the progression of arthritis in a murine model of RA *in vivo* through suppression of immune responses by T and B-cells. Thus, we synthesized a novel non-calcemic and nontoxic vitamin D3 hydroxyderivative and demonstrated it to be an excellent candidate for clinical trials in RA and other autoimmune diseases.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by University of Tennessee IACUC Committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AP and AS conceived and designed the study. RT, TK, WL, SB, LM, and DB contributed data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work was supported by NIH grants 1RO1 AR052190 and 1R21 AR066505 to AS and AP, 1R01AR073004-01A1, R01AR071189-01A1 and VA merit grant 1I01BX004293-01A1 to AS, and VA Program Project Grant IP1BX001607 to AP and R21 AI149267 to CR and AS.

REFERENCES

- Smolen JS, Aletaha D, McInnes IB. Rheumatoid Arthritis. Lancet (2016) 388:2023–38. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30173-8
- Minichiello E, Semerano L, Boissier MC. Time Trends in the Incidence, Prevalence, and Severity of Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Systematic Literature Review. *Joint Bone Spine* (2016) 83:625–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2016.07.007
- Myllykangas M, Pekkanen J, Rasi V, Haukkala A, Vahtera E, Salomaa V. Haemostatic and Other Cardiovascular Risk Factors, and Socioeconomic Status Among Middle-Aged Finnish Men and Women. *Int J Epidemiol* (1995) 24:1110–6. doi: 10.1093/ije/24.6.1110
- Kvien TK. Epidemiology and Burden of Illness of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Pharmacoeconomics* (2004) 22:1–12. doi: 10.2165/00019053-200422001-00002
- Camus P, Fanton A, Bonniaud P, Camus C, Foucher P. Interstitial Lung Disease Induced by Drugs and Radiation. *Respiration* (2004) 71:301–26. doi: 10.1159/000079633
- Nalbant S, Ozyurt M, Yildirim M, Kuskucu M. Pulmonary Tuberculosis and Tuberculous Arthritis of Knee Joint Associated With Rheumatoid Arthritis Treated With Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-Alpha Medication: A Case Report. *Rheumatol Int* (2012) 32:2863–6. doi: 10.1007/s00296-011-2119-0
- Fromont A, De Seze J, Fleury MC, Maillefert JF, Moreau T. Inflammatory Demyelinating Events Following Treatment With Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor. *Cytokine* (2009) 45:55–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2008.11.002
- Ramos-Casals M, Brito-Zeron P, Munoz S, Soria N, Galiana D, Bertolaccini L, et al. Autoimmune Diseases Induced by TNF-Targeted Therapies: Analysis of 233 Cases. *Med (Baltimore)* (2007) 86:242–51. doi: 10.1097/MD.0b013e3181441a68
- Holick MF. Vitamin D Deficiency. N Engl J Med (2007) 357:266–81. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra070553
- Bikle DD. Vitamin D and the Skin. J Bone Miner Metab (2010) 28:117–30. doi: 10.1007/s00774-009-0153-8
- Jenkinson C. The Vitamin D Metabolome: An Update on Analysis and Function. Cell Biochem Funct (2019) 37:408–23. doi: 10.1002/cbf.3421
- Tuckey RC, Cheng CYS, Slominski AT. The Serum Vitamin D Metabolome: What We Know and What Is Still to Discover. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2019) 186:4–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2018.09.003
- Zehnder D, Bland R, Williams MC, McNinch RW, Howie AJ, Stewart PM, et al. Extrarenal Expression of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D(3)-1 Alpha-Hydroxylase. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2001) 86:888–94. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.86.2.7220
- Cheng JB, Motola DL, Mangelsdorf DJ, Russell DW. De-Orphanization of Cytochrome P450 2R1: A Microsomal Vitamin D 25-Hydroxilase. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:38084–93. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M307028200
- DeLuca HF. Overview of General Physiologic Features and Functions of Vitamin D. Am J Clin Nutr (2004) 80:1689S–96S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.6.1689S
- Haussler MR, Haussler CA, Jurutka PW, Thompson PD, Hsieh JC, Remus LS, et al. The Vitamin D Hormone and Its Nuclear Receptor: Molecular Actions and Disease States. J Endocrinol (1997) 154 Suppl:S57–73.
- Chun RF. New Perspectives on the Vitamin D Binding Protein. Cell Biochem Funct (2012) 30:445–56. doi: 10.1002/cbf.2835

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the excellent technical assistance of Patricia Wheller, David Cullins and Jiwen Luo. The assistance of Angela Cody in preparing the draft of this manuscript is gratefully acknowledged.

IN MEMORIAM

This article is dedicated to our distinguished colleague, the late Professor Arnold E. Postlethwaite, in loving memory of his humanity, humility, integrity and seminal contributions to the broad field of Rheumatology, spanning over five decades.

- Turhanoglu AD, Guler H, Yonden Z, Aslan F, Mansuroglu A, Ozer C. The Relationship Between Vitamin D and Disease Activity and Functional Health Status in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatol Int* (2011) 31:911–4. doi: 10.1007/ s00296-010-1393-6
- Hypponen E, Laara E, Reunanen A, Jarvelin MR, Virtanen SM. Intake of Vitamin D and Risk of Type 1 Diabetes: A Birth-Cohort Study. *Lancet* (2001) 358:1500–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06580-1
- Wright TB, Shults J, Leonard MB, Zemel BS, Burnham JM. Hypovitaminosis D Is Associated With Greater Body Mass Index and Disease Activity in Pediatric Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. J Pediatr (2009) 155:260–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.02.033
- 21. Amital H, Szekanecz Z, Szucs G, Danko K, Nagy E, Csepany T, et al. Serum Concentrations of 25-OH Vitamin D in Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) are Inversely Related to Disease Activity: Is it Time to Routinely Supplement Patients With SLE With Vitamin D? Ann Rheum Dis (2010) 69:1155–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.120329
- Haque UJ, Bartlett SJ. Relationships Among Vitamin D, Disease Activity, Pain and Disability in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2010) 28:745–7.
- 23. Rossini M, Maddali Bongi S, La Montagna G, Minisola G, Malavolta N, Bernini L, et al. Vitamin D Deficiency in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Prevalence, Determinants and Associations With Disease Activity and Disability. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2010) 12:R216. doi: 10.1186/ar3195
- 24. Kerr GS, Sabahi I, Richards JS, Caplan L, Cannon GW, Reimold A, et al. Prevalence of Vitamin D Insufficiency/Deficiency in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Associations With Disease Severity and Activity. *J Rheumatol* (2011) 38:53–9. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.100516
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96:1911–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0385
- Lee YH, Bae SC, Choi SJ, Ji JD, Song GG. Associations Between Vitamin D Receptor Polymorphisms and Susceptibility to Rheumatoid Arthritis and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A Meta-Analysis. *Mol Biol Rep* (2011) 38:3643–51. doi: 10.1007/s11033-010-0477-4
- Hitchon CA, Sun Y, Robinson DB, Peschken CA, Bernstein CN, Siminovitch KA, et al. Vitamin D Receptor Polymorphism Rs2228570 (Fok1) Is Associated With Rheumatoid Arthritis in North American Natives. J Rheumatol (2012) 39:1792–7. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.120387
- Cantorna MT, Hayes CE, DeLuca HF. 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol Inhibits the Progression of Arthritis in Murine Models of Human Arthritis. J Nutr (1998) 128:68–72. doi: 10.1093/jn/128.1.68
- Slominski A, Semak I, Zjawiony J, Wortsman J, Li W, Szczesniewski A, et al. The Cytochrome P450scc System Opens an Alternate Pathway of Vitamin D3 Metabolism. FEBS J (2005) 272:4080–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2005.04819.x
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Shehabi HZ, Semak I, Tang EK, Nguyen MN, et al. *In Vivo* Evidence for a Novel Pathway of Vitamin D(3) Metabolism Initiated by P450scc and Modified by CYP27B1. *FASEB J* (2012) 26:3901–15. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-208975
- Slominski AT, Kim TK, Li W, Postlethwaite A, Tieu EW, Tang EKY, et al. Detection of Novel CYP11A1-Derived Secosteroids in the Human Epidermis

and Serum and Pig Adrenal Gland. Sci Rep (2015) 5:14875. doi: 10.1038/ srep14875

- 32. Slominski AT, Kim TK, Li W, Yi AK, Postlethwaite A, Tuckey RC. The Role of CYP11A1 in the Production of Vitamin D Metabolites and Their Role in the Regulation of Epidermal Functions. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* (2014) 144 Pt A:28–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.10.012
- 33. Kim TK, Wang J, Janjetovic Z, Chen J, Tuckey RC, Nguyen MN, et al. Correlation Between Secosteroid-Induced Vitamin D Receptor Activity in Melanoma Cells and Computer-Modeled Receptor Binding Strength. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2012) 361:143–52. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2012.04.001
- 34. Zbytek B, Janjetovic Z, Tuckey RC, Zmijewski MA, Sweatman TW, Jones E, et al. 20-Hydroxyvitamin D3, A Product of Vitamin D3 Hydroxylation by Cytochrome P450scc, Stimulates Keratinocyte Differentiation. J Invest Dermatol (2008) 128:2271–80. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.62
- Janjetovic Z, Tuckey RC, Nguyen MN, Thorpe EMJr., Slominski AT. 20,23-Dihydroxyvitamin D3, Novel P450scc Product, Stimulates Differentiation and Inhibits Proliferation and NF-kappaB Activity in Human Keratinocytes. J Cell Physiol (2010) 223:36–48. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21992
- Slominski A, Janjetovic Z, Tuckey RC, Nguyen MN, Bhattacharya KG, Wang J, et al. 20S-Hydroxyvitamin D3, Noncalcemic Product of CYP11A1 Action on Vitamin D3, Exhibits Potent Antifibrogenic Activity *In Vivo. J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98:E298–303. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3074
- Skobowiat C, Oak AS, Kim TK, Yang CH, Pfeffer LM, Tuckey RC, et al. Noncalcemic 20-Hydroxyvitamin D3 Inhibits Human Melanoma Growth in *In Vitro* and *In Vivo* Models. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:9823–34. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.14193
- Slominski AT, Janjetovic Z, Fuller BE, Zmijewski MA, Tuckey RC, Nguyen MN, et al. Products of Vitamin D3 or 7-Dehydrocholesterol Metabolism by Cytochrome P450scc Show Anti-Leukemia Effects, Having Low or Absent Calcemic Activity. *PloS One* (2010) 5:e9907. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009907
- Chen J, Wang J, Kim TK, Tieu EW, Tang EK, Lin Z, et al. Novel Vitamin D Analogs as Potential Therapeutics: Metabolism, Toxicity Profiling, and Antiproliferative Activity. *Anticancer Res* (2014) 34:2153–63.
- 40. Slominski AT, Kim TK, Janjetovic Z, Tuckey RC, Bieniek R, Yue J, et al. 20-Hydroxyvitamin D2 Is a Noncalcemic Analog of Vitamin D With Potent Antiproliferative and Prodifferentiation Activities in Normal and Malignant Cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol (2011) 300:C526–41. doi: 10.1152/ ajpcell.00203.2010
- Wang J, Slominski A, Tuckey RC, Janjetovic Z, Kulkarni A, Chen J, et al. 20-Hydroxyvitamin D(3) Inhibits Proliferation of Cancer Cells With High Efficacy While Being Non-Toxic. *Anticancer Res* (2012) 32:739–46.
- Kim TK, Atigadda V, Brzeminski P, Fabisiak A, Tang EKY, Tuckey RC, et al. Detection of 7-Dehydrocholesterol and Vitamin D3 Derivatives in Honey. *Molecules* (2020) 25(11):1–14. doi: 10.3390/molecules25112583
- Arbiser JL, Arbiser ZK, Majzoub JA. Differential Regulation of Choriocarcinoma Gene Expression by DNA Synthesis Inhibitors. *Endocr J* (1993) 40:263–8. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.40.263
- 44. Thornton S, Duwel LE, Boivin GP, Ma Y, Hirsch R. Association of the Course of Collagen-Induced Arthritis With Distinct Patterns of Cytokine and Chemokine Messenger RNA Expression. *Arthritis Rheum* (1999) 42:1109– 18. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(199906)42:6<1109::AID-ANR7>3.0.CO;2-7
- 45. Postigo J, Genre F, Iglesias M, Fernandez-Rey M, Buelta L, Carlos Rodriguez-Rey J, et al. Exacerbation of Type II Collagen-Induced Arthritis in Apolipoprotein E-Deficient Mice in Association With the Expansion of Th1 and Th17 Cells. Arthritis Rheum (2011) 63:971–80. doi: 10.1002/art.30220
- Doncarli A, Stasiuk LM, Fournier C, Abehsira-Amar O. Conversion *In Vivo* From an Early Dominant Th0/Th1 Response to a Th2 Phenotype During the Development of Collagen-Induced Arthritis. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27:1451– 8. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830270623
- Rosloniec EF, Cremer M, Kang AH, Myers LK, Brand DD. Collagen-Induced Arthritis. *Curr Protoc Immunol* (2010) 15:Unit 15.5.1–25. doi: 10.1002/0471142735. im1505s89
- Stasiuk LM, Abehsira-Amar O, Fournier C. Collagen-Induced Arthritis in DBA/1 Mice: Cytokine Gene Activation Following Immunization With Type II Collagen. *Cell Immunol* (1996) 173:269–75. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1996.0277
- 49. Cook AD, Turner AL, Braine EL, Pobjoy J, Lenzo JC, Hamilton JA. Regulation of Systemic and Local Myeloid Cell Subpopulations by Bone Marrow Cell-Derived Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor in Experimental

Inflammatory Arthritis. Arthritis Rheum (2011) 63:2340-51. doi: 10.1002/art.30354

- Cho YG, Cho ML, Min SY, Kim HY. Type II Collagen Autoimmunity in a Mouse Model of Human Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2007) 7:65– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2007.08.001
- Postigo J, Iglesias M, Cerezo-Wallis D, Rosal-Vela A, Garcia-Rodriguez S, Zubiaur M, et al. Mice Deficient in CD38 Develop an Attenuated Form of Collagen Type II-Induced Arthritis. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e33534. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0033534
- Brand DD, Latham KA, Rosloniec EF. Collagen-Induced Arthritis. Nat Protoc (2007) 2:1269–75. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.173
- Tuckey RC, Nguyen MN, Slominski A. Kinetics of Vitamin D3 Metabolism by Cytochrome P450scc (CYP11A1) in Phospholipid Vesicles and Cyclodextrin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2008) 40:2619–26. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.05.006
- 54. Tuckey RC, Li W, Shehabi HZ, Janjetovic Z, Nguyen MN, Kim TK, et al. Production of 22-Hydroxy Metabolites of Vitamin D3 by Cytochrome P450scc (CYP11A1) and Analysis of Their Biological Activities on Skin Cells. Drug Metab Dispos (2011) 39:1577–88. doi: 10.1124/dmd.111.040071
- 55. Tuckey RC, McKinley AJ, Headlam MJ. Oxidized Adrenodoxin Acts as a Competitive Inhibitor of Cytochrome P450scc in Mitochondria From the Human Placenta. *Eur J Biochem* (2001) 268:2338–43. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.2001.02113.x
- Lin H, Ah Kioon MD, Lalou C, Larghero J, Launay JM, Khatib AM, et al. Protective Role of Systemic Furin in Immune Response-Induced Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64:2878–86. doi: 10.1002/art.34523
- Bhattacharya SK. Determination of Calcium and Magnesium in Human Blood Serum by Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer. Anal Lett (1977) 10:817–30. doi: 10.1080/00032717708067830
- Hietala MA, Jonsson IM, Tarkowski A, Kleinau S, Pekna M. Complement Deficiency Ameliorates Collagen-Induced Arthritis in Mice. J Immunol (2002) 169:454–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.1.454
- Watson WC, Townes AS. Genetic Susceptibility to Murine Collagen II Autoimmune Arthritis. Proposed Relationship to the IgG2 Autoantibody Subclass Response, Complement C5, Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) and Non-MHC Loci. J Exp Med (1985) 162:1878–91. doi: 10.1084/ jem.162.6.1878
- Mauri C, Williams RO, Walmsley M, Feldmann M. Relationship Between Th1/ Th2 Cytokine Patterns and the Arthritogenic Response in Collagen-Induced Arthritis. *Eur J Immunol* (1996) 26:1511–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830260716
- Nacher-Juan J, Terencio MC, Alcaraz MJ, Ferrandiz ML. Osteostatin Inhibits Collagen-Induced Arthritis by Regulation of Immune Activation, Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines, and Osteoclastogenesis. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20 (16):1–14. doi: 10.3390/ijms20163845
- 62. Chen W, Wang J, Xu Z, Huang F, Qian W, Ma J, et al. Apremilast Ameliorates Experimental Arthritis via Suppression of Th1 and Th17 Cells and Enhancement of CD4(+)Foxp3(+) Regulatory T Cells Differentiation. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1662. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01662
- 63. Banda NK, Levitt B, Wood AK, Takahashi K, Stahl GL, Holers VM, et al. Complement Activation Pathways in Murine Immune Complex-Induced Arthritis and in C3a and C5a Generation In Vitro. Clin Exp Immunol (2010) 159:100–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.04035.x
- Slominski RM, Raman C, Elmets C, Jetten AM, Slominski AT, Tuckey RC. The Significance of CYP11A1 Expression in Skin Physiology and Pathology. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2021) 111238:111238. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2021.111238
- 65. Slominski A, Zjawiony J, Wortsman J, Semak I, Stewart J, Pisarchik A, et al. A Novel Pathway for Sequential Transformation of 7-Dehydrocholesterol and Expression of the P450scc System in Mammalian Skin. *Eur J Biochem/FEBS* (2004) 271:4178–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.2004.04356.x
- Huang SC, Lee CT, Chung BC. Tumor Necrosis Factor Suppresses NR5A2 Activity and Intestinal Glucocorticoid Synthesis to Sustain Chronic Colitis. Sci Signal (2014) 7:ra20. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004786
- Phan TS, Merk VM, Brunner T. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Synthesis at Epithelial Barriers. *Genes Immun* (2019) 20:627–40. doi: 10.1038/s41435-019-0058-z
- Slominski RM, Tuckey RC, Manna PR, Jetten AM, Postlethwaite A, Raman C, et al. Extra-Adrenal Glucocorticoid Biosynthesis: Implications for Autoimmune and Inflammatory Disorders. *Genes Immun* (2020) 21:150–68. doi: 10.1038/s41435-020-0096-6

- Mahata B, Pramanik J, van der Weyden L, Polanski K, Kar G, Riedel A, et al. Tumors Induce *De Novo* Steroid Biosynthesis in T Cells to Evade Immunity. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:3588. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17339-6
- Costa B, Pini S, Gabelloni P, Da Pozzo E, Abelli M, Lari L, et al. The Spontaneous Ala147Thr Amino Acid Substitution Within the Translocator Protein Influences Pregnenolone Production in Lymphomonocytes of Healthy Individuals. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150:5438–45. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0752
- Mahata B, Zhang X, Kolodziejczyk AA, Proserpio V, Haim-Vilmovsky L, Taylor AE, et al. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reveals T Helper Cells Synthesizing Steroids *De Novo* to Contribute to Immune Homeostasis. *Cell Rep* (2014) 7:1130–42. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.04.011
- Munroe ME, Arbiser JL, Bishop GA. Honokiol, a Natural Plant Product, Inhibits Inflammatory Signals and Alleviates Inflammatory Arthritis. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:753–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.753
- 73. Dixon WG, Hyrich KL, Watson KD, Lunt M, Consortium BCC, Symmons DP, et al. Influence of Anti-TNF Therapy on Mortality in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis-Associated Interstitial Lung Disease: Results From the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register. Ann Rheum Dis (2010) 69:1086–91. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.120626
- Wu CY, Chen DY, Shen JL, Ho HJ, Chen CC, Kuo KN, et al. The Risk of Cancer in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis Taking Tumor Necrosis Factor Antagonists: A Nationwide Cohort Study. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2014) 16:449. doi: 10.1186/s13075-014-0449-5
- 75. Wadstrom H, Frisell T, Askling JG. Anti-Rheumatic Therapy in Sweden Study. Malignant Neoplasms in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis Treated With Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitors, Tocilizumab, Abatacept, or Rituximab in Clinical Practice: A Nationwide Cohort Study From Sweden. JAMA Intern Med (2017) 177:1605–12. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.4332
- 76. Janjetovic Z, Zmijewski MA, Tuckey RC, DeLeon DA, Nguyen MN, Pfeffer LM, et al. 20-Hydroxycholecalciferol, Product of Vitamin D3 Hydroxylation by P450scc, Decreases NF-kappaB Activity by Increasing IkappaB Alpha Levels in Human Keratinocytes. *PloS One* (2009) 4:e5988. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0005988
- 77. Slominski AT, Kim TK, Takeda Y, Janjetovic Z, Brozyna AA, Skobowiat C, et al. RORalpha and ROR Gamma Are Expressed in Human Skin and Serve as Receptors for Endogenously Produced Noncalcemic 20-Hydroxy- and 20,23-Dihydroxyvitamin D. *FASEB J* (2014) 28:2775–89. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-242040
- Alshahrani F, Aljohani N, Vitamin D. Deficiency, Sufficiency and Toxicity. Nutrients (2013) 5:3605–16. doi: 10.3390/nu5093605
- 79. Janjetovic Z, Brozyna AA, Tuckey RC, Kim TK, Nguyen MN, Jozwicki W, et al. High Basal NF-kappaB Activity in Nonpigmented Melanoma Cells Is Associated With an Enhanced Sensitivity to Vitamin D3 Derivatives. Br J Cancer (2011) 105:1874–84. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.458

- Slominski AT, Chaiprasongsuk A, Janjetovic Z, Kim TK, Stefan J, Slominski RM, et al. Photoprotective Properties of Vitamin D and Lumisterol Hydroxyderivatives. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2020) 78:165–80. doi: 10.1007/ s12013-020-00913-6
- Chaiprasongsuk A, Janjetovic Z, Kim TK, Tuckey RC, Li W, Raman C, et al. CYP11A1-Derived Vitamin D3 Products Protect Against UVB-Induced Inflammation and Promote Keratinocytes Differentiation. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2020) 155:87–98. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.05.016
- Chaiprasongsuk A, Janjetovic Z, Kim TK, Jarrett SG, D'Orazio JA, Holick MF, et al. Protective Effects of Novel Derivatives of Vitamin D3 and Lumisterol Against UVB-Induced Damage in Human Keratinocytes Involve Activation of Nrf2 and P53 Defense Mechanisms. *Redox Biol* (2019) 24:101206. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2019.101206
- 83. Lin Z, Marepally SR, Goh ESY, Cheng CYS, Janjetovic Z, Kim TK, et al. Investigation of 20S-Hydroxyvitamin D3 Analogs and Their 1alpha-OH Derivatives as Potent Vitamin D Receptor Agonists With Anti-Inflammatory Activities. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8:1478. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19183-7
- 84. Slominski AT, Kim TK, Hobrath JV, Oak ASW, Tang EKY, Tieu EW, et al. Endogenously Produced Nonclassical Vitamin D Hydroxy-Metabolites Act as "Biased" Agonists on VDR and Inverse Agonists on RORalpha and RORgamma. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2017) 173:42–56. doi: 10.1016/ j.jsbmb.2016.09.024
- 85. Slominski AT, Kim TK, Janjetovic Z, Brozyna AA, Zmijewski MA, Xu H, et al. Differential and Overlapping Effects of 20,23(OH)(2)D3 and 1,25(OH)(2)D3 on Gene Expression in Human Epidermal Keratinocytes: Identification of AhR as an Alternative Receptor for 20,23(OH)(2)D3. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19 (10):1–35. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103072
- Hyter S, Indra AK. Nuclear Hormone Receptor Functions in Keratinocyte and Melanocyte Homeostasis, Epidermal Carcinogenesis and Melanomagenesis. *FEBS Lett* (2013) 587:529–41. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2013.01.041

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Postlethwaite, Tuckey, Kim, Li, Bhattacharya, Myers, Brand and Slominski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pleiotropic Effects of Glucocorticoids on the Immune System in Circadian Rhythm and Stress

Akihiro Shimba^{1,2*}, Aki Ejima^{1,3} and Koichi Ikuta^{1*}

¹ Laboratory of Immune Regulation, Department of Virus Research, Institute for Frontier Life and Medical Sciences, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan, ² Department of Human Health Sciences, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan, ³ Graduate School of Biostudies, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Detlef Neumann, Hannover Medical School, Germany

Reviewed by:

Rowan Hardy, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom Robert Newton, University of Calgary, Canada

*Correspondence:

Akihiro Shimba shimba.akihiro.7w@kyoto-u.ac.jp Koichi Ikuta ikuta.koichi.6c@kyoto-u.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 08 May 2021 Accepted: 22 September 2021 Published: 08 October 2021

Citation:

Shimba A, Ejima A and Ikuta K (2021) Pleiotropic Effects of Glucocorticoids on the Immune System in Circadian Rhythm and Stress. Front. Immunol. 12:706951. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.706951 Glucocorticoids (GCs) are a class of steroid hormones secreted from the adrenal cortex. Their production is controlled by circadian rhythm and stress, the latter of which includes physical restraint, hunger, and inflammation. Importantly, GCs have various effects on immunity, metabolism, and cognition, including pleiotropic effects on the immune system. In general, GCs have strong anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects. Indeed, they suppress inflammatory cytokine expression and cell-mediated immunity, leading to increased risks of some infections. However, recent studies have shown that endogenous GCs induced by the diurnal cycle and dietary restriction enhance immune responses against some infections by promoting the survival, redistribution, and response of T and B cells *via* cytokine and chemokine receptors. Furthermore, although GCs are reported to reduce expression of Th2 cytokines, GCs enhance type 2 immunity and IL-17-associated immunity in some stress conditions. Taken together, GCs have both immunoenhancing and immunosuppressive effects on the immune system.

Keywords: glucocorticoids, circadian rhythm, stress, cell-mediated immunity, IL-7 receptor

INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are a class of steroid hormones with multiple functions. GCs not only regulate functions of the brain, liver, muscle, and bone, they also exert immunoregulatory effects (1). In general, they have strong anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects and are commonly used to treat allergies, autoimmunity conditions, and inflammation by suppressing the expression of inflammatory cytokines, increasing immunosuppressive proteins, and inducing the apoptosis of lymphocytes (1–3). Especially, GCs strongly inhibit cell-mediated immune responses against cancer and infection (4–6). However, recent studies have reported that GCs, when driven by the diurnal cycle or dietary restriction (DR), enhance immune responses by inducing lymphocyte homing to the lymphoid organs (7, 8). Furthermore, stress-induced GCs have the potential to aggravate inflammation by promoting the differentiation and function of Th17 cells (9, 10). Thus, GCs play important roles both in immune responses against infection and cancer and in triggering inflammation. In this review, we will discuss the immunoenhancing and immunosuppressive functions of GCs, which depend on the immune microenvironment.

PRODUCTION AND ACTION OF GCs

In steady state, GC production is controlled by circadian rhythm through multiple steps (1). First, the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) stimulate the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus, which secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH). The circadian rhythm of the SCN is regulated by transcriptional-translational feedback loop (TTFL) of the molecular circadian clock comprising positive, negative, and accessory loops (11). In addition, light input from retina controls the TTFL in the SCN to synchronize the intrinsic circadian rhythm with environmental light/dark cycle. Next, CRH goes on to stimulate the anterior pituitary to produce adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) into the blood. ACTH induces the expression of the enzyme 11β-hydroxylase, which catalyzes the synthesis of corticosterone and cortisol in the adrenal cortex. Lastly, secreted GCs suppress CRH production from PVN by negative feedback (12). Due to the induction and suppression of GC production, serum GC levels exhibit diurnal oscillation, with a peak at early morning and a nadir at night in diurnal animals like humans, but the opposite in nocturnal animals like rodents. Moreover, psychological, physical, and nutritional stresses induce high levels of GCs. Adrenergic neurons in the locus coeruleus (LC) of the brain stem sense the stress and produce noradrenaline to stimulate CRH-releasing neurons (13, 14). In addition to neuronal signals, inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-2, IL6, IL-12, TNF- α , and IFN- γ stimulate the hypothalamus-PVN axis and induce GC production (15).

After the production of GCs from the adrenal cortex, bioavailability of GCs is regulated via corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG) and corticosteroid 11β-dehydrogenase (11β-HSD) in peripheral organs (16). Because GCs are hydrophobic molecules, GCs require a transporter and CBG acts as a buffer and carrier. Neutrophil elastase induces cleavage of CBG to lead the delivery of GCs to cells. As the expression level of CBG also follow the circadian rhythm (17), this might contribute to the circadian oscillation of bioavailability of GCs. After delivery of GCs, active cortisol and inactive cortisone are interconverted by two isozymes of 11β-HSD, 11β-HSD1 and 11β-HSD2, in each organ (16). The 11β -HSD1 mainly metabolizes cortisone to cortisol, while the 11β-HSD2 converts cortisol to cortisone. Several papers reported that inflammation induced 11B-HSD1 expression in tissues via TNF- α in rheumatoid arthritis (RA), colitis, and chronic kidney disease, suggesting that inflammation augments effects of GCs by induction of 11β -HSD1 (18–21). Taken together, not only the hypothalamus-PVN axis but also CBG and 11β-HSD control the effects of GC via circadian rhythm and inflammation.

GCs exert their effects through complicated mechanisms (22). In general, GCs bind to glucocorticoid receptor (GR) in the cytoplasm (23), which induces the dimerization of GR and its translocation into the nucleus. There, GR acts as a transcription factor that promotes or suppresses the transcription of target genes by binding to specific DNA sequences known as glucocorticoid-response elements (GREs). In some cases, GR represses transcription by binding to negative GREs (nGREs).

Binding of GR monomer to nGRE recruits transcriptional corepressors, which suppresses transcriptional activation by NF- κ B nearby, without direct interaction to NF- κ B (22). In other case, GR monomer directly interacts with DNA-bound NF- κ B and AP-1 and tethers transcriptional corepressors, without DNA binding of GR (24, 25). Transcriptional induction by GR, however, might be more important than transcriptional repression *via* nGREs and tethering. First, GCs induce the transcription of I κ B α , A20, DUSP1, and GILZ, negative regulators of NF- κ B and AP-1, which inhibits macrophage activation by LPS (26). Second, GC-induced transcription might snatch transcriptional coactivators and chromatin remodeling factors from the enhancers in target genes of inflammatory cytokines and reduce their transcription (2).

REGULATION OF IMMUNE-RELATED GENE EXPRESSION BY GR

GR represses the production of inflammatory cytokines and proteins such as IL-6, C3, and TSLP by binding to nGREs and recruiting the corepressors NCOR2 and HDAC2 (27). In addition, GR induces the expression of immunosuppressive molecules such as IKBa, A20 (TNFAIP3), DUSP1, and GILZ. I κ B α binds to NF- κ B and blocks the activation of NF- κ B (28). The A20/TAX1BP1 deubiquitinase complex inhibits the ubiquitination and degradation of RIP1 and enhances the degradation of E2 enzyme Ubc13, which suppresses NF-KB activation (28). The phosphatase DUSP1 suppresses the MAPK pathway including p38, JNK, and ERK (29, 30). DUSP1 dephosphorylates ERK and inhibits the activation of p38 and JNK, which reduces the expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL-1β, IL-6, GM-CSF, CCL2, CXCL1, and CXCL2. GILZ suppresses NF-KB by preventing nuclear transport of NF-KB p65 subunit and inhibits MAPK signaling by directly binding to Ras and Raf-1 (31-33). Thus, these molecules induced by GCs attenuate inflammation by inhibiting NF-KB and MAPK cascades.

Furthermore, NF-κB and GR might cooperatively control gene expression. Vollmer et al. reported that induction of DUSP-1 by GR agonist was enhanced by LPS stimulation in macrophages (34). In addition, Kadiyala et al. reported that GR and NF-κB cooperatively bound to the enhancer of the A20 locus and induced A20 expression (35). However, Rao et al. reported that increase of GR-binding sites in HeLa cells after stimulation with TNF-α and a GR agonist (~1,000 sites) was much smaller than all GR-binding sites after GR agonist stimulation (~8,700 sites) and NF-κB binding sites after TNF-α stimulation (~12,000 sites), suggesting that GR-NF-κB interaction might be partial in GR repression mechanisms (36).

On the other hand, Oh and colleagues suggested that inflammation is not critical for immunosuppressive functions of GR. They analyzed the transcription and chromatinscape of macrophages with dexamethasone (DEX) treatment before and after LPS-stimulation (26). They found that DEX treatment after LPS stimulation showed similar gene expression profile to DEX treatment before LPS stimulation. DEX treatment before and after LPS stimulation showed the upregulation of NF- κ B and AP-1 inhibitors such as I κ B α , A20, DUSP1, GILZ, which were critical for extinguishing inflammation. Thus, these results suggest that the induction of immunoregulatory factors by GR is important for immune regulation, independently of nGREs and tethering.

To induce transcription, GR binding to palindromic GRE might not be necessary. Schiller et al. performed ChIP-seq analysis with a human osteosarcoma cell line expressing GR with a mutation in dimerization domain and found that DNAbinding of the mutant GR was mostly overlapped with that of wild-type GR (37). It suggests that GR monomer and widespread GRE half-sites are enough for effects of GR. Sasse et al. performed global run-on sequencing (GRO-seq) in human airway epithelial cells to detect nascent RNA and found that GR repressed transcription within 10 minutes (38). By integrating the results of ChIP-seq and GRO-seq, they found that rapid repression of TNF-induced genes by GR did not require local GR-binding to canonical GREs in TNF-induced gene loci. Moreover, GR rapidly changed the accessibility of TNF-induced gene enhancers. Based on these observations, Gerber et al. proposed the squelching model that GR binding to GREs might snatch transcriptional coactivators and chromatin remodeling factors from the enhancers of TNF-induced genes and reduce their transcription of the TNF-induced genes (2). Taken together, transcriptional regulation mediated by GR is highly diversified.

IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE EFFECTS OF GCs

Endogenous GCs suppress inflammatory responses via innate immune cells and stromal cells in mouse disease models. As for the innate immune cells, GR-deficient macrophages express higher levels of inflammatory molecules, such as IL-6, TNF- α , and COX-2, through the overactivation of p38 MAPK after stimulation with LPS, leading to higher mortality (39). In contrast to the suppression of inflammatory macrophages, GCs enhance the differentiation of tissue-repair macrophages (40, 41). Galuppo et al. reported that LysM-Cre GR-deficient mice exhibited higher mortality and impaired tissue repair in a myocardial infarction model (42). In addition, Ly6C^{low} monocyte-derived macrophages in the infarcted myocardium of GR-deficient mice were reduced in number and expressed lower levels of genes related with neovascularization, collagen degradation, and scar formation. At the same time, the expression of the inflammatory chemokine CCL5 was upregulated. Thus, endogenous GCs suppress inflammatory macrophages but enhance suppressive macrophages.

Endogenous GCs suppress the maturation and function of dendritic cells (DCs). Li et al. reported that GR-deficient DCs secrete large amounts of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-12, and TNF- α , which increased IFN- γ production in NK cells and caused higher mortality of GR-deficient mice (43). Elftman et al. showed that the expression of B7 and MHC class II, the maturation markers of DCs, was attenuated by GC treatment *in*

vitro and *in vivo*, suggesting that GCs suppress DC maturation (44). Thus, GC-treated DCs failed to activate CD8 T cells in herpes simplex virus infection. On the other hand, DEX promotes the differentiation of IL-10-producing tolerogenic DCs (45). Hodrea et al. reported that DEX enhances phagocytosis of human DCs by inducing the expression of the apoptophagocytic genes, ADORA3 (adenosine receptor guiding macrophages to apoptotic cells), CD14, and MERTK (phagocytic receptor for apoptotic cells) (46). Therefore, endogenous and exogenous GCs suppress immunoenhancing function but enhance immunosuppressive function of DCs.

Like innate immune cells, GCs suppress cytokine production in stromal cells and alleviate colitis and asthma. Aranda et al. showed that intestinal epithelial cell-specific villin-Cre GRdeficient mice exacerbated DSS-induced colitis by increase of the neutrophil-recruiting chemokines, CXCL1, CXCL5, and CCL5 (47). Klassen et al. reported that OVA-induced allergic asthma in the lung was alleviated by DEX but that GR deficiency in the airway epithelium (SPC-Cre GR-deficient mice), but not in T cells nor DCs, canceled the suppressive effect of DEX (48). Gibbs et al. reported that GR represses the expression of the neutrophil-recruiting chemokine CXCL5 via nGRE in the CXCL5 promoter in an LPS-induced lung inflammation model (49). Indeed, adrenalectomized mice exhibited higher levels of CXCL5 at night, when the GC concentration is high, with a loss of circadian changes in the neutrophil accumulation in the lung. By contrast, Ince et al. reported that airway club cell-specific GRdeficient mice showed normal oscillations of LPS-induced neutrophil homing to the lung despite the loss of the circadian rhythm of CXCL5 and IL-6 (50). In addition, macrophagespecific LysM-Cre GR-deficient mice showed no diurnal change of CXCL5 and TNF- α but normal change in neutrophil count in the lung. These findings demonstrate that GCs at physiological concentrations suppress inflammation by affecting both immune cells and stromal cells. However, further studies are needed to understand how GCs control neutrophil homing to the lung. In contrast to suppression by GCs, it was also reported that DEX promoted the expression of TLR2 and soluble leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI), an antimicrobial molecule, in airway epithelial cells, suggesting that exogenous GCs contribute to immune response against bacterial infection (51-53). Interestingly, DEX-induced DUSP1 promoted IL-1 β -driven TLR2 induction by inhibiting p38- and JNK-mediated negative feedback of TLR2 expression (52, 54, 55). Furthermore, DEX-induced DUSP1 maintained IL-1β-induced IRF1 upregulation and IRF-dependent CXCL10 expression. Thus, endogenous and exogenous GCs might support the first defense of lung epithelium but suppress excessive inflammation after infection.

GCs strongly impair the cell-mediated immunity mediated by IFN- γ -producing type-1 helper T (Th1) cells, CD8 T cells, and NK cells. Blotta et al. reported that DEX suppressed IL-12 production in human monocytes and impair IFN- γ production in NK cells (56). Moreover, Quatrini et al. reported that endogenous GCs directly suppressed the immune response of NK cells (57). GR-deficient NK cells from NK cell-specific Ncr1-

Cre GR-deficient mice produced higher amounts of IFN- γ after stimulation with IL-12 and IL-18 *in vitro*. In addition, these mice exhibited increased IFN- γ production and higher lethality after the administration of LPS without any change in IL-6 or TNF- α . Furthermore, GR-deficient NK cells induced excessive inflammation and the lethality of mice with mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection, because GR deficiency decreased PD-1 expression and elevated IFN- γ production (4).

Like NK cells, endogenous GCs suppress the differentiation and IFN-γ expression of T cells. They also reduce the expression of IL-12R in T cells (58, 59). In addition, GR interacts with T-bet to inhibit its DNA-binding activity (59). Kugler et al. reported that, in a Toxoplasma infection model, T cell-specific Lck-Cre GR-deficient mice exhibited Th1 cells that had normal differentiation but also produced abnormally high levels of IFN- γ and TNF- α , leading to higher mortality (5). Thus, GCs suppress IFN-γ production by Th1 cells and thereby prevent excessive inflammation. GCs also cause dysfunctional CD8 T cells. Acharya et al. found that monocytemacrophage lineage cells in tumors expressed the enzyme for steroidogenesis, Cyp11a1. and produced local GCs (60). In addition, exhausted CD8 T cells in tumors showed higher expressions of GR. In a MC38-OVA tumor model, GR-deficient CD8 T cells expressed higher IL-2, TNF- α , and IFN- γ ; blocked tumor-growth and were less exhausted. These data suggest that GCs produced by monocyte-macrophage lineage cells promote the exhaustion of CD8 T cells and impair the immune surveillance against tumors. Taken together, endogenous GCs suppress excessive inflammation and cell-mediated immunity via innate and cytotoxic immune cells.

THE CIRCADIAN RHYTHM OF T CELL IMMUNITY IS CONTROLLED BY ENDOGENOUS OSCILLATING GCs

Although GCs strongly repress inflammatory cytokine production, past studies have reported that GCs induced the expression of receptors for IL-2, IL-6, IFN-y, GM-CSF, and TNF- α , implicating positive effects by GCs on immunity (61). In addition, Franchimont et al. reported that human blood T cells stimulated with DEX increased the transcription of genes related with cell proliferation (Mt1l, Mt1e, and Mt1b), metabolism (Sat1, Vdr), oxidation damage (Ido1), and cell surface receptors (Il1r2, Il7r) (62). IL-7 is a member of the common γ -chain cytokine family and binds to the complex of the IL-7Rα-chain and common y-chain. IL-7 supports the development, survival, and proliferation of T cells, B cells, and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) (63-65). In addition, IL-7R signaling protects T cells from the apoptosis induced by GCs (62). Indeed, DEX administration increased IL-7Ra expression in human T-acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells and augmented Bcl-2 expression by IL-7, which protected leukemia cells from apoptosis (66). Like IL-7Ra, GCs also induce CXCR4 expression in immune and stromal cells. GCs elevated the CXCR4 expression in T and B lymphocytes, granulocytes, and monocytes in mouse and human (67-71). Interestingly, Leigh et al. reported that GCs enhanced CXCR4 expression in human bronchial cells, whereas Carolina et al. showed that GCs reduced CXCR4 expression in lung endothelial progenitors, implying a complicated regulation of CXCR4 expression by GCs (72, 73). Thus, GC may enhance T cell immunity by inducing IL-7R α and CXCR4.

In general, how GCs induce IL-7Ra expression on T cells is well studied. There exists a non-coding conserved sequence 1 (CNS-1) 3.6 kb upstream of the IL-7Rα promoter, the deletion of which prevented the IL-7R α induction by GCs in mice (74, 75). The CNS-1 region contains two GRE motifs conserved between human and mouse. To investigate the biological significance of the IL-7R induction by GCs, mice harboring point mutations in the two GREs of CNS-1 (GREm mice) as well as T cell-specific CD4-Cre GR-deficient mice have been generated (7). The IL-7R expression on T cells was elevated at night and reduced at daytime in control mice, consistent with the diurnal fluctuation of GCs. Moreover, T cells in the control mice accumulated in the spleen, lymph nodes, and Peyer's patches at nighttime, but circulated more in peripheral blood at daytime. However, the diurnal fluctuation of IL-7R expression and T cell numbers in the blood and lymphoid organs was abolished in CD4-Cre GRdeficient mice and GREm mice. This oscillation seems to be regulated partly by CXCR4, because CXCR4 expression was also induced by GCs and IL-7R. Therefore, the GC-IL-7R axis controls the diurnal oscillation of T cell distribution between the blood and lymphoid organs by regulating CXCR4 expression (Figure 1).

The accumulation of T cells in the lymphoid organs by GCs and IL-7R may enhance immune responses. The infection of control mice with Listeria monocytogenes at nighttime induced antigen-specific effector CD8 T cells more efficiently than at daytime (7). By contrast, the increase of effector CD8 T cells with nighttime infection was not observed in CD4-Cre GRdeficient or GREm mice, suggesting that the diurnal surge of GCs at night enhances the CD8 T cell response against bacterial infection. Similarly, immunization with soluble antigens at night enhanced the generation of follicular helper T (Tfh) cells, germinal center B cells, and class-switched B cells, an effect lost in the mutant mice. Furthermore, previous studies reported that GR affects the differentiation and function of helper T cell subsets (76). GCs strongly suppress the function of Th1 cells but promote the function of Th2 cells. Ramirez et al. found that primed CD4 T cells pretreated with DEX in vitro produced a large amount of IL-4 and IL-13 (77). Consistently, GR-deficient CD4 T cells produced lower levels of IL-4 and IL-13 in Th2-skewed culture (7). Thus, endogenous GCs promote the differentiation and function of Th2 cells. Taken together, oscillating GCs induced by the circadian rhythm have immunoenhancing effects on immunity.

Like T cells, GCs induced by the circadian rhythm enhance B cell responses. Cain et al. reported that the diurnal induction of CXCR4 in B cells was impaired in B cell-specific mb1-Cre GR-deficient mice, which attenuated B cell homing into the bone marrow (69). Additionally, B cell numbers in the blood of GR-deficient mice lost their normal diurnal change, indicating that GCs control the diurnal change of B cell recirculation between the bone marrow and blood *via* CXCR4 induction. IgG



FIGURE 1 | Glucocorticoids in circadian rhythm and dietary restriction induce the migration of naïve and memory T cells into the spleen and bone marrow. GCs induced by circadian rhythm promote the homing of naïve T cells into secondary lymphoid organs from peripheral blood by inducing the expression of IL-7R and CXCR4. The T cell accumulation induces strong immune responses by activated CD8 T and follicular helper T (Tfh) cells against bacterial infection and soluble antigens. GCs induced by dietary restriction trigger the egress of memory CD8 T cells from secondary lymphoid organs and homing into the bone marrow. The accumulation in the bone marrow enhances the survival and response of memory CD8 T cells.

production after immunization with the T-independent antigen NP-Ficoll was impaired in GR-deficient mice, suggesting that endogenous GCs per se might promote the activation of B cells. Furthermore, it is reported that adrenergic signaling and the clock gene Bmal1 control the diurnal change of B cell recirculation between the blood and lymph nodes and that B cell retention in the lymph nodes enhances B cell responses (78, 79). Therefore, CXCR4 induction by GCs might trigger B cell homing to the lymph nodes and bone marrow and elevate the responses of B cells. Taken together, GCs induced by the circadian rhythm enhance B cell responses through the accumulation of lymphocytes in lymphoid organs and the induction of Th2 and Tfh cell differentiation (**Table 1**).

GCs UNDER DIETARY RESTRICTION (DR) PROMOTE MEMORY CD8 T CELL RESPONSE

DR contributes to longevity and reduces inflammation and cancer (80, 87). Because immune cells consume large amount

	Suppression of immune responses	Enhancement of immune responses
Exogeneous glucocorticoids	 Suppression of inflammatory cytokine production (1–3) Induction of lymphocyte apoptosis (3) Suppression of function and development of Th1, NK, and CD8 T cells (4, 5, 56–60) 	• Promotion of differentiation of Th2 and Th17 cells (7, 9, 77, 85, 86)
Circadian rhythminduced glucocorticoids	• Suppression of CXCL5 production and neutrophil recruitment in lung inflammation (49, 50)	 Induction of IL-7R and CXCR4 (7, 61, 74, 75) Homing of T cells to lymphoid organs (7) Enhancement of Immune response of CD8 T and Tfh cells (7)
Dietary restrictioninduced glucocorticoids	 Suppression of inflammatory cytokine level in serum (80) 	 Migration of memory CD8 T cells into bone marrow (8) Induction of Bcl2 expression to enhance the survival of memory CD8 T cells (8) Enhancement of anti-cancer response by memory CD8 T cells (8)
Stressinduced glucocorticoids	 Suppression of IFN-γ production in Th1 and CD8 T cells (81–84) Inhibition of CD8 T cell response against cancer and viral infection (81–84) 	Increase of IL-17 and neutrophil recruitment in sickle cell disease model (10)

References are shown in parentheses.

of energy in inflammation, M1 macrophages and effector T cells activate glycolytic and lipogenic metabolic pathways for rapid ATP synthesis (88). Thus, the undernutrition might impair the maintenance and response of leukocytes. DR reduced the mass of thymus and spleen and induced reversible lymphopenia of T, B, and NK cells (89, 90). DR also suppressed the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling via activation of AMPK and sirtuin, which impaired the function of effector T cells and M1 macrophages (91). In addition, Yang et al. reported that serum TNF- α levels decreased with elevated cortisol under calorie restriction (CR), suggesting that CR suppresses inflammation by inducing GC production (80). On the other hand, DR enhances the cytotoxicity of CD8 T cells. Di Biase et al. reported that a fasting-mimicking diet increased common lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow and tumor-infiltrating CD8 T cells in a breast cancer model (92). Therefore, DR promotes lymphopoiesis and cell-mediated immunity. In line with that study, it is reported that diet affects cell-mediated immune responses by inducing GCs. Collins et al. reported that GCs induced by DR enhanced the maintenance and function of memory CD8 T cells (8). DR triggered the migration of memory CD8 T cells from secondary lymphoid organs into the bone marrow, but this effect was abolished in adrenalectomized mice and T cellspecific Lck-Cre GR-deficient mice. In addition, the accumulation of memory CD8 T cells in the bone marrow by DR was impaired in CXCR4- and S1PR1-deficient mice, suggesting that GCs might induce the egress of memory CD8 T cells from secondary lymphoid organs via S1PR1 and drive homing to the bone marrow via CXCR4 (Figure 1). Interestingly, DR reduced mTOR signaling in memory CD8 T cells and changed gene expressions associated with heat-shock protein chaperone binding and the regulation of protein folding. It also induced amino-acid deprivation and the cellular response to rapamycin, suggesting that DR changes the metabolic state of memory CD8 T cells to quiescent. In addition, DR and DEX increased Bcl-2 expression in memory CD8 T cells. Finally, memory CD8 T cells efficiently responded to bacterial infection and tumors during DR. Together, these reports demonstrate that GCs induced by DR enhance the long-term maintenance of memory CD8 T cells, which promotes cytotoxic responses against infection and tumors.

As described above, GCs produced by monocyte-macrophage lineage cells in the tumor microenvironment suppress the function of effector CD8 T cells, whereas DR-induced GCs enhance the maintenance and response of memory CD8 T cells (8, 60). Thus, GCs seem to exert different effects on immune cells, probably by factors supplied from the microenvironment. Circadian rhythm- and DR-induced GCs trigger the homing of IL-7R-positive CD8 T cells into lymphoid organs, which supply pro-survival factors and enhance the maintenance and response of T cells. By contrast, GCs produced in the tumor microenvironment accelerate the dysfunction of IL-7R-negative effector CD8 T cells. Therefore, the supply of IL-7 from the microenvironment may determine whether the GC effects are positive or negative.

STRESS SUPPRESSES CELL-MEDIATED IMMUNITY BUT ENHANCES INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

Because stress-induced GCs suppress cell-mediated immunity, stress might exacerbate viral infection and tumor growth. Steelman et al. reported that restraint stress reduced IFN-yexpressing CD4 T and CD8 T cells and their T-bet expression following Theiler's murine encephalomyelitis virus (TMEV) infection (81). In addition, treatment with a GC antagonist alleviated the clinical manifestations induced by the restraint stress. Elftman et al. found that restraint stress impaired the expression of granzyme B and IFN-y in CD8 T cells following herpes simplex virus (HSV) infection (82). However, this effect was alleviated if the infection was in T cell-specific Lck-Cre GRdeficient mice, suggesting that stress-induced GCs suppress the production of granzyme B and IFN- γ by CD8 T cells via GR. These findings indicate that stress exacerbates the viral infection by suppressing cell-mediated immunity via GCs. Like viral infection, stress caused by chronic sleep restriction, forced swimming, and abdominal surgery promoted the progression of cancers (83, 84). Hong et al. reported the relationship between perinatal stress and cell-mediated immunity (6). The perinatal exposure of fetal mice to DEX as a stress model diminished CD8 T cell response against tumors in adulthood. Thus, exposure to stress-induced GCs during pregnancy appear to cause dysfunction of anti-tumor response by CD8 T cells in offspring after birth. Overall, stress-induced GCs might impair cellmediated immunity over the lifetime.

Although stress suppresses cell-mediated immunity, it also triggers chronic inflammation and autoimmunity. Qiu et al. reported that restraint stress enhanced tissue destruction in a DNBS-induced colitis model (93). The colitis was ameliorated in CD4-deficient mice, suggesting that helper T cell function is critical for the stress-induced tissue destruction. Arima et al. reported that wet bedding and restraint stress triggered upper gastrointestinal bleeding in mice transferred with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) peptide-primed pathogenic T cells (94). Because Th17 cells play a critical role in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the stress might enhance Th17 cell function. de Castro Kroner et al. reported that GCs elevated RAR-related orphan receptor C (RORC) expression by inhibiting IL-2 secretion in human T cells (85). In addition, GCs induced the expression of defensins and CCL20. In mouse T cells, GCs promoted the IL-23dependent differentiation of Th17 cells in vitro but not if IL-6 and TGF- β were also present (9). In addition, Marchetti et al. reported that transgenic (Tg) mice expressing GR antisense RNA exhibited less severe neurological inflammation (86). Thus, GCs have the potential to enhance the function of Th17 cells. Furthermore, Xu et al. showed that restraint stress increased serum IL-17 and aged neutrophils, which exacerbated vasoocclusive episodes via microbiota in a sickle cell disease model (10). Treatment with metyrapone, an inhibitor of GC production, alleviated the leukocyte recruitment and

inflammation under stress. Overall, stress-induced GCs aggravate inflammation by promoting the differentiation and function of Th17 cells *via* microbiota.

Although GCs exert some anti-inflammatory effects in neutrophils, such as reduction in COX-2 and iNOS expression and superoxide release (95–97), GCs also promote the development and function of neutrophils. First, GCs enhanced the development and proliferation of neutrophils in bone marrow and induced neutrophilia in peripheral blood (98, 99). Second, GCs promote survival of neutrophils. GCs inhibited spontaneous apoptosis of human neutrophils *in vitro* (100, 101). Chang et al. reported that DEX treatment reduced the expression of Fas and caspase-8 in neutrophils (102). Furthermore, Bouterse et al. found that the expression of a pro-apoptotic factor Bak was reduced in DEX-treated neutrophils (103). Third, GCs elevated the expression of the IL-1R in neutrophils and enhanced IL-1 β triggered inflammation (104). Thus, GCs might augment tissue inflammation by enhancing the functions of neutrophils.

Stress-induced GCs control inflammation also via Treg cells. Harpaz et al. found that chronic variable stress reduced the number of Treg cells and increased the susceptibility to EAE (105). In addition, the administration of mifepristone, an antagonist of GCs, blocked the stress-induced exacerbation of EAE. On the other hand, it is reported that GCs also promote Treg cell function. GC stimulation upregulates the expression of Foxp3, IL-10, TGF-β, and CTLA4 (106–108). Rocamora-Reverte et al. reported that GR-deficient Treg cells failed to suppress tissue damage in a colitis model in Treg-specific Foxp3-Cre GRdeficient mice (109). Furthermore, Engler et al. reported that the onset of EAE was delayed in pregnant mice, because progesterone binding to GR increased the number of Treg cells (110). Treatment with a GC antagonist and T cell-specific Lck-Cre GR-deletion blocked the activation of Treg cells. However, it remains unknown whether stress enhances inflammation by blocking Treg cells even though GCs enhance Treg function. One possibility is that an unknown factor might block the GCenhanced Treg function to promote inflammation under stress. Thus, because stress-induced GCs may affect both Th17 and Treg cells, it remains unclear whether GCs enhance inflammation via Th17 cells or suppress it via Treg cells. Taken together, stressinduced GCs seem to have pleiotropic effects either to attenuate cell-mediated immunity or to aggravate inflammation, depending on the cell types and the disease models (Table 1).

GC RESISTANCE IN INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

GCs are well used for therapy of allergic and autoimmune diseases. GCs mitigate the symptoms in psoriasis and multiple sclerosis, whereas some patients with ulcerative colitis (UC) and asthma are refractory to treatment with GCs (111, 112). However, the mechanism of this GC resistance is unclear. One explanation is that GCs might promote survival of immune cells and enhance immune responses. As explained above, GCs have the potential to augment immune responses of Th2 cells, Th17

cells, and neutrophils, which exacerbates tissue damage. Second, some immune cells escape from the suppressive effects of GCs by reducing the amounts of GCs and GR in the cytoplasm. Ramesh et al. reported that human Th17 cells expressed multiple drug resistance 1 (MDR1), a membrane efflux pump with broad substrate specificity, which reduces the sensitivity to GCs (113). Paugh et al. found that caspase-1 activated by NLRP3 inflammasome cleaved GR (114). Third, some inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-4, and TNF- α canceled the suppressive effects of GCs (115-119). These cytokines diminish GC-induced apoptosis of immune cells and blunt the repression of inflammatory cytokine production by GCs. Thus, both the enhancing effects of GCs and the cancelation of GC effects might contribute to the GC resistance in the treatment of inflammatory diseases. Manipulation of these mechanisms will facilitate to overcome the GC resistance and contribute to cure allergic and autoimmune diseases.

CONCLUSIONS

This review summarizes the immunoenhancing and immunosuppressive effects of GCs (Table 1). Exogeneous and stress-induced GCs suppress the IFN-y production and exhaustion of CD8 T cells, whereas GCs under circadian rhythm or DR enhance the maintenance and activation of naïve and memory CD8 T cells. In addition, GCs strongly suppress the function of Th1 cells and enhance the differentiation of Th2 and Th17 cells. Thus, the effects of GCs on immunity can be positive or negative depending on the tissue and cell type. The immunoenhancing effects of GCs possibly depend on the microenvironment because GCs trigger T cell homing to lymphoid organs, which supply pro-survival cytokines. Further studies are required to understand how GCs control the interaction between immune cells and the microenvironment. Moreover, the effects of GCs might depend on different GR-target genes in different cell types. To address this question, it is necessary to investigate GR-induced changes in gene transcription, DNA binding, and chromatin accessibility in immune and stromal cells. Revealing the pleiotropic effects of GCs will help understand how GCs trigger immune dysfunction and chronic inflammation and maximize the therapeutic effects of GCs in refractory allergies and autoimmune diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AE and KI modified, revised, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers 20K21525 (KI) and 20K16280 (AS). AS was supported by the

Shimizu Foundation for Immunology and Neuroscience grant for 2016, by a grant from the Takeda Science Foundation, and by a grant from the Ichiro Kanehara Foundation for the Promotion of Medical Sciences and Medical care for 2018. AE was supported by the PhD Scholarship (Kibou Project) from Japanese Society

REFERENCES

- Cain DW, Cidlowski JA. Immune Regulation by Glucocorticoids. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17:233–47. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.1
- Gerber AN, Newton R, Sasse SK. Repression of Transcription by the Glucocorticoid Receptor: A Parsimonious Model for the Genomics Era. *J Biol Chem* (2021) 296:100687. doi: 10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100687
- Herold MJ, McPherson KG, Reichardt HM. Glucocorticoids in T Cell Apoptosis and Function. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2006) 63:60–72. doi: 10.1007/ s00018-005-5390-y
- Quatrini L, Wieduwild E, Escaliere B, Filtjens J, Chasson L, Laprie C, et al. Endogenous Glucocorticoids Control Host Resistance to Viral Infection Through the Tissue-Specific Regulation of PD-1 Expression on NK Cells. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19:954–62. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0185-0
- Kugler DG, Mittelstadt PR, Ashwell JD, Sher A, Jankovic D. CD4⁺ T Cells Are Trigger and Target of the Glucocorticoid Response That Prevents Lethal Immunopathology in Toxoplasma Infection. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:1919–27. doi: 10.1084/jem.20122300
- Hong JY, Lim J, Carvalho F, Cho JY, Vaidyanathan B, Yu S, et al. Medzhitov. Long-Term Programming of CD8 T Cell Immunity by Perinatal Exposure to Glucocorticoids. *Cell* (2020) 180:847–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.018
- Shimba A, Cui GW, Tani-ichi S, Ogawa M, Abe S, Okazaki F, et al. Glucocorticoids Drive Diurnal Oscillations in T Cell Distribution and Responses by Inducing Interleukin-7 Receptor and CXCR4. *Immunity* (2018) 48:286–98. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.01.004
- Collins N, Han SJ, Enamorado M, Link VM, Huang B, Moseman EA, et al. The Bone Marrow Protects and Optimizes Immunological Memory During Dietary Restriction. *Cell* (2019) 178:1088–101. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019. 07.049
- Zhao J, Lloyd CM, Noble A. Th17 Responses in Chronic Allergic Airway Inflammation Abrogate Regulatory T-Cell-Mediated Tolerance and Contribute to Airway Remodeling. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:335–46. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.76
- Xu CL, Lee SK, Zhang DC, Frenette PS. The Gut Microbiome Regulates Psychological-Stress-Induced Inflammation. *Immunity* (2020) 53:417–28. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.06.025
- Fisk AS, Tam SKE, Brown LA, Vyazovskiy VV, Bannerman DM, Peirson SN. Light and Cognition: Roles for Circadian Rhythms, Sleep, and Arousal. *Front Neurol* (2018) 9:56. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00056
- Gjerstad JK, Lightman SL, Spiga F. Role of Glucocorticoid Negative Feedback in the Regulation of HPA Axis Pulsatility. *Stress* (2018) 21:403– 16. doi: 10.1080/10253890.2018.1470238
- Dunn AJ, Swiergiel AH. The Role of Corticotropin-Releasing Factor and Noradrenaline in Stress-Related Responses, and the Inter-Relationships Between the Two Systems. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2008) 583:186–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.11.069
- McCall JG, Al-Hasani R, Siuda ER, Hong DY, Norris AJ, Ford CP, et al. CRH Engagement of the Locus Coeruleus Noradrenergic System Mediates Stress-Induced Anxiety. *Neuron* (2015) 87:605–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015. 07.002
- Besedovsky L, Born LJ, Lange T. Blockade of Mineralocorticoid Receptors Enhances Naive T-Helper Cell Counts During Early Sleep in Humans. *Brain Behav Immun* (2012) 26:1116–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.07.016
- Perogamvros I, Ray DW, Trainer PJ. Regulation of Cortisol Bioavailability-Effects on Hormone Measurement and Action. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2012) 8:717–27. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2012.134
- 17. Melin J, Hartung N, Parra-Guillen ZP, Whitaker MJ, Ross RJ, Kloft C. The Circadian Rhythm of Corticosteroid-Binding Globulin has Little Impact on

for Immunology. KI was supported by a grant from the Naito Foundation and by a grant from the Uehara Memorial Foundation. It was also supported by the Joint Usage Research Center program of the Institute for Frontier Life and Medical Sciences, Kyoto University.

Cortisol Exposure After Hydrocortisone Dosing. *Clin Endocrinol* (2019) 91:33–40. doi: 10.1111/cen.13969

- Nanus DE, Filer AD, Hughes B, Fisher BA, Taylor PC, Stewart PM, et al. TNFα Regulates Cortisol Metabolism *In Vivo* in Patients With Inflammatory Arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2015) 74:464–9. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2013-203926
- Hardy R, Rabbitt EH, Filer A, Emery P, Hewison M, Stewart PM, et al. Local and Systemic Glucocorticoid Metabolism in Inflammatory Arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2008) 67:1204–10. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.090662
- Stegk JP, Ebert B, Martin HJ, Maser E. Expression Profiles of Human 11β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenases Type 1 and Type 2 in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2009) 25:104–8. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2008.10.030
- Sagmeister MS, Taylor AE, Fenton A, Wall NA, Chanouzas D, Nightingale PG, et al. Glucocorticoid Activation by 11β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase Enzymes in Relation to Inflammation and Glycaemic Control in Chronic Kidney Disease: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Clin Endocrinol* (2019) 90:241–9. doi: 10.1111/cen.13889
- Hardy RS, Raza K, Cooper MS. Therapeutic Glucocorticoids: Mechanisms of Actions in Rheumatic Diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2020) 16:133–44. doi: 10.1038/s41584-020-0371-y
- Vandevyver S, Dejager L, Libert C. Comprehensive Overview of the Structure and Regulation of the Glucocorticoid Receptor. *Endocr Rev* (2014) 35:671–93. doi: 10.1210/er.2014-1010
- Ratman D, Vanden Berghe W, Dejager L, Libert C, Tavernier J, Beck IM, et al. How Glucocorticoid Receptors Modulate the Activity of Other Transcription Factors: A Scope Beyond Tethering. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2013) 380:41–54. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2012.12.014
- Li MD. Yang XY. A Retrospective on Nuclear Receptor Regulation of Inflammation: Lessons From GR and PPARs. *PPPAR Res* (2011) 2011:742785. doi: 10.1155/2011/742785
- Oh KS, Patel H, Gottschalk RA, Lee WS, Baek S, Fraser IDC, et al. Sung. Anti-Inflammatory Chromatinscape Suggests Alternative Mechanisms of Glucocorticoid Receptor Action. *Immunity* (2017) 47:298–309. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2017.07.012
- Surjit M, Ganti KP, Mukherji A, Ye T, Hua G, Metzger D, et al. Widespread Negative Response Elements Mediate Direct Repression by Agonist-Liganded Glucocorticoid Receptor. *Cell* (2011) 145:224–41. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2011.03.027
- Shembade N, Harhaj EW. Regulation of NF-κB Signaling by the A20 Deubiquitinase. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2012) 9:123–30. doi: 10.1038/ cmi.2011.59
- Abraham SM, Clark AR. Dual-Specificity Phosphatase 1: A Critical Regulator of Innate Immune Responses. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2006) 34:1018–23. doi: 10.1042/bst0341018
- Kassel O, Sancono A, Kratzschmar J, Kreft B, Stassen M, Cato ACB. Glucocorticoids Inhibit MAP Kinase via Increased Expression and Decreased Degradation of MKP-1. EMBO J (2001) 20:7108–16. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.24.7108
- Cannarile L, Delfino DV, Adorisio S, Riccardi C, Ayroldi E. Implicating the Role of GILZ in Glucocorticoid Modulation of T-Cell Activation. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1823. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01823
- Ayroldi E, Migliorati G, Bruscoli S, Marchetti C, Zollo O, Cannarile L, et al. Modulation of T-Cell Activation by the Glucocorticoid-Induced Leucine Zipper Factor *via* Inhibition of Nuclear Factor κB. *Blood* (2001) 98:743–53. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.3.743
- Ronchetti S, Migliorati G, Riccardi C. GILZ as a Mediator of the Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Glucocorticoids. *Front Endocrinol* (2015) 6:170. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2015.00170

- 34. Vollmer TR, Stockhausen A, Zhang JZ. Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Mapracorat, a Novel Selective Glucocorticoid Receptor Agonist, Is Partially Mediated by MAP Kinase Phosphatase-1 (MKP-1). J Biol Chem (2012) 287:35212–21. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.400671
- 35. Kadiyala V, Sasse SK, Altonsy MO, Berman R, Chu HW, Phang TL, et al. Cistrome-Based Cooperation Between Airway Epithelial Glucocorticoid Receptor and NF-κB Orchestrates Anti-Inflammatory Effects. J Biol Chem (2016) 291:12673–87. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.721217
- 36. Rao NAS, McCalman MT, Moulos P, Francoijs KJ, Chatziioannou A, Kolisis FN, et al. Coactivation of GR and NFKB Alters the Repertoire of Their Binding Sites and Target Genes. *Genome Res* (2011) 21:1404–16. doi: 10.1101/gr.118042.110
- Schiller BJ, Chodankar R, Watson LC, Stallcup MR, Yamamoto KR. Glucocorticoid Receptor Binds Half Sites as a Monomer and Regulates Specific Target Genes. *Genome Biol* (2014) 15:418. doi: 10.1186/s13059-014-0418-y
- Sasse SK, Gruca M, Allen MA, Kadiyala V, Song TY, Gally F, et al. Nascent Transcript Analysis of Glucocorticoid Crosstalk With TNF Defines Primary and Cooperative Inflammatory Repression. *Genome Res* (2019) 29:1753–65. doi: 10.1101/gr.248187.119
- Bhattacharyya S, Brown DE, Brewer JA, Vogt SK, Muglia LJ. Macrophage Glucocorticoid Receptors Regulate Toll-Like Receptor 4-Mediated Inflammatory Responses by Selective Inhibition of P38 MAP Kinase. *Blood* (2007) 109:4313–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-048215
- Desgeorges T, Caratti G, Mounier R, Tuckermann J, Chazaud B. Glucocorticoids Shape Macrophage Phenotype for Tissue Repair. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1591. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01591
- Arora S, Dev K, Agarwal B, Das P, Syed MA. Macrophages: Their Role, Activation and Polarization in Pulmonary Diseases. *Immunobiology* (2018) 223:383–96. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2017.11.001
- 42. Galuppo P, Vettorazzi S, Hovelmann J, Scholz CJ, Tuckermann JP, Bauersachs J, et al. The Glucocorticoid Receptor in Monocyte-Derived Macrophages Is Critical for Cardiac Infarct Repair and Remodeling. *FASEB J* (2017) 31:5122–32. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700317R
- Li CYC, Munitic I, Mittelstadt PR, Castro E, Ashwell JD. Suppression of Dendritic Cell-Derived IL-12 by Endogenous Glucocorticoids Is Protective in LPS-Induced Sepsis. *PloS Biol* (2015) 13:e1002269. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pbio.1002269
- Elftman MD, Norbury CC, Bonneau RH, Truckenmiller ME. Corticosterone Impairs Dendritic Cell Maturation and Function. *Immunology* (2007) 122:279–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02637.x
- 45. Chamorro S, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Unger WWJ, Fernandes RJ, Bruijns SCM, Laban S, et al. TLR Triggering on Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells Results in TLR2 Up-Regulation and a Reduced Proinflammatory Immune Program. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:2984–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801155
- 46. Hodrea J, Majai G, Doro Z, Zahuczky G, Pap A, Rajnavolgyi E, et al. The Glucocorticoid Dexamethasone Programs Human Dendritic Cells for Enhanced Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils and Inflammatory Response. J Leukoc Biol (2012) 91:127–36. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0511243
- Muzzi C, Watanabe N, Twomey E, Meers GK, Reichardt HM, Bohnenberger H, et al. The Glucocorticoid Receptor in Intestinal Epithelial Cells Alleviates Colitis and Associated Colorectal Cancer in Mice. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2021) 11:1505–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.12.006
- Klassen C, Karabinskaya A, Dejager L, Vettorazzi S, Van Moorleghem J, Luhder F, et al. Airway Epithelial Cells Are Crucial Targets of Glucocorticoids in a Mouse Model of Allergic Asthma. *J Immunol* (2017) 199:48–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601691
- Gibbs J, Ince L, Matthews L, Mei JJ, Bell T, Yang N, et al. An Epithelial Circadian Clock Controls Pulmonary Inflammation and Glucocorticoid Action. Nat Med (2014) 20:919–26. doi: 10.1038/nm.3599
- Ince LM, Zhang ZG, Beesley S, Vonslow RM, Saer B, Matthews LC, et al. Circadian Variation in Pulmonary Inflammatory Responses Is Independent of Rhythmic Glucocorticoid Signaling in Airway Epithelial Cells. *FASEB J* (2019) 33:126–39. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800026RR
- Silverstein R, Johnson DC. Endogenous Versus Exogenous Glucocorticoid Responses to Experimental Bacterial Sepsis. J Leukoc Biol (2003) 73:417–27. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0702379

- 52. Imasato A, Desbois-Mouthon C, Han JH, Kai H, Cato ACB, Akira S, et al. Inhibition of P38 MAPK by Glucocorticoids *via* Induction of MAPK Phosphatase-1 Enhances Nontypeable Haemophilus Influenzae-Induced Expression of Toll-Like Receptor 2. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:47444–50. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208140200
- Abbinantenissen JM, Simpson LG, Leikauf GD. Corticosteroids Increase Secretory Leucocyte Protease Inhibitor Transcript Levels in Airway Epitherial Cells. Am J Physiol (1995) 268:601-6. doi: 10.1152/ ajplung.1995.268.4.L601
- 54. Sakai A, Han JH, Cato ACB, Akira S, Li JD. Glucocorticoids Synergize With IL-1β to Induce TLR2 Expression via MAP Kinase Phosphatase-1-Dependent Dual Inhibition of MAPK JNK and P38 in Epithelial Cells. BMC Mol Biol (2004) 5:2. doi: 10.1186/14712199-5-2
- 55. Shah S, King EM, Mostafa MM, Altonsy MO, Newton R. DUSP1 Maintains IRF1 and Leads to Increased Expression of IRF1-Dependent Genes: A Mechanism Promoting Glucocorticoid Insensitivity. J Biol Chem (2016) 291:21802–16. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.728964
- Blotta MH, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Corticosteroids Inhibit IL-12 Production in Human Monocytes and Enhance Their Capacity to Induce IL-4 Synthesis in CD4⁺ Lymphocytes. J Immunol (1997) 158:5589–95.
- 57. Quatrini L, Wieduwild E, Guia S, Bernat C, Glaichenhaus N, Vivier E, et al. Host Resistance to Endotoxic Shock Requires the Neuroendocrine Regulation of Group 1 Innate Lymphoid Cells. J Exp Med (2017) 214:3531–41. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171048
- Franchimont D, Galon J, Gadina M, Visconti R, Zhou YJ, Aringer M, et al. Inhibition of Th1 Immune Response by Glucocorticoids, Dexamethasone Selectively Inhibits IL-12-Induced Stat4 Phosphorylation in T Lymphocytes. *J Immunol* (2000) 164:1768–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.4.1768
- Liberman AC, Refojo D, Druker J, Toscano M, Rein T, Holsboer F, et al. The Activated Glucocorticoid Receptor Inhibits the Transcription Factor T-Bet by Direct Protein-Protein Interaction. *FASEB J* (2007) 21:1177–88. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-7452com
- 60. Acharya N, Madi A, Zhang HY, Klapholz M, Escobar G, Dulberg S, et al. Endogenous Glucocorticoid Signaling Regulates CD8⁺ T Cell Differentiation and Development of Dysfunction in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Immunity* (2020) 53:658–71. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.08.005
- Wiegers GJ, Reul J. Induction of Cytokine Receptors by Glucocorticoids: Functional and Pathological Significance. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (1998) 19:317–21. doi: 10.1016/s0165-6147(98)01229-2
- Franchimont D, Galon J, Vacchio MS, Fan S, Visconti R, Frucht DM. Positive Effects of Glucocorticoids on T Cell Function by Up-Regulation of IL-7 Receptor α. J Immunol (2002) 168:2212–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 168.5.2212
- Mazzucchelli R, Durum SK. Interleukin-7 Receptor Expression: Intelligent Design. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:144–54. doi: 10.1038/nri2023
- 64. Tani-ichi S, Shimba A, Wagatsuma K, Miyachi H, Kitano S, Imai K, et al. Interleukin-7 Receptor Controls Development and Maturation of Late Stages of Thymocyte Subpopulations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2013) 110:612–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219242110
- Diefenbach A, Colonna M, Koyasu S. Development, Differentiation, and Diversity of Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity* (2014) 41:354–65. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.005
- Meyer LK, Huang BJ, Delgado-Martin C, Roy RP, Hechmer A, Wandler AM, et al. Glucocorticoids Paradoxically Facilitate Steroid Resistance in T Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemias and Thymocytes. J Clin Invest (2020) 130:863–76. doi: 10.1172/jci130189
- Dimitrov S, Benedict C, Heutling D, Westermann J, Born J, Lange T. Cortisol and Epinephrine Control Opposing Circadian Rhythms in T Cell Subsets. *Blood* (2009) 113:5134–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-11-190769
- Besedovsky L, Born J, Lange T. Endogenous Glucocorticoid Receptor Signaling Drives Rhythmic Changes in Human T-Cell Subset Numbers and the Expression of the Chemokine Receptor CXCR4. FASEB J (2014) 28:67–75. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-237958
- Cain DW, Bortner CD, Diaz-Jimenez D, Petrillo MG, Gruver-Yates A, Cidlowski JA. Murine Glucocorticoid Receptors Orchestrate B Cell Migration Selectively Between Bone Marrow and Blood. *J Immunol* (2020) 205:619–29. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1901135

- Nagase H, Miyamasu M, Yamaguchi M, Kawasaki H, Ohta K, Yamamoto K, et al. Glucocorticoids Preferentially Upregulate Functional CXCR4 Expression in Eosinophils. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2000) 106:1132–9. doi: 10.1067/mai.2000.110923
- Heideveld E, Hampton-O'Neil LA, Cross SJ, van Alphen FPJ, van den Biggerlaar M, Toye AM, et al. Glucocorticoids Induce Differentiation of Monocytes Towards Macrophages That Share Functional and Phenotypical Aspects With Erythroblastic Island Macrophages. *Haematological* (2018) 103:395–405. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.179341
- 72. Leigh R, Mostafa MM, King EM, CRider CF, Shah S, Dumonceaux C, et al. An Inhaled Dose of Budesonide Induces Genes Involved in Transcription and Signaling in the Human Airways: Enhancement of Anti- and Proinflammatory Effector Genes. *Pharmacol Res Perspectl* (2016) 4:e00243. doi: 10.1002/prp2.243
- 73. Carolina E, Kato T, Khanh VC, Moriguchi K, Yamashita T, Takeuchi K, et al. Glucocorticoid Impaired the Wound Healing Ability of Endothelial Progenitor Cells by Reducing the Expression of CXCR4 in the PGE2 Pathway. *Front Med* (2018) 5:276. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00276
- Lee HC, Shibata H, Ogawa S, Maki K, Ikuta K. Transcriptional Regulation of the Mouse IL-7 Receptor α Promoter by Glucocorticoid Receptor. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:7800–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.7800
- 75. Abe A, Tani-ichi S, Shitara S, Cui G, Yamada H, Miyachi H, et al. An Enhancer of the IL-7 Receptor α-Chain Locus Controls IL-7 Receptor Expression and Maintenance of Peripheral T Cells. J Immunol (2015) 195:3129–38. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302447
- Elenkov IJ. Glucocorticoids and the Th1/Th2 Balance. Ann NY Acad Sci (2004) 1024:138–46. doi: 10.1196/annals.1321.010
- Ramirez F, Fowell DJ, Puklavec M, Simmonds S, Mason D. Glucocorticoids Promote a Th2 Cytokine Response by CD4⁺ T Cells In Vitro. J Immunol (1996) 156:2406–12.
- Suzuki K, Hayano Y, Nakai A, Furuta F, Noda M. Adrenergic Control of the Adaptive Immune Response by Diurnal Lymphocyte Recirculation Through Lymph Nodes. J Exp Med (2016) 213:2567–74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160723
- Druzd D, Matveeva O, Ince L, Harrison U, He WY, Schmal C, et al. Lymphocyte Circadian Clocks Control Lymph Node Trafficking and Adaptive Immune Responses. *Immunity* (2017) 46:120–32. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.12.011
- Yang L, Licastro D, Cava E, Veronese N, Spelta F, Rizza W, et al. Long-Term Calorie Restriction Enhances Cellular Quality-Control Processes in Human Skeletal Muscle. *Cell Rep* (2016) 14:422–8. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.12.042
- Steelman AJ, Dean DD, Young CR, Smith R, Prentice TW, Meagher MW, et al. Restraint Stress Modulates Virus Specific Adaptive Immunity During Acute Theiler's Virus Infection. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23:830–43. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.03.010
- Elftman MD, Hunzeker JT, Mellinger JC, Bonneau RH, Norbury CC, Truckenmiller ME. Stress-Induced Glucocorticoids at the Eliest Stages of Herpes Simplex Virus-1 Infection Suppress Subsequent Antiviral Immunity, Implicating Impaired Dendritic Cell Function. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:1867– 75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902469
- De Lorenzo BHP, Brito R, Leal TP, Garcia NP, dos Santos RMM, Alvares-Saraiva AM, et al. Chronic Sleep Restriction Impairs the Antitumor Immune Response in Mice. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2018) 25:59–67. doi: 10.1159/ 000490352
- Ben-Eliyahu S, Page GG, Yirmiya R, Shakhar G. Evidence That Stress and Surgical Interventions Promote Tumor Development by Suppressing Natural Killer Cell Activity. *Int J Cancer* (1999) 80:880–8. doi: 10.1002/ (sici)1097-0215(19990315)80:6<880::aid-ijc14>3.0.co;2-y
- de Castro Kroner J, Knoke K, Kofler DM, Steiger J, Fabri M. Glucocorticoids Promote Intrinsic Human T_H17 Differentiation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2018) 142:1669–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.07.019
- 86. Marchetti B, Morale MC, Testa N, Tirolo C, Caniglia S, Amor S, et al. Stress, the Immune System and Vulnerability to Degenerative Disorders of the Central Nervous System in Transgenic Mice Expressing Glucocorticoid Receptor Antisense RNA. *Brain Res Rev* (2001) 37:259–72. doi: 10.1016/ s0165-0173(01)00130-8
- Pistollato F, Forbes-Hernandez TY, Iglesias RC, Ruiz R, Elexpuru-Zabaleta M, Dominguez I, et al. Effects of Caloric Restriction on Immunosurveillance, Microbiota and Cancer Cell Phenotype: Possible Implications for Cancer

Treatment. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 30:S1104-579X(20)30255-8. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.11.017

- Childs CE, Calder PC, Miles EA. Diet and Immune Function. Nutrients (2019) 11:1933. doi: 10.3390/nu11081933
- Xu DL, Hu XK, Tian YF. Effect of Temperature and Food Restriction on Immune Function in Striped Hamsters (*Cricetulus Barabensis*). J Exp Biol (2017) 220:2187–95. doi: 10.1242/jeb.153601
- Contreras NA, Fontana L, Tosti V, Nikolich-Zugich J. Calorie Restriction Induces Reversible Lymphopenia and Lymphoid Organ Atrophy Due to Cell Redistribution. *Geroscience* (2018) 40:279–91. doi: 10.1007/s11357-018-0022-2
- Okawa T, Nagai M, Hase K. Dietary Intervention Impacts Immune Cell Functions and Dynamics by Inducing Metabolic Rewiring. *Front Immunol* (2021) 11:623989. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.623989
- Di Biase S, Lee C, Brandhorst S, Manes B, Buono R, Cheng CW, et al. Fasting-Mimicking Diet Reduces HO-1 to Promote T Cell-Mediated Tumor Cytotoxicity. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 30:136–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.005
- Qiu BS, Vallance BA, Blennerhassett PA, Collins SM. The Role of CD4⁺ Lymphocytes in the Susceptibility of Mice to Stress-Induced Reactivation of Experimental Colitis. *Nat Med* (1999) 5:1178–82. doi: 10.1038/13503
- 94. Arima Y, Ohki T, Nishikawa N, Higuchi K, Ota M, Tanaka Y, et al. Brain Micro-Inflammation at Specific Vessels Dysregulates Organ-Homeostasis via the Activation of a New Neural Circuit. *Elife* (2017) 6:e25517. doi: 10.7554/eLife.25517
- Ignacchiti MDC, Sesti-Costa R, Marchi LF, Chedraoui-Silva S, Mantovani B. Effect of Academic Psychological Stress in Post-Graduate Students: The Modulatory Role of Cortisol on Superoxide Release by Neutrophils. *Stress* (2011) 14:290–300. doi: 10.3109/10253890.2010.545459
- 96. Satoh S, Oishi K, Iwagaki A, Senba M, Akaike T, Akiyama M, et al. Dexamethasone Impairs Pulmonary Defence Against *Pseudomonas Aeruginosa* Through Suppressing iNOS Gene Expression and Peroxynitrite Production in Mice. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2001) 126:266–73. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2001.01656.x
- Maloney CG, Kutchera WA, Albertine KH, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Zimmerman GA. Inflammatory Agonists Induce Cyclooxygenase Type 2 Expression by Human Neutrophils. J Immunol (1998) 160:1402–10.
- Trottier MD, Newsted MM, King LE, Fraker PJ. Natural Glucocorticoids Induce Expansion of All Developmental Stages of Murine Bone Marrow Granulocytes Without Inhibiting Function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105:2028–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712003105
- 99. Mishler JM, Emerson PM. Development of Neutrophilia by Serially Increasing Doses of Dexamethasone. Br J Haematol (1977) 36:249–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1977.tb00646.x
- 100. Saffar AS, Dragon S, Ezzati P, Shan L, Gounni AS. Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and P38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Regulate Induction of Mcl-1 and Survival in Glucocorticoid-Treated Human Neutrophils. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2008) 121:492–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.10.003
- Cox G. Glucocorticoid Treatment Inhibits Apoptosis in Human Neutrophils. Separation of Survival and Activation Outcomes. J Immunol (1995) 154:14719–4725.
- 102. Chang LC, Madsen SA, Toelboell T, Weber PSD, Burton JL. Effects of Glucocorticoids on Fas Gene Expression in Bovine Blood Neutrophils. *J Endocrinol* (2004) 183:569–83. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.05822
- 103. Madsen-Bouterse SA, Rosa GJM, Burton JL. Glucocorticoid Modulation of Bd-2 Family Members A1 and Bak During Delayed Spontaneous Apoptosis of Bovine Blood Neutrophils. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147:3826–34. doi: 10.1210/en.2006-0142
- 104. Shieh JH, Peterson RHF, Moore MAS. Cytokines and Dexamethasone Modulation of IL-1 Receptors on Human Neutrophils In Vitro. J Immunol (1993) 150:3515–24.
- 105. Harpaz I, Abutbul S, Nemirovsky A, Gal R, Cohen H, Monsonego A. Chronic Exposure to Stress Predisposes to Higher Autoimmune Susceptibility in C57BL/6 Mice: Glucocorticoids as a Double-Edged Sword. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:758–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242613
- 106. Karagiannidis C, Akdis M, Holopainen P, Woolley NJ, Hense G, Ruckert B, et al. Glucocorticoids Upregulate FOXP3 Expression and Regulatory T Cells in Asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2004) 114:1425–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2004.07.014
- 107. Ugor E, Prenek L, Pap R, Berta G, Ernszt D, Najbauer J, et al. Glucocorticoid Hormone Treatment Enhances the Cytokine Production of Regulatory T

Cells by Upregulation of Foxp3 Expression. *Immunobiology* (2018) 223:422–31. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2017.10.010

- 108. Chen X, Murakami T, Oppenheim JJ, Howard DMZ. Differential Response of Murine CD4⁺CD25⁺ and CD4⁺CD25⁻ T Cells to Dexamethasone-Induced Cell Death. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34:859–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.200324506
- 109. Rocamora-Reverte L, Tuzlak S, von Raffay L, Tisch M, Fiegl H, Drach M, et al. Glucocorticoid Receptor-Deficient Foxp3⁺ Regulatory T Cells Fail to Control Experimental Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:47. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.0047
- 110. Engler JB, Kursawe N, Solano ME, Patas K, Wehrmann S, Heckmann N, et al. Glucocorticoid Receptor in T Cells Mediates Protection From Autoimmunity in Pregnancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114:181–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1617115114
- Banuelos J, Cao Y, Shin SC, Lu NZ. Immunopathology Alters Th17 Cell Glucocorticoid Sensitivity. *Allergy* (2017) 72:331–41. doi: 10.1111/all.13051
- Leung DYM, Bloom JW. Update on Glucocorticoid Action and Resistance. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2003) 111:3–23. doi: 10.1067/mai.2003.97
- 113. Ramesh R, Kozhaya L, McKevitt K, Djuretic IM, Carlson TJ, Quintero MA, et al. Pro-Inflammatory Human Th17 Cells Selectively Express P-Glycoprotein and Are Refractory to Glucocorticoids. J Exp Med (2014) 211:89–104. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130301
- 114. Paugh SW, Bonten EJ, Savic D, Ramsey LB, Thierfelder WE, Gurung P, et al. NALP3 Inflammasome Upregulation and CASP1 Cleavage of the Glucocorticoid Receptor Cause Glucocorticoid Resistance in Leukemia Cells. Nat Genet (2015) 47:607–14. doi: 10.1038/ng.3283
- 115. Britt RD, Thompson MA, Sasse S, Pabelick CM, Gerber AN, Prakash YS. Th1 Cytokines TNF-α and IFN-γ Promote Corticosteroid Resistance in Developing Human Airway Smooth Muscle. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2019) 316:L71–81. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00547.2017
- 116. Chambers ES, Nanzer AM, Pfeffer PE, Richards DF, Timms PM, Martineau AR, et al. Distinct Endotypes of Steroid-Resistant Asthma Characterized by $IL-17A^{high}$ and $IFN-\gamma^{High}$ Immunophenotypes: Potential Benefits of

Calcitriol. J Allergy Clim Immunol (2015) 136:628-37. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2015.01.026

- 117. Nguyen TH, Maltby S, Tay HL, Eyers F, Foster PS, Yang M. Identification of IFN-γ and IL-27 as Critical Regulators of Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Induced Exacerbation of Allergic Airways Disease in a Mouse Model. *J Immunol* (2018) 200:237–47. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601950
- 118. Pazdrak K, Straub C, Maroto R, Stafford S, White WI, Calhoun WJ, et al. Cytokine-Induced Glucocorticoid Resistance From Eosinophil Activation: Protein Phosphatase 5 Modulation of Glucocorticoid Receptor Phosphorylation and Signaling. J Immunol (2016) 197:3782-91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601029
- 119. Zijlstra GJ, ten Hacken NHT, Hoffmann RF, van Oosterhout AJM, Heijink IH. Interleukin-17A Induces Glucocorticoid Insensitivity in Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells. *Eur Respir J* (2012) 39:439–45. doi: 10.1183/ 09031936.0001791

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Shimba, Ejima and Ikuta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

